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CORPORATE INFORMATION
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Ning (Chairman of the Board)
Ms. Yang Tao

Ms. Liu Ran

Mr. Si De

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Tu Zheng
Mr. He Yu

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Jianjun
Mr. Wu Liansheng
Mr. Ngan King Leung Gary
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Mr. Zhang Jianjun (Chairman)
Mr. Wu Liansheng
Mr. Wang Ning

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Wang Ning (Chairman)
Mr. Zhang Jianjun
Mr. Wu Liansheng

AUDIT COMMITTEE
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JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES
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HEADQUARTERS AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS IN THE PRC

Floor 36 & 37, Block A, Puxiang Center
Hongtai East Street

Dawangjing Technology Business Park
Chaoyang District, Beijing

PRC

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

14/F, Golden Centre
188 Des Voeux Road Central
Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR

Maples Fund Services (Cayman) Limited
PO Box 1093

Boundary Hall

Cricket Square

Grand Cayman KY1-1102

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716

17th Floor Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai

Hong Kong
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
DEEHR

PRINCIPAL BANKS

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited
(Zhu Shi Kou Branch)

No.15, East Street, Zhushikou

Chongwen District, Beijing, PRC

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd.
(Wang Jing Branch)
Wangjing International Commerce Center

No. 9, Wangjing Street, Chaoyang District, Beijing, PRC

China Minsheng Banking Corp., Ltd.

(Wang Jing Branch)

Botai International, Block B, Building 122

District 1, Nanhu East Part, Guangshun North Street
Chaoyang District, Beijing, PRC

COMPANY WEBSITE

www.popmart.com

LEGAL ADVISERS

As to Hong Kong laws

Davis Polk & Wardwell

10th Floor, The Hong Kong Club Building
3A Chater Road

Central

Hong Kong

As to PRC law
Jingtian & Gongcheng
45/F, K. Wah Centre
1010 Huaihai Road (M)
Xuhui District
Shanghai 200031

PRC

As to Cayman Islands laws
Maples and Calder (Hong Kong) LLP
26th Floor, Central Plaza

18 Harbour Road

Wanchai, Hong Kong
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AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Certified Public Accountants

Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor
22/F, Prince’s Building

Central, Hong Kong
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
M=

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE HIGHLIGHTS IEERE

For the year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018

20224 20214F 20204F 20194F 20184F

RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTRT | ARBTT AREBTT AREBTT ARETET

Revenue ['ON 4,617,324 4,490,651 2,513,471 1,683,434 514,511

Gross profit EF 2,654,543 2,758,624 1,594,108 1,090,334 298,025

Operating profit 5 s F 583,380 1,149,812 718,783 598,794 133,614

Profit before income tax R PS50 Al g A 639,529 1,171,191 707,403 598,375 132,260

Profit for the year E N5 A 475,801 854,567 523,312 451,118 99,521

Profit attributable to ViN/NEIE F=WN

owners of the Company FE(R & A 475,660 854,339 523,505 451,118 99,521
Non-IFRS adjusted net profit — FEERBR A 75 o 2 B

L TR LA 573,540 1,001,635 590,506 469,123 100,303

Gross profit margin FE R = 57.5% 61.4% 63.4% 64.8% 57.9%

Net profit margin e 10.3% 19.0% 20.8% 26.8% 19.3%
Non-IFRS adjusted net B B B 7 e e ZE R

profit margin HR R AR 12.4% 22.3% 23.5% 27.9% 19.5%

3 POP MART § POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED 83545 BiR S BA R A A




FINANCIAL SUMMARY

HEBE
FINANCIAL POSITION HIGHLIGHTS HMBEMRARBE
As at 31 December
M12A31H
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
20224 20214 20204 20194F 20184F
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®T | AREFt AREFTT AR®TT AREFT
Total current assets BRBEE 6,615,535 6,757,289 6,255,900 716,601 254,997
Total non-current assets BIERBEE 1,964,527 1,566,337 715,399 349,880 147,798
Total assets HWEE 8,580,062 8,323,626 6,971,299 1,066,481 402,795
Total current liabilities wrBAak 1,130,747 1,092,706 665,313 381,570 144,874
Total non-current liabilities BIEREEE 483,990 410,914 174,984 92,130 39,091
Total liabilities wWaE 1,614,737 1,503,620 840,297 473,700 183,965
Equity attributable to ZA/NSIE/ZS DN
owners of the Company FE(L D 6,963,288 6,818,182 6,129,374 592,781 218,830
Non-controlling interests in FEFR R
equity 2,037 1,824 1,628 - -
Total equity wRES 6,965,325 6,820,006 6,131,002 592,781 218,830
Total equity and liabilities #BEXKAE 8,580,062 8,323,626 6,971,299 1,066,481 402,795

=T == F 55 ANNUAL REPORT 2022

POP MART

7



8

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ESRIYH

Dear Shareholders and Investors:

Time flies in a wink! Pop Mart embraced its second complete financial
year after listing. | would like to extend my gratitude to all of you for your
everlasting trust, support and assistance from the IPO to now.

2022 was undoubtedly a year full of uncertainties and challenges. Many cities
and regions were subjected to traveling restrictions due to the continued
spread of Omicron in China, which resulted in influences on the economy
and consumer confidence in such locations and general impact on the
consumer industry. We have encountered an unprecedented complex
situation since our listing. Faced with a highly uncertain environment, we
constantly adjusted our pace with an optimistic and positive attitude, bravely
met the challenges, successfully withstood tests, and achieved positive
growth in difficult times. Here, | would also like to thank all members of Pop

Mart for their efforts and the strong support of our partners.

IP is the core of Pop Mart. In the past year, we have been working
unremittingly on the accumulation of existing IPs and the exploration of
outstanding external artists. Meanwhile, our in-house original design team
was also gradually growing, emerging with many IPs that have great potential
for growth. While maintaining high-level creative design, we accelerated
product innovation in 2022 by diversifying our product categories. The high-
end MEGA series were further developed, and the co-brand models launched
together with artists such as Han Meilin and Hiroto Ohkubo became the pop

art collection for the new generation of young people.

Globalization has always been one of our important strategies. In 2022, we
accelerated our pace of internationalization, and recorded a continuous rapid
growth in international business with a year-on-year revenue growth rate
of 147.1%, accounting for nearly 10% of our revenue. We opened our first
offline retail stores in the United States, the United Kingdom, New Zealand,
and Australia, and our first flagship stores in South Korea and Japan. As a
local pop culture brand in China, we are delighted and proud of receiving
the understanding and loving of an increasingly number of consumers from
different regions and cultures to Pop Mart, who finally becoming fans of our
original IPs, which further consolidate our confidence and determination to
expand globally.

POP MART
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As a listed company with over 4,000 employees, we are well aware of our
greater social responsibility. In 2022, we made significant progress in areas
such as customer rights protection, corporate governance, employee care,
and social welfare. In terms of organizational management, we further
promoted group development, and gradually established the business
framework supporting Pop Mart's long-term development. We believe that
through group operations, we will further enhance our efficient organization

and collaboration and attract more outstanding talents to join us.

Although we endured a tough year, we trained our team and accumulated
valuable experience for future development during such a special period. |
often share internally that in good times, we may gain weight, but in difficult
times, we build muscles. After the severe test of the three-year pandemic,
our supply chain has been significantly optimised and upgraded; our internal
information system has been constantly improved; and our organisational
coordination efficiency and operational efficiency have also been increased
obviously. Every link and sector of the industrial chain is more solid and
healthier than before, and industry barriers are more stable. Even in the
sluggish capital market environment last year, we continued to carry out
large-scale repurchases and remained optimistic on our value and growth

space.

Finally, I would like to extend my gratitude to all consumers, partners and
investors for your support and trust, and to all colleagues for your hard work.
In the future, let's continue to work together and forge ahead towards our
vision of becoming the world's leading pop culture entertainment company.

Chairman of the Board
Mr. Wang Ning
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BERNWEDTN

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2022, many major regions and cities were subject to travelling restrictions because
of the recurring COVID-19 epidemic which resulted in short-term influences on the
economy and consumer confidence of such locations and dramatically affected
the consumer industry. In this context, we encountered unprecedented multiple
challenges. Our physical stores, roboshops and online logistics were all affected to
varying degrees. To cope with such complexities brought about by the epidemic, we
insisted on focusing on operations, continued to promote brand building, created a
flexible supply chain, strengthened the construction of internal information systems,
and continuously improved the efficiency of organizational synergy to reduce the

impact caused by the external environment.

As a pioneer and key promoter of pop toy culture in China, despite the
challenges in 2022, we still achieved annual revenue of RMB4,617.3 million,
representing a year-on-year increase of 2.8%, and accumulated 26,004 thousand
registered members. While the domestic market grew steadily, we accelerated
our expansion to international markets in 2022, and our overseas revenue
continued to grow at a rapid pace, with a year-on-year increase of 147.1%.

Artists Development and IP Operation

Creative designs and IP operation are essential for us and the key driving
forces for the development of Pop Mart. In 2022, we continuously launched
IPs with diversified styles, enhanced product innovation, and enriched our

types of IPs to meet the demands of different groups of customers.

The performance of our top IPs remained strong. Revenue generated from
SKULLPANDA, MOLLY and DIMOO amounted to RMB851.6 million, RMB802.2
million and RMB577.9 million in 2022, respectively. SKULLPANDA continued to
grow and recorded a year-on-year increase of 43.1%. Specifically, revenue from
the sales of City of Night, the fifth series of SKULLPANDA launched in January
2022, amounted to RMB228.4 million as of 31 December 2022; and revenue
from MOLLY, a classic IP launched before 16 years ago, still achieved a year-
on-year increase of 13.8%. IPs launched by our in-house design team PDC
(Pop Design Center) also recorded an outstanding performance in 2022. Sweet
Bean and Hirono achieved revenue of RMB147.9 million and RMB140.8 million,
respectively, with Hirono experienced a year-on-year increase of 169.4%. The
total revenue for the year of 2022 of Little Mischief series amounted to RMB71.3
million. In addition, PINO JELLY, Z siga and other new IPs also well received
by the market. We continued to seek for external excellent artists . In 2022, we
launched new contracted IPs such as HACIPUPU and NORI (/N&&
recognized by the market. Moreover, we collaborated with external copyright

), which were

owners to launch a series of pop garage kits such as the Conjuring (F3z5%)
Universe series and classic figure of World of Warcrafts (BEEktH 1) series, which

also helped us attracting a more wider range of public.

POP MART
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MEGA is a high-end brand for our promotion of “pop toy as art”. In 2022, we
continuously developed “MEGA Collection Series”, with the expectation of
creating high-end pop toy collection characterized by both fashion and art
elements. Cooperated with artists, such as Han Meilin, Hiroto Ohkubo and
Jean-Michel Basquiat, we launched artist co-branded model and integrated
pop toys with art. Moreover, we also launched co-branded models with
Mickey/Minnie, Pink Panther, Care Bears and other IPs to create synergy
between pop IPs and classic IPs. We also launched co-branded models by
collaborating with the renowned brands such as Coca-Cola and Moncler.
In addition to MOLLY, we also launched products under MEGA Collection
Series for DIMOO, SKULLPANDA and LABUBU with continuous exploration on
potential of high-end pop toys. Following the two product categories under
1000% and 400%, we launched 100% SPACE MOLLY anniversary series, which
were well received by the market. In 2022, revenue of the MEGA Collection

Series amounted to RMB466.8 million.

In 2022, we accelerated innovation in products and enriched our categories
while continuously launching creative items. In June 2022, we launched POP
BEAN product line, providing a new consumption experience for fans with
new Q version image as well as small and exquisite shape, couple with the
“Moderate DIY” interaction. In 2022, we launched 3 POP BEAN series in total,
covering over ten popular IPs, such as MOLLY, DIMOO, SKULLPANDA and
LABUBU, which were popular among fans. Apart from pop figures, we made
continuous efforts in developing new categories with an aim to demonstrate
images and connotation of IPs in more vivid way. In 2022, our LABUBU
rotocasting plush dolls, scenario figures of Romantic Ring Box series, and
DIMOO COTTON DOLL have been well received among fans. Our LABUBU
rotocasting plush dolls vividly expressed IP’s own characters and broke away
from traditional category definition and design pattern. Through repeated
iteration on design and supply chain, we will develop such category in the
long run and develop more categories to further express IPs’ characters with

continuous innovation.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEERWRS T

MEGAR B M AES [ Mt & MiTEN =
s kg - AT 2022 FIF B IR [ MEGAR L R
5] HEFEITEX AFREHRMEMKRO
S R BT AR o BPITERERSEAR - RAR -
EOREE « BT ERFRMREIE - HHEM
KB R HBARERMORSE o O K
IR T/ KIE - A - BOREIPEEH
EEVBSS 22 R R I PART A B P TS T R L T A
TE o HAMEEAT ORI £ « Moncler S ME RS
1B HEB AR o BRTMOLLY Z 5 » BE A
DIMOO + SKULLPANDA ~ LABUBUEH T MEGAE

BEVNNER  BFERRSHBITMAT RN -
£1000% ~ 400% 18 REBRIERE - B

7100% SPACE MOLLY:AF R7 - ZEITHHAR
B 0 2022F - MEGABH RV A BERBRAARE
466 8B ETT °

EREHEAENRTRE - HFI7E2022
FMRTEREENAN EETERRE -
202268 BPHEL THRERS - UE2FH
O R MERBA N EMED - &5 [EDIY]
BRXOEBIUE  ANKRR—EEZHOES
BEER o BMTE2022F AR 2T - TIE
T MOLLY ~ DIMOO * SKULLPANDA ~ LABUBUZE
TERRERMIP BEXHHENEE - THITF P
2O Bt ERBEREEZHNRE 72
BEEABMRRIPHERMAR © 20220 + &K
I LRI LABUBUE B EM AT - RIBIERET
HEF I - DIMOOIBTE I BUE N M BVE R
Z o @mARE - HEENTEER - RAHELY
HILABUBUIERB EM A HFAEEMER TIPARH
e REESmEANEEERER - R
ZERERETRERE  WiRBIHERIR -
AR SR gRRIPRABSENER

=253 ANNUALREPORT 2022 | POP MART

11



12

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEH WD

Consumer Access

Offline channels

In 2022, in response to the uncertainties of the COVID-19 pandemic, we
slowed down the pace of opening physical stores and roboshops. In
2022, we opened 49 new physical stores in Mainland China. The number
of physical stores increased from 288 as at the end of 2021 to 329" as at
the end of 2022. In 2022, we opened 206 new roboshops in Mainland
China. The number of roboshops increased from 1,861 as at the end of
2021 to 2,067 as at the end of 2022.

Online channels

Pop Draw is a mini program independently invented and developed by
us on WeChat platform, aiming to create fun and interesting shopping
experience. In 2022, revenue amounted to RMB954.7 million. In 2022,
revenue from JD.com flagship store was RMB137.9 million. Our Tmall
flagship store recorded revenue of RMB462.4 million in 2022. We have
ranked top in sales within the toy category during Tmall Singles Day
shopping festival for the fourth consecutive year.

Member operation

By continuously expanding our channels and enhancing our IP and
products portfolio, and omni-channel member operation, the scale of our
user digitalization grew rapidly. As of 31 December 2022, the total number
of registered members increased from 19.58 million as at the end of
2021 to 26.004 million, among which 6.424 million were newly registered
members. In 2022, the sales contributed by our members represent 93.1%

of total sales, with a repeat purchase rate of 50.7%? from our members.

Hong Kong, Macao, Taiwan and overseas channels

The implementation of our DTC (Direct To Customer) strategy for Hong
Kong, Macao, Taiwan and overseas business was accelerated. As at the
end of 2022, the number of our physical stores in Hong Kong, Macao,
Taiwan and overseas was 43 (including joint ventures and franchise), the
number of our roboshops in Hong Kong, Macao, Taiwan and overseas
was 120 (including joint ventures and franchise), and the number of
cross-border e-commerce platforms reached 13. While expanding its
offline channels in Asia area, we have opened our first physical stores in
the United Kingdom, New Zealand, the United States, and Australia in
2022. With the continuous expansion of offline and online channels, the
influence of Pop Mart's brand and products in the world is increasing.

In 2022, due to lease expiration and other commercial reasons, we closed 8 stores
The proportion of members who made purchase for twice or more in 2022
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Pop Toy Culture Promotion and Innovative Business Incubation

In 2022, we established a GONG Studio, where boundless hard-core derivative
brands under the Group are designed, aiming to continuously enrich our
product form and broaden our fan base. In 2022, the GONG Studio launched
4 series with 8 products in total, which included movable alloyed action
figures, sculptures, action figures and cutouts. We gained good reputation
by the movable alloyed action figure, Buzz Lightyear for its highly restorative
design and exquisite craftsmanship.

Being a youth contemporary art operation organization under Pop Mart, inner
flow engaged in artist agency, art exhibitions and the development, sales
and operation of artistic derivatives. It dedicated efforts to the multi-channel
promotion of youth art, creating a new culture of classic, unique and avant-
garde contemporary art. In 2022, inner flow organized individual exhibition
for contracted artist Lang and MEIYING, and set up an independent exhibition
unit in TANK Shanghai on the west coast of Shanghai (/878 % - JAREE
~[&l) during the Shanghai Art Season, exhibiting the works of 12 domestic
and foreign artists. In November 2022, inner flow presented original works
and limited art sculptures by its cooperative artists at ART021 SHANGHAI.
Currently, inner flow has signed and cooperated with almost existing 40
domestic and foreign young artists, and has reached strategic cooperation
with many excellent institutions in the industry.

The first virtual pop toy exhibition of Pop Mart “Future Assumption” virtual
pop toy week was held online in December 2022, on which hundreds of pop
toy works from the world’s top artists were exhibited, creating an immersive
experience to fans with science and technology.

With the continuous development of international business, we further
promoted pop toy culture overseas by participating in large-scale overseas
exhibitions, holding IP-themed exhibitions in shopping malls and artists’
signing meetings. Pop Mart held the Hirono Theme Exhibition and the Sweet
Bean Theme Exhibition in Singapore, offering an immersive experience
of pop culture and art to local consumers in July and November 2022,
respectively. In October and November 2022, we also participated in MCM
London Comic Con, MCM Birmingham Comic Con, DesignerCon in America,
and Tokyo ComicCon, respectively and a large number of local pop toy lovers
were attracted by our exhibited pop figures as SKULLPANDA, MOLLY and
DIMOO.

INDUSTRY OVERVIEW

The pandemic has also caused a certain degree of impact on the entire pop
toy industry, affecting the supply chain, inventory, and sales channels. It has
accelerated the reshuffle of the pop toy industry, which gradually became
rational from a state of disorderly competition in the past few years. The
industry competition landscape has become clearer, and the market maturity
has improved significantly. In the past year, Pop Mart continued to incubate
high-quality IPs, exported new IPs recognized by the market to the industry,
and constantly developed new product categories to further promote
the prosperity of the industry. With the deepening of market education,
consumers' awareness and acceptance of pop toys and IPs will see a
continuous increase.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
Sales Revenue

Revenue of the Company increased from RMB4,490.7 million in 2021 to

RMB4,617.3 million in 2022, representing a year-on-year increase of 2.8%.

Revenue by channels

Revenue of the Company is generated in Mainland China and Hong Kong,
Macao, Taiwan and overseas: 1. offline channels; 2. online channels; and 3.
wholesales channels and others. The following table sets out the Company’s

revenue by channels in 2022 and 2021:

Bt 5 1ol R
HEWA

RRARUWARN 2021 FAREE44907BE T E
FE022FARE 4617388 RALLER
2.8% °

RIFEREE D WA

RRFHA R B R B R B R E R8s
WIBRTERE 2BERE  R3MBERER
Hih o TREFHIARF20224F 2021 FHILE
BEID RN

For the year ended 31 December 2022 For the year ended 31 December 2021
HF2020251283181LEE BE021E12831BILEE
Gross Gross
profit  Proportion profit  Proportion
Revenue margin  of revenue Revenue margin  of revenue
A EFE WAL WA EfE WAL
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥ETR AREF T
Mainland China REIAH
Offline channels BTIRE 2,069,942 60.7% 44.8% | 2,137,989 63.5% 47.6%
Online channels BmERE 1,829,809 57.8% 39.6% | 1861483 64.2% 41.5%
Wholesales and others #E R EAL 263,635 35.6% 5.8% 307,464 41.7% 6.8%
Total =H) 4,163,386 57.8% 90.2% | 4,306,936 62.3% 95.9%
Hong Kong, Macao, Taiwan and overseas 7632 & KA
Offline channels BTRE 150,768 73.4% 3.2% 5,200 74.0% 0.1%
Online channels B ERE 90,224 74.5% 2.0% 41,162 58.2% 0.9%
Wholesales and others HEE R E A 212,946 32.6% 4.6% 137,353 36.1% 3.1%
Total &5 453,938 54.5% 9.8% 183,715 42.1% 41%
Grand total @st 4,617,324 57.5% 100.0% | 4,490,651 61.4% 100.0%
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(1) Mainland China

- Offline channels. Revenue from offline sales decreased by 3.2%
from RMB2,138.0 million in 2021 to RMB2,069.9 million in 2022. The

table below sets forth a breakdown of revenue from offline sales

and the city tier:

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEERWRS T

(1) FEA It

BTRE - HTRAH202IENAR
#2,138.0 B BT NERI2022F AR
#2,0609B &I - TBET32% UTA
AR N U A BB AB AN T 4

For the year ended For the year ended
31 December 2022 31 December 2021
HZE222F12831ALFE | HE2021F12A31HLEFE
Proportion Proportion
Revenue of revenue Revenue of revenue Change
ON WAL WA WA )
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®T R ARETTT
Retail stores TEE 1,691,112 81.7% 1,670,174 78.1% 1.3%
Roboshops YN 378,830 18.3% 467,815 21.9% -19.0%
Total &t 2,069,942 100.0% 2,137,989 100.0% -3.2%
Retail stores Roboshops
2ER BEABRE
For the year ended 31 December For the year ended 31 December
HENANALEE HZNANALEE
2022 2021 2022 2021
2022% 1% 202% WNE
Number Revenue Number Revenue Number Revenue Number Revenue
City tier BHER g8 WA g2 WA ] WA 42 LON
(RMB'000) (RMB'000) (RMB'000) (RMB'000)
(AR¥%FR) (AR¥EFT) (AR%TT) (AE®TT)
First-ter cities’ —fi 123 684,944 113 797,520 559 100,293 553 145,851
New first-tier cities* il V70 95 490,952 84 479902 634 118,727 594 153223
Second-tierand other cities’  —&REfHT® 11 515,216 91 392752 874 159,810 714 168,741
Total &it 329 1,691,112 288 1,670,174 2,067 378,830 1,861 467815
? Refer to first-tier cities in Mainland China, including Beijing, Shanghai, Guangzhou 3 ERRA—SET 0 25FdkR - B8 BMM
and Shenzhen ]
N Refer to new first-tier cities in Mainland China, including Chengdu, Chongging, 4 R AHHFT— G c BIEKE - EF - M

Hangzhou, Wuhan, Xi‘an, Zhengzhou, Qingdao, Changsha, Tianjin, Suzhou,

Nanjing, Dongguan, Shenyang, Hefei and Foshan

° Refer to cities other than first-tier cities and new first-tier cities in Mainland China

M~ EUE - AR BN

MR EE B

&ML
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- Retail stores. Revenue from retail store sales increased by 1.3%
year-on-year from RMB1,670.2 million in 2021 to RMB1,691.1 million
in 2022. A total of 232 retail stores shut down for one week to
three months given the "COVID-19" pandemic in 2022, causing a
significant impact on the offline sales. As of 31 December 2022,
the number of retail stores increased by 41 as compared to 31
December 2021. As of 31 December 2022, there were a total of 329

retail stores.

- Roboshops. Revenue from roboshop sales decreased by 19.0%
year-on-year from RMB467.8 million in 2021 to RMB378.8 million in
2022. A total of 627 roboshops shut down for one week to three
months given the pandemic outbreaks in numerous locations in
2022, causing a significant impact on the offline sales. As of 31
December 2022, the number of roboshops increased by 206 as
compared to 31 December 2021. As of 31 December 2022, there

were a total of 2,067 roboshops.

- Online channels. Revenue from online sales decreased by 1.7%
from RMB1,861.5 million in 2021 to RMB1,829.8 million in 2022. The

table below sets forth a breakdown of revenue from online sales.

ZEE - ZEEHSWMAR2021F
WARE1,67028 B TIEMNE20224F
MARKI69NITEET  ALERT
1.3% © 2022F [#TE | BB E T HE
HERK TEERE-—BEE=[A
BE S B E D232 © 2022 FF JE#RT
BB BE2022F12A31BEEHE
2021F 12 A3BNTE/EHELMNT
ANF - HE2022F12A31845ZTE
JE329% °

HEBAEE - MBADEHERAR
2021 FMARK 4678 BB L T EE
2022FMARMEI788HETT * AT
F%19.0% ° 2022 F i HIREE - WiF
THEXZERK  MBRAFERE—
AE=EANEEEE627/ ° 20224F
HeEARERRIER - BiE2022512
A31BLEZE2021F12 831 B RIS
AP EEEIBINT 206/ © HZE20224F
12A31 B a8 AT 52,067 °

HBRERE - B ERAB2021FHAR
#1861 5B BT NERI2022FHAR
#1,8208EEIT - TBRT17% LT A
43 _EUR N\ RR#E

For the year ended For the year ended
31 December 2022 31 December 2021
BZ2022512831ALEE BZE01F12A3BLLFE
Proportion Proportion
Revenue of revenue Revenue of revenue Change
KA [ ON'1: LN WAEE 29
(RMB’ 000) (RMB’ 000)
AR¥TR ARETT
Pop Draw RIS R a 954,678 52.2% 921,469 49.5% 3.6%
Tmall flagship store RIHER S 462,394 25.3% 598,865 32.2% -22.8%
JD.com flagship store RREEE 137,885 7.5% 143,229 7.7% -3.7%
Other online channels Hifx -RE 274,852 15.0% 197,920 10.6% 38.9%
Total &t 1,829,809 100.0% 1,861,483 100.0% 1.7%
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Online revenue sources in Mainland China include Pop Draw, Tmall
flagship store, JD.com flagship store and other online channels.
In particular, revenue from Pop Draw increased by 3.6% from
RMB921.5 million in 2021 to RMB954.7 million in 2022; revenue from
Tmall flagship store decreased by 22.8% from RMB598.9 million in
2021 to RMB462.4 million in 2022; revenue from JD.com flagship
store decreased by 3.7% from RMB143.2 million in 2021 to RMB137.9
million in 2022. The decrease in revenue from online channels
in 2022 was primarily due to the impact of the pandemic on the

logistics and consumption of consumers.

- Wholesales and others. Revenue from wholesales and others
decreased by 14.3% from RMB307.5 million in 2021 to RMB263.6
million in 2022, primarily due to effects of the pandemic on our
distributor, Nanjing Pop Mart, whose procurement from Beijing
Pop Mart Culture & Creative Co., Ltd. reduced due to the decreased

store sales.

(2) Hong Kong, Macao, Taiwan and Overseas

- Offline channels. Revenue from offline sales increased by 2,799.4%
from RMB5.2 million in 2021 to RMB150.8 million in 2022.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWED T

FEAMERE WA BESRIEERE
W RIBFEMENE - REREEE U RE
iR FRE - Heh - R IB R Ha
W21 FMAREOISEBILERSE
202FMARBS47EEL  BET
3.6% : REEFER JE U ALE2021 F M A
R¥5989B BT TEE202FHAR
46248 8T - THET228%: R&E
FERE R IR A 2021 FIA R 14328
ST TERE022FHNARKI137988
JL NBET3.7% ° 2022F 4R EREH
THREZEHNEBEEMRUAREES
HEB T E -

HEBREM - A3 RAMUALE2021
FHOARME3075BE T TFEE20224F
BI263.6 AEIT  ET143%  F2HH
REHEmERAeEaBREEAaR
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ERIE AR E S LA BB R A A
TREER A -

(2) BRE K&

HSTRE -GTRAH202IFHAR
s 2EETT EAR2002EMARE

e —

1508 B &L * K 72,799.4% °

For the year ended For the year ended
31 December 2022 31 December 2021
BZE202F12A318LEE HBE01F12A3181EFE
Proportion Proportion
Revenue of revenue Revenue of revenue Change
0N W5 LN AR 25
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥T ARETT
Retail stores TEE 135,559 89.9% 3212 61.8% 4,120.4%
Roboshops HEAEE 15,209 10.1% 1,988 38.2% 665.0%
Total &t 150,768 100.0% 5,200 100.0% 2,799.4%
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Retail stores. Revenue from retail store sales increased by 4,120.4%
year on year from RMB3.2 million in 2021 to RMB135.6 million
in 2022, primarily due to an increase of 21 retail stores as of 31
December 2022 compared with that as of 31 December 2021. As of
31 December 2022, there were a total of 28 retail stores with more

retail stores covering more regions and countries on the way.

Roboshops. Revenue from roboshop sales increased by 665.0%
year on year from RMB2.0 million in 2021 to RMB15.2 million in
2022, primarily due to an increase in the number of roboshops. As
of 31 December 2022, the number of roboshops increased by 40
from that as of 31 December 2021. As of 31 December 2022, there
were a total of 49 roboshops with more roboshops covering more

regions and countries on the way.

Online channels. Revenue from online sales increased by 119.2%
from RMB41.2 million in 2021 to RMB90.2 million in 2022. The table

below sets forth a breakdown of revenue from online sales.

ZEE - TEHRHEEWAR2021FH
ARBEI2EBTIEMEI2022FHAR
#1356 BB TT AR T4,1204% ©
FEHRTEEHENE N B
2022F 12 A31ALEE2021F 12 A
STHMZESHEEN TR B2
202212 A31 BAFZEELR B
MTEEEZE RERAREEE

HWEEABIE - MBABEHEERAK
2021 FRARME2.08 &L INE]2022
FHWARKEIS288BT  ALERT
665.0% * X ZHAEIEABEHEHIZ
o #HZE2022F 12 A31 ALEZE 2021
F12A3 BB AEEHEEMT
40 - BE2022F 12 A31 B AR S
ABE4HE  BMEEZE REX
SRR ARE o

HBRERE - B EWRABE2021FHAR
B 2BEBILEMEI2002FMARE
02EBETL  EBRT1192% - LT AL
U AR -

For the year ended For the year ended
31 December 2022 31 December 2021
BZ2022F12A31BLFE HZE2021F 127318 EFE
Proportion Proportion
Revenue of revenue Revenue of revenue Change
1O LN 1x7 LN LN (34 #
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TR AREFT
Shopify Shopify 27,061 30.0% 15,167 36.8% 78.4%
Amazon DS 23,643 26.2% 8,959 21.8% 163.9%
Other online channels Hisg L RE 39,520 43.8% 17,036 41.4% 132.0%
Total =) 90,224 100.0% 41,162 100.0% 119.2%
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Online revenue sources in Hong Kong, Macao, Taiwan and overseas
include Shopify, Amazon, and other online channels. Revenue
from Shopify increased by 78.4% from RMB15.2 million in 2021
to RMB27.1 million in 2022. Revenue from Amazon increased by
163.9% from RMB9.0 million in 2021 to RMB23.6 million in 2022,
primarily due to businesses in Hong Kong, Macao, Taiwan and
overseas becoming a key focus, the rapid promotion in regional

brand building and the launch of local limited products.

- Wholesales and others. Revenue from wholesales and Hong Kong,
Macao, Taiwan and overseas increased by 55.0% from RMB137.4
million in 2021 to RMB212.9 million in 2022, primarily due to the
continuous expansion of our business in Hong Kong, Macao,
Taiwan and overseas with the brand and products of Pop Mart
are recognized and accepted by more consumers and multiple

channels are developed, which results in our growing market

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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IR & KB INME EIRA B IEShopify
DEHBMEMER FRE - Shopify A
M2 FMARKIS2EETLERE
02FMARMEIVABT  BET
78.4% 1 SR BB AL 2021 FHARE
D 0ABITERR202FMARE 236
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popularity.
Revenue by IPs RIFIPEI DB A
Pop Mart proprietary products are our major product type. As of 31 BABENETERERMOETEFRER
December 2022, revenue from proprietary products contributed 90.8% of our BEERKAREZE2022F12 A31 BHBAWA
total revenue. Revenue from proprietary products increased by 5.3% from BILEBIER]90.8% + B EEmMM 2021 FHARKE
RMB3,977.8 million in 2021 to RMB4,190.0 million in 2022. 3,977 8B E I RE2022FHARE4190.08

BT R T53% °
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WRBENEEEREIEN A BEIP BRIP
FMIEBRIP - AT AIREIPEI DR ARA -

Proprietary products of Pop Mart are mainly divided into: proprietary IPs,
exclusive licensed IPs and non-exclusive licensed IPs, and below sets forth a

breakdown of revenue by IPs.

20

For the year ended For the year ended
31 December 2022 31 December 2021
HZ2022F512A31HLLEE HE200FNANBLEE
Proportion Proportion
Revenue of revenue Revenue of revenue
'ON L oN1:4 WA WAL
(RMB’000) (RMB'000)
(AR®T ) (AREFT)

Proprietary products BEEM 4,189,971 90.8% 3,977,797 88.6%
Proprietary IPs BA&IP 3,000,750 65.0% 2,586,827 57.6%
~ SKULLPANDA — SKULLPANDA 851,611 18.4% 595,256 13.3%
- MOLLY - MOLLY 802,155 17.4% 705,098 15.7%
- DIMOO - DIMOO 577,948 12.5% 566,735 12.6%
- Sweet Bean — /= 147,940 3.2% 161,526 36%
- Hirono — /NEf 140,768 3.1% 52,253 1.2%
~ Other proprietary IPs - HigAEP 480,328 10.4% 505,959 11.3%
Exclusive licensed IPs BXIP 638,955 13.9% 770,507 17.2%
— THE MONSTERS — THE MONSTERS 263,002 5.7% 304,431 6.8%
- PUCKY - PUCKY 119,130 2.6% 182,245 41%
- Other exclusive licensed IPs — HitnE@RIP 256,823 5.6% 283,831 6.3%
Non-exclusive licensed IPs FEBEXIP 550,266 11.9% 620,463 13.8%
External procurement and consignment — SME R A 85 402,685 8.7% 447,886 9.9%
Others Hitb 24,668 0.5% 69,968 1.5%
Total &5t 4,617,324 100.0% 4,490,651 100.0%
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- Proprietary IPs. Proprietary IPs are the major product type of the
Company, primarily including SKULLPANDA, MOLLY, DIMOO and
Sweet Bean, etc. Revenue from proprietary IPs increased by 16.0% from
RMB2,586.8 million in 2021 to RMB3,000.8 million in 2022, primarily
due to the increased revenue contribution from sales of SKULLPANDA,
MOLLY and DIMOO.

- Exclusive licensed IPs. Revenue from exclusive licensed IPs decreased
by 17.1% from RMB770.5 million in 2021 to RMB639.0 million in 2022,
primarily due to the decrease in revenue caused by the impact of
COVID-19 pandemic.

- Non-exclusive licensed IPs. Revenue from non-exclusive licensed IPs
decreased by 11.3% from RMB620.5 million in 2021 to RMB550.3 million
in 2022, primarily due to the decrease in revenue caused by the impact
of COVID-19 pandemic.

Costs of Sales

Our costs of sales increased by 13.3% from RMB1,732.0 million in 2021 to
RMB1,962.8 million in 2022, primarily due to (1) the increase in costs of goods
from RMB1,445.0 million in 2021 to RMB1,693.5 million in 2022, which was
mainly due to the increase in the unit cost of goods; and (2) the increase
in costs of design and license from RMB154.7 million in 2021 to RMB159.7
million in 2022, which was mainly due to more IP licensing fees and
product design fees as a result of the gradually increasing proportion of our

proprietary products.

Gross Profit

Our gross profit decreased by 3.8% from RMB2,758.6 million in 2021 to
RMB2,654.5 million in 2022, primarily due to less-than-expected revenue form
Mainland China and the increase in costs of sales. Our gross profit margin
dropped from 61.4% in 2021 to 57.5% in 2022, primarily due to the decline in

gross profit margin of our proprietary products.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Gross profit from Pop Mart proprietary products decreased by 2.1% from
RMB2,573.2 million in 2021 to RMB2,518.2 million in 2022, primarily due to
the increase in costs of sales from our Pop Mart proprietary products. Gross
profit margin of proprietary products dropped from 64.7% in 2021 to 59.7% in
2022, primarily due to (1) the increasing complexity of product production as
we enhance the design and quality of our products, as well as the increasing
raw material costs; and (2) the promotional activities we carried out in 2022
due to the COVID-19.

Gross profit from third-party products decreased by 26.4% from RMB185.4
million in 2021 to RMB136.4 million in 2022. Gross profit margin decreased
from 36.1% in 2021 to 33.9% in 2022, primarily due to the diversification of

product composition and the slight change of gross profit.

Distribution and Selling Expenses

Our distribution and selling expenses increased by 33.0% from RMB1,106.1
million in 2021 to RMB1,470.8 million in 2022. 37.8% of the increase in fees
was resulted from the growth in business in Hong Kong, Macau, Taiwan and
overseas, among which, (1) employee benefit expenses; and (2) advertising

and marketing expenses accounted for higher proportions.

- Employee benefit expenses. Our employee benefit expenses increased
by 37.1% from RMB287.3 million in 2021 to RMB394.0 million in 2022,
primarily due to the increase in number of sales personnel from 2,436
as of 31 December 2021 to 2,594 as of 31 December 2022, primarily for

supporting the expansion of our retail stores and roboshop network.

- Advertising and marketing expenses. Advertising and marketing
expenses increased by 48.1% from RMB157.6 million in 2021 to
RMB233.4 million in 2022, mainly due to the increase in the promotion
of online and offline channels, such as platform promotion of WeChat
box extractor and Tmall, video promotion of MEGA products, publicity of

global flagship stores and IP theme exhibition, etc.

POP MART
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General and Administrative Expenses

Our general and administrative expenses increased by 23.1% from RMB557.5
million in 2021 to RMB686.3 million in 2022. Among them, (1) employee
benefit expenses; and (2) depreciation of right-of-use assets accounted for

higher proportions.

- Employee benefit expenses. Employee benefit expenses increased
by 20.2% from RMB382.4 million in 2021 to RMB459.6 million in 2022.
As of 31 December 2022, we had 1,584 administrative and design
development personnel, representing a decrease in the number of
employees at the end of the period as compared to 1,617 as of 31
December 2021, but a higher number of payroll visits in 2022 than in

2021, in addition to an increase in per capita compensation in 2022.

- Depreciation of right-of-use assets. Depreciation of right-of-use assets
increased from RMB34.2 million in 2021 to RMB60.8 million in 2022,

mainly due to the expansion of office lease to meet office needs.

Other Income

The other income of the Company decreased by 16.3% from RMB54.4 million
in 2021 to RMB45.6 million in 2022. Among them, (1) the IP license fee
income from cooperation projects with UNIQLO, SAMSUNG, Lay's and other
brands decreased from RMB37.7 million in 2021 to RMB32.5 million in 2022;
(2) government grants decreased from RMB15.4 million in 2021 to RMB11.6
million in 2022; and (3) service and other income received was RMB1.5 million
in 2022.

Other Gains, Net

We recorded other gains, net of RMB1.8 million in 2021, while other gains,
net was RMB44.8 million in 2022, primarily due to the changes in fair value of

financial assets at fair value through profit or loss in 2022.

Operating Profit

As a result of the above, the Group's operating profit decreased by 49.3%
from RMB1,149.8 million in 2021 to RMB583.4 million in 2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Finance Income, Net

Our finance expenses, net increased from a net gain of RMB7.4 million in
2021 to a net gain of RMB29.1 million in 2022, primarily due to the increase in

our interest income.

Income Tax Expense

Our income tax expense decreased from RMB316.6 million in 2021 to
RMB163.7 million in 2022 as a result of the decrease in profit before income
tax. Our effective tax rate dropped from 27.0% in 2021 to 25.6% in 2022.

Profit for the Year

As a result of the above, our profit for the year decreased from RMB854.6
million in 2021 to RMB475.8 million in 2022.

Non-IFRS Financial Indicators

To supplement our financial information which are presented in accordance
with IFRS, we use non-IFRS adjusted net profit as an additional financial
measure, which is not required by, or presented in accordance with IFRS.
We believe that this non-IFRS measure facilitates comparisons of operating
performance from period to period and company to company by eliminating
potential impacts of items that our management does not consider to
be indicative of our operating performance. We believe that this measure
provides useful information to investors and others in understanding and
evaluating our consolidated results of operations in the same manner as they
help our management. However, our presentation of non-IFRS adjusted net
profit may not be comparable to a similarly titled financial measure presented
by other companies. The use of this non-IFRS measure has limitations as an
analytical tool, and investors should not consider it in isolation from, or as
substitute for analysis of, our results of operations or financial condition as

reported under IFRS.
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The non-IFRS adjusted net profit has not been calculated in accordance
with the IFRS, thus it is deemed as non-IFRS financial indicator. The non-
IFRS adjusted net profit refers to the net profit after excluding share based
payment, while the non-IFRS adjusted net profit margin refers to the non-
IFRS adjusted net profit divided by revenue. The following table set out

the reconciliation of non-IFRS financial indicators of the Company for the
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Profit for the year F R A 475,801 854,567
Adjustments FEIEE
Share-based payment LARR 1 43 BB 00 1< 5k R B 97,739 147,068
Non-IFRS adjusted net profit FE B B B 7 e A ZE R A R B A R 573,540 1,001,635
Non-IFRS adjusted net profit margin FEBI BRI 75 S 5 AR B L S B AR 12.4% 22.3%

The management is of the view that share-based payment expenses are
non-cash items, which do not directly reflect our business operation. Hence,
through eliminating the effects of such items on calculation of non-IFRS
adjusted net profit, relevant operating performance can be better reflected,
and it would be more convenient to compare operating performance in

different years.
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Current Assets, Financial Resources and Capital Expenditures

In 2022, the Group adopted conservative and stable fund management and
financial policies with regard to its overall business operations. The Group

maintained the following resources to meet its working capital requirements:

Current assets and current liabilities

Our net current assets decreased from RMB5,664.6 million as of 31 December
2021 to RMB5,484.8 million as of 31 December 2022, which was basically

stable.

Trade receivables

Trade receivables represent outstanding amounts receivable by us from our
customers in the ordinary course of business. Our trade receivables increased
from RMB171.3 million as of 31 December 2021 to RMB194.4 million as of 31
December 2022. The increase was primarily due to the increase in receivables
from wholesales and other channels as a result of business expansion in
Hong Kong, Macao, Taiwan and overseas. Trade receivables turnover days

increased from 10 days in 2021 to 15 days as of 31 December 2022.

Inventories

Our inventories comprise finished goods. Our inventories increased from
RMB788.8 million as of 31 December 2021 to RMB867.0 million as of 31
December 2022. The increase was primarily due to the increase in product
inventories to meet with the sales demands and the increase in our balance
of inventories as a result of our sales falling short of our expectations due to
the impact of the pandemic in 2022. Inventory turnover days increased from
128 days in 2021 to 156 days as of 31 December 2022.

Cash and cash equivalents

Our cash and cash equivalents primarily comprise cash at bank. Cash and
cash equivalents decreased from RMB5,264.7 million as of 31 December 2021
to RMB685.3 million as of 31 December 2022, which was mainly due to our

purchase of time deposits with one-year term.
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Trade payables

Trade payables primarily represent our obligation to pay for merchandise
from suppliers in the ordinary course of business. Trade payables decreased
from RMB266.1 million as of 31 December 2021 to RMB259.0 million as of
31 December 2022, which was basically stable. Trade payable turnover days
increased from 40 days in 2021 to 49 days as of 31 December 2022.

Bank borrowings

The Group did not have any bank borrowings as of 31 December 2022.

Pledge of Assets

The Group did not have any pledged assets as of 31 December 2022.

Gearing Ratio

The gearing ratio is calculated by dividing total liabilities by total assets and
then multiplying by 100%. As of 31 December 2022, the Group's gearing ratio
was 18.8% as compared with the gearing ratio of 18.1% as of 31 December
2021.

Contingency

We are not currently involved in any material legal proceedings, nor are we
aware of any pending or potential material legal proceedings involving us. If
we are involved in such material legal proceedings, we would record any loss
or contingent liabilities when, based on information then available, it is likely
that a loss has been incurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably

estimated.

Foreign Exchange Risk Management

We operate mainly in the PRC with most of the transactions settled in
Renminbi. Our management considers that the business is not exposed to
any significant foreign exchange risk as there are no significant financial
assets or liabilities of our Group denominated in currencies other than the
respective functional currencies of our operating entities. We did not hedge
against any fluctuation in foreign currency during the period ended 31
December 2022.
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Capital Expenditures

Our capital expenditures consist of purchases of property, plant and
equipment and purchases of intangible assets. The table below sets forth the

Company's capital expenditures in 2021 and 2022:

BEAREX

AARMEAHLBRIEBEVE BE MK
MRENBEEFEENTIE - TRE#I AR
B]2021 F LA K 2022 FHYE AR BN ¢

For the year ended For the year ended

31 December 2022 31 December 2021

BZE2022F HE20214

12A31H 12A31H

(RMB’ 000) (RMB" 000)

(AR¥TF ) (AREFT)

Purchases of property, plant and equipment ~ BEE W% - WEFZE 266,132 287,502

Purchases of intangible assets BEBTEE 81,491 46,246

Total &t 347,623 333,748
Human Resources ABER

As of 31 December 2022, we had a total of 4,178 employees, including 2,594
sales personnel and 1,584 administrative and development personnel. As of
31 December 2022, we incurred staff costs (including remuneration, payrolls,

allowances and benefits) of RMB853.6 million.

FUTURE PLANS ON SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

As of 31 December 2022, we did not hold any significant investment.

We will continue to seek for potential strategic investment opportunities, as
well as potential quality target operations and assets that can create synergy

effect to the Group.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

As of 31 December 2022, we had not conducted any material acquisition or

disposal of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures.
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MAJOR RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Principal risks and uncertainties we face are relating to: (i) as a pop culture
entertainment company, we cannot assure you that we will be able to design
and develop products that will be popular with consumers, or that we will
be able to maintain the popularity of successful products; (i) we may not
realize the full benefit of our licenses if the IPs we are granted license have
less market appeal than expected or if sales from the products that use
those IPs are not sufficient to satisfy the minimum guaranteed royalties; (iii)
our business depends significantly on market recognition of our “Pop Mart”
brand, and any damage to our brand, trademarks or reputation, or failure
to effectively promote our brand, could materially and adversely impact
our business and results of operations; (iv) we use third-party manufactures
to manufacture all of our Pop Mart brand products, and failure in product
quality control may adversely affect our business; and(v)the slowdown in
macro-economic growth may weaken the demand in our products which

may have a certain negative impact on the Company’s operating results.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

As of the April 17, 2023 (the latest practicable date for the purpose of
ascertaining certain information contained in this report prior to its
publication, the “Latest Practicable Date"), the Group has no significant
events occurred after 31 December 2022 which require additional disclosures

or adjustments.

OUTLOOK

IP is at the core of our business. Through our innovative products, delicate
design and quality services, we aim to offer consumers with joyful pop
culture and artistic experience. At the same time, by elevating our brand
value, we will enhance the brand loyalty of users on Pop Mart products,

thereby maintaining our strong market position and competitiveness.

We will strive to enrich the types of our IPs, expand the portfolio of our
IPs, maintain highquality design and innovation standards, introduce
more products as top-selling series, operate IPs continuously, strengthen
IPs" impression in the public's eye, and deepen the emotional connection
between fans and IPs. In addition, we will increase types of pop toys, further
explore the value of product lines such as MEGA, POP BEAN, derivative

products and BJD, and improve production technique and sale procedures.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEERWRS T

FERBRAEERERR

HAImE RO = 2 A S A FETE E R TIRR - ()1E
REBRXALRERT] ﬁff‘ﬁﬂ%ﬁ%ﬁT%’*'
HPBE MR RAEREEERLONER
F I RS RIT RN Em ) X BGRIZE ¢ (i)
i3 PIER R IPEY TS R S| IHERTEH - SfE
FIRZF PRV EE M A 35 B RE T B DA e IR & 45
FIEERE  HMTREEZEREENZ T
g2 (N BPNEBERAZE EBURR MDA
IR | MmN TISRAE - BERMmE -
RN BENEREBE - SR BRUEERM
Mg - BRI R R X R E KB EK
BATHEE  (EMBBE = RENEE
Fﬁﬁﬁ’]/@ @i%gﬁuuhﬁéuu ! *Hb I%”F gi
AREHRMNEBERNTNTZE  RVEE

R B B RMERNB R @
Al e A A FUT R R A R — B EHE -

REHERER

HE2023F4 4178 (FEHIB ARG RIERERT
B ETEMMENREERIITASR([RE
BRATAEE]) - AEER2022F12A310%
WA AE - SRR AERNENESE -

REREE

IPERMEBOZL - RFABBEIENER
BRENRTEENRBEEEE RERSEE
o EIREERAMENERE - FR - BARAS
MEEE - EMA PRSI mE L RE -
REFFRFIRB A TS LGRS -

AT PEEEL - BAIPE  REFSEE
0B =+EJ%E7}<M? RSB ZEIN R ES  HIP
EITHEES  bIPLE - IR AAEIP 2

HERGER: - BT ME Mt RE - E—
FSIEPEMEGA ~ BERL « $TE 5 » BIDERENE
B THEZHEIEREERERE -

=253 ANNUALREPORT 2022 | POP MART

29



30

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEH WD

Our international business will continue to grow rapidly, driving the global
penetration of our brands through the continued promotion of our overseas
DTC strategy and the deployment of physical stores, roboshops, cross-border
e-commerce platforms and other channels. We will strive to increase our
brand awareness and market share in pop toy market in overseas countries
and regions. Localization of operation is the core of our overseas operations
strategy. While enhancing the shopping experience and interaction of end
consumers, we will also cooperate with more local partners and artists to
explore more business models, IPs and product types that meet the needs of

local market.

We will strive to expand our channel network so as to reach more users. In
addition, we will continue to strengthen our operating capability, improve
user shopping experience, enhance member expansion and member
operation capability, promote innovative retail digitalized operation, reach
and retain users through diversified measures, and offer customized, better

services.

We will continue to promote pop toy culture through more diversified
means, influence the whole industry continuously, offer more benefits for
our privilege members, increase the stickiness of fans, as well as enhance the

cultural identity and brand awareness of fans.

While further engaging in the Pop Toy business, we will continue to expand
new brands including MEGA, GONG and inner flow, and facilitate the
establishment of amusement parks and other new businesses to construct
a more sophisticated and comprehensive business ecosystem with IP at its

core.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of the Directors and senior management are set out

as follows:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wang Ning (£ ), aged 36, is our executive Director, Chairman of the
Board and Chief Executive Officer of our Company. Mr. Wang founded our
Group in October 2010, and is responsible for the overall strategic planning

and management of our Company.

Mr. Wang received his bachelor's degree in advertising from Sias International
College of Zhengzhou University (B8N K27 B HTBIFR EF) (currently
known as Sias University) in the PRC in June 2009, and his master's degree
in business administration from Guanghua School of Management of Peking
University JE R REHEEIEEFT) in the PRC in June 2017.

Mr. Wang is currently a director of certain principal subsidiaries of our
Company including Beijing Pop Mart, and Pop Mart (Hong Kong) Holding
Limited.

Mr. Wang is the spouse of Ms. Yang Tao, our executive Director.

Ms. Yang Tao (#35), aged 36, is our executive Director and vice president.
Ms. Yang joined our Group in October 2010 towards the end of her master's
degree program, and is in charge of IP operation, product R&D and the Inner

flow art organization of our Company.

Ms. Yang received her bachelor of general study degree from Fort Hays
State University in the United States in May 2009, and her master's degree in
communication studies from Hong Kong Baptist University in Hong Kong in
November 2010.

Ms. Yang is currently a director of Beijing Pop Mart, a principal subsidiary of

our Company.

Ms. Yang is the spouse of Mr. Wang, our executive Director, Chairman of the

Board and Chief Executive Officer of our Company.
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Ms. Liu Ran (218), aged 35, is our executive Director and vice president. Ms.
Liu joined our Group in July 2011 shortly after graduating from university. Ms.

Liu is in charge of the president office of our Company.

Ms. Liu received her bachelor's degree in tourism management from Sias
International College of Zhengzhou University (currently known as Sias
University) in the PRC in July 2010, and her master's degree in business
administration from Guanghua School of Management of Peking University
in the PRC in July 2020.

Ms. Liu is currently a director of Beijing Pop Mart, a principal subsidiary of our

Company.

Mr. Si De (F]f&), aged 34, is our executive Director, chief operating officer.
Mr. Si joined our Group in March 2015, and is responsible for the operations
of the Group and the overall business in mainland China. Mr. Si joined our

Group as the brand director and was promoted to vice president in July 2016.

Mr. Si received his bachelor's degree in French studies from China
Communication University (FFBI{EEAE) in the PRC in July 2011, and
his master's degree in business administration from Guanghua School of

Management of Peking University in the PRC in July 2017.

Mr. Si'is currently a director of certain principal subsidiaries of our Company,
including Shanghai Paqu Commerce Co., Ltd. (E/SMBE SHR A A),
Beijing Paquhuyu Technology Co., Ltd. Gt REEBEIREHEBRR A F]) and
Tianjin Pop Mart Cultural Communication Co., Ltd. (RZBBIGH L {EE
AR AR,
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Tu Zheng (B##), aged 45, is our non-executive Director. Mr. Tu was
appointed as non-executive Director in May 2019, and is responsible for

providing professional advice to the Board.

Mr. Tu has been serving as a partner of Shanghai Fenggiao Investment
Management Co. Ltd. (E/B#BTIIREERBRAF]) since May 2018. He
served as a partner at Shenzhen Qifu Capital Management Co., LTD (&3
MR EAREEBRAR]) from May 2015 to April 2018. From June 2007
to April 2015, Mr. Tu worked at Shenzhen Fortune Caizhi Venture Capital
Management Co. Ltd. (RYITTZEEM B RIEKREEEBR A A]) where he
served successively as an investment manager, an investment director, the
general manager of Zhejiang branch office, the deputy general manager of
East China and the head of TMT sector.

Mr. Tu received his bachelor’s degree in English studies from Zhejiang
University (HIRE) in the PRC in June 2000, and his master's degree in
public policy from the University of Chicago in the United States in June
2003. Mr. Tu currently holds the China Securities Investment Fund Practicing
Certificate granted by the Asset Management Association of China (FF BIz& %
WEESEBHE) in August 2017.

Mr. Tu is currently a director of Beijing Pop Mart.

Mr. He Yu (fAI#&), aged 42, is our non-executive Director. Mr. He was
appointed as non-executive Director in May 2019, and is responsible for

providing professional advice to the Board.

Mr. He founded and served as a partner of Shenzhen Qianhai Heiyi Innovation
Investment Partnership (Limited Partnership) CFYIFTE REAIFIRE S E
P (ERAE)) since February 2016. Prior to that, Mr. He served as the head
of strategy and investment department at Beijing Bytedance Technology Co.
Ltd. b R FEBK B BHE B BR 22 7)) from August 2015 to February 2016.

Mr. He received his bachelor’s degree in international economics and trade
from Nankai University (FAFAZ) in the PRC in June 2003, and his master’s
degree in finance from the University of Lancaster in the United Kingdom
in November 2005. Mr. He was admitted as a Chartered Financial Analyst by
the CFA Institute in September 2008, and was granted the China Securities
Investment Fund Practicing Certificate by the Asset Management Association
of China in February 2017.

Mr. He is currently a director of Beijing Pop Mart.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EESkEAREEERE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhang Jianjun ((REE), aged 56, is our independent non-executive
Director with effect from 11 December 2020 (the “Listing Date”"), and is

responsible for providing independent opinion and judgment to the Board.

Mr. Zhang is currently a professor of organizational and strategic
management at Guanghua School of Management of Peking University.
Mr. Zhang's research focuses on corporate social responsibilities, corporate
political activities, leaders and leadership teams and corporate culture,
among other subjects. Mr. Zhang has been a faculty member at Guanghua
School of Management of Peking University since March 2004. Mr. Zhang
has accumulated in-depth understanding of corporate governance from his
research over the past 15 years. His publication, Marketization and Democracy
in China, has won the first prize of the 11th sociology studies achievement
award of the Peking University in March 2011 and second prize of the 6th
award for outstanding achievement of scientific research in colleges and
universities issued by the Ministry of Education of the PRC. Mr. Zhang was
also awarded the Li Yining Teaching Award in December 2014 and Li Yining
Research Award in December 2018 by the Guanghua school of Management
of Peking University. Mr. Zhang served as an independent director of CCB Life

Insurance Company Limited from November 2014 to August 2017.

Mr. Zhang received his bachelor's and master's degrees in law from Peking
University in the PRC in July 1989 and July 1992, respectively. Mr. Zhang
received his Ph.D in sociology from the University of California, Berkeley in
the United States in December 2003.

Mr. Wu Liansheng (5E4), aged 52, is our independent non-executive
Director with effect from the Listing Date, and is responsible for providing
independent opinion and judgement to the Board. Mr. Wu was faculty
member at Guanghua School of Management of Peking University from
September 2001 to March 2022, and has been faculty member at Southern

University of Science and Technology Business School since March 2022.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Wu had served directorships in certain listed companies. He served as
an independent director of Huaneng Power International, Inc. (FERERIRE
NE&DBBRAT]), a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (Stock
Code: 600011), the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 902) and the New York Stock
Exchange (Stock Code: HNP) from May 2008 to July 2014, an independent
director of RiseSun Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. (5% 5% /R i E 2R I
BABMRAT]), a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (Stock
Code: 002146) from January 2009 to January 2012, an independent director
of Western Mining Co,, Ltd. (FAEFEZR D BRAF]), a company listed on
the Shanghai Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 601168) from February 2011 to
September 2015, an independent director of Wanda Cinema Line Co. Ltd (B
EBXRGIM AR AF]) (now known as Wanda Film Holding Co., Ltd (8
EBERM AR AR]), a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange
(Stock Code: 002739) from January 2011 to November 2015, an independent
non-executive director of China National Building Material Company Limited
(P EIEM RN BR AR,
Code: 3323) from November 2011 to May 2016, an independent director of
Xinhuanet Co., Ltd (¥TEE A% (DB BR A A)), a company listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 603888) from May 2014 to March 2016 and an
independent director of BOC International (China) Co., Ltd. (PR BIFR &
f&HEBRAT]), a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (Stock
Code: 601696) from September 2018 to March 2021. Mr. Wu has served as
an independent director of Rightway Holdings Co., Ltd., a company listed on
the Shanghai Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 00321) since May 2020, and has

served as an independent director of Agricultural Bank Of China Limited, a

a company listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock

company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (Stock code: 601288) and
the Stock Exchange (Stock code:1288) since November 2021.

Mr. Wu received his bachelor's degree in economics from Wuhan University
in the PRC in July 1993, his master's degree in economics from Wuhan
University in the PRC in June 1996, and his Ph.D in management from
Zhongnan University of Finance and Economics (7 3 87 48 A £2) (now known
as Zhongnan University of Economics and Law (FR R B A&EBUAAE)) in the
PRC in June 1999.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EESkEAREEERE

Mr. Ngan King Leung Gary (BESIR), aged 39, is our independent non-
executive Director with effect from the Listing Date, and is responsible for

providing independent opinion and judgement to the Board.

Mr. Ngan has served as the chief financial officer at Meitu, Inc, a company
listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1357) since June 2015. He was
appointed as one of the joint company secretaries of Meitu, Inc. on 2 August
2016, and became the company secretary of Meitu, Inc. since 15 December
2019. Between May 2012 and June 2015, Mr. Ngan held the positions of
chief operating officer, chief financial officer and joint company secretary at
Forgame Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 484). Prior to that, he was the director and head of Hong Kong and
China Internet research at UBS AG, where he worked from July 2006 to April
2012.

Mr. Ngan received his bachelor of science degree in economics from the
Wharton School, University of Pennsylvania in the United States in 2006. He
has been a CFA Charterholder since 2010.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Wang Ning (E88), aged 36, is our executive Director, Chairman of
the Board and Chief Executive Officer of our Company. For details of his
biography, please see the sub-section headed “Executive Directors” in this

section.

Mr. Yang Jingbing (##%7K), aged 44, is the Chief Financial Officer of our
Company. Mr. Yang joined our Group in August 2017, and is responsible for

the management of finance of our Company.

Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Yang served successively as a manager of
the finance and capital department, an assistant to the general manager
and a chief financial officer of Beijing BBMG Dacheng Development Co.,
Lid. Gt R e ARKFAEBRAT]) (now known as Beijing BBMG Property
Development Group Co., Ltd. QL RE&MEMEMZEEBEFRAF)) from
March 2010 to August 2017. He served as a manager of financial planning
department Beijing Dacheng Development Co., Ltd. (At RAKFZEAF R A
Al) from March 2009 to March 2010. From September 2007 to March 2009,
Mr. Yang served as a member of the finance section of the listing office of
BBMG Corporation (1t R BB B PR A 7). Mr. Yang served as a staff of the
finance department of Beijing GEM Real Estate Development Company (3t =
£ RERMERZEAQR]) from July 2002 to September 2007.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Yang received his bachelor's degree in law and management in June
2002 from Shanghai University of Finance and Economics in the PRC, and his
master's degree in business administration in June 2016 from the Guanghua

School of Management of Peking University in the PRC.

Mr. Si De (TE)#E), aged 34, is our executive Director, Chief Operations Officer.
For details of his biography, please see the sub-section headed “Executive

Directors”in this section.

Ms. Yang Tao (#3&), aged 36, is our executive Director and vice president.
For details of her biography, please see the sub-section headed “Executive

Directors”in this section.

Ms. Liu Ran (Z8), aged 35, is our executive Director and vice president.
For details of her biography, please see the sub-section headed “Executive

Directors”in this section.

Mr. Moon Duk Il (3Xf8—), aged 44, is our vice president and president
of international business. Mr. Moon joined our Group in August 2018, and
is responsible for overseeing the overseas business department of our
Company. Prior to that, Mr. Moon served successively as a global business
planning specialist, global business planning senior specialist and global
business planning junior manager at the business development department
of CJ Cheilledang Corporation from July 2013 to July 2018, and a manager of
the global strategy department of CJ ENM from January 2009 to May 2013.
From December 2004 to December 2008, Mr. Moon served at the planning

management department of Lotte Cinema Co., Ltd.

Mr. Moon received his bachelor’s degree in Chinese from Konkuk University
in Korea in February 2005, and his master's degree in business administration
from Peking University in the PRC in July 2018.
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REPORT OF DIRECTORS
EEERESE

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the "Directors”) of the Company is
pleased to present its report together with the audited consolidated financial

statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2022.

PRINCIPAL BUSINESS

The Company is a leading pop toy company, and a pioneer and key promoter
of pop toy culture in China. IP is at the core of our business. We have
established an integrated platform covering the entire industry chain of pop
toys, including artists development, IP operation, consumer access and pop
toy culture promotion, through which we light up the passion of fans and

bring them joy.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out
in the consolidated financial statements on pages 178 to 186 of this annual

report.

DIVIDEND DISTRIBUTION

We intend to distribute dividends to our Shareholders on an annual basis
of no less than 20% of our distributable net profit, which is subject to the
discretion of our Directors. The Board, with the sanction of the Shareholders
in general meeting, may direct any dividend be satisfied wholly or in part by
the distribution of specific assets of any kind. Any declaration and payment
as well as the amount of dividends will be subject to our constitutional
documents and the Cayman Companies Law. Our Shareholders in a general
meeting may approve any declaration of dividends, which must not exceed
the amount recommended by our Board. No dividends shall be declared
or payable except out of our profits and reserves of our Company lawfully
available for distribution including share premium. No dividend shall carry

interest against our Company.
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The Board will review dividend policy from time to time in light of the
following factors in determining whether dividends are to be declared and

paid:

our result of operations;

our cash flows;

our financial condition;

our capital requirements;

relevant legal requirements; and

other factors the Board may deem relevant.

In accordance with the articles of association of the Company (the “Articles
of Association”), the Company in general meeting may declare dividends in
any currency but no dividends shall exceed the amount recommended by
the Board.

As at 31 December 2022, no arrangement was reached pursuant to which the

shareholders of the Company waived or agreed to waive their dividends.

The Board has resolved to declare a final dividend of RMB8.70 cents
per ordinary Share issued for the year ended 31 December 2022. The
proposed final dividend is subject to the consideration and approval by the
Shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company
to be held on Wednesday, 17 May 2023 (the "AGM"). The final dividend
is payable to the Shareholders whose names are listed in the register of
members of the Company on Monday, 29 May 2023. Once approved by the
AGM, the final dividend is expected to be distributed on Thursday, 8 June
2023.
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REPORT OF DIRECTORS
ExgRESE

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to the

Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company'’s securities.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The AGM of the Company will be held on 17 May 2023. The notice of the
AGM will be published and dispatched to the Shareholders in due course in
the manner as required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on

the Shock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

In order to determine the entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM, the
register of members of the Company will be closed from Friday, 12 May 2023
to Wednesday, 17 May 2023, both days inclusive, during which period no
transfer of Shares will be registered. In order to be qualified to attend and
vote at the AGM, all completed transfers forms accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged for registration with the Company's branch
share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services
Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Wanchai, Hong Kong no later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 11 May 2023.

In order to determine the entitlement to the proposed final dividends,
subject to the approval of the Shareholders at the AGM, the register of
members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday, 23 MAY 2023 to
Monday, 29 May 2023 (both days inclusive), during which period no transfer
of Shares of the Company will be registered. In order to be qualified to obtain
final dividends, all transfers accompanied by the relevant share certificates
must be lodged for registration with the Company's branch share registrar in
Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops
1712-1716,
Hong Kong no later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 22 May 2023.

17th Floor Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai,
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BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business and a discussion and analysis of the Group's
performance during the year, using financial key performance indicators
and the material factors underlying its results and financial position as well
as the outlook of the Group's business are provided in the “Management
Discussion and Analysis” on pages 10 to 30 of this annual report. Description
of the principal risks and uncertainties faced the Group can be found in the
“Management Discussion and Analysis”on page 29 of this annual report,

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

It is our corporate and social responsibility to promote a sustainable and eco-
friendly environment. In this respect, we strive to minimize our environmental
impact by reducing our carbon footprint and to build our corporation in a

sustainable way.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, we are subject to various
environmental protection laws and regulations. For more details, please
refer to “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” of this annual report
for our work in respect of environmental protection, social and governance

during year ended 31 December 2022.

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AND COMPLIANCE WITH
RELEVANT LAWS AND REGUALTIONS

We may from time to time become a party to various legal proceedings
arising in the ordinary course of business. Directors confirm that, during the
year ended 31 December 2022 and up to the Latest Practicable Date, we had
not involved in any litigation, arbitration or administrative proceeding against
us or any of our Directors that could have a material and adverse effect on
our business, financial conditions or results of operations. Furthermore, to
the knowledge of our Directors, there is no pending or foreseeable litigation,
arbitration or administrative proceeding against us or any of our Directors
that could cause a material and adverse effect on our business, financial

conditions or results of operations.

During the year ended 31 December 2022 and up to the Latest Practicable
Date, the Group had complied with the laws in all material respects,
including the requirements under the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Listing Rules, the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (“SFO") and the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code") contained in Appendix 14 to
the Listing Rules) for, among other things, the disclosure of information and

corporate governance.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the Company’s results, assets and liabilities for the last five
financial years are set out on pages 6 to 7 of this annual report. This summary

does not form part of the audited consolidated financial statements.

RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS
Employees

As of 31 December 2022, we had a total of 4,178 employees. Substantially all

of our employees are based in the PRC.

We primarily recruit our employees through on-campus job fairs, recruitment
agencies and online channels including our corporate websites and social
networking platforms. We have adopted robust internal training policies,
pursuant to which management, technology and other training are regularly
provided to our employees by internally sourced speakers or externally hired

consultants.

As required by PRC laws and regulations, we participate in various
government statutory employee benefit plans, including social insurance
funds, namely a pension contribution plan, a medical insurance plan, an
unemployment insurance plan, a work-related injury insurance plan, a
maternity insurance plan, and a housing provident fund. We are required
under PRC law to contribute to employee benefit plans at specified
percentages of the salaries, bonuses and certain allowances of our employees
up to a maximum amount specified by the local government from time to

time.

We enter into standard contracts and agreements regarding confidentiality,
intellectual property, employment, commercial ethics and non-competition
with all of our executive officers and the vast majority of our employees.
These contracts typically include a non-competition provision and a

confidentiality provision effective during and after their employment with us.

None of our employees are currently represented by labor unions. We believe
that we maintain a good working relationship with our employees, and
we have not experienced any significant labor disputes or any difficulty in
recruiting staff for our operations during the year ended 31 December 2022

and up to the Latest Practicable Date.
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Customers

Our customers primarily consist of our fans and distributors, and to a lesser
extent, our bulk purchase corporate customers. We generally provide credit
terms to our wholesale customers ranging from 30 to 90 days. Certain
wholesale customers with good history and long-term relationship are
extended preferential credit terms of up to 180 days. We have a diversified

customer base.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group's sales to its five largest

customers accounted for less than 30% of the Group's total sales.

Suppliers

Currently, our suppliers primarily include selected third-party manufacturers
in China. We select third-party manufacturers based on factors such as
quality, capacity, price, years of operation, reputation and compliance with
applicable laws and regulations. Most of our third-party manufacturers have
extensive industry experience and cooperate with other major toy brands in
China and globally. In addition, our suppliers also include third-party brand

owners from whom we procure their products and sell through our network.

We usually enter into supply agreements of at least one year with our
suppliers, subject to our standard terms and conditions. In most cases, when
orders placed with a particular supplier exceed the agreed amount, we will
be entitled to a percentage rebate or discount on the purchase price as
agreed with the supplier. Our suppliers may grant us credit terms of up to
180 days.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, purchases from the Group's five
largest suppliers accounted for 45.8% of the Group's total purchases and

purchases from the largest supplier accounted for 19.0%.

So far as our Directors are aware, none of our Directors or executive officers
of our Company or its subsidiaries, their respective associates or any
Shareholders of our Company holding more than 5% of the issued share
capital of our Company immediately following the completion of the Global
Offering, had any interests in any of our five largest suppliers during the year
ended 31 December 2022 and up to the Latest Practicable Date.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the year
ended 31 December 2022 are set out in note 25 to the consolidated financial

statements.

As at 31 December 2022, the issued share capital of the Company was
1,380,540,550 shares.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the year ended
31 December 2022 are set out on pages 183 to 184 in the consolidated

statement of changes in equity in this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2022, the Company's reserve available for distribution to

shareholders amounted to approximately RMB14,114,260,000.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in note 13 to the

consolidated financial statements.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

During the year ended 31 December 2022 and as at the Latest Practicable
Date and based on the information publicly available to the Company and
to the best knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained the

minimum public float of 25% as required under the Listing Rules.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under Articles of Association
or the laws of the Cayman Islands that would oblige the Company to offer
new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”).

POP MART

POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED B3545EIM S BAR 2 &

SN

RATRAREZE 2022912 A31 B 1FF S HH
M B IBE R A B RR I FE2S o

R2022%F 128318 » ARAIMBEETTHRAS
1,380,540,550 A% 15 °

i
AEBEZ2022F12A31BIEFEHENREE
R EIBHNAFRFE183E 184 ENGEA MR

o] 73 Ik feé 4

R2022F 12 8318 » KRR A AR R 9K 2 7
B4 A ANREE14114,260,0007T °

ME - BMERRE

AREBEHZE2022F12A31BEFEHEOY
¥ BELMEEEHFBARNGET BRI
130

EELABERE

REZE2002F 12831 BLFEHHEANEEE
RATHE  ERARGAHASERRESE
FBRRM - ARFIEER ETRANMEE 4

BNV RERRFFRE o

BLRIRE

AEERANXHASEEZRUEARELR
BRENGUREARARBIARILAAARRRIRS
BR ([RER ) BEEFD -



DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The Directors and senior management of the Company during the year

ended 31 December 2022 and up to the Latest Practicable Date are set out
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below: PORNE
Name Position in the Company

] R AR B

Directors

=

Mr. Wang Ning Executive Director, Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer
ITERLE WITEE FFSLFENITHRER
Ms. Yang Tao Executive Director and Vice President
BRR L WITESZNEIBR

Ms. Liu Ran Executive Director and Vice President
BBt WITESZNEIAR

Mr. Si De Executive Director, Chief Operating Officer
RIS BITEE  BEEER

Mr. Tu Zheng Non-executive Director

EELL FMITES

Mr. He Yu Non-executive Director

B HE FEMITES

Mr. Zhang Jianjun Independent Non-executive Director
SRR STE BUIEHRITES

Mr. Wu Liansheng Independent Non-executive Director
REEESEE BIFNITES

Mr. Ngan King Leung Gary Independent Non-executive Director
BEYREE BIFMITES

Senior management
EREERE

Mr. Wang Ning
ITERLE

Mr. Yang Jingbing
B8Rk E

Mr. Si De
RERAE

Ms. Yang Tao
BRRL

Ms. Liu Ran
2Bt

Mr. Moon Duk Il
MBSt

Executive Director, Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer
WITESR  EF2FFRITHEAH

Chief Financial Officer

BREMBE

Executive Director, Chief Operating Officer

WITEE  BEEER

Executive Director and Vice President

BITER REIRE

Executive Director and Vice President

BITEE REIRE

Vice President and President of International Business

Bl g & BIFR R F K
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To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief, save as
disclosed in this annual report, the Directors and senior management do not

have any relationship amongst them.

In accordance with article 16.19 of the Articles of Association, Ms. Liu Ran,
Mr. Tu Zheng and Mr. He Yu will retire by rotation, and being eligible, have

offered themselves for re-election as Directors at the AGM.

None of the retiring Directors has an unexpired service contract which is
not determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within one
year without payment of compensation, other than under normal statutory

obligations.

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management are set out on

pages 31 to 37 of this annual report.

SERVICE AGREEMENTS OF DIRECTORS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service agreement with
the Company under which they agreed to act as executive Directors for an
initial term of three years commencing from the Listing Date, which may be
terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing served by either

the executive Director or the Company.

Each of the non-executive Directors has entered into a service agreement
with the Company under which they agreed to act as non-executive Directors
for an initial term of three years commencing from the Listing Date, which
may be terminated by not less than one month's notice in writing served by

either the non-executive Directors or the Company.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has signed an appointment
letter with the Company for a term of three years commencing from the
Listing Date, which may be terminated by not less than one month’s notice
in writing served by either the independent non-executive Director or the

Company.

The appointment of Directors is subject to the provisions of retirement and

rotation of Directors under the Articles of Association.
None of the Directors has or is proposed to have a service agreement which

is not determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year

without payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).
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INDEPENDENCE OF
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

INDEPENDENT NON-

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the independent non-
executive Directors to be independent during the year ended 31 December

2022 and remain so as of the Latest Practicable Date.

CHANGE OF INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

Save as disclosed in this report, there are no other changes to the Directors’
and chief executive’s information as required to be disclosed pursuant to
Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2022, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and the chief executive of the Company in the Shares, underlying Shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which had been notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed
to have taken under such provisions of the SFO), or which were recorded
in the register required to be kept pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the

Model Code were as follows:

Interests in Shares and underlying Shares of the Company
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Approximate

Total number percentage of

of Shares/ shareholding

underlying interest in the

Shares held™ Company (%)

Name of Director Capacity/Nature of interest FERe R R T IRRE

EEnA B REEHE HEROEAHD BB D (%)™

Mr. Wang Ning Beneficiary and founder of a trust; and Interest of 676,081,407 (L) 48.97%
TEEAE controlled corporation®®

BERANZRARBIRA 0 R EEERYO
Ms. Yang Tao Interest of spouse @@ 676,081,407 (L) 48.97%
) RSl
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Total number

Approximate

percentage of

of Shares/ shareholding
underlying interest in the
Shares held™ Company (%)™
Name of Director Capacity/Nature of interest JiE=d 7 AR D T RAE
EEfR 5% ERHE HERO A BAE D (%)™
Mr. Si De Founder of a discretionary trust © 10,933,075 (L) 0.79%
AEEAE BIBEFRIPAY
Mr. Tu Zheng Interest of controlled corporation © 32,910,000 (L) 2.38%
EELE R EE R
Mr. He Yu Interest of controlled corporation ") 2,088,310 (L) 0.15%
fAIREE REEEERY
Notes: FisE -

(1) As at 31 December 2022, the Company had issued 1,380,540,550 Shares in total.
The letter "L" denotes the person’s long position in the Shares.

(2)  GWF Holding is a company with limited liability incorporated in the BVI and
wholly-owned by UBS Trustees (B.V.l) Ltd. as trustee for a trust established by
Mr. Wang Ning (as settlor) for the benefit of Mr. Wang Ning. Mr. Wang Ning is
deemed to be interested in 571,981,960 Shares of our Company held by GWF
Holding under the SFO. Tianjin Paqu Holding Limited is a company with limited
liability incorporated under the laws of BVI and of which Mr. Wang Ning is the
sole shareholder. Mr. Wang Ning is therefore deemed to be interested in the
31,196,420 Shares of our Company held by Tianjin Paqu Holding Limited under
the SFO.

(3)  Pop Mart Hehuo Holding Limited is a company with limited liability incorporated
under the laws of BVI and holds 72,903,027 Shares in our Company. Mr. Wang
Ning and Ms. Yang Tao holds 41.99% and 17.81% of the issued share capital of Pop
Mart Hehuo Holding Limited respectively. Both Mr. Wang Ning and Ms. Yang Tao
are deemed to be interested in the Shares held by each other due to their spousal
relationship and are therefore deemed to have an interest in the Shares held by
Pop Mart Hehuo Holding Limited.

(4)  Ms. Yang Tao is the spouse of Mr. Wang Ning. By virtue of the SFO. Ms. Yang Tao is
deemed to be interested in all the shares held by Mr. Wang Ning.

(5)  Sidsi Holding Limited is an investment holding company incorporated under the
laws of BVI and wholly-owned by TMF (Cayman) Ltd. as trustee of XM Family Trust
set up by Mr. Si (as settlor) for the benefit of Mr. Si De.
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(6)  Borchid Phoenix Holding Limited is wholly owned by Shanghai Zhuniao Enterprise
Management Partnership (Limited Partnership), which is 99.9% and 0.1% owned
by Suzhou Borchid Jichu Venture Capital Partnership (Limited Partnership) and
Zhoushan Borchid Lizhi Enterprise Management Partnership (Limited Partnership)
respectively. Suzhou Borchid Jichu Venture Capital Partnership (Limited
Partnership) is owned as to 1% by Zhoushan Borchid Lizhi Enterprise Management
Partnership (Limited Partnership), while Zhoushan Borchid Lizhi Enterprise
Management Partnership (Limited Partnership) is owned as to 69% by Mr. Tu
Zheng. Mr. Tu Zheng is therefore deemed to be interested in the 32,910,000
shares in the Company held by Borchid Phoenix Holding Limited by virtue of the
SFO.

(7)  BA Capital Fund I, L.P. is held as to 3% by BA Capital Limited, which is indirectly
owned as to 51% by Mr. He Yu. Mr. He Yu is therefore deemed to be interested in
the 2,088,310 shares of the Company held by BA Capital Limited by virtue of the
SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, none of the Directors of
the Company had or was deemed to have any interest or short position
in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or any
of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which was required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short positions which they were taken or deemed to have taken under such
provisions of the SFO), or which were required to be recorded in the register
to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

As at 31 December 2022, to the best knowledge of the Directors or chief
executives of the Company, the following persons (not being a Director
or chief executive of the Company) had interests or short positions in the
Shares or underlying Shares which fall to be disclosed to the Company under
the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the
SFO:
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Interests in Shares and underlying Shares of the Company

RAR TR KA R D B

Total number

Approximate

percentage of

of Shares/ shareholding
underlying interest in the
Shares held™ Company (%)
Name of Shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest RS R R B RRRE
REREB B REEHE HEROEAHD BB D (%)™
UBS Trustees (B.V.l.) Limited Trustee® 571,981,960 (L) 41.43%
UBS Trustees (B.V.1.) Limited HEFEEA
GWF Holding Limited Beneficial owner®? 571,981,960 (L) 41.43%
GWF Holding Limited EmEAAY
Pop Mart Hehuo Holding Limited Beneficial owner® 72,903,027 (L) 5.28%
Pop Mart Hehuo Holding Limited EnEaAY

Notes:

M

As at 31 December 2022, the Company had issued 1,380,540,550 Shares in total.
The letter “L" denotes the person’s long position in the shares.

GWF Holding is a company with limited liability incorporated in the BVI and
wholly-owned by UBS Trustees (B.V.l) Ltd. as trustee for a trust established by
Mr. Wang Ning (as settlor) for the benefit of Mr. Wang Ning. Mr. Wang Ning is
deemed to be interested in 571,981,960 Shares of our Company held by GWF
Holding under the SFO. Tianjin Paqu Holding Limited is a company with limited
liability incorporated under the laws of BVI and of which Mr. Wang Ning is the
sole shareholder. Mr. Wang Ning is therefore deemed to be interested in the
31,196,420 Shares of our Company held by Tianjin Paqu Holding Limited under
the SFO.

Pop Mart Hehuo Holding Limited is a company with limited liability incorporated
under the laws of BVI and holds 72,903,027 Shares in our Company. Mr. Wang
Ning and Ms. Yang Tao holds 41.99% and 17.81% of the issued share capital of Pop
Mart Hehuo Holding Limited respectively. Both Mr. Wang Ning and Ms. Yang Tao
are deemed to be interested in the Shares held by each other due to their spousal
relationship and are therefore deemed to have an interest in the Shares held by
Pop Mart Hehuo Holding Limited.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, the Company had not been

notified by any other persons (other than the Directors of the Company) who

had an interest or short position in the Shares or underlying Shares of the

Company which would fall to be disclosed under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV

of the SFO, or which were required to be entered in the register required to

be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as otherwise disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the year,
was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement that
would enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of
Shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate, and
none of the Directors or any of their spouses or children under the age of 18
were granted any right to subscribe for the equity or debt securities of the

Company or any other body corporate or had exercised any such right.

ISSUANCE OF DEBENTURES

During the year ended 31 December 2022, no issuance of debentures was

made by the Company.

DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS
INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESSES

To the knowledge of the Board, none of the Directors, their associates or the
controlling shareholders had any interests in any business which competes
or is likely to compete, directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2022.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
Contractual Arrangements

The Group entered into a series of Contractual Arrangements which would
constitute non-exempt continuing connected transactions pursuant to

Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Background

The Company is prohibited from directly owning any equity interest in Paqu
Huyu. Therefore, in order for our Group to effectively control and enjoy the
entire economic benefit of Paqu Huyu, a series of Contractual Arrangements
have been entered into among Beijing Pop Mart, Paqu Huyu, and the
Relevant Shareholders. The Contractual Arrangements enable us to (i) receive
substantially all of the economic benefits from Paqu Huyu in consideration for
the services provided by Beijing Pop Mart to Paqu Huyu; (i) exercise effective
control over Paqu Huyu; and (iii) hold an exclusive option to purchase all or
part of the equity interests in Paqu Huyu when and to the extent permitted
by PRC law.
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The following simplified diagram illustrates the flow of economic benefits

TIBEERFAARTREERR  RIEEHLK
BEFTET AR A AE B B AR AN SR B RO B A s )

from Paqu Huyu to our Group stipulated under the Contractual Arrangements

after completion of the Reorganization:

Q)

POP MART

@ @
Relevant B i) i) FE A 3)
Beijing Pop Mart  [q--------- Shareholders © k| (UM DR E & - AR R
4 : 4 :
W G 100% W Lo 100%
3 + v : + v
Paqu Huyu i 5 5%

” denotes legal and beneficial ownership in the equity interest

" denotes the Contractual Arrangements

Beijing Pop Mart provides software development and other technical consultation
services in exchange for service fees from Paqu Huyu.

The Relevant Shareholders executed an exclusive option agreement in favour
of Beijing Pop Mart, for the acquisition of 100% of the equity interests and/or
assets in Paqu Huyu. The Relevant Shareholders pledged as first charge all of their
respective equity interests in Paqu Huyu to Beijing Pop Mart as collateral security
for any or all of their payments due to Beijing Pop Mart and to secure performance
of their obligations under the Exclusive Consultation and Service Agreement,
the Exclusive Option Agreement and the Voting Rights Proxy Agreement and
Powers of Attorney. The Relevant Shareholders executed the Voting Rights Proxy
Agreement and Powers of Attorney in favour of Beijing Pop Mart.

Mr. Wang Ning holds 91.56% of the shares of Paqu Huyu. 27 other shareholders
hold an aggregate of 8.44% of the shares of Paqu Huyu, including Mr. Song Quan
(0.31%), Mr. Wu Zhongfu (0.31%), Mr. Zhao Jianyi (0.31%), Ms. Zhou Lixia (0.31%),
Mr. Xiao Yang (0.31%), Mr. Mai Gang (0.31%), Mr. Yang Jingbing (0.31%), Ms. Li
Shuangshuang (0.31%), Mr. Wang Pei (0.31%), Ms. Yu Chunxiao (0.31%), Mr. Chen
Hua (0.31%), Ms. Yang Guifang (0.31%), Ms. Ma Honghong (0.31%), Mr. Yin Wei
(0.31%), Mr. Si De (0.31%), Ms. Yang Tao (0.31%), Mr. Zhou Lifeng (0.31%), Mr.
Cheng Fu (0.31%), Mr. Zhang Chao (0.31%), Mr. Wu Yi (0.31%), Mr. Xing Zongyu
(0.31%), Mr. Yang Jigan (0.31%), Ms. Yu Jing (0.31%), Mr. Hu Jian (0.31%), Mr. Cai
Xiaodong (0.31%), Mr. Xuan Yilang (0.31%) and Ms. Liu Ran (0.31%). Mr. Wang
Ning and the 27 other shareholders are collectively referred to as the “Relevant
Shareholders”.
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Summary of the Contractual Arrangements
Exclusive Option Agreement

Paqu Huyu and its Relevant Shareholders entered into an exclusive option
agreement with Beijing Pop Mart on 18 December 2019 upon completion
of the Reorganization (collectively, the “Exclusive Option Agreement”),
pursuant to which Beijing Pop Mart (or a third party designated by it, the
"designee”) will be granted an irrevocable, unconditional and exclusive right
to purchase 100% of the equity interest in and/or assets of Paqu Huyu for a
nominal price, unless the relevant government authorities or the PRC laws
request that another amount be used as the purchase price, in which case
the purchase price shall be the lowest amount under such request. Subject to
relevant PRC laws and regulations, the Relevant Shareholders shall return any
amount of purchase price they have received to Paqu Huyu. At Beijing Pop
Mart's request, the Relevant Shareholders and/or Paqu Huyu will promptly
and unconditionally transfer their respective equity interests in and/or the
relevant assets of Paqu Huyu to Beijing Pop Mart (or its designee) after Beijing
Pop Mart exercises its purchase right. The Exclusive Option Agreement is
for an initial term of 10 years. The Relevant Shareholders and Paqu Huyu
shall agree to an extension of the term of the Exclusive Option Agreement
if Beijing Pop Mart requests for extension before the expiry, and shall sign a
new Exclusive Option Agreement or continue the obligations of the Exclusive

Option Agreement as requested by Beijing Pop Mart.

Exclusive Consultation and Service Agreement

Paqu Huyu entered into an Exclusive Consultation and Service Agreement
with Beijing Pop Mart on 18 December 2019 (the “Exclusive Consultation
and Service Agreement’), pursuant to which Paqu Huyu will agree to
engage Beijing Pop Mart as its exclusive provider of software development
and promotion, technical support, business cooperation consultation, market
consultancy, customer management consultancy, public relations and
human resources consultancy, market research, setting market development
plans and other relevant consultation and services required by Paqu Huyu,
in exchange for service fees. Under these arrangements, Beijing Pop Mart
may adjust the service fees at its sole discretion, which will be wired to
the designated account of Beijing Pop Mart upon issuance of payment

notification by Beijing Pop Mart.

Unless terminated by Beijing Pop Mart prior to the expiry of the Exclusive
Consultation and Service Agreement, it is for an initial term of 10 years and
may be extended by Beijing Pop Mart for a term determined by Beijing Pop
Mart, and shall sign a new Exclusive Consultation and Service Agreement
or continue the obligations of the Exclusive Consultation and Service

Agreement as requested by Beijing Pop Mart.

REPORT OF DIRECTORS
EEgREE

BRZHHE
BEIEE 3=

B E IR R E AR RN 2019F 12 A 18 B L
TORABRII L EREERGZ (B BRE
BEREHE] - Bt ERORRIE (EEEN
FE=F [HEEAL]) BEE—BETAHE &
BHERBRENAIRZEEEEERBERE S
M SAE - B IEFR R B R ok R B
BERGEAS—SHERBER  ©HBRAT
BIEAZERTHRESBEIERBEE - RIE
HEPBUEEER - EERRERRESE W
MEMESERERETRBLIR - EILRE
ABFNER  EERAABETEHES R
& - FERARREE & ok At HR B AR NG BB A (K 1 62
BRESANBBEIRNKRER SHEBEE
FTUATARIBHIEEEAL - BREERED
BUHRE0F o Mt RABBERBRES
EHBHD BRI ERER - AJRBRE REERE
AL FORRBRERET N EAREER T
BREERTERBEERBRETHEE -

B S E AN IR 2

R E RN 2019412 A18 B AL FR A5
RSP KA A RIS k([ 98 3R A5 38 M BR 7% 155
Bl B @8ERKEEEZELRENIE
FAEHSHRERERE  RTXE  EBEME
B MiBEA BPEREZER  AHEBEERR
ANBIRHBH - MBHAR - HIETHFETE
LA B i 0 B4R 22 SR ) H A AR R 7 5 S IR A 0
KEFER - UHRERGE - RIEZSH - 1t
TABBRAEENEARKRGEE - 25k
BNt R BRERAFEBNEESESL
FORBIEIEERP -

B I m b FUR I 3B 15 10 78 5KRE S M AR 7 195 7 B
HIRI R L - BRIBRE ARG #E L B8
106 WA AIEFBABRFER - BEAMRH
LA ETE - YRR AR EK
BAMBRABANRE HEKBERBTERE
MR AR TR A -

=253 ANNUALREPORT 2022 | POP MART

53



54

REPORT OF DIRECTORS
ExgRESE

Share Pledge Agreement

Pagu Huyu, the Relevant Shareholders and Beijing Pop Mart entered into
a share pledge agreement on 18 December 2019 (collectively, the “Share
Pledge Agreement’). Under the Share Pledge Agreement, the Relevant
Shareholders will pledge as first charge all of their respective equity
interests in Paqu Huyu to Beijing Pop Mart as collateral security for any or
all of their payments due to Beijing Pop Mart and to secure performance of
their obligations under the Exclusive Consultation and Service Agreement,
the Exclusive Option Agreement and the Voting Rights Proxy Agreement.
Beijing Pop Mart is entitled to implement the pledge under the Share Pledge
Agreement if the above default is not successfully resolved to Beijing Pop
Mart's satisfaction within 10 days upon the written demand. The pledges
under the Share Pledge Agreement have been duly registered with the

relevant PRC legal authority pursuant to PRC laws and regulations.

Voting Rights Proxy Agreement

A Voting Rights Proxy Agreement has been entered into between the
Relevant Shareholders, Beijing Pop Mart and Paqu Huyu on 18 December
2019, whereby the Relevant Shareholders will irrevocably, unconditionally
and exclusively appoint Beijing Pop Mart or a designated person as their
exclusive agent and attorney to act on their behalf on all matters concerning
Pagu Huyu and to exercise all of their rights as a registered shareholder of
Pagqu Huyu. As a result of the Powers of Attorney, we, through Beijing Pop
Mart, is able to exercise management control over the activities that most
significantly impact the economic performance of Paqu Huyu. The Voting
Rights Proxy Agreement also provided that, in order to avoid potential
conflicts of interest, where the Relevant Shareholders are officers or directors
of our Group, the powers of attorney are granted in favor of other unrelated

officers or the Directors of our Group.
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The Voting Rights Proxy Agreement shall terminate upon 30 days of written
notice given by Beijing Pop Mart once Beijing Pop Mart has exercised its right
to purchase all equity interest or assets of Paqu Huyu under the Exclusive
Options Agreement. Paqu Huyu has no right to unilaterally terminate the
Voting Rights Proxy Agreement unless provided by law. The Voting Rights
Proxy Agreement shall terminate upon expiry, unless extended based on
relevant provisions of the Voting Rights Proxy Agreement. The Voting Rights
Proxy Agreement shall terminate prior to expiry only when Beijing Pop Mart
has committed gross negligence, fraud, other illegal activities, declares
bankrupt or enters into liquidation. Shall Beijing Pop Mart declare bankrupt
or enters into liquidation prior to the expiry of the Voting Rights Proxy
Agreement, the Voting Rights Proxy Agreement shall terminate automatically.
Despite the provisions mentioned, Beijing Pop Mart has the power to
terminate the Voting Rights Proxy Agreement at any time given 30 days of

written notice to the Relevant Shareholders and Paqu Huyu.

Spouse Undertakings

Each of the spouses of the Relevant Shareholders executed an irrevocable
undertaking on 18 December 2019, whereby he/she expressly and irrevocably
acknowledged and undertook that (i) any equity interests held by his/her
spouse as a registered shareholder in Paqu Huyu do not fall within the scope
of their communal properties; (i) he/she will not take any measures that are
in conflict with the Contractual Arrangements; and (iii) he/she had never
participated and will not participate in the operation or management of Paqu

Huyu.

Business Activities of Paqu Huyu and Significance to the Group

Our growth could be attributed to our dedication to promoting pop toy
culture and have attracted a premium and passionate fan base. We have
membership program to build our fan community, enhance its loyalty, and
incentivize repeat purchases through a variety of membership benefits.
Through our membership program, we are also able to communicate with
our fans in a frequent, efficient and real time manner. We are exploring new
and fun ways to develop a comprehensive community with our fans and our
online community, including online culture services and internet information
services. In order to expand, we launched Paqu Huyu whose principal
business activities are to conduct online culture services and internet
information services to our fans and community (collectively, the “Relevant

Businesses”).
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Reasons for Adoption of the Contractual Arrangements

The Relevant Businesses of Paqu Huyu are subject to foreign investment
restrictions in accordance with relevant PRC laws and regulations. Paqu
Huyu currently holds an ICP License and an ICB License, which are required
for the operation of the Relevant Businesses. After consultation with our
PRC Legal Advisor, we determined that it was not viable for our Group to
directly hold any equity ownership in Paqu Huyu. Instead, we decided that,
in line with common practice in industries in the PRC subject to foreign
investment restrictions, we would gain effective control over, and receive all
the economic benefits generated by the business currently operated by Paqu
Huyu through the Contractual Arrangements between Beijing Pop Mart, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of our Company established in the PRC, on the one

hand, and Paqu Huyu and the Relevant Shareholders, on the other hand.

Risks relating to the Contractual Arrangements

There are certain risks that are associated with the Contractual Arrangements,

including:

If the PRC government finds that the agreements that establish the
structure for operating our businesses in China do not comply with
applicable PRC laws and regulations, or if these regulations or their
interpretations change in the future, we could be subject to severe
consequences, including the nullification of contractual arrangements

and the relinquishment of our interest in Paqu Huyu.

Our contractual arrangements may not be as effective in providing
operational control as direct ownership. Paqu Huyu or its Relevant
Shareholders may fail to perform their obligations under our contractual

arrangements.
We may lose the ability to use assets held by Paqu Huyu that are
material to our business operations if Paqu Huyu declare bankruptcy or

become subject to a dissolution or liquidation proceeding.

The Relevant Shareholders of Paqu Huyu may have conflicts of interest

with us, which may materially and adversely affect our business.
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If we exercise the option to acquire equity ownership and assets of
Paqu Huyu the ownership or asset transfer may subject us to certain

limitations and substantial costs.

Substantial uncertainties exist with respect to the interpretation and
implementation of the Foreign Investment Law and how it may impact
the viability of our current corporate structure, corporate governance

and business operations.

Our contractual arrangements may be subject to scrutiny by the PRC
tax authorities, and a finding that we owe additional taxes could
substantially reduce our consolidated net income and the value of your

investment.

For further details of these risks, please refer to the section headed "Risk
Factors — Risks Related to Our Contractual Arrangements” of the Prospectus

of our company.

Our Group has adopted the following measures to ensure the effective
operation of our Group with the implementation of the Contractual

Arrangements and our compliance with the Contractual Arrangements:

major issues arising from the implementation of and compliance
with the Contractual Arrangements or any regulatory enquiries from
government authorities will be submitted to our Board, if necessary, for

review and discussion as and when they arise;

our Board will review the overall performance of and compliance with

the Contractual Arrangements at least once a year;

our Company will disclose the overall performance of and compliance

with the Contractual Arrangements in our annual reports; and

our Company will engage external legal advisers or other professional
advisers, if necessary, to assist the Board to review the implementation
of the Contractual Arrangements, review the legal compliance of Beijing
Pop Mart and Paqu Huyu to deal with specific issues or matters arising

from the Contractual Arrangements.
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Material Changes

As of the Latest Practicable Date, there were no material changes in the
Contractual Arrangements and/or the circumstances under which the

Contractual Arrangements were adopted.

Unwinding of the Contractual Arrangements

As of the Latest Practicable Date, there has not been any unwinding of any
Contractual Arrangements, nor has there been any failure to unwind any
Contractual Arrangements when the restrictions that led to the adoption of

the Contractual Arrangements are removed.

Confirmations

Our Independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the Contractual
Arrangements and confirmed that (i) no transaction has been carried out
during period from the Listing Date to 31 December 2022 which have
not been entered into in accordance with the relevant provisions of the
Contractual Arrangements; (i) no dividends or other distributions have been
made by Paqu Huyu to the Relevant Shareholders which are not otherwise
subsequently assigned or transferred to our Group; (i) no new contract has
been entered into, renewed or reproduced between our Group and Paqu
Huyu during the period from the Listing Date to 31 December 2022 and (iv)
the Contractual Arrangements had been entered into in the ordinary and
usual course of business of our Group, and are on normal commercial terms
and are fair and reasonable so far as our Group is concerned, and in the

interest of our Company and its Shareholders as a whole.

No service fee was paid by Paqu Huyu to Beijing Pop Mart pursuant to
the Exclusive Consultation and Service Agreement for the year ended 31
December 2022. The revenue and net loss of Paqu Huyu subject to the
Contractual Arrangements amounted to approximately RMBO.1 million and
RMBO0.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2022, respectively. The
total assets and total liabilities of Paqu Huyu subject to the Contractual
Arrangements amounted to approximately RMBO0.7 million and RMB0.03

million as at 31 December 2022, respectively.

The Auditor of the Company confirmed that based on the foregoing, in
respect of the disclosed continuing connected transactions relating to the
Contractual Arrangements, noting has come to attention that cause them
to believe there was any dividends or other distributions had been made
by Paqu Huyu to the Relevant Shareholders which were not otherwise

subsequently assigned or transferred to the Group.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTION

Details of the related party transactions carried out in the normal course
of business are set out in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements.
During the year ended 31 December 2022, none of these related party
transactions constitutes a connected transaction or continuing connected
transaction as defined under the Listing Rules, and the Company has
complied with the disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing

Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this report, no Director or an entity connected with
a Director was materially interested, either directly or indirectly, in any
transaction, arrangement or contract which is significance in relation to the
business of the Group to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries or
fellow subsidiaries was a party subsisting during the year ended 31 December
2022 or at the end of the year ended 31 December 2022.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

No contract of significance was entered into between the Company, or
one of its subsidiary companies, and a controlling Shareholder or any of its

subsidiaries during the year ended 31 December 2022.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into
or existed during the year ended 31 December 2022 between the Company
and a person other than a Director or any person engaged in the full-time

employment of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover for Directors’
and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions arising out of corporate
activities against the Directors and officers of the Company and its associated
companies during the year ended 31 December 2022 and up to the Latest

Practicable Date.

Except for such insurances, at no time during the year and up to the Latest
Practicable Date, there was or is, any permitted indemnity provision being
in force for the benefit of any of the directors of the Company or associated

companies.

STAFF, EMOLUMENT POLICY AND DIRECTORS’
REMUNERATION

The Company offers competitive remuneration packages to the Directors.
The packages were set by benchmarking with companies in similar industries,
companies with similar size in the market, volume and complexity of work.
Other emoluments are determined by the Board with reference to the
Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance and the results of the

Group.

The remuneration payable to our employees includes salaries, bonuses and
employee benefit plans contributions. The salaries of our employees are
generally determined by the employees’ respective position, qualification,
experience and performance. The bonuses are calculated based on our
employees’ respective position, duration of services and performance of
our employees. In order to attract and retain our employees, we assess
the remuneration package offered to our employees on an annual basis to
determine whether any adjustment to the basic salaries and bonus should be

made.

As required by PRC laws and regulations, we participate in various
government statutory employee benefit plans, including social insurance
funds, namely a pension contribution plan, a medical insurance plan, an
unemployment insurance plan, a work-related injury insurance plan, a
maternity insurance plan, and a housing provident fund. We are required
under PRC law to contribute to employee benefit plans at specified
percentages of the salaries, bonuses and certain allowances of our employees
up to a maximum amount specified by the local government from time to
time. During the year ended 31 December 2022, there was no forfeiture of
contributions under the defined contribution plans of the Group, and there
were no forfeited contributions had been used by the Group to reduce the

existing level of contributions.
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We provide training programs for all of our employees to enhance our
employees’ knowledge, skills and capability relevant to our business. All of
our new hires will be provided with an induction program to familiarize with
the Group, followed by on-the-job training based on departmental needs
and the development strategies of the Group. We also provide promotion
opportunities for capable employees as we have policies and procedures

setting out the assessment criteria for promotion.

The Remuneration Committee was set up for reviewing the Group's policy
and structure for all Directors and senior management remuneration and
on the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for developing

remuneration policy.

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and five highest paid individuals
for the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in note 38 and note 33 to
the consolidated financial statements respectively. During the year ended
31 December 2022, there were no emoluments paid by the Group to any of
the Directors or the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join, or

upon joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of office.
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The table below shows the emolument of senior management by band: EURSREREAEHSZHRATERMES
Year ended Year ended
31 December 2022 31 December 2021
(Number of Senior (Number of Senior
Management) Management)
BZ2022% HE20214F
12A31BLLFE 12A31HIEEE
(SREEBAR) (BREBBAR)

Emolument bands (in HKD) i< g & (LABTED)

HKDO to HKD1,000,000 07 7L 1,000,00078 7T - 2
HKD1,000,001 to HKD1,500,000 1,000,001 7L 21,500,000 7T 2 4
HKD1,500,001 to HKD2,000,000 1,500,001 % 7L 2 2,000,000 7T 1 -
HKD2,000,001 to HKD2,500,000 2,000,001 7T % 2,500,000 7T 1 -
HKD4,000,001 to HKD4,500,000 4,000,001 7T 24,500,000 7T 1 -
HKD6,000,001 to HKD6,500,000 6,000,001 % JT % 6,500,000 7T 1 -
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POST-IPO SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Company conditionally adopted the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme on

24 July 2020 (the “Adoption Date”). Our Company appointed Trident Trust

Company (HK) Limited as the trustee (the “Trustee”’) of the Post-IPO Share

Award Scheme to administer the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme with respect

to the grant of any award by the Board (an "Award") which may vest in the

form of Shares (“Award Shares”) or the actual selling price of the Award

Shares in cash in accordance with the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme. As at 31

December 2022, the remaining life of the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme was

approximately seven years and eight months.

(a)

POP MART

Eligible Persons to the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme

Any individual, being an employee, director (including executive
Directors, non-executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors), officer, consultant, advisor, distributor, contractor, customer,
supplier, agent, business partner, joint venture business partner or
service provider of any member of the Group or any affiliate (an “Eligible
Person” and, collectively “Eligible Persons”) who the Board or its
delegate(s) considers, in its sole discretion, to have contributed or will
contribute to the Group is eligible to receive an Award. However, no
individual who is resident in a place where the grant, acceptance or
vesting of an Award pursuant to the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme is
not permitted under the laws and regulations of such place or where,
in the view of the Board or its delegate(s), compliance with applicable
laws and regulations in such place makes it necessary or expedient to
exclude such individual, shall be entitled to participate in the Post-IPO

Share Award Scheme.

Purpose of the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme

The purpose of the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme is to align the
interests of Eligible Persons’ with those of our Group through ownership
of Shares, dividends and other distributions paid on Shares and/or the
increase in value of the Shares, and to encourage and retain Eligible
Persons to make contributions to the long-term growth and profits of

our Group.
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(0)

Awards

An Award gives a selected participant a conditional right, when the
Award Shares vest, to obtain the Award Shares or, if in the absolute
discretion of the Board or its delegate(s), it is not practicable for the
selected participant to receive the Award in Shares, the cash equivalent
from the sale of the Award Shares. An Award includes all cash income
from dividends in respect of those Shares from the date the Award is
granted (the “Grant Date’) to the date the Award vests (the “Vesting
Date"). For the avoidance of doubt, the Board at its discretion may
from time to time determine that any dividends declared and paid by
our Company in relation to the Award Shares be paid to the selected

participant even though the Award Shares have not yet vested.

Grant of Award
(i) Making the Grant

The Board or the committee of the Board or person(s) to which
the Board has delegated its authority may, from time to time, at
their absolute discretion, grant an Award to a selected participant
(in the case of the Board's delegate(s), to any selected participant
other than a Director or an officer of our Company) by way of an
award letter ("Award Letter”). The Award Letter will specify the
Grant Date, the number of Award Shares underlying the Award, the
vesting criteria and conditions, the Vesting Date and such other

details as the Board or its delegate(s) may consider necessary.

Each grant of an Award to any Director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of our Company shall be subject to the
prior approval of the independent non-executive Directors of our
Company (excluding any independent non-executive Director who
is a proposed recipient of an Award). Our Company will comply
with the relevant requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing

Rules for any grant of Shares to connected persons of our Company.

No consideration is payable on application or acceptance of the
Award.
(i) Restrictions on Grants and Timing of Grants

The Board and its delegate(s) may not grant any Award Shares to

any selected participant in any of the following circumstances:

(A) where any requisite approval from any applicable regulatory

authorities has not been granted;
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where any member of our Group will be required under
applicable securities laws, rules or regulations to issue a
prospectus or other offer documents in respect of such
Award or the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme, unless the Board

determines otherwise;

where such Award would result in a breach by any member
of our Group or its directors of any applicable securities laws,

rules or regulations in any jurisdiction;

where such grant of Award would result in a breach of the
Post-IPO Share Award Scheme Limit (as defined below) or
the minimum public float requirement as required under the
Listing Rules, or would otherwise cause our Company to issue
Shares in excess of the permitted amount in the mandate

approved by the Shareholders;

where an Award is to be satisfied by way of issue of new
Shares to the RSU Trustee, in any circumstances that cause
the total Shares issued or allotted to connected persons (as
defined under the Listing Rules) to be in excess of the amount

permitted in the mandate approved by the Shareholders;

where any Director of our Company is in possession of
unpublished inside information in relation to our Company or
where dealings by Directors of our Company are prohibited
under any code or requirement of the Listing Rules and all

applicable laws, rules or regulations, from time to time;

during the period of 60 days immediately preceding the
publication date of the annual results or, if shorter, the
period from the end of the relevant financial year up to the
publication date of the results, unless the circumstances
are exceptional, for example, where a pressing financial
commitment has to be met, in accordance with the Listing

Rules;
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(H) during the period of 30 days immediately preceding the
publication date of the quarterly results (if any) and the half-
year results or, if shorter, the period from the end of the
relevant quarterly or half-year period up to the publication
date of the results, unless the circumstances are exceptional,
for example, where a pressing financial commitment has to be

met, in accordance with the Listing Rules; and

() during any period of delay in the publication of a results

announcement.

(e) Maximum Number of Shares to be Granted

The aggregate number of Shares underlying all grants made pursuant to
the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme (excluding Award Shares which have
been forfeited in accordance with the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme)
will not exceed 10% Shares without Shareholders’ approval (the “Post-
IPO Share Award Scheme Limit") subject to an annual limited of 5% of

the total number of issued Shares at the relevant time.

For any 12-month period, the aggregate number of Shares granted to
any selected participant shall not exceed 1% of the total number of the

issued Shares at the relevant time, without Shareholders’ approval.

Scheme Mandate

To the extent that the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme Limit is
subsequently increased by way of alteration of the Post-IPO Share Award
Scheme and our Company is required to issue and allot new shares
to satisfy any Awards in excess of any amount previously approved by
the Shareholders, our Company shall at a general meeting propose,
and the Shareholders shall consider and, if thought fit, pass an ordinary

resolution approving a mandate specifying:

(i)  the maximum number of Shares that may be issued for this

purpose; and

(i) that the Board has the power to issue, allot, procure the transfer of
and otherwise deal with the Shares in connection with the Post-IPO

Share Award Scheme.

(e)
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The mandate will remain in effect during the period from the passing
of the ordinary resolution granting the mandate until the variation
or revocation of such mandate by an ordinary resolution of the

Shareholders in a general meeting.

Rights attached to the Award

Save that the Board at its discretion may from time to time determine
that any dividends declared and paid by our Company in relation to
the Award Shares be paid to the selected participants even though the
Award Shares have not yet vested, the selected participant only has a
contingent interest in the Award Shares underlying an Award unless
and until such Award Shares are actually transferred to the selected
participant, nor does he/she have any rights to any related income until

the Award Shares vest.

Neither the selected participant nor the RSU Trustee may exercise any

voting rights in respect of any Award Shares that have not yet vested.

Rights attached to the Shares

Any Award Shares transferred to a selected participant in respect of any
Awards will be subject to all the provisions of the Memorandum and the
Articles and will form a single class with the fully paid Shares in issue on

the relevant date.

Issue of Shares and/or transfer of funds to the RSU Trustee

Our Company shall, as soon as reasonably practicable and no later than
30 business days from the Grant Date, (i) issue and allot Shares to the
RSU Trustee under the specific mandate sought from Shareholders
during the general meeting and/or (i) transfer to the RSU Trustee the
necessary funds and instruct the RSU Trustee to acquire Shares through
on-market transactions at the prevailing market price, so as to satisfy the

Awards.
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Our Company shall not issue or allot Shares nor instruct the RSU Trustee
to acquire Shares through on-market transactions at the prevailing
market price, where such action (as applicable) is prohibited under the
Listing Rules, the Securities and Futures Ordinance or other applicable
laws from time to time. Where such a prohibition causes the prescribed
timing imposed by the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme Rules or the trust
deed to be missed, such prescribed timing shall be treated as extended
until as soon as reasonably practicable after the first Business Day on

which the prohibition no longer prevents the relevant action.

Assignment of Awards

Unless express written consent is obtained from the Board or the
committee of the Board or person(s) to which the Board has delegated
its authorities, any Award Shares granted under the Post-IPO Share
Award Scheme but not yet vested are personal to the selected
participants to whom they are granted and cannot be assigned or
transferred. A selected participant shall not in any way sell, transfer,
charge, mortgage, encumber or create any interest in favor of any other
person over or in relation to any Award, or enter into any agreement to

do so.

Vesting of Awards

The Board or its delegate(s) may from time to time while the Post-
IPO Share Award Scheme is in force and subject to all applicable laws,
determine such vesting criteria and conditions or periods for the Award

to be vested.

Within a reasonable time period as agreed between the RSU Trustee
and the Board from time to time prior to any Vesting Date, the Board
or its delegate(s) will send a vesting notice to the relevant selected
participant and instruct the RSU Trustee the extent to which the Award
Shares held in the trust shall be transferred and released from the trust
to the selected participant. Subject to the receipt of the vesting notice
and notification from the Board or its delegate(s), the RSU Trustee will
transfer and release the relevant Award in the manner as determined by

the Board or its delegate(s).
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If, in the absolute discretion of the Board or its delegate(s), it is not
practicable for the selected participant to receive the Award in Shares,
solely due to legal or regulatory restrictions with respect to the selected
participant’s ability to receive the Award in Shares or the RSU Trustee's
ability to give effect to any such transfer to the selected participant, the
Board or its delegate(s) will direct and procure the RSU Trustee to sell,
on-market at the prevailing market price, the number of Award Shares
so vested in respect of the selected participant and pay the selected
participant the proceeds arising from such sale based on the actual
selling price of such Award Shares in cash as set out in the vesting

notice.

If there is an event of change in control of our Company by way of a
merger, a privatization of our Company by way of a scheme or by way
of an offer, the Board or the committee of the Board or person(s) to
which the Board has delegated its authority shall at their sole discretion
determine whether the Vesting Dates of any Awards will be accelerated

to an earlier date.

Consolidation, subdivision, bonus issue and other distribution

In the event our Company undertakes a subdivision or consolidation
of the Shares, corresponding changes will be made to the number of
outstanding Award Shares that have been granted provided that the
adjustments shall be made in such manner as the Board determines to
be fair and reasonable in order to prevent dilution or enlargement of
the benefits or potential benefits intended to be made available under
the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme for the selected participants. All
fractional shares (if any) arising out of such consolidation or subdivision
in respect of the Award Shares of a selected participant shall be deemed
as returned shares and shall not be transferred to the relevant selected
participant on the relevant Vesting Date. The RSU Trustee shall hold
returned shares to be applied towards future Awards in accordance with
the provisions of the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme rules for the purpose
of the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme.

In the event of an issue of Shares by our Company credited as fully paid
to the holders of the Shares by way of capitalization of profits or reserves
(including share premium account), the Shares attributable to any Award
Shares held by the RSU Trustee shall be deemed to be an accretion
to such Award Shares and shall be held by the RSU Trustee as if they
were Award Shares purchased by the RSU Trustee hereunder and all the
provisions hereof in relation to the original Award Shares shall apply to

such additional Shares.
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In the event of any non-cash distribution or other events not referred
to above by reason of which the Board considers an adjustment to an
outstanding Award to be fair and reasonable, an adjustment shall be
made to the number of outstanding Award Shares of each selected
participant as the Board shall consider as fair and reasonable, in order
to prevent dilution or enlargement of the benefits or potential benefits
intended to be made available under the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme
for the selected participants. Our Company shall provide such funds, or
such directions on application of the returned shares or returned trust
funds, as may be required to enable the RSU Trustee to purchase Shares

on-market at the prevailing market price to satisfy the additional Award.

In the event of other non-cash and non-scrip distributions made by our
Company not otherwise referred to in the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme
rules in respect of the Shares held upon trust, the RSU Trustee shall sell
such distribution and the net sale proceeds thereof shall be deemed as
related income of the Post-IPO Award Shares or returned trust funds of

the returned Shares held upon trust as the case may be.

(m) Cessation of employment and other events

Except as otherwise determined by the Board or the committee of the
Board or person(s) to which the Board has delegated its authority, upon
termination of employment or service with our Company during the
applicable restriction period, Awards that are at that time unvested shall
be forfeited or repurchased in accordance with the terms and provisions
of the grant letter and/or award agreement to be entered into by
such selected participant; provided, however, that the Board or the
committee of the Board or person(s) to which the Board has delegated
its authority may (a) provide in any grant letter and/or award agreement
that restrictions or forfeiture and repurchase conditions relating to the
Awards will be waived in whole or in part in the event of terminations
resulting from specified causes; and (b) in other cases waive in whole or
in part restrictions or forfeiture and repurchase conditions relating to the

Awards.

If a selected participant ceases to be an Eligible Person for reasons other
than those stated this paragraph, any outstanding Award Shares and
related income not yet vested shall be immediately forfeited, unless
the Board or its delegate(s) determines otherwise at their absolute

discretion.
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(n) Alteration of the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme

POP MART

The Post-IPO Share Award Scheme may be altered in any respect (save

for the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme Limit) by a resolution of the Board

provided that no such alteration shall operate to affect adversely any

subsisting rights of any selected participant unless otherwise provided

for in the rules of the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme, except:

(if)

with the consent in writing of selected participants amounting to
three-fourths in nominal value of all Award Shares held by the RSU

Trustee on that date; or

with the sanction of a special resolution that is passed at a meeting
of the selected participants amounting to three-fourths in nominal

value of all Award Shares held by the RSU Trustee on that date.

Termination

The Post-IPO Share Award Scheme shall terminate on the earlier of:

(if)

the end of the period of ten years commencing on the Listing
Date except in respect of any non-vested Award Shares granted
hereunder prior to the expiration of the Post-IPO Share Award
Scheme, for the purpose of giving effect to the vesting of such
Award Shares or otherwise as may be required in accordance with

the provisions of the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme; and

such date of early termination as determined by the Board provided
that such termination shall not affect any subsisting rights of any
selected participant under the rules of the Post-IPO Share Award
Scheme, provided further that for the avoidance of doubt, the
change in the subsisting rights of a selected participant in this
paragraph refers solely to any change in the rights in respect of the

Award Shares already granted to a selected participant.
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(p)

Administration of the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme

The Board has the power to administer the Post-IPO Share Award
Scheme in accordance with the rules of the Post-IPO Share Award
Scheme and, where applicable, the trust deed, including the power to
construe and interpret the rules of the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme
and the terms of the Awards granted under the Post-IPO Share Award
Scheme. The Board may delegate the authority to administer the Post-
IPO Share Award Scheme to a committee of the Board or other person(s)
as deemed appropriate at the sole discretion of the Board. The Board or
its delegate(s) may also appoint one or more independent third party
contractors to assist in the administration of the Post-IPO Share Award
Scheme as they think fit.

Grant of Shares under the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme

The numbers of Award Shares available for grant under the Post-IPO
Share Award Scheme on 1 January 2022 and 31 December 2022 are
117,155,251 and 114,034,728 respectively. As of the Latest Practicable
Date, a total of 97,714,920 Share is available for issue under the Post-IPO
Share Award Scheme, representing 7.15% of the total issued Shares. No
new Shares may be issued in respect of Award Shares granted under the
Post-IPO Share Award Scheme during the year ended 31 December 2022
as those Award Shares shall be funded by the existing Shares held by

the Trustee.

An application has been submitted to the Listing Committee for the
listing of, and permission to deal in, the Shares which may be issued

pursuant to the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme.

(p)
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During the year ended 31 December 2022, the details of the changes in

the Award Shares granted under the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme are

REZE2022F 12831 B ILFEHM - 28
RARBEERERMERFEIE N Z 2R

set out below: MBI
Number of Award Shares
#ERHHA
As at Asat
1 January Granted Vested Lapsed  Cancelled 31December
Number of Award 2022 during during during during 2022
Relevant Participant Shares Granted ~ Grant Date Vesting Period R202E  theyear  theyear  theyear  theyear  JA202%
RRgEE RUKBRAKE REEH BEEH 1818 ERERE FAEER FASAN FAEEE  12AN8
Five highest paid individuals 307,348 4 January 2021 Vested in tranches within 4 years after 230512 0 76,836 0 0 153676
ntsEMEAT W1%E1A4R the grant date
R EBEENIHAER
2,008 31 March 2021 Vesting before 31 January 2022 1004 0 1,004 0 0 0
W1E3A3NE WNEI R BHEE
413317 1 April 2021 Vested in tranches within 4 years after 473317 0 26,125 0 0 47192
W1E4A1H the grant date
R AERENIHIER
351,156 1 April 2022 Vested in tranches within 4 years after 0 351,156 0 0 0 351,156
N0E4R1H the grant date
R RERENIHRER
171458 1 November 2022 1 November 2022 0 171458 171458 0 0 0
WRENAA WNEIAIA
Employees 2375978 4 January 2021 Vested in tranches within 4 years after ~ 1,644616 0 601,281 397,353 0 645,982
Eg W1ETA4R the grant date
RLBBEENIHRGE
102917 31 March 2021 Vesting before 31 January 2022 43,761 0 43638 123 0 0
14538318 WNEIA3IRHIGE
7973 1 April 2021 Vested in tranches within 4 years after 247973 0 8235 196,703 0 43035
W1F4A1H the grant date
R BBEERIHRGE
763258 1 June 2021 Vested in tranches within 4 years after 741518 0 179618 52,206 0 509,694
02156A18 the grant date
RLBBEENIHRGEE
160,752 2 July 2021 Vested in tranches within 4 years after 94869 0 0 3,660 0 91,09
02157428 the grant date
RiLBBEENIHRGE
348,058 4 October 2021 Vested in tranches within 4 years after -~ 348,058 0 4011 20748 0 287,099
2021E10548 the grant date
REBBEENIHRGE
33,054 3 January 2022 3 January 2022 0 33,054 33054 0 0 0
WNEIA3A WNEIA3A
113489 3 January 2022 Vested in tranches within 4 years after 0 113489 0 23813 0 89,676
W01 438 the grant date
R BHRENIHRGE
51,601 1 April 2022 1 April 2022 0 51,601 51601 0 0 0
W0%4A1R N0F4R1H

POP MART
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Number of Award Shares
ZERGEA
As at Asat
TJanuary  Granted Vested Lapsed  Cancelled 31 December
Number of Award 2022 during during during during 2022
Relevant Participant Shares Granted ~ Grant Date Vesting Period R202F  theyear  theyear  theyear  theyear  JA2022%
il RUKDRAKE REEH FRAME 1818 EASRE SACHE FACAN FASHE AN
952636 1 April 2022 Vested in tranches within 4 years after 0 952,636 0 0 0 952,636
N0E4R1A the grant date
R BHRIENI HREE
64417 4 July 2022 4uly 2022 0 64417 64417 0 0 0
W2FTR4A W2F7R4A
102,164 4 July 2022 Vested in tranches within 4 years after 0 102,164 0 0 0 102,164
0257548 the grant date
REEBRAERIHREE
407217 4 July 2022 Vested in tranches within 4 years after 0 407217 0 62127 0 345,150
0257548 the grant date
REEHRAERIHREE
116731 3 October 2022 3 October 2022 0 116,731 116,731 0 0 0
WNEI0A3A WNEI0A3A
222379 3 October 2022 Vested in tranches within 4 years after 0 222379 0 0 0 222379
N2F10A3A8 the grant date
R AHRAENA YNGR
816,331 1 November 2022 1 November 2022 0 816,331 816,331 0 0 0
WNEIAIA WNEIAIA
184,258 30 December 2022 30 December 2022 0 184,258 184,258 0 0 0
WNE12A30A ANE1NANA
102,906 30 December 2022 Vested in tranches within 4 years after 0 102,906 0 0 0 102,906
22F128%A the grant date
R AHRAENI Y REE
Service providers 9,405 1 April 2022 1 April 2022 0 9,405 9,405 0 0 0
Risteit W254A18 0054818
177,99 26 May 2022 26 May 2022 0 177,99 177,99 0 0 0
WNESA2A W2E5A2%A
Note: MiaE -
(i)  The purchase price of all Award Shares in the table above is nil. () EXRTABEEBBROHOEBEEAS -
(i) For employees of the Group, the weighted average closing price of the (i) MAEEEEMET - BEEBHRHK2022
Shares immediately before the date on which the Award Shares were vested F5RE BB RG NETHRTERER
in 2022 was HKD18.34 per Shares. 18348 7T °
(iliy  For service providers, the weighted average closing price of the Shares (i) MRBHEEMS @ BEZEBKRH 2022

immediately before the date on which the Award Shares were vested in 2022

was HKD29.37 per Shares.

FEBARORONETHRTEASR
29.3777T °
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(iv) The following grants were made during 2022:

(iv) FR2022FHFEBERAT ¢

Closing Price

Fair Value
of Awards at

of Shares the Grant Date
immediately per Award
before the Share (HK$)
Number of  Grant Date (HK$) SEREBRH
Award Shares AR H A HAT REHBH
Relevant Participant Grant Date Vesting Period Granted ZROUTE HRBLAFE
HEsEE RHBH SFEAE RRERODBE (BT (Ex)
Five highest paid individuals 1 April 2022 Vesting by batches within 351,156 344 35.05
TEmEEME AL 202294818 four years of the grant
i BEIE4F RS RIR
5B
1 November 2022 1 November 2022 171,458 10.16 11.16
202211 A1H 202211 AR
Employees 3 January 2022 3 January 2022 33,054 44.7 47
== 202241 A3H 202241 A3H
3 January 2022 Vesting by batches within 113,489 44.7 47
202241 H3H four years of the grant
i BEB4F RS RIR
5B
1 April 2022 1 April 2022 51,601 344 35.05
202254 R 1H 20224 A 1H
1 April 2022 Vesting by batches within 952,636 344 35.05
202294 R1H four years of the grant
R B ERAFRDER
B
4 July 2022 4 July 2022 64,417 379 37.6
202247 R 48 202247 R 48
4 July 2022 Vesting by batches within 102,164 37.9 37.6
202247 A48 four years of the grant
B BHERAFRDBIR
B
4 July 2022 Vesting by batches within 407,277 379 376
202297 R4R four years of the grant
R HEEAF AN RIR
B
3 October 2022 3 October 2022 116,731 14.44 15.18
202241043 R 2022410 43R
3 October 2022 Vesting by batches within 222,379 14.44 15.18
20224F10H3H four years of the grant
Rt BERAFADHIR
BB
1 November 2022 1 November 2022 816,331 10.16 11.16
202211 A1 A 2022411 A1H
30 December 2022 30 December 2022 184,258 19.46 19.82
2022512 A30H 2022412 A30H
30 December 2022 Vesting by batches within 102,906 19.46 19.82
2022412 4308 four years of the grant
R HER4FRADRIR
BB
Service providers 1 April 2022 1 April 2022 9,405 34.4 35.05
RIS 20224 A1H 202294 A1H
26 May 2022 26 May 2022 177,994 29.1 28.35
202245726 H 20224526 H
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(v)  All of the above grants of Award Shares were made prior to the amendments
to Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules taking effect.

(vi) Al of the grants during the year ended 31 December 2022 were subject to
fulfillment of certain individual performance targets stipulated in respective
grant letters.

(vii) Details of the valuation of the Award Shares during the year, including the

accounting standard and policy adopted for the Post-IPO Share Award
Scheme, are set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no equity-linked agreement was
entered into by the Company at any time during or subsisted at the end of
the year ended 31 December 2022.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

The donations made by the Group during the year ended 31 December 2022

amounted to RMB3.3 million.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company repurchased a total
of 34,347,400 shares of the Company on the Stock Exchange at an aggregate
consideration of approximately HK$735,363,682. Particulars of the shares

repurchased are as follows:

BE - HEIEE LTRSS

REZE2022F 12831 BILFEHM - AAFIE
B FrBE O & $£34,347 400X RN A TR » 42
RAB#1735,363,682/87C - BRIRMH A AEIBER
mE

Price Paid per Share Aggregate

No. of Shares gRI A Consideration
Month of Repurchase Repurchase Highest (HK$) Lowest (HK$) (HKS)
BE A5 B RO E BefE (Br) RIEE (BT) HE (B)
February 2H 1,410,200 39.95 36.85 54,112,720
March 3H 513,000 32.00 31.60 16,361,170
April 4H 893,600 34.05 32.65 29,998,460
May 5H 1,548,600 29.90 27.95 44,992,310
July 7A 17,031,600 33.00 21.05 381,602,340
August 8A 615,200 19.50 19.18 11,916,676
September 9H 3,672,400 20.10 16.40 65,829,024
October 10H 3,453,200 13.00 10.12 41,715,112
November 1A 1,555,000 13.70 12.16 19,825,652
December 124 3,654,600 20.10 17.48 69,010,218
Total et 34,347,400 735,363,682

Save as disclosed above, during the year ended 31 December 2022, neither
the Company nor any of its subsidiaries or consolidated affiliated entities has

purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE OBLIGATIONS
PURSUANT TO THE LISTING RULES

The Company does not have any disclosure obligations under Rule 13.20,
13.21 and 13.22 of the Listing Rules.

USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM LISTING

The Shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange on 11 December 2020 by way of global offering, raised total net
proceeds of approximately HK$5,781.7 million (the “Net Proceeds’) from the
global offering (including the full exercise of the over-allotment option) after
deducting professional fees, underwriting commissions and other related

listing expenses.
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As stated in the Prospectus, the intended uses of the IPO proceeds are set

out below:
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MR BRI - BRAFEEMERIAN
BUERZESImT

Amount of Net
Proceeds
Amount of Net utilized Amount of Balance of
Proceeds during 12 Net Proceeds Net Proceeds  Intended
unutilizedupto  months ended utilizedupto  unutilizedasat  timetable for
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December use of the
Percentage of 2021 2022 2022 2022 unutilized
total B2 F HZanF BENE #2022 NetProceeds
Alocationof ~ Net proceeds 128318 1283181 128318 1283180 BAXBA
Net Proceeds LaFS ABAW 12f8A 2EAN ABR  FERE
Intended use of Net Proceeds fiszaE FERE igcE] EBRME gz figzE BN
FEREFRRERE BENAR BAl FESE  FERECE BHE FERE  BERER
() Tofinance part of our expansion plans of consumeraccess  HKS1,734.5 million 300%  HKS9987 million  HKS4906 million  HKS12264 milion  HKS508.1 million  Before
channels and overseas markets 1734SEEST WSTEEATL  A06EBET  164BEET  S8IBEET 31 December
BRAEMG B BERE RS TR RR HAN 2004
&R WUENA
(a)  foropening new retail stores HKS954.0 million 165%  HKS3506million — HKS3506 million  HKS954.0 million - 3IBZH
BRARAEERE 940BEAT BOSEEAT  OSEEAT  SMIBERET
() for opening new roboshops HKS346.9 million 60%  HKS2482milion  HKS86.I million  HKS1848 millon  HKS162.1 million
RRBFEABEARRE MIEBET MOEBRET  MIAERT IMSEERT  160BEET
() for expanding our business into overseas markets HKS4336 million 75%  HKS3999 millon  HKSS39milion  HKS876millon  HKS346.0 million
RREREBEENTS IBSRERT MVIAEAT  IBEAT  SSABETL MORERR
(i) Tofund our potential investments in, acquisitions ofand ~ HK$1,561.1 million 0%  HKS1,209 T milion  HKS498 million  HKS311.8millon  HKS1,2493 million  Before
strategic alliance with companies along the value chain of our 15611 BE%TT 10 BEET  A98EBAT  3NSEEBT  1403BEET 31 December
industry 2024
ARAEERE  WELAEEER L THAARERS W4E1NA
ATRUERBELE kjlzpd:]
(i) Toinvest in technology initiatives to strengthen our HKS867.2 million 150%  HKS7274 million — HKS1781million — HKS317.9 million  HK$549.3 million
marketing and fan engagement efforts, and toenhance the 8672 BE%TT TAEEET USIBERET  39BEERT  MOIBEERL
digitalization of our business
RARRERMSE - ERRRN2ERA42 BNER
RASBOETIRE
(a)  for talent recruitment HKS173.5 million 30%  HKS1540milion  HKS406 million  HKS60.I million  HKS1134million  Before
RRATHE I35RERT I40BERT  A6EERT  6IBEAT  N34BEAT 31 December
2023
WBENA
kjlzpd:]
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Amount of Net
Proceeds
Amount of Net utilized Amount of Balance of
Proceeds during 12 Net Proceeds Net Proceeds  Intended
unutilizedupto ~ months ended utilizedupto  unutilizedasat  timetable for
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December e of the
Percentage of 2021 2022 2022 2022 unutilized
total ERNE BZnE BENE #2022 NetProceeds
Alocationof ~ Net proceeds 128318 1283181 128318 1283180 BEXHA
Net Proceeds e ABAM 12fR 2EAN ABR FERE
Intended use of Net Proceeds 85 HERR frgsE EBAME frg5E e B
freRaRaRERE FENIE 5P FESE  FJERESE FHeE FERE  HERER
(b)  for acquiring relevant software and hardware to HKS346.9 million 60%  HKS3186milion  HKS474milion  HKS75.7 millon — HKS271.2 millon  Before
enhance digitalization and establish information U6IEEAT JSGEBHET  44BEET STEEAT  M2BEAT 31 December
systems for digital marketing, customer services, 2024
logistics, products, supply chain, warehousing, 014E128
membership, transactions and store management and 3B
marketing
BREEEBRMRBRAMEE T TRUR
REFEH EFRE MR En HEE 2
B 88 RANRFEERREHNERZS
() for optimizing our online marketing efforts, which HKS346.8 million 60%  HKS2548milion  HKSO.I million  HKS182.1 millon  HKS1647 millon  Before
primarily consist of strategically placed advertisement, 3468 BBAT BASHBET  WIEEET  IIBEAT  1647EEAT 31 December
icons, links and news feeds on third party promotional 2024
platforms 204E12R
BARELEMOE T EH IR TEREERIE 31R A
EE-HRETALRNES BE  #ERES
3
(iv)  Toexpand our IP pool HKS1,040.7 million 180%  HKS9724 millon — HKS1537million  HKS2220million — HKS818.7 million
S v il 10407 EEET ARERT  IJREAT  W0BEBET  8I87RERT
(a)  forenhancing our abllity to identify outstanding artists  HK$260.3 million 45%  HKS2220milion  HKS97.1 million  HKS1354 million  HKS1249 million  Before
Gl S P WIEEBT MOEEET  GIBBET IS4EBBT IM9BEAT 31 December
2024
WUE1A
382
(b)  for recruiting talented designers to join ourin-house  HK$86.6 million 15%  HKSS66milion  HKSS66 million  HKS86.6 million - -
design team to enhance our in-house original P S66BEET EE S66BEAT 866RBHET
development capability by providing competitive
salary
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REPORT OF DIRECTORS

EEaREE
Amount of Net
Proceeds
Amount of Net utilized Amount of Balance of
Proceeds during 12 Net Proceeds Net Proceeds  Intended
unutilizedupto  months ended utiizedupto  unutilizedasat  timetable for
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December use of the
Percentage of 2021 2022 2022 2022 unutilized
total B2 E BZanE EZanE #2022 NetProceeds
Allocationof ~ Net proceeds 128318 1283181 12A31R 12A3188  BRAKBA
Net Proceeds Lafs AEBAH 12fR 2EAN ABR  FERE
Intended use of Net Proceeds iR FERE frgsE CEHRKE fis%a e B
fEsERERERE FENIE BAl FESE  FJERESE FHLE RERE HERER
() foracquisitions of popular IPs from to expand our P HK$6938 million 120%  HKS6938 million - - HKS6938 milion  Before
pool 638BEAT 63SEERT 6B38EEAT 31 December
BRREREONPEARRGIPE 2004
W4E12A
31AZE
(v Working capital and general corporate purposes HKS578.2 million 100% - - HKS578.2 million - -
EEASR-RLARS STBIBEAT SBIBEAT
The Group will utilise the Net Proceeds of the initial public offering in AEEGERBRERAALTENIAER
NHBEERSRIEFEHE -

accordance with the intended purposes as set out in the Prospectus.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
CODE

The Company is committed to maintaining high corporate governance
standards. Information on the corporate governance practices adopted by
the Company is set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 81 to

102 of this annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company, together with the management and
the external auditor, had reviewed the accounting policies and practices
adopted by the Group as well as the internal control matters, and had also
reviewed the Group's consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2022.

B EERTR

AARBMNEHFSEEERKFE - BEAQA
RN CEEAERNERSERAFREE
TREMTBEERRE -

BEREES

RARIEZEZE G EREEE RIMNBZEED
FEEAREBMRAN G HOR R TR AR A Sz
BIEE  WEERAEEMEBZE 2029128310
IFEFERGA T EHRE -
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ExgRESE

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the ended 31

December 2022 have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers.
PricewaterhouseCoopers shall retire and being eligible, offer itself for re-

appointment, and a resolution to this effect shall be proposed at the AGM.

Since the Listing Date, the auditors of the Company have not changed.

On behalf of the Board
Mr. Wang Ning

Chairman of the Board

Hong Kong, 29 March 2023
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board of the Company is committed to maintaining high corporate
governance standards. The Board believes that high corporate governance
standards are essential in providing a framework for the Company to
safeguard the interests of Shareholders and to enhance corporate value and

accountability.

The Company has adopted the principles and code provisions as set out in
the CG Code contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules and complied
with the applicable code provisions during the year ended 31 December

2022, save for deviation from code provision C.2.1 as disclosed below.

The Company is committed to enhancing its corporate governance practices
appropriate to the conduct and the growth of its business and to reviewing
such practices from time to time to ensure that they comply with statutory

and professional standards and align with the latest development.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board oversees the Group's businesses, strategic decisions and
performance and takes decisions objectively in the best interest of the
Company as well as aligning the Company’s culture with its purpose, value

and strategy.

The Board has delegated the authority and responsibilities for day-to-day
management and operation of the Group to the senior management of the
Group. To oversee particular aspects of the Company'’s affairs, the Board
has established three Board committees including the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee. The Board
has delegated to the Board committees responsibilities as set out in their
respective terms of reference. All Board committees are provided with

sufficient resources to perform their duties.

The Board regularly reviews the contribution required from a Director to
perform his/her responsibilities to the Company, and whether the Director is

spending sufficient time performing them.

SRERRE

ARREZGHNHBFRRKTINDEERR
% -BEGRE SEXBERREHNARF
REERNRERRES  RACXEERA
BN EBEERER

BR T SR BR R B ST B ST C20 55 - AR
B ERM LR B S 4FTE > EEATAIA
JREN R =P RAIES - WHEZE 2022912 4318 1E
FEEAMEPEATANEX -

RARBAORFAEANELETRRERIER
MEEERER U ARBERHZEFER  UE
ERENTAEELEXREL AR ERRET
_ﬁo

Exg

EFEEEARENED  RBHERRRE
B YEBHELFTEARARARENZNR
R ARERAQRLERERE - BEBRK
REE—E -

ExetMAKERREEEREAHAEE
FEEREETENENRBE %%ﬁ
KRI=ZFAEEZRES BREEZZES M
ZEGMREZEE UEEBAR T’ﬁi%
MET - é%AEr"Jé%;EE&%ﬁ%%E
BrEREMENBE
HARERABITHRE -

EXe TR EENARRETREMEN
HBER - UWRFHREFAENHRANEE
TTHE -
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Board Composition

The Board currently comprises nine Directors, consisting of four executive
Directors, two non-executive Directors and three independent non-executive

Directors. The current members of the Board of the Company are listed as

EEEEK

E=ZSRHMNBREFEN  BREENAATE
F O WMEHPTEER="BBILIFATES -
ARRREEFEEXNERENT

follows:

Name Position in the Company ®E RAR T B

Mr. Wang Ning Executive Director, Chairman of the Board and FTERLE BITER EFFEFFER
Chief Executive Officer TTIRABE

Ms. Yang Tao Executive Director and Vice President BEsZt PITEERBIER

Ms. Liu Ran Executive Director and Vice President 2/t BITEE RBIRE

Mr. Si De Executive Director, Chief Operating Officer RIEIE BITEE  BREZE

Mr. Tu Zheng Non-executive Director Bt FMITES

Mr. He Yu Non-executive Director fAIRE4E HHITESE

Mr. Zhang Jianjun Independent non-executive Director RER LA BYUIEHITES

Mr. Wu Liansheng Independent non-executive Director RESAE S E B IEMITESE

Mr. Ngan King Leung Gary  Independent non-executive Director B R AL B IEITES

The list of Directors (by category) is also disclosed in all corporate
communications issued by the Company from time to time pursuant to
the Listing Rules. The independent non-executive Directors are expressly

identified in all corporate communications pursuant to the Listing Rules.

The biographical information of the Directors is set out in the section headed

"Biographies of Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.

Save as disclosed in the Prospectus and this annual report, to the best
knowledge of the Company, there are no financial, business, family, or other

material relationships among members of the Board.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of chairman
and chief executive should be segregated and should not be performed by
the same individual. According to the current structure of the Board, the
positions of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company are
held by Mr. Wang Ning.

POP MART
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The Board believes that this structure will not impair the balance of power
and authority between the Board and the management of the Company,
given that: (i) decision to be made by the Board requires approval by at least
a majority of the Directors and that the Board comprises three independent
non-executive Directors out of nine Directors, and the Board believes there
is sufficient check and balance on the Board; (i) Mr. Wang Ning and the
other Directors are aware of and undertake to fulfil their fiduciary duties as
Directors, which require, among other things, that they act for the benefit
and in the best interests of the Company and will make decisions of the
Group accordingly; and (iii) the balance of power and authority is ensured by
the operations of the Board which comprises experienced and high caliber
individuals who meet regularly to discuss issues affecting the operations of
the Group. Moreover, the overall strategic and other key business, financial
and operational policies of the Group are made collectively after thorough
discussion at both the Board and senior management levels. Finally, as Mr.
Wang Ning is our principal founder, the Board believes that vesting the roles
of both chairman and chief executive officer in the same person has the
benefit of ensuring consistent leadership within the Group and enables more
effective and efficient overall strategic planning for the Group. The Board will
continue to review the effectiveness of the corporate governance structure
of the Group in order to assess whether separation of the roles of chairman

and chief executive officer is necessary.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Since the Listing Date to the Latest Practicable Date, the Board at all times
met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at
least three independent non-executive Directors representing at least one-
third of the Board with one of whom possessing appropriate professional

qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each of the
independent non-executive Directors in respect of his independence in
accordance with the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all independent non-executive

Directors are independent and remain so as of the Latest Practicable Date.
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Independent View

The Board has established mechanisms to ensure independent views
and input are available to the Board. The Board ensures the appointment
of at least three independent non-executive directors and at least one-
third of its members being independent non-executive directors. Further,
independent non-executive directors will be appointed to committees
of the Board as required under the Listing Rules and as far as practicable
to ensure independent views and input are available. The Nomination
Committee strictly adheres to the independence assessment criteria as set
out in the Listing Rules with regard to the nomination and appointment of
independent non-executive directors, and is mandated to assess annually
the independence of independent non-executive directors to ensure that
they can continually exercise independent judgement. All Directors may also
obtain independent professional advice at the Company’s expense for carry

out their functions.
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Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service agreement with
the Company for a term of three years commencing from the Listing Date,

which are subject to termination in accordance with their respective terms.

Each of the non-executive Directors has entered into a service agreement
with the Company for a term of three years commencing from the Listing
Date, which are subject to termination in accordance with their respective
terms.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors was engaged on a letter
of appointment for a term of three years commencing from the Listing Date

and shall be subject to retirement by rotation once every three years.

All Directors will hold office subject to provision of retirement and rotation
of directors under the Articles of Association. Pursuant to the Articles of
Association, at every annual general meeting of the Company one-third of
the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not three or a multiple
of three, then the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall
retire from office by rotation and be eligible for re-election, provided that
every Director (including those appointed for a specific term) is subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Any person appointed
by the Board to fill a temporary vacancy on or as an addition to the Board
shall hold office only until the next general meeting of the Company, and

shall then be eligible for re-election.

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions of the
Board and Management

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and control of the
Company and is collectively responsible for directing and supervising the
Company's affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads and provides
direction to the management by laying down strategies and overseeing their
implementation, monitors the Group'’s operational and financial performance,
and ensures that sound internal control and risk management systems are in

place.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors, have
brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge and
professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective functioning. The
independent non-executive Directors are responsible for ensuring a high
standard of regulatory reporting of the Company and providing a balance
in the Board for bringing effective independent judgement on corporate

actions and operations.
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All Directors have full and timely access to all the information of the
Company and may, upon request, seek independent professional advice in
appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expenses for discharging their

duties to the Company.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other offices held by

them.

The Board reserves for its decisions on all major matters relating to policy
matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management,
material transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of
interests), financial information, appointment of directors and other
significant operational matters of the Company. Responsibilities relating
to implementing decisions of the Board, directing and co-ordinating the
daily operation and management of the Company are delegated to the

management.

The Board has clearly set out the circumstances under which the
management should report to and obtain prior approval from the Board
before making decisions or entering into any commitments on behalf of the
Company. The Board regularly reviews the above said circumstances and

ensures they remain appropriate.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage on Directors’ and
officers’ liabilities in respect of any legal action taken against them arising
out of corporate activities. The insurance coverage would be reviewed on an

annual basis.

Continuous Professional Development of Directors

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and changes in
order to effectively perform their responsibilities and to ensure that their

contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

Every newly appointed Director has received a formal and comprehensive
induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment to ensure appropriate
understanding of the business and operations of the Company and full
awareness of Director's responsibilities and obligations under the Listing
Rules and relevant statutory requirements. Such induction shall be
supplemented by visits to the Company's key place of business and meetings

with senior management of the Company.
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Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. Internally-
facilitated briefings for Directors would be arranged and reading materials
on relevant topics would be provided to Directors where appropriate.
All Directors are encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the

Company's expenses.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company organized training
sessions conducted by the legal advisers for all Directors. The training
sessions covered a wide range of relevant topics including directors’ duties
and responsibilities, continuing connected transaction, disclosure of interests
and regulatory updates. In addition, relevant reading materials including
compliance manual/legal and regulatory updates/seminar handouts have

been provided to the Directors for their reference and studying.

The training records of the Directors for the year ended 31 December 2022

are summarized as follows:

conferences and workshops

relevant to the Company’s

Attending training,

briefings, seminars,

industry and business,
director’s duties and/or

corporate governance
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Reading news alerts,
newspapers, journals,
magazines and publications
relevant to the Company's
industry and business,
director’s duties and/or

corporate governance

BEANRITERER BIEEARETERES -
ESHER ALEER ESHER NLEER
BBENE - BNE - HHE BENTERA - RE
Name of Directors Ex=psg EBRRIEHEESER B - BERERY
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Wang Ning (Chairman of the Board) TELE (EE2ER) \/ \/
Ms. Yang Tao e v v
Ms. Liu Ran gt v v
Mr. Si De AlEkE v v
Non-executive Directors FHITES
Mr. Tu Zheng | v v
Mr. He Yu AIREE v v
Independent non-executive Directors BIYFHTES
Mr. Zhang Jianjun REELE v v
Mr. Wu Liansheng REERAE v v
Mr. Ngan King Leung Gary BEYREE v \
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees namely, the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee, each of which
has been delegated responsibilities and reports back to the Board. The roles
and functions of these committees are set out in their respective terms of
reference. The terms of reference of each of these committees will be revised
from time to time to ensure that they continue to meet the needs of the
Company and to ensure compliance with the CG Code where applicable. The
terms of reference of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee
and the Nomination Committee are posted on the Company's website and

the Stock Exchange’s website and are available to Shareholders upon request.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises three members, including two independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Wu Liansheng and Mr. Ngan King
Leung Gary and one non-executive Director, namely Mr. Tu Zheng. Mr. Wu

Liansheng is the chairman of the Audit Committee.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are of no less exacting terms
than those set out in the CG Code. The main duties of the Audit Committee
are to assist the Board in reviewing the financial information and reporting
process, risk management and internal control systems, effectiveness of the
internal audit function, scope of audit and appointment of external auditors,
provide advice and comments to the Board and arrangements to enable
employees of the Company to raise concerns about possible improprieties in

financial reporting, internal control or other matters of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Audit Committee held three
meetings, during which matters such as reviewing the annual financial results
and report for the year ended 31 December 2021, reviewing the Group's
unaudited interim results for the six months ended 30 June 2022, discussing
the audit plan for the 2022 financial year with the auditor, significant issues
on the financial reporting, operational and compliance controls, effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control systems and internal audit

function.

The Audit Committee considers that the annual financial results for the year
ended 31 December 2022 are in compliance with the relevant accounting
standards, rules and regulations and appropriate disclosures have been duly

made.

The Audit Committee also met the external auditors once without the

presence of the executive Directors.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises three members, including two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Zhang Jianjun and Mr. Wu
Liansheng and one executive Directors, namely Mr. Wang Ning. Mr. Zhang

Jianjun is the chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are of no less
exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. The primary functions of
the Remuneration Committee include making recommendations to the Board
on the remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management, making recommendations to the Board on the Company's
remuneration policy and structure for all Directors and senior management;
establishing a formal and transparent procedure for developing remuneration
policy to ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates will participate

in deciding his/her own remuneration.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Remuneration Committee
held one meeting, during which matters such as the remuneration packages
of the Directors and senior management and other related matters were

discussed.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises three members, including one
executive Director, namely Mr. Wang Ning and two independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Zhang Jianjun and Mr. Wu Liansheng. Mr

Wang Ning is the chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are of no less exacting
terms than those set out in the CG Code. The principal duties of the
Nomination Committee include reviewing the structure, size and diversity
required of the Board annually and making recommendations on any
proposed change to the Board to complement the Company's corporate
strategy; monitoring the implementation of diversity policy for board
members, and assessing the independence of independent non-executive

Directors.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Nomination Committee held
one meeting, during which matters such as structure, size and composition
of the Board, making recommendations to the Board on the re-appointment
of Directors, and assessing in the independence of independent non-
executive Directors were discussed. The Nomination Committee considered

an appropriate balance of diversity perspectives of the Board is maintained.
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In accordance with the Articles of Association, Directors shall be elected by
the general meeting with a term of three years and may serve consecutive
terms if re-elected. Any person appointed by the Board to fill a temporary
vacancy or as an addition to the Board shall hold office only until the next

general meeting of the Company, and shall then be eligible for re-election.

At the expiry of a Director’s term, the Director may stand for re-election and
reappointment for further term. Subject to the compliance of the provisions
of the relevant laws and administrative regulations, the general meeting of
the Shareholders may dismiss by ordinary resolution any Directors of whom
the term of office has not expired (the claim for compensation under any

contracts shall however be not affected).

The procedures for the appointment, re-election and removal of directors
are set out in the Articles of Association. The Nomination Committee
will identify individuals suitably qualified to become directors and make
recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals. The
Nomination Committee will determine the composition of board members
based on a range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The Nomination
Committee will also make recommendations to the Board of Directors on
the appointment or re-appointment of directors and succession planning for
directors (in particular the Chairman of the Board of Directors and the general
manager), taking into account the Company's corporate strategy and mix of

skills, knowledge, experience and diversity needed in the future.

The Board has adopted the Nomination Policy which sets out the nomination
procedures for selecting candidates for election as Directors of the Board
of the Group. The policy is adopted by the Board and administered by the

Nomination Committee.
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Selection of board candidates shall be based on amongst others, character
and integrity, qualifications, willingness to devote adequate time and a range
of diversity perspectives with reference to the Company's business model

and specific needs.

Selection and recommendation of candidates will be based on the
nomination procedures and the process and criteria adopted by the
Nomination Committee and a number of perspectives, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, industry
experience, technical and professional skills and/or qualifications, knowledge,
length of services, personal integrity and time commitments of the proposed
candidates. The Company should also take into account factors relating to
its own business model and specific needs from time to time. The ultimate
decision is based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates will

bring to the Board.

The Nomination Committee shall review the Nomination Policy and the
measurable objectives periodically, and as appropriate, to ensure the

continued effectiveness of the Board.

BOARD AND WORKFORCE DIVERSITY

The Board has adopted the Board Diversity Policy which sets out the basic
principles to be followed to ensure that the board has the appropriate
balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives necessary to
enhance the effectiveness of the Board and to maintain high standards of

corporate governance.

Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, the Company seek to achieve Board
diversity, through the consideration of a number of factors, including but not
limited to professional experience, skills, knowledge, gender, age, culture and
education background, ethnicity and length of service. Our Directors have
a balanced mix of knowledge and skills, including business management,
finance, investment, auditing and accounting. At present, the Board
considered an appropriate balance of diversity perspectives of the Board is
maintained and the Nomination Committee has set measurable objectives (in
terms of professional experience, skills, knowledge, gender, age and length of
service, etc.) to implement the Board Diversity Policy. Such objectives will be
reviewed from time to time to ensure their appropriateness and the progress

made towards achieving those objectives will be ascertained.
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The Board currently comprises nine members, including two female
Directors and seven male Directors, which is in line with the gender
diversity requirements by the Stock Exchange. We will implement policies
to ensure gender diversity when recruiting staff to develop a pipeline of
female potential successors to the Board. Furthermore, we will implement
comprehensive programs aimed at identifying and training our female staff
who display leadership and potential, with the goal of promoting them to
the Board.

As of 31 December 2022, we had 3,937 full-time employees, of which
1,284 were male and 2,653 were female. The gender ratio in the workforce
(including senior management) was approximately 1 males to 2 females. The
Company is aiming to achieve a more balanced gender ratio in the workforce
and targets to achieve a gender ratio in the workforce. The Company is
not aware of any mitigating factor or circumstances which make achieving
gender diversity across the workforce (including senior management) more

challenging or less relevant.

We are also committed to adopting a similar approach to promote diversity
of the management (including but not limited to the senior management) of
the Company to enhance the effectiveness of corporate governance of the

Company as a whole.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in the code
provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Board had reviewed the
Company's policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements, training and continuous professional development of Directors
and senior management, the corporate governance policies and practices,
the compliance of the Model Code, and the Company’s compliance with the

CG Code and the disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.

BOARD MEETINGS AND DIRECTORS’ ATTENDANCE
RECORDS

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company in accordance with
code provision C.5.1 of the CG Code, has adopted the practice of holding
Board meetings regularly with at least four times a year, and at approximately
quarterly intervals with active participation of majority of the Directors, either

in person or through electronic means of communication.
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The attendance records of each Director at the Board and Board committee

meetings of the Company held during the year ended 31 December 2022 are

set out below:
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Attendance/Number of Meeting(s)

HREER ERRY
Audit Remuneration Nomination
Board Committee Committee Committee General
meeting(s) Meeting(s) meeting(s) meeting(s) meeting(s)
ENEES FHEES RAZE®
Name of Directors EENE EEge3 =E g8& =E BRAE
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Wang Ning TEEE 4/4 N/A 7l 11 Il
TEMA
Ms. Yang Tao P )y 3/4 N/A N/A N/A 1”7
i TiEm TR
Ms. Liu Ran gErt 4/4 N/A N/A N/A 1/1
TNEA TEA TNEM
Mr. Si De AlfESEE 4/4 N/A N/A N/A 1/1
TEA TEA TEA
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Mr. Tu Zheng BiFtE 4/4 33 N/A N/A 1/1
TEA TEA
Mr. He Yu BEE 4/4 N/A N/A N/A 1/1
TiER TER TER
Independent non-executive BUKHITES
Directors
Mr. Zhang Jianjun RERRE 4/4 N/A 11 11 N
TEA
Mr. Wu Liansheng BAERE 4/4 3/3 11 11 Il
Mr. Ngan King Leung Gary BEOR%E 4/4 3/3 N/A N/A N
TEA TEA
Notices of not less than 14 days will be given for all regular Board meetings FFEEZe TN BMNEARERRTAE
to provide all Directors with an opportunity to attend and include matters DTN REAZLBEST  FRRESARSY
in the agenda for a regular meeting. For other Board and Board committee fﬁﬁﬂ/;;%% LRERREZRETFIRNE
meetings, reasonable notice will be generally given. CHMEMESGRESZEGGHRMS - A

Al REEHEERM -
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Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are sent to all Directors at least three days before each Board
meeting or committee meeting to keep the Directors apprised of the latest
developments and financial position of the Company and to enable them to
make informed decisions. The Board and each Director also have separate

and independent access to the senior management whenever necessary.

The senior management attends all regular Board meetings and where
necessary, other Board and committee meetings to advise on business
developments, financial and accounting matters, statutory and regulatory

compliance, corporate governance and other major aspects of the Company.

The company secretary is responsible for taking and keeping minutes of
all Board meetings and committee meetings. Draft minutes are normally
circulated to Directors for comment within a reasonable time after each

meeting and the final version is open for Directors’ inspection.

The Articles of Association contain provisions requiring Directors to abstain
from voting and not to be counted in the quorum at meetings for approving
transactions in which such Directors or any of their associates have potential

or actual conflicts of interests.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk management and
internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness. Such systems
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable but not absolute

assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and determining the
nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the Company'’s
strategic objectives, and establishing and maintaining appropriate and

effective risk management and internal control systems.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading the management and
biannually reviews the design, implementation and monitoring of the risk
management and internal control systems. Heads of departments manage

risks through identification, evaluation and mitigation of risk identified.
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Risk management mainly includes four major areas: risks identification, risks

assessment, risks response and risk monitoring and reporting.

Risk identification: each business and functional department and its
subsidiaries conducts, once in a year, an identification of potential internal
and external risks in its respective operation processes. During risks
identification, references are mainly made to the impact the risks have on the
Company'’s objectives, and major problems or risk incidents in the business

activities for the past year.

Risk assessment: according to the risks assessment standards, each business
and functional department and its subsidiaries reviews the risks identified,
and assesses the possibilities of occurrence and the extents of impacts in
order to screen out the significant risks. The Group adopts a combination of
bottom-up and top-down risk assessment procedures to fully identify all of
the Group's significant risks, which are then given rankings. Significant risks
are then reported to the appropriate management level, Audit Committee
and the Board. A final list of significant risks is confirmed after thorough

communication and discussion.

Risks response: the responsible department of the identified risks formulates
a risk response plan by properly applying methods such as risk avoidance, risk
reduction, risk sharing and risk acceptance, with consideration of the Group's
level of risk tolerance. This allows the Group to properly allocate resources for
risk mitigation or improvements on risk response measures, with an aim to

reduce the overall risk of the Group to an acceptable level.

Risk monitoring and reporting: risk monitoring and reporting are carried
out by integrating the use of risk warning indicators, internal auditing and

periodic summarized risk reports.

We endeavour to uphold the integrity of our business by maintaining an
internal control system into our organisational structure. Our internal control
and risk management systems cover, among others, corporate governance,
operations, management, legal matters, finance and auditing. Our Audit
department reviewed our internal control system and we have implemented
and will continue to implement the relevant suggestions they proposed/
propose. Our Audit department (the “internal audit and compliance
department’) performed a review of the adequacy and effectiveness of
the risk management and internal control systems over our major business
processes. The Company has established risk management systems with
relevant policies and procedures that we believe are appropriate for our

business operations.
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The Audit Department conducted a follow-up review (the “Internal Control
Review") on, among others, control environment, risk assessment, control
activities, information and communication, monitoring activities such as
revenue cycle, procurement cycle, expenditure cycle, etc. and provided

recommendations to enhance the internal control system of our Group.

We have adopted and implemented the recommendations provided by the
Audit Department and the Audit Department has not identified any material
findings which may have material impact on the effectiveness of our internal

control system.

Based on the result of the Internal Control Review, the Board, as supported
by the Audit Committee, reviewed the risk management and internal control
systems, including the financial, operational and compliance controls, for
the year ended 31 December 2022, and considered that such systems
are effective and adequate. The annual review also covered the financial
reporting, internal audit function, adequacy of resources, staff qualifications
and experiences, training programmes and budget of the Company’s

accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions.

WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

The Company has adopted arrangement to facilitate employees and other
stakeholders to raise concerns, in confidence, about possible improprieties in

financial reporting, internal control or other matters.

The Audit Committee of the Company shall review such arrangement
regularly and ensure that proper arrangements are in place for fair and
independent investigation of these matters and for appropriate follow-up

action.

INSIDE INFORMATION

The Company is aware of and strictly complies with the requirements of
the currently applicable laws, regulations and guidelines, including the
obligations to disclose inside information under the SFO and the Listing
Rules, and the Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information issued by the
Securities and Futures Commission, at the time when the relevant businesses
are transacted. The Group has established the authority and accountability,
as well as the handling and dissemination procedures in relation to inside
information, and has communicated to all relevant personnel and provided
them with specific trainings in respect of the implementation of the

continuous disclosure policy.
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The Board considers that the Company’s handling and dissemination

procedures and measures in relation to inside information are effective.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10 to the
Listing Rules. Specific enquiries have been made to all the Directors and all
the Directors have confirmed that they have complied with the Model Code

during the year ended 31 December 2022.

The Company's employees, who are likely to be in possession of unpublished

inside information of the Company, are also subject to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial

statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2022.

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and understandable
assessment of annual and interim reports, announcements relating to
disclosure of insider information and other disclosures required under the

Listing Rules and other statutory and regulatory requirements.

The management has provided to the Board such explanation and
information as are necessary to enable the Board to carry out an informed
assessment of the Company’s financial statements, which are put to the

Board for approval.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Group's ability to

continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements is set out

in the Independent Auditor’s Report of this annual report.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The statement of the external auditor of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities for the financial statements is set out under the section

headed “Independent Auditor’s Report”in this annual report.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the remuneration paid/payable
to the external auditor of the Company for the provision of audit services
for the year ended 31 December 2022 amounted to RMB4.5 million. The
audit services include statutory audits and reviews of the Group and certain

subsidiaries.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the remuneration paid/payable to
the external auditor of the Company in respect of non-audit services for the
year ended 31 December 2022 amounted to RMB1.4 million. The non-audit
services conducted by the external auditor mainly include tax and other

consultation services.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Mr. Li Hongxuan (“Mr. Li") and Ms. Li Ching Yi ("Ms. Li") are the joint company
secretaries of the Company.

Mr. Li, the depute director of investor relationship of the Company, joined
the Group in April 2019 in charge of the management of investor relationship
department of the Company. Prior to that, Mr. Li served as a senior associate
of investment banking department of CSC Financial Co., Ltd. from December
2014 to January 2019 and a senior associate of innovative financing
department of CSC Financial Co., Ltd. from February 2019 to March 2019.

Ms. Li is a senior manager of the Listing Corporate Services Department of
Trident Corporate Services (Asia) Ltd., a global professional services firm.
She has over 10 years of professional experience in company secretarial
field. Ms. Li is an associate member of The Chartered Governance Institute
(formerly known as The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators)
in the United Kingdom and The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute
(formerly known as The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries). Ms.
Li has assisted on the Company Secretarial matters of the Company and has
closely communicated with Mr. Li, who is the primary corporate contact
person of our Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, each of Mr. Li and Ms. Li has
undertaken not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training.
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COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Company considers that effective communication with Shareholders
is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor understanding
of the Group's business performance and strategies. The Company also
recognizes the importance of transparency and timely disclosure of corporate
information, which will enable Shareholders and investors to make the best
investment decisions. To enable our shareholders to exercise their rights
in an informed manner based on a good understanding of the Group's
operations, businesses and financial information, the Company adopted the
shareholders communication policy to provide effective communication with
the Shareholders and other stakeholders.

The Company endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with
Shareholders and in particular, through annual general meetings and other
general meetings. The general meetings of the Company provide a platform
for communication between the Board and the Shareholders. The chairman
of the Board as well as chairmen of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee or, in their absence, other
members of the respective committees, are available to answer Shareholders’
questions at general meetings. The external auditor of the Company is also
invited to attend the annual general meetings of the Company to answer
questions about the conduct of audit, the preparation and content of the
auditor’s report, the accounting policies and auditor independence.

To promote effective communication, the Company maintains a website
(www.popmart.com), where information and updates on the Company's
financial information, corporate governance practices, biographical
information of the Board and other information are available for public

access.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company reviewed the
implementation and effectiveness of the shareholders communication policy,
including the multiple communication channels for shareholders in place
and the steps taken to handle shareholders’ enquiries, and considered that
the shareholders communication policy has been properly implemented and

effective.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard Shareholders” interests and rights, separate resolution should be
proposed for each substantially separate issue at general meetings, including
the election of Director. All resolutions put forward at general meetings will
be voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be
posted on the websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange after

each general meeting.

Procedures for Shareholders to Convene Extraordinary General
Meeting

Article 12.3 of the Articles of Association provides that general meetings shall
be convened on the written requisition of any one or more members holding
together, as at the date of deposit of the requisition, shares representing not
less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company which carry the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company. The written requisition
shall be deposited at the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong or, in
the event the Company ceases to have such a principal office, the registered
office of the Company, specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by

the requisitionist(s).

If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of deposit of the
requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting to be held within a further
21 days, the requisitionist(s) themselves or any of them representing more
than one-half of the total voting rights of all of them, may convene the
general meeting in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which
meetings may be convened by the Board provided that any meeting so
convened shall not be held after the expiration of three months from the
date of deposit of the requisition, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed

to them by the Company.
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Procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election as
a director

For proposal of a person for election as Director, pursuant to Article 16.4
of the Articles of Association, no person shall, unless recommended by the
Board, be eligible for election to the office of Director at any general meeting
unless during the period, which shall be at least seven days, commencing
no earlier than the day after the despatch of the notice of the meeting
appointed for such election and ending no later than seven days prior to
the date of such meeting, there has been given to the Secretary notice in
writing by a member of the Company (not being the person to be proposed),
entitled to attend and vote at the meeting for which such notice is given, of
his intention to propose such person for election and also notice in writing

signed by the person to be proposed of his willingness to be elected.

Base on this, if a Shareholder wishes to propose a person (the “Candidate”)
for election as a Director at a general meeting, he/she shall deposit a written
notice at the Company's principal place of business in Hong Kong at 14/F.,
Golden Centre, 188 Des Voeux Road Central, Hong Kong. The notice must
(i) include the personal information of the Candidate as required by Rule
13.51(2) of the Listing Rules; and (ii) be signed by the Shareholder concerned
and signed by the Candidate indicating his/her willingness to be elected and

consent of publication of his/her personal information.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

There are no provisions in the Articles of Association or in the Companies
Law of the Cayman Islands for putting forward proposals of new resolutions
by Shareholders at general meetings. Shareholders who wish to move
forward a resolution may request the Company to convene a general
meeting in accordance with the procedures mentioned above. For proposing
a person for election as a Director, please refer to the procedures set out in

the preceding paragraph.
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Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiry to the Board, Shareholders may send written
enquiries to the Company. The Company will not normally deal with verbal

Or anonymous enquiries.

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned above to
the following:

Address:  Floor 36 & 37, Block A, Puxiang Center
Hongtai East Street

Dawangjing Technology Business Park
Chaoyang District, Beijing

PRC

(For the attention of the Board of Directors)
Email: ir@popmart.com

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholders must deposit and send the original
duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or enquiry (as the case
may be) to the above address and provide their full name, contact details
and identification in order to give effect thereto. Shareholders' information

may be disclosed as required by law.

Change in Constitutional Documents

The Company adopted amended and restated Articles of Association on 23
November 2020, which has been effective from the Listing Date. During the
year ended 31 December 2022, no other changes have been made to the
said Articles of Association. The Articles of Association is available on the

websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

On 29 March 2023, the Board resolved to propose certain amendments to
the current memorandum and articles of association of the Company, subject
to approval by the Shareholders at the AGM. For more details, please refer to

the announcement of the Company dated 29 March 2023.

Dividend Policy

The Company has adopted a dividend policy on payment of dividends, and
details are provided in the “Report of Directors” on pages 38 to 80 of this

annual report.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT
Overview

The purpose of this report is to objectively disclose the environmental,
social and governance (“ESG") works and achievements made by Pop
Mart International Group Limited (the “Pop Mart” or the “"Company”
or "we") and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) during 2022. For detailed
information on corporate governance, it is recommended to read this
report in conjunction with the section headed Corporate Governance

Report in the annual report.

Basis of Preparation

This report is prepared in accordance with the Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Guide (the "ESG Reporting Guide”) in Appendix
27 to the Listing Rules on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong

Kong Limited, and is reported based on its reporting principles.

Reporting Principles

Materiality: This report has identified key stakeholders and their ESG
issues of concern in the preparation process, and disclosed the results
identified based on the materiality of the issues. For details, please
refer to the sections headed “Communication with Stakeholders” and

“Identification of Key Issues”in this report.

Quantitative: The environmental and social data disclosed in this
report are all presented in the form of quantitative, accompanied by a
description of the relevant criteria, methodologies, assumptions and/
or calculation tools used, as well as the source of the conversion factors

used for the key performance indicators ("KPIs").

Consistency: The statistical method in this report is consistent with that

of previous year.
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POP MART

Reporting Period

The reporting period of this report covered from 1 January 2022 to 31
December 2022.

Reporting Scope

Unless otherwise stated, the scope of disclosure of this report shall be

the same as those covered in the annual report.

BOARD STATEMENT

The Company highly values ESG-related matters and regards them as
an important part of the strategy formulation. The Board of Directors
(the "Board”) of the Company, as the highest responsible and decision-
making body for ESG issues, assumes full responsibility for ESG strategies
and issues reporting, oversees ESG-related matters that may affect
the Company’s business or operations, the rights and interests of
shareholders and other stakeholders, and reviews the completion of
ESG goals on a regular basis. The Company has established a three-
level ESG governance structure led by the Board, supervised by the ESG
management team, and jointly participated by the ESG collaboration
team. Therefore, the Company effectively integrated the ESG concept
into its business management and strictly conducted the ESG work to

provide support for the implementation of the strategy.

The Company maintains in-depth communication with various
stakeholders through various channels to identify their main concerns
and respond to their expectations and demands. The Company adopts
constructive opinions and suggestions. According to the external social
and economic environment and the Company's development strategy,
the Board has reviewed the evaluation results of major ESG issues and
ESG risks identified during the year, while reviewed the formulation of
ESG management strategy, setting of ESG goals and progress achieved

of the Company, further defining the key direction of ESG governance.

This report aims to objectively disclose the progress and achievements
of the Company's ESG works in 2022, and has been considered and
approved at the Board meeting on 29 March 2023.
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I1l. ESG MANAGEMENT SYSTEM

The Company always keeps in mind the brand concept of ‘creating
trends and delivering fineness” with a vision of “become a leading
global pop culture entertainment company”. With a focus on five
fields including artist identification, IP incubation and operation,
consumer access, pop toy culture promotion as well as incubation
and investment of innovative business, the Company creates a
comprehensive operating platform covering the entire industry chain
of pop toys. We continuously improve our ESG governance structure
and improve our ESG management strategy. Focusing on the demands
from various stakeholders and adhering to the coexistence of social
value and corporate value, we proactively perform our corporate social
responsibilities, so as to create value for consumers, the industry and

society.

ESG Governance Structure

The Company has established a three-level ESG governance structure
led by the Board, supervised by the ESG management team and jointly
participated by the ESG collaboration team. As the highest responsible
and decision-making body for ESG works, the Board is responsible for
setting the Company’s overall ESG strategies and management policy,
overseeing the implementation of ESG goals, regularly reviewing ESG
reports and related issues, and guiding and supervising the management
to carry out specific work. Our ESG management team, comprised of
the president office, the investor relations department and the public
affairs department, is responsible for assisting the Board in coordinating
the implementation of ESG strategies and goals, supervising the
management of daily work and regularly reporting the progress of ESG
work to the Board, of which, the president office, as the ESG centralized
management department, is responsible for formulating the ESG-related
management measures, regularly organizing special ESG training, as well
as promoting the publicity and implementation of ESG concepts. Our
ESG collaboration team, comprised of various functional departments,
is responsible for cooperating with our ESG management team to
implement related specific work and promote the full implementation of

the Company’s ESG management.
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ESG Management Strategy

The Company closely focuses on the management of ESG matters during
its business operations and risk management, while continues to explore
the effective combination of ESG concepts and corporate development.
With a focus on the four dimensions including environmental
protection, human resources development, supply chain management
and community investment, we formulate the ESG strategies and the
Management Measures of POP MART Social Responsibility System, so as
to establish a sound ESG management system and strengthen the ESG
management capability, thereby ensuring the ESG effectiveness in the

long-term layout of the Company.

Environmental protection strategy: Adhering to the commitment
to green operation and abiding by the environmental laws and
regulations where we operate, we take response to climate change,
resource management and conservation, and environmentally
friendly production processes as the three core areas of our
environmental protection strategy. We continue to build green
stores and promote green environmental design, so as to
implement the concept of green and sustainable development into

every link of production and operation.
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Human resources development strategy: Adhering to our
management philosophy of “employees are our partners”, we
establish employment policies according to laws, and improve our
human resources management and training procedures. We also
improve our social security as well as remuneration and welfare
system. With a focus on the physical and mental health and
safety of our employees, we protect the legitimate rights of our
employees, thereby developing and growing together with our

employees.

Supply chain management strategy: Incorporating supplier
management into the ESG management system, we strengthen
supplier audit standards, improve supplier access, evaluation
and dismissal process, improve suppliers ESG awareness, as well
as encourage suppliers to use green products, perform social
responsibilities and monitor the compliance of our suppliers
with the carbon emissions to build a sustainable supply chain
with our supplier partners, so as to protect the earth’s ecological

environment.

Community investment strategy: With a focus on aesthetic
education, we combine intellectual property rights with public
welfare innovation by providing assistance and support in
education or living resources for remote areas and special groups;
we fully promote the rural revitalization by empowering traditional
culture through creative design and promote rural development
through consumption assistance; we carry out various voluntary
services to improve employees’ awareness of public welfare and

demonstrate corporate social responsibilities.

Communication with Stakeholders

The Company continues to strengthen the interaction with stakeholders,
pay attention to their demands and improve the communication
mechanism with stakeholders. We take the opinions and suggestions
of stakeholders as an important reference for the Company’s ESG
management and work planning through the establishment of
diversified channels and the communication with stakeholders. During
the year, we continued to identify and actively respond to key issues
of concern to stakeholders including government and regulatory
authorities, shareholders and investors, customers, employees, suppliers,
communities, media, as well as non-government organizations,

cooperating with all parties to practice sustainable development.
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Stakeholders
FzsrEEE S

Major issues of concern

FTEREEE

Major communication channels
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Government and regulatory authorities
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Shareholders and investors
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Customers
®P

Compliance operation
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Corporate development
hEER

Policy implementation
BEEEBR

Extraordinary social contribution

ZHTE R

Rights and interests of shareholders
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Corporate performance

DEZE

Stable growth

REERK

Corporate governance

EER

Product purchase rules
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Product after-sale services
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Consumer personal information
protection

HEEEAEBRE

Provide quality products and services -«
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Listen to customer opinions and
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Filing or written document submission
BRI EE X HE

Regular or irregular face-to-face
communication
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Site visits/seminars
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Annual general meetings
BRRBEFRE

Announcement of Results report and
results presentation
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Investor meetings and performance
roadshows

REEGENREERE

Investor relations page of Stock
Exchange/official website of the
Company at home and abroad and
investor emails

P ARIRAINE A
WEERMEFEAERZBEE

Customer service hotline

BRI EAR

Daily operation and communication
HEELE RN

Member center

gEHL

Official website of the Company
NAEH



Stakeholders

2022 ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Major issues of concern

2022 FRIE - HBERERBE

Major communication channels

MEMEES FEMIEEE TEBBERR
Employees Rights and interests of employees Human resources system/employment
== BT #m contract
Remunerations and benefits AEHIE BEHER
FHENE A Face-to-face communication
Development and training E¥EEB
BRE R Staff training
Promotion B 1575
= Performance appraisal and feedback
Health and safety BEHEZRRE
fREEZ 2
Suppliers Supply chain management Supplier management system
Hrem HrEgEE R HEmREELE

Communities and
non-governmental organizations

A [ B FEBR AT AEAR

Media
wee

Anti-corruption
RES

Social charity

HEgRm

Rural revitalization

SBA R S

Charity advocation

DI

Environmental protection

R RE

School-enterprise cooperation
BLA

Corporate development
hEERE

Product responsibility
EmEE

Corporate governance
hEER

Social responsibility information
disclosure

HEBETESRE

=253 ANNUALREPORT 2022 | POP MART

Supplier evaluation procedures
HERFEIRT
Supplier meetings

HEREH

Participate in charity activities
E YN D)
Volunteer services

HRRE RS

Social media

AR

Official website

B 7 A8k

Press conference and exchange
meetings

mEEhE  Rne

v
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Identification of Key Issues

Combining our business characteristics and communication with
stakeholders, and with the basis of the 12 disclosure aspects as
stipulated in the "ESG Reporting Guide”, the Company collected
feedback from stakeholders on various ESG issues through the
questionnaire, and prioritized the issues according to their levels of
materiality in order to learn about the expectations and demands of
stakeholders. According to the results of the questionnaire, we have
identified employment, labor standards, product responsibility and etc.,
as the most concerned issues of stakeholders. The importance of ESG

issues to stakeholders is set out in the diagram below:

High4
=

FiRHEE SESER
Use of Supplychain  (REFERZ

resources  Management Health
‘é @ and safety
e e

Emissions I ﬁE&:ﬁ

Community

— = investment
ARS8

BRRXR

Climate change e
The environment and
natural resources

Importance to external stakeholders
REH NS o ERERD B o

_\I_
B 2

[ 98 3 A

EANNCIERE SV i DN il pag: ok
BIEM - ATESGHREIE S PR 2MEHE
EEAER - BAARMEN T AMKEF
HEMATHRHEESCEENRERR - ¥E
BEZUREHFETMRIE - 7 H# MM
BT HIEEGK - RIBAERERZR - K
BN LRERE STEANEREETER
Mt AR R RVERE © ESGRERE YA
AT NERERENTR TE

ST 4R EREE

Labor standards Product

responsibility

‘ @ BRRIEH kel
@ Development | Employment

and training ‘='

RE5

Anti-corruption

Low {& HABHENSNEEY

P>
High &

Importance to internal stakeholders

Analysis matrix of concerns of major stakeholders on different aspects of the ESG Reporting Guide

TEFBEERSHESGRERSIEERRERIES TEEE
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IV.ENVIRONMENT MANAGEMENT

The Company adheres to green development. In strict compliance to
relevant environmental protection laws and regulations, such as the
Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China {# %
AREFBIRIBRFEER)), the Laws of the People’ Republic of China
on Prevention and Control of Water Pollution ™ ARKEFEKST
ABH3EE)), the Atmospheric Pollution Prevention and Control Law of
the People’s Republic of China K ZEARIEFE KRS EMAZED,
the Solid Waste Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the People’s
Republic of China (P ZE AR HFNE E B8R Y5 R RIFEEE)),
and the Energy Saving Law of the People’s Republic of China (%
AREFBEEI480R%5)), and local administrative rules such as the
Beijing Household Waste Administrative Rules {3t m T4 E B} B 12
&A1), the Company takes the main responsibility for environmental
protection and helps achieve the national goal of “Carbon Peaking and
Carbon Neutrality” by improving environmental management system
construction, implementing energy-saving and emission reduction

measures, identifying and copying with the impact of climate change.

Emission Management

Emissions generated from the Company mainly include greenhouse
gas emissions from the use of electric devices and vehicles, as well as
wastes such as office operations garbage. During the year, we continued
to practice green operations and improved emissions management
related measures so as to integrate emission reduction paths into
corporate strategies. In addition, we cultivated environmental awareness
of our employees, minimized the impact of business operations on the

environment, and practiced low-carbon development.

2022 FRIE - HBERERBE

N IRIBEEE

ARABHHEHER  BBRAET(PEAR
HMBIRFRE L) (hEARKMBEKT
ZpaE) (hEARAMBERRSRBE
EY R EAR KB E YIS RRED
SR (PEARKMBESOGERE) FRE
RERRBARER R (bR AR IR EIE
BRI EH T ERIED - TEREEERE
R CREMBERBHER B EER
RECHEROZE  THAERBRET
BEML BHBERIEHRIBRER -

FER

RRRE RGBT EREEER
RERE  EWMELNREREIH WM
REEEETWEZEMHN - XFE - B
HEBRTHEES  E20RYERAH
HHE RRBERERALEERE  BES
TREEHE SAREREXHELHR
BREENTE  BITEMER -
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We optimize the management of electricity consumption of the
Company. Different electricity consumption management measures
were adopted in offices, stores, roboshops and warehouses to promote
electricity saving and effectively reduce the greenhouse gas due to the
use of electrical equipment. In terms of logistics and transportation, we
shorten the total transportation distance by increasing truck loading
rate so as to reduce the number of round trips and optimizing the
distribution route of the transportation fleet. Furthermore, we optimized
the fulfillment by suppliers in certain regions and converted gasoline
stoking into new energy stoking in 2022, aiming to effectively reduce
the carbon emissions generated during the process of product delivery
and transportation. In addition, we encourage our staff to adopt low-
carbon travel by prioritizing public transportation and reducing the
frequency of private car use to minimize the carbon emissions from daily

commuting.

In terms of waste management, strictly in compliance with the local
regulations on living waste management and the waste classification
requirements of our properties, we push waste classification
requirements in the office area by multimedia to urge our employees
to carry out waste classification; we also continue to enhance our
employees’ awareness of recycling and organize them to purchase
and recycle waste electronic equipment. Meanwhile, the Company has
implemented registration and quota management for office supplies,
advocating employees to use refillable ball pens, reducing the use
of office items such as glue and correction fluid. In respect of the
printing equipment used by stores, the Company encourages stores to
extend the use cycle of ink cartridges by adding toner, to reduce the
frequency of waste and reduce the generation of waste from the source.
In addition, we use recycled shared pallets instead of disposable cork
pallets from factory to warehouse and between warehouses to reduce

waste generation through recycling and sharing.

POP MARTJ POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED B3545EI B AR 2 &

HMEERATAEEE ERHQESE - I
JE - HEER AR RO R 18 i ) B ERER
TRNAEETEERE  REHHRE
BREAEERAAERBIELNRER
B annERRE BfPRBRSER
KHEEMDERER - BlLEREKRE
BARETN  FRERAERE - 172022
FRICHBOBEEHEHNERKXT N
VR B AR EERACH - AMERE
EmtERERBIEREEORBENR - 1t
Sh - WA E B THREBUEH TR - &
FRERAKIE - ROLREEMIEE -
AR E B B BEELMMBER -

EEZEMEETE  RMABRETELE
A BRE IR ARG R ERRR S RER
ERARENAZEBERTFORE
ko BREITETURDE  THiESE
ITRRAMAES HEBEIABSRERA
REEEFXRE AN BTHARRE
RECETHEERENE BEETERAT
BREOENRFE  RIBK  EBERF
WMAYREER ¢ SEPIEEROITEIR
H RNEEREBFERBINIRNEITE
REREREHY  BEERAX R
SR BEEYMMES - I - BFIETIR
ARERRERERBERAZERRE —
REBARFER  BBBRAARDERY
MEEA -
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Resources Utilization Management

The Company is committed to the scientific management of energy
and resource use. By carrying out diversified energy-saving and
environmental protection projects, improving resource consumption
management system, enhancing resource utilization rates, promoting
green office practices and cultivating employees’ awareness of energy
conservation and consumption reduction, the Company is helping to

build a good ecological environment.

Electricity Consumption Management

In active implements to the general requirements of national energy
conservation, the Company adheres to the concept of “energy saving”
continuously, and has developed targeted power-saving measures to
strengthen the management of electricity consumption in our offices,
stores, roboshop and warehouses, in a bid to continuously improve the

Company’s operational energy efficiency.
Office:

Optimize air-conditioning temperature control skills, and set
up specific requirements for the temperature and wind speed
of air conditioning, setting opening temperature in summer

and winter to improve energy efficiency;

Intensify the management of the use of lights in public areas.
Lights will be turned on in demand, and some lights will
be turned off during staff lunch breaks and overtime work.
We have set up the posts of “light officer (B&)" and “floor
director ([E£&)" to be responsible for checking and shutting
down unused power supply and equipment, thus reducing

unnecessary scenarios of electricity consumption;

Encourage the timely switch off of personal computers and
monitors or set them to power saving mode when not in use

through putting up energy saving signs and other manners.

2022 FIRIE - HERERRE

BEREAEE

Z’»‘Qﬁjg?ﬁ%ﬁ%fﬂlﬁ?\rﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁﬂi
BIE BBFARZTCBMEREER -
ZERFEAECEER  ReSERA ’W
o HITHERAFN  BEE IR
BEH VEDNERRIFERIRE o

pEER
AprEmERBEKMERERR  BH
REISMORAE] MR %‘Jmﬁﬁiﬂiﬂ’]
A RERER - am R - FI/5 - #
BARELEERBENBEEE  HER
BARIBITRER

/NS

BIEEFRERESRE  GIEESF
£FERARRAE - RTREA
AT
= B

TRAE AR

Meg A HIREAEAERERE - SRR
BERERNTTR - AR 4
NREASOERE  REIEE
MIER] BERELEEARE
REERNEE RO T BENA

Egtﬁ =

BRI RS I REET
R s [ B A 5 PR A fIELA B S U
FERBIBERERHEER -
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Store:

Specify operating and non-operating hours and relevant
electrical equipment will only be turned on when necessary.
Except for working hours (including the normal opening hours
of stores), only emergence lighting will be turned on in other

time slots.

Roboshop:

Analyze the peak hours of roboshop and reasonably plan and
control the operating hours of the roboshop. The machines
will automatically switch to standby when they are idle and are

set to shut off automatically during non-operating hours;

Adjust the brightness of the equipment and lights in roboshop
and use the low-power control system to reduce the energy

consumption of the whole machine.

Warehouse:

POP MART

Develop Warehouse Energy Conservation Regulations to
gradually replace traditional lamps with low-energy LED
energy-saving lamps while improving the utilization of natural
light. In 2022, the LED lighting in Tianjin warehouse was

transformed;

Regulate the use of lighting and fans within the warehouse to

avoid unnecessary waste.

POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED &B3545EI AR A 5

PIfE -

B

RIEREZLENIFEERR - B7
MERRFAMBENRERS K
BTHENEHE(BEPEEREE
BfE) Sh - BRI RREH
B3 e AR o

ez ARJE -
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HECEEEFESLBRTE)  EiR
DEAKRGHAENRE - HEE
BEFELEDERREBEVER - LELHE
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Water Management

The Company insists on implementing various water conservation
measures and strengthening the source and process management of
water consumption to improve water efficiency. We have taken concrete
actions to support the construction of a water-saving society and

promote sustainable development of production and operation:

Adhere to the daily inspection and maintenance of water facilities,
regularly arrange maintenance personnel to check the drainage
system, and deal with malfunction once identified in a timely
manner to eliminate water running, water spray, water drip, water

leakage and other waste of water;

Gradually expand the scope of installation of water-saving taps on
water facilities for water-saving retrofitting, so as to adjust the water

pressure of taps and control water velocity;

Post water-saving slogans to publicize and emphasize the concept
of water conservation among staff, help them cultivate water-saving
habits, and call on staff to turn off water taps when not in use to

prevent long running water;

Set water saving targets, and supervise and urge staff to work
together and start with small steps to promote the achievement of

water saving targets.

Paper Management

The Company advocates paperless office, encourages its staff to adopt
double-sided printing and reduce unnecessary printing demand, and
suggests everyone to bring their own cup to avoid the use of disposable
paper cups. We made full use of collaborative office system, with issue
of general notices, data transfer and document circulation done online.
The frequency of the use of paper materials and fax was reduced to
avoid paper waste. In respect of warehouse management and order
picking, we promoted picking through personal digital assistant (PDA)
to expand paperless order picking and eliminated paper distribution
sheets of roboshop, which effectively reduced the paper consumption

of traditional paper records.

2022 FRIE - HBERERBE
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Packaging Materials Management

The Company incorporates the green and low carbon concepts into
the whole process of our products including design, production,
packaging, logistics, scrapping and recycling, and takes into account
the environmental and energy-saving requirements for products in
many respects, so as to continuously optimize the use of packaging
materials. We continued to use counterweight pack made of
biodegradable pure diatomaceous granule and spunlace non-woven
fabric to replace the traditional plastic counterweight pack. For the
“MEGA Collection Series' products, we have optimized their packaging
materials for environmental protection. In October 2022, we completed
the replacement of the foamed plastic liner in the original product
packaging with degradable and recyclable paper tray liner. EVA bags,
the original packaging material, were replaced with PLA biodegradable
plastic bags, and the corrugated boxes and color-coated paper
cards were made with paper with Forest Stewardship Council (FSC)
certification. We also thoroughly assessed the environmental impact of

our packaging materials.

In terms of warehouse management, we properly recycle and reuse
packaging cartons, cardboard, etc., and try to use recyclable logistics
boxes to reduce the consumption of packaging cartons. As at the end
of 2022, we carried out relevant practices in more than 50 pilot stores in
four cities including Shanghai, Beijing, Nanjing and Tianjin, using more
than 3,000 recyclable logistics boxes, with approximately 6.5 tons of
carbon emission reduction compared with traditional paper logistics

boxes.

The "MEGA Collection Series” is a high-end pop toy product line launched by the
Company.

POP MARTJ POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED &B5545EI S EAR 2 5
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Setting Environmental Goals

In order to support China’s “Carbon Peaking and Carbon Neutrality

"

goals and manage its own carbon footprint in a quantitative manner,

the company set an environmental target plan in 2021 that covers four

aspects: emission reduction, waste reduction, energy-saving and water-

saving. The company has been tracking its progress in environmental

management. The progress towards achieving the relevant

environmental goals has been reviewed in 2022, and the details of this

progress are outlined below:

Goals

B

2022 FRIE - HBERERBE

RIEERRE

ATHERIER]IBE  SEEE HK
RBH 20215 - RAFRERBE - RS - &S
gt - BKIMME S EHIE TIRE B IZARE
PRI IRIBEIRERR 0 20224F » HRIFHIRIE
BiR A ERGE BEITIRGS - BEARRER
MERGERIIT ¢

Achievement

ERER

Emission reduction

goal

HEEE &

Waste reduction

goal

HEEE R

By the end of 2030, the greenhouse gas
emissions (Scope 1 and 2)® of the Company
will reach a carbon dioxide emission peak.
HE2030FE - AAFHE - LEE R
=REBHNERCER -

By the end of 2022, the distributing of the
orders will be fully online. Roboshops will
implement a paperless office model.
HE2002FK  2EHERLEEER b - #
FEABELIEASETELAID o

By the end of 2023, at least 90% of the
packaging cartons generated in stores will be
collected and recycled by the Company or by
qualified third parties.

HZE2023FE - £20%PIUEEEMBEK
BWARRHEFEENE =R A -

Relevant works were in process and unified
emission calculation standards were formulated to
ensure data comparability.

SEFRRMEETLE  SHESR— R ER
% ERBIBATLM -

The distributing of the orders was fully online.

Roboshops implemented a paperless office model.

EXEERREERZ b UREISEAEETL
TEABEAEIR -

Relevant works were in process and the use of
recyclable logistics boxes has been piloted in over

50 pilot stores.

SERMEAMTE - SR0KARPIE R
AR ERYRAS
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Goals Achievement

B ERER

Energy-saving goal By the end of 2025, office electricity Measures to promote energy-saving, better power

consumption per capita will be reduced by management and adopt energy-saving renovation

HigE B 2

Water-saving goal

10% as compared with that of 2020.
HE2025FE - NG AREEE 202058
210% °

By the end of 2025, office water consumption
per capita will be reduced by 10% as compared
with that of 2020.

to promote achieving the goals.

BEHOMRE  MAABEIE - FRIRETREBUE
SHGEEDERER -

Relevant works were in process and office water
consumption per capita in the Beijing office was
reduced by 35% compared to 2021 and 63%
compared to 2020.

GRS BE2025FK - AGHAFKER2020F 5 AR  202F L TRREAS
4210% ° WMAFEKER2021 F[F1K35% » B20205F 1K
63% °

Note: i

(1) Scope 1 covers the emission of greenhouse gases directly produced by the (1) #BEREHARFEANIESINESEE
businesses that are owned or controlled by the Company, such as carbon EERRZEREHN  AKABEHEER
emissions from the consumption of petrol and diesel by official business o SOREEMREBEN EERERA
vehicles; Scope 2 covers the emission of greenhouse gases indirectly RAINEHEFE (BEOHHEEH) EN - &
produced by electricity generation, heating, cooling and steam internally Bt RRKEAASIBMEEAEREEHE
consumed by the Company, either purchased or acquired. e

RIGEAREMERY

RRAR022FREBERGE BRI RN
T -BRAEHAIN  REBEIEREHE
BERBIBREED B A M E B AR RE
BPIE - HERE L5 PR R E R AL
FHERE -

Environment Key Performance Indicators™

The 2022 environment key performance indicators of the Company
are set out below. Unless otherwise stated, the scope of environment
statistics covers major offices and operating stores of Pop Mart in
the Mainland China, whereas the rest will be included as and when

appropriate in the future.

LREI POP MART

POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED &B3545EI AR A 5
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2022 FRIE - HBERERBE

Emission®
BER @

Indicators Data for 2022

B 2022 F B

Total greenhouse gas ("GHG") emission (Scope 1 and 2)®(tons)

BEREYINAEE (BE—REE ) (W) 5,035.37

Direct GHG emission (Scope 1) (tons)

BEOREREHM (FHE—) (M)

Petrol

b 4.89
Indirect GHG emission (Scope 2) (tons)
R EREEHEAM (BE ) ()

Purchased electricity

SNBE 5,030.48

GHG emission per capita (Scope 1 and 2) (tons/person)

ADRERBHNRE (BE—RHEE =) (M, A) 122

GHG emission per square meter (Scope 1 and 2) (tons/square meter)

BEYFABREEBNAEREHNE (BE—R&EE =) (M F5XK) 0.06

Total hazardous wastes (tons)“

BEEEYRE (W)Y 083

Hazardous wastes per capita (tons/person)

ANGBEEEEYEE (M, A) 0.0002

Hazardous wastes per square meter (tons/square meter)

BEFAREEEBOEESEENES (B, FHK) 0.000071

Total non-hazardous wastes (tons)®

mEREEWH e E (BF) 0 69.47

Non-hazardous wastes per capita (tons/person)

AgEEEEY (8, A) 0.02

Non-hazardous wastes per square meter (tons/square meter)

BFHREEEBOEETEENEE (B, FHK) 0.0009

Note: G

(1) Due to the increase of new offices and stores of the Company in 2022 as per (1) FEEBZBEFZTZE  202FARRRFNIGED I
its business development, the total energy consumption, total office water A RPIE  WEEREREAE - HAAK
consumption and total greenhouse gas emission have increased overall as BREAENAZERBHNASZHBERBR
compared with that of the previous year. EFERMIEM -

(2) Due to the small number of self-owned vehicles of the Company, the Q) ARAFBERABEHERY  AUtELEHNAS
emission of exhaust emissions such as nitrogen oxides and sulfur oxides t¥) - HMEDFEEIIERRD - ERAA
generated thereof was limited. Based on the nature of the operation of the ARELEHE  HXZREFRAAERE
Company, its major type of gas emissions is GHG emission from electricity Peak - REEA BRI E N KRR
and fuels derived from fossil fuels. o
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(3) The GHG list includes carbon dioxide, methane and nitrous oxide. They ) BERESEA/IE_SIH - PEAEls
mainly come from purchased electricity and fuels. GHG emissions data is R TEREIINBENRIE - BERE
presented in carbon dioxide equivalent (CO2e) and is based on the Baseline BREDREZSIREERY] - WREPEA
Emission Factors for Regional Power Grids in China Under the 2019 Emission RHEFE A R IRIT TR €201 9F R BE
Reduction Project issued by the Ministry of Ecology and Environment of 1HE P E R EAEESENEAT) RBA
the People’s Republic of China, and the 2006 IPCC Guidelines for National HaEZEIEMZEZIPCORIER(IPCC
Greenhouse Gas Inventories (2019 Revision) issued by the Intergovernmental 2006 F BIZOR =R ESE B8 20191& 7T hi)
Panel on Climate Change (IPCC). HITIRE -

(4) Hazardous wastes generated from the Company’s operation mainly include 4) ARREBELEFRHNEEEEVEZEMRA
waste toners, waste toner cartridges and waste ink cartridges for office R BEEME  BEREE - BERD
printing devices, and the replacement or disposal of which will be handled L HEBRNEERITHRGHERNKBE
by printing service suppliers or qualified professional companies. BEHEERNTAERE -

(5)  Non-hazardous wastes generated from the Company’s operation are mainly (5) ARREESINNEBEEEEMTEREENR
waste paper, including A3 copying paper, A4 copying paper and thermal RERBETFEEY  BEEARDIEAIEDL -
paper, which will be handled collectively within the premises. AMIEENE R B ERMESR—KRE ' &

TEEVHEEENEXERATBERE -
Energy and Resources Consumption
RRRERERE

Indicators Data for 2022

it 2022 F HiE

Total energy consumption (MWh)®

selREFEE S (KRR ) O 8,058.93

Direct energy consumption (MWh)

HEERERE JERR)

Petrol

b 19.97
Indirect energy consumption (MWh)
R peIROBFE (JKELE)

Purchased electricity

SMNEE ) 8,038.96

Energy consumption per capita (MWh/person)

AREREREE KR, A) 1.95

Energy consumption per square meter (MWh/square meter)

BEHAREEMENREREREE KR FHK) 0.10

Office water consumption (tons)®

WMRMAOHFEE ()@ 444.79

Office water consumption per capita (tons/person)

AN ARKERES (B, A) 0.11

Office water consumption per square meter (tons/square meter)

BEFAZEREORQAAICHESE (W FHXK) 0.01

Total packaging materials for finished products (tons)®

Bk mPTABREYBE (HE)© 3,421.00

Packaging materials consumed for finished products per million revenue (tons/RMB millions)®

BEHELHEERARKRBEYE (W, B8T)Y 0.74

POP MART
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Energy consumption is calculated on the basis of the conversion factor
set out in the General Principles of Consolidated Energy Consumption
Calculation (GB/T 2589-2020), the national standard of the People’s Republic
of China, including purchased electricity and petrol consumption for
vehicles.

Except for the Company’s Beijing and Shenzhen office area, the office
water usage in other office areas and operating stores is managed by their
respective premises. Water charges are included in property fees, and water
usage cannot be measured separately. Hence, during the Reporting Period,
only data from Beijing and Shenzhen office area is collected for office water
consumption and office water consumption intensity. Our office water is
sourced from municipal pipeline network, thus there is no obstacles in
securing water supply.

Packaging materials mainly include plastic packaging bag, paper box and
paper bag.

Packaging materials consumed for finished products per million revenue
refers to the weight of packaging materials consumed for finished products
per million revenue of the Group.

Environment and Natural Resources

The
natu

Com

Company highly values the protection of the environment and
ral resources. Due to the business nature of the Company, the

pany has a limited impact on the environment and natural

resources. While expanding our business scale constantly, we will

cont

inue to respond to national energy saving and emission reduction

policies, promote the concept of environmental protection, and create a

gree

n office atmosphere and actively practice low-carbon operation. We

are peers to reduce the negative impact on the environment and natural

resources, thereby enhancing our green competitiveness.

In 2022, the Company has not discovered any significant pollution and

impact on the environment in its operation.
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Response to Climate Change

Climate change is a common challenge for all mankind. Addressing

climate change has become one of the key factors for enterprises to

achieve sustainable development. The Company is deeply aware of

the systematic impact of climate change on enterprises, and actively

identified the risks and opportunities brought by climate change to

the Company’s operations and improved the climate risk management

system. During the year, based on the existing risk management system,

we further sorted out and identified the main ESG risks including climate

change risks, communicated with various functional departments, and

formulated and improved climate risk management measures and

relevant countermeasures.

The main climate change risks identified by the Company and the

countermeasures formulated are as follows:

Main risks
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Risk types
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Risk of policies

Regulatory authorities gradually
improve the disclosure requirements
for information related to climate
change. The government accelerates
the introduction of green and low-
carbon transformation policies. Failure
to follow up on policies or meet
requirements may result in regulatory
inquiries or warnings.
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Continuously follow up and track the new policies
issued by the country in response to climate
change, energy conservation and environmental
protection, ecological protection and other
relevant fields, identify and analyze the impact of
relevant policies on the Company, and develop
corresponding management measures and
response methods; improve the climate change
management system, strengthen communication
with regulatory authorities, and improve the
quality of information disclosure.
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Risk types Main risks Description of risk Countermeasures
[ B 3 1 TERE JoBL e 4 3t FEH 5 iE
Market risk The concept of green, low-carbon, Keep tracking consumers’ expectations for green,

Physical risks
IR K

miZE R

Personal injury
and property
damage risk
ABMEER
&

and sustainable consumption is
becoming increasingly popular, and
consumers are paying more attention
to the impact of their products on
the environment and the Company's
measures to address climate change.
Failure to grasp relevant trends in a
timely manner may lead to turnover of
customer.
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The occurrence of extreme weather
such as rainstorms, typhoons and
snowstorms may cause damage to the
health and safety of staff and property
of the Company.
FW - BE - FEEHRmRRANE
BEEARABRERZERA
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low-carbon, and sustainable products, prepare
disclosures to meet the challenges of climate
change, innovate green product designs, grasp
the development trend of the green market, and
properly upgrade and transform our products.
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Develop internal management systems and plans,
standardize extreme weather response measures,
issue weather alerts in advance when bad weather
occurs, provide relevant secondary disaster
prevention tips, improve the disaster emergency
response mechanism, reserve emergency supplies
such as umbrellas and raincoats, allow employees
to work remotely and flexibly, identify possible
asset losses, and purchase necessary staff and

property insurance.
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Countermeasures

e 45 i

Risk types Main risks Description of risk

[ B 3 1 TERE JoBL e 4 3t
Transport Extreme weather such as rainstorms,
interruption typhoons and snowstorms may
risk affect warehouse processes such

B ETEER  as receiving, storage and shipment
and cause interruptions in transport
operations.
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The risk of Extreme weather such as rainstorms,
cessation typhoons and snowstorms may result
of business in poor transportation of products
activities or the inability of stores to operate
LEBFET  normally, leading to the cessation of
ey business activities and damage of the
Company's economic interests.
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In the future, the Company will continue to conduct in-depth studies on
the possible impact of climate change on its business operations, adjust
its response strategies in a timely manner and continuously improve its

climate change management mechanism.

1PZ 3 POP MART§  POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED ;& a5 EEk =B A R A A

Improve extreme weather recognition and
prediction mechanism, regularly assess the
impact of bad weather on product transportation,
continuously improve the warehouse hardware
facilities, enhance the warehouse business
operation and resilience, establish an integrated
logistics and transportation system covering
conventional and emergency logistics and
transportation;, communicate with logistics service
providers and adjust the work plan in a timely
manner as extreme weather occurs, and use
emergency logistics transportation methods such
as air or rail transportation when necessary.
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Establish an emergency relief mechanism,
develop emergency plans and regularly assess
the disaster prevention and response measures
on the office premises and stores, and strengthen
the guarantee of safety protection facilities
and equipment in key areas; carry out irregular
inspections on the implementation of relevant
work to maximize the continuity of business
operations.
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V. EMPLOYMENT AND LABOR STANDARDS

Talent is the keystone of enterprise development. Adhering to
our management philosophy of “employees are our partners”, the
Company has implemented a diversified talent development strategy,
deepened our human resource reform, expanded its channels for
talent introduction, established a comprehensive human resources
management system, and strived for creating a healthy, safe and easy
working environment for our employees. In addition, the Company has
earnestly safeguarded employees’ legitimate rights and interests and
strived to provide them with sound career development platforms and

achieve mutual development for talents and the enterprise.

Employment Management

In strict compliance with laws and regulations such as the Labor
Law of the People’s Republic of China {(FZE AR L L &%)
and the Labor Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China {(FF
EARKEMBELHERE)) and other laws and regulations, the
Company has formulated a series of personnel management systems
such as the Human Resources Management System, the Attendance
Management System, the Probation Management System, the Business
Trip Management System, the Expatriate Management System and the
Vocation Management System, to regulate labor relations in accordance
with the law. The Company has provided clear regulations on employee
recruitment, employment, compensation, leave, promotion, termination,
working hours management, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, and other personnel and welfare benefits. In 2022, we
continuously improved the construction of relevant systems, introduced
international recruitment platforms, and strived to create a satisfactory

workplace for our employees.

We are committed to creating an inclusive and diverse work
environment for our staff, providing equal work opportunities and
strictly prohibiting all forms of discrimination, including but not limited
to, discrimination based on race, age, gender, marital status, religious

beliefs, etc.
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We also follow the requirements of the Law of the People’s Republic
of China on the Protection of Minors ((H# AR L FBI KA F A IRE
&), the Regulations on the Prohibition of Child Labor €ZEIHERE T
#17E)) and other laws and regulations, and formulate legal employment
policies and strictly prohibit the employment of child labor, forced labor
and any other unlawful employment practices. We respect the work
wishes of our employees and ensure reasonable working hours. Forcing
employees to provide labor by means of violence, threats or unlawful
restriction of personal freedom is strictly prohibited and any instances
of forced labor will be dealt with strictly in accordance with the law. We
regularly organize internal recruitment training and strictly examine the
valid identity documents of applicants in the recruitment process and
double-verify the document information through the human resource
management system. If child labor is found, we will immediately stop
their work, conduct identity verification while contacting their guardians
or families, take the initiative to communicate and assist in sending
them back to their original place of residence. In addition, we actively
promote compliance by our partners and suppliers with relevant
employment standards and encourage them to establish their own
employment systems. In 2022, no cases of child labor or forced labor

have been found.

Based on business development needs, we recruit different types of
talents and we continue to cultivate new talents and optimize our
personnel structure according to the characteristics of our business.
As of 31 December 2022, the Company had a total of 4,178 employees
in China and overseas, of which, 4,139 were regular employees and 39

were outsourced employees.
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Employment?

2022 FRIE - HBERERBE

ETEREER
Indicators As of 31 December 2022
bipd BZE2022F12H31H
By gender (persons) Male
23:3:ION) Es 1,279
Female
o8 2,860
By employment type (persons) Full-time
BER (X) e 3,937
Part-time
FREL 202
By age (persons) Under age 30 (excluding)
RER (A) 305 (R E) AR 2,872
Age 30 to 50 (excluding)
3052 508% (V&) 1,267
Above age 50 (including)
508% () AL 0
By geographical region (persons) Mainland China
BUE (A) B A3 4,042
Hong Kong, Macao, Taiwan and overseas
BIRA REIN 97

The statistics of employment, employee turnover rate and employee occupational
health and safety cover the Company's regular employees and do not include

outsourced employees.
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Employee Turnover Rate

ETIRAEER
Indicators As of 31 December 2022
bipd BZE2022F12H31H
Employee turnover rate (%)
BT RKZE (%) 32.26%
By gender (%) Male
A% 5 (%) E2 34.89%
Female
o8 31.05%
By age (%) Under age 30 (excluding)
RER (%) 308% (M) AT 34.57%
Age 30 to 50 (excluding)
30552 505% (&) 25.54%
Above age 50 (including)
505% (B) AL 0
By geographical region (%) Mainland China
R 1t & (%) F B A 32.48%
Hong Kong, Macao, Taiwan and overseas
IR A KgIN 14.43%
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Employees Caring

In strict compliance with laws and regulations such as the Social
Insurance Law of the People’s Republic of China {(FE AR £t &
RERED) and the Regulation on the Administration of Housing Provident
Fund ((EERATEEEEIEH)), the Company has improved its
remuneration system and welfare system and protected the legitimate
rights and interests of employees so as to keep the increase in the sense

of belonging and happiness of employees.

In respect of the remuneration, we have set up a sound remuneration
and welfare mechanism. We make contribution to the five insurances
and housing provident fund (FLf& —=) for our employees and provide
them with incentives such as catering and transportation allowance,
performance bonus, quarterly incentive, year-end bonus, seniority
bonus, and medium and long-term equity incentive. During the year,
we align our sustainability development with the long-term incentive
of our executives to encourage them to continuously enhance their
sustainability management skills and capabilities. For employees in the
Mainland China, we further enhance our incentive system by adding a
quarterly incentive mechanism to our existing incentive policy, allowing
departments the flexibility to issue quarterly incentive budget packages.
We offer competitive remuneration packages to our employees in other
countries and regions based on strict compliance with local legal and

regulatory requirements and social realities.

In respect of staff welfare, we take the initiative to care for the needs
and concerns of our employees and provide employees with various
welfares, including annual regular physical examination, extra medical
insurance, premium medical care, new product special offer, holiday
gift, birth gift, marriage card, maternity gift and funeral allowance, to
build a diversified and flexible welfare system. During the year, we have
upgraded our annual physical examination, extra medical insurance and
premium medical services package to provide better health protection
for our staff. In addition to statutory holidays and paid annual leave, we
also introduced fully paid physical examinations and parental leave for
our staff. For female employees, we give preferential treatment and care
in accordance with relevant laws and regulations and set up the Women
Committee to provide parental leave, maternity allowance and other
benefits for female employees who have given birth so as to effectively

protect the rights of female employees.
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We constantly optimize the working-hour management policy,
reasonably arrange the working hours of our staff, advocate efficient
work, ensure the right of our staff to have adequate rest during holidays,
while also encouraging them to maintain a healthy work-life balance.
In principle, we discourage overtime work, and provide employees with
the right to re-assign rest day or receive overtime pay for those who do

need to work overtime.

We pay attention to the aspirations of our staff by establishing new

channels of communication with them and attentively listen to their

feedback. During the year, we launched the “Pop Voice Recorder”

platform, which serves as an anonymous or open channel for employees’
enquiries about their daily work, atmosphere, career development,
employee benefits and internal monitoring. We will consolidate and
categorize feedback from staff and submit to the relevant person in

charge for response, and post it online on a regular basis.

We pay attention to the feelings and experiences of employees, and
help relieve their work pressure, encourage employees to participate in
recreational activities, and provide team building fees for departments.
In 2022, we regularly held afternoon tea, birthday celebrations,
swimming competitions, badminton competitions, basketball
competitions and other activities. During the peak of the epidemic in
Shanghai, we organized the “Long Time No See” online live event to
provide a platform for staff work from home affected by the epidemic
to share their beautiful scenery, food and talent online. While enriching
employees’ spare time, this helped to enhance team centripetal force

and cohesion and convey beauty and warmth.
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Case: “"Pop Mart Family Day”

In 2022, the Company launched the "Pop Mart Family Day”, inviting
employees who have formed families to participate in the event
with their families. 300 families in total and over 600 family members
participated in this event, which aimed to advocate employees to
discuss and think about the balance between work and family by talking,
making friends, playing games and visiting the Company with their
family members, so as to extend care to employees’ families while caring

for them.

i,

“Pop Mart Family Day” Event in 2022
20225 [ABBRRER IES

Health and Safety

The Company attaches great importance to employees’ health and
safety. In strict compliance with laws and regulations such as the
Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases Law of the People’s
Republic of China {(F2E AR FEMBE B ZERTAE)), the Regulation on
the Administration of Sanitation in Public Places (/A 335 P& A & B 1§
1)), the Regulation on Work-Related Injury Insurance {(TASARER {5151
and the Measures for the Supervision and Administration of Employers’
Occupational Health Surveillance {(AAANBUBXRFEEEEEE
A, the Company continues to promote safety management,
strengthens employees’ safety awareness and protect employees’ health
and safety by multiple measures, striving to provide sound working
environment for employees. To avoid safety accidents, we carry out
safety knowledge training for employees and regularly organize fire drills
and evacuation exercise to encourage employees to learn emergency

rescue knowledge and improve their warning capability for fire safety.
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We continue to carry out a series of occupational health and safety
management work to strengthen risk management and control,
including organizing annual physical examination for employees,
starting EAP?, strengthening publicity of health knowledge and so on,
so as to further troubleshoot occupational health and safety hazard and
help employees to identify potential occupational diseases, occupational
contraindications and other abnormal symptoms as soon as possible.
Through the employee mental health project, “Pop Mart Heart-to-
Heart Center”, we provide employees with one-on-one psychological
counseling to help them obtain convenient and professional mental
health services. Employees can make psychological consultation
appointments and learn psychological knowledge through the
intelligent psychological cloud platform to relieve their psychological

pressure and solve troubles from disease.

During the year, amid the recurrent COVID-19 pandemic in China, we
continue to pay attention to the pandemic prevention policies by the
national and local government and invite external experts to hold a
seminar on “Education about and protection against COVID-19”, to
popularize the knowledge of pandemic protection, which effectively
relieved the tension in the face of the changes of the pandemic. In
addition, we have an additional 7-day COVID-19 leave to ensure sound

rest and sufficient recovery time for the infected employees.
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Occupational Health and Safety

BERREZE

Indicators Data for 2020 Data for 2021 Data for 2022

Eifd 2020 F H#% 2021 FHE 2022 F BB

Total work-related fatalities (persons)

AITHAAE(A) 0 0 0

Rate of work-related fatalities (%)

A T TRt 2= (%) 0 0 0

Number of work-related injuries (persons)

BEIZEAB(A) - 4 1

Number of lost days due to work injury (days)

BAIGEELXTHEBR(X) - 108 2
:  EAP:Employee Assistance Programs. *  EAP : Employee Assistance Programs * 8 T & Bt

El
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Development and Training

The Company continues to improve its employee training and
development system to provide employees with extensive learning
and development opportunities and help them grow and achieve
their personal value. We have formulated the Human Resources
Management System to clarify principles regarding staff training and
personal capability development. Focusing on employees of different
ranks and positions, we have also set up diversified training programs
with distinctive characteristics that meet their actual demands and
provided them with scientific training courses to expand talent reserves
and realize the requirements of both the Company’s development and

personal growth.

The Company provides clear career development paths and diverse
career development channels for employees. In 2022, we adjusted
the career development plan for employees, flexibly deployed talent
resources and designed more scientific promotion routes for employees
according to specific business characteristics and departmental needs,
so as to ensure that outstanding employees can obtain a broad
platform to realize their career ambitions. We conducted regular
promotions in the form of performance appraisals and debriefings to
help employees clearly locate their strengths and weaknesses based on
their comprehensive performance in terms of performance contribution,
ability and quality, communication skills, etc. We carried out the
management trainee program to help employees gain grassroots
management experience, master necessary work skills and develop
retail management potential through hands-on experience in stores,
rotational training and external exchange. During the year, we launched
a talent inventory appraisal method that applies to all employees, in
which dual supervisors and direct superiors conduct a comprehensive
evaluation of employees’ performance, ability, attitude and other multi-
dimensions to identify outstanding talents through a more flexible and
convenient way. In addition, we established the Talent Recommendation
Practice mechanism to encourage employees to actively make internal
recommendations, which improved employee stability and expand the

talent team.
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Adhering to the principle of “business-centric and people-oriented”, we
provide personalized training for employees. In 2022, we organized the
“Manager Learning and Development” program, which set up different
types of training courses for junior, middle and senior management,
covering managerial skills, coordination ability and decision-making
ability, to encourage management employees to participate in
training monthly and give feedback on relevant learning insights,
thus helping them learn and grow and adapt to the ever-changing
external environment. In addition, in response to the limited offline
training during the pandemic, we launched an online learning platform
"POPCLASS" to provide employees with numerous internal and external
course resources, so as to enhance their abilities and meet their growth
demand. During the year, the total number of training hours participated

by employees reached approximately 22,619 hours.
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Training Performance of Employees

BIZIER

Percentage of

Average training

Indicators employees trained(%) hours(hours)
B ZHIE D (%) AT IR R (VN EE)
By gender Male
gkl 5 83.24% 6.21
Female
z 89.55% 412
By employee category Management
RER EIEE 98.39% 14.22
Non-management
FEIEE 84.78% 17.32
SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT N ftEEEE

The Company is committed to building stable and mutually beneficial
relationships with suppliers and other partners, and works closely
with them in the field of sustainable development. The Company has
formulated the Supplier Management System, the Documentation
on Standardized Operation for Procurement Department, the Non-
product Procurement Management System, the Non-product Supplier
Management System and other documents. Furthermore, the Company
renewed the annual cooperation framework agreement with suppliers
in 2022, and conducted full-process management from supplier access
to dismissal, improving supplier management system continuously and

striving to build a sustainable supply chain.

Supplier Access

The Company has formulated strict selection standards and policies for
supplier access, evaluation and dismissal, and regularly evaluates the
legal compliance of suppliers. We have set up a safety and compliance
group for supplier management, formed a well-experienced supplier
management team, as well as a supplier inspection team that is
comprised of relevant responsible personnel from procurement
department, engineering department, quality assurance department,
quality management department and production management
department to standardise quality, safety and compliance management

of suppliers.
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While selecting suppliers, we carry out a comprehensive investigation
on the fulfillment ability of suppliers’ environmental responsibility
and social responsibility, focus on their performance on operating
venues, productivity, technology capability, development capability,
quality capability and hardware environment, and conduct admission
assessment on suppliers from environmental protection, resource
conservation, safety management, corporate sustainable development
and other aspects. In addition, we evaluate and score based on the
Supplier Cooperation Application Form K{LIEREATEERER)) to
improve the access possibility of suppliers with higher scores, so as to
select suppliers with strong comprehensive capabilities. We require
suppliers to strictly comply with laws and regulations, such as the
Atmospheric Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the People’s
Republic of China € FZE AR EFBEI KR 5 EITA7E)), the Solid Waste
Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the People’s Republic of China
« R AR A E §EEE Y005 R IRIENTVAE)) and the Water Pollution
Prevention and Control Law of the People’s Republic of China { H 2
AR FEFE AT RIREAA). We also conduct qualification review
on suppliers, require them to provide environmental impact reports,
pollution discharge permits and other relevant documents, and strictly
implement access standards. At the same time, suppliers are encouraged
to improve the working environment in factories as well as enhance the
accommodation and living conditions of employees in an active manner.
Suppliers with significant environmental and social risks will not take

into consideration.

In addition, we encourage suppliers to pass the certification and audit
from third-party institutions, such as the International Council of Toy
Industries (ICTI) Code of Business Practices, the Disney International
Labor Standards (Disney ILS), the Sedex Member Ethical Trade Audit
(SMETA) and the Business Social Compliance Initiative (BSCl). We give
priority to cooperate with suppliers that are qualified for inspection and

have obtained relevant certifications.

In 2022, the Company has 85 suppliers who were completed the

admission review.
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Daily Management of Suppliers

In terms of daily management of suppliers, the Company has formed a
supplier management list and constantly supervises the performance
of cooperative suppliers. We have set up a special project management
group to check the validity period of relevant qualifications and
certificates in a timely manner, maintain supplier data to further optimise

supplier management.

We regularly conduct performance appraisal and ranking management
on existing suppliers by monthly, semi-annual and annual evaluation.
Production safety inspections are carried out quarterly to identify
possible environmental and social risks in supply chain in a timely
manner. During the year, we launched a supplier performance appraisal
scoring system, detailed the supplier performance appraisal standards,
and put requirements on the timeless of the confirmation on samples
based on appraisal standards such as qualification rate of goods, reject

ratio, shipment on demand.

In 2022, we proactively communicated with and received feedback from
suppliers, launched Supplier Relationship Management (SRM) to achieve
online management on the life cycle of suppliers, implemented different
reward and punishment policies for suppliers at different ranks, so as to
explore high-quality suppliers constantly, deepen the informatization
and digitalization construction of suppliers in ESG risk management
and supply chain. For suppliers who have excellent performance on
environment or caring of employees, the Company will give extra credit.
For suppliers with problems or risk points, the Company will supervise
them to rectify within a limited time. For suppliers were found to
seriously breach of relevant environmental management requirements
in the process of production or exist of serious ethical issues or found
in violation of the regulations, the Company will terminate their

partnership and eliminate unqualified suppliers.
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Creating Green Supply Chain

The Company highly values the sustainable performance of suppliers
and prioritizes the procurement of products that meet environmental
protection requirements throughout the whole process of the life cycle
of the product, and of products that are harmless or less harmful to the
ecological environment, high resource utilization rate and low energy
consumption. We require suppliers to carry out various production
activities with the premise of minimizing damage to the environment.
We have also established a new technique department to work with
suppliers for developing environmentally friendly materials, and
recommend suppliers to purchase from our designated suppliers, in bid
to promote the use of environmentally friendly materials and propel

green development of suppliers.

As of 31 December 2022, the number and distribution of the Company’s

suppliers are as follows:

Mg efrE

ARBEGHEBNAIFEZRRRE &
EEBEERLEDARZBRERHERR
23k WARRREZHEFTR)  BR
MAERS  EREREENER - ERMH
EEASR/MUIBERBRAR  AREE
EERB) o WA TERFT - BF
HEBAFREREMH  EBRHRERB
BARBEEHREHETRE  HHRR
MEEER  REHERREER -

EH1E2022F 128318 - AR RIHERERE
mEERMMEIT

Number and Distribution of Suppliers

HEFHERDHER

Indicators

ks

As of 31 December 2022
B ZE20225F12831H

By geographical region (number) Mainland China

Rt & (@) R A ith 85
Hong Kong, Macau, Taiwan and overseas
BRA RS 0
Total (number)
Ast (@) 85
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VII. RESPONSIBLE OPERATIONS

Adhering to the philosophy of responsible operations, the Company
is committed to customer-oriented business development model, and
continuously implements responsibility culture. We complies with laws
and regulations such as the Product Quality Law of the People’s Republic
of China KREAREFHEMEEE)) and the Law of the People’s
Republic of China on the Protection of Consumer Rights and Interests
(HRZEARLMBIEE E#ERREL)). While being committed to
provide customers with innovative and high-quality products and
service, we optimise business processes, improve the efficiency and
standards of customer complaint handling and after-sales service,
perfect the intellectual property management system and enhance data
secure guarantee ability, so as to safeguard the legal rights and interests

of customers.

Product Quality Control and Recall

The Company strictly abides by the national toy standards related
to our operations, such as the GB/T 26701-2011 General Technical
Requirements for Model Products and the GB 6675-2014 Toys Safety,
to strengthen general technical requirements for model products
and continuously improve the quality management system. We have
formulated management procedures and inspection standards such as
the General Product Inspection Standards, the Quality Standard Manual
for Action Figures, the Quality Inspection Workflow and the Product
Special Procurement Process to comprehensively supervise every stage
in the production process. In the product design stage, we will examine
the structural safety of the product and ensure its R&D quality through
development, testing and verification; in the product production stage,
we will tighten the quality control of the entire production process
including materials, injection molding, oil spraying, assembly and
packaging, standardize product packaging labels, and ensure that the
product production process meets the national emission standards of
“waste water, waste gas and waste residue”; in the product sales stage,
we will develop criteria for identifying the common defects of blind
box products and optimize and improve the process and production
of defect-prone products assessed by the after-sales department to

improve the quality of after-sales service.
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In 2022, in order to implement the requirements for product quality
control, we revised the General Product Inspection Standards, set
strict requirement on product appearance, and strengthened chemical
monitoring and control. We selected raw materials that met national
safety standards. The passing rate of external chemical composition
testing for the year increased by 12.65% compared to 2021. For product
compliance testing, we have employed SGS-CSTC Standards Technical
Services Co., Ltd. (SGS), an internationally recognized testing agency,
as the international testing business partner for our products to assist
in product safety and compliance testing and organize special training
and seminars around product safety and compliance requirements,
examine and discuss industry standards, rules, and regulations
pertaining to products, striving to promote and put quality culture
into practice. Additionally, we perform the “first five pieces inspection”
for our products, which entails introducing product quality standards
and quality control plans to production factories prior to the product’s
initial manufacture, and taking five components for sample testing in
terms of drawings and technical requirement, quality inspection, safety
inspection, wear test, environmental test, and transportation of finished

products, so as to avoid the risk of batch quality defects in our products.

We actively support the exploration and exchange of product quality
standards in the pop toy industry. In March 2022, we participated in the
preparation of the T/CPQS C010-2022 group standard of Pop Toys and
Similar Products for Appreciation and Collection issued by the China
Association for Promotion of Consumer Products Quality and Safety to

promote the pop culture and the standardization of the industry.
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For product recall, we have formulated the Product Recall Procedure
and other systems and processes. Once a product with potential safety
hazards or an unqualified product is identified, the Company will recall
all unqualified products for rework and scrap the products that cannot
be reworked. In order to further protect the health and safety of our
customers, in July 2022, we comprehensively updated our product
packaging with reference to the requirements of the U.S. Consumer
Product Safety Commission for product traceability labeling, the French
packaging environmental design Triman logo, and national standards
such as the GB 5296.1-1997 Instructions for Use of Products of Consumer
Interest — General Principles and the GB 5396.5-2006 Instructions for Use
of Products of Consumer Interest — Part 5: Toys. The new packaging of
our products is printed with warnings and reminders including product
information, instructions, safety use and maintenance matters, such as

non

“Not for children under 3 years”, “Contains small parts and beads, may

lead to choking accidents”, “This is collectible item. Recommended for

ages 15 & up", " nou o

Production batch number”, "Product name”, "Product

model”, “Made in China"and other information.
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POP MART's Updated Product Packaging
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In 2022, the Company did not recall any products due to product quality

problems.
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Customer Complaint and Benefits Protection

The Company focuses on building a service quality management system
centered on customer satisfaction, carefully listening to demands of
customers, and helping customers solve important issues. We comply
with the laws and regulations such as the Law of the People’s Republic
of China on the Protection of Consumer Rights and Interests ((HF# AR
HMBEEEEZIREE)), the Measures for the Punishment of Acts
against the Interest of Consumers KREBBEERTTABRIIITE)),
the Interim Measures for the Return without Reasons of Commodities
Purchased Online within Seven Days KR4 EEmm+HERAER
BEEITHEE)), the Provisions on the Interdiction of Fraudulent Pricing
Practices K22 1FBIEERFFITRBIARTE)), and the Interim Measures for
Handling Complaints and Reports concerning Market Regulation T3
EEREIER R ERIBE1TIEE)) and have formulated different rules
and regulations such as the Standard Operating Procedure for Stores
CJESBIZHEIRIERTR)), the Pre-upgrade Processing Mechanism ( FEF
RIEFEHEF])) and the Customer Service Handling Regulations for Omni-
channel After-sales Issues (288 &4 & X AREFEHF)). In 2022,
we further refined the relevant systems and regulations to clarify the
ideas and processes for handling customer complaints. In addition, we
publicized the After-sales Service Policy &1 RIEIER)) to ensure
that our customers have a clear understanding of the policy when

purchasing products and to fully protect their rights and interests.

We continue to improve our customer service mechanism and build an
all-media service platform, whereby customers can communicate with
the Company and provide their opinions and suggestions via different
channels, including 400 hotlines, WeChat mini-program, Tmall online
service and in-store customer service. Once receiving a complaint,
we will arrange a complaint handling officer as soon as possible to
provide solutions against the demand of customers within a limited
time and follow up until the customer’s request is satisfactorily resolved.
In case of industrial and commercial complaints, the Company will
actively cooperate and report the results to the market supervision
administration promptly, and optimize related products and services

accordingly.
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We give prompt response to customer feedback and improve customer
complaint handling system from various aspects. In particular, we trained
our store staff and customer service staff in terms of workflow, sensitivity,
and laws and regulations to ensure the relevant questions handled and
resolved quickly. We also analyze and discuss about those complaints
and conduct surveys on customer satisfaction to identify the defects in
our service, so as to inform relevant departments for rectification timely.
In 2022, we established a three-level work order according to customers’
actual demands and scenarios of complaints for more efficient handling
according to their classification and through analysis of the relevant
scenario. Specifically, for the activities carried out on all platforms, we
establish docking mechanism, risk assessment mechanism and abnormal
problem feedback mechanism with all channels. We also conduct test
in advance and specify relevant responsible persons to avoid customer
complaints caused by stock shortage as much as possible and improve
customer experience; regarding product sales, we cooperate with the
third-parties engaging in public opinion monitoring to understand
feedbacks from customers from different channels so as to offer relevant
customers solutions proactively; as for the return and exchange of
goods, we established data monitoring and early warning mechanism
and other after-sale procedures jointly with relevant departments to
meet customer demands for return and exchange, thereby to improve

customer satisfaction.
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Key Performance Indicators for Product Responsibility

EnSTERERNER
Indicators Data for 2022
bifd 2022 F BB
Total industrial and commercial complaints on products or services received (times)
BEEEREMTRBHNIHRFEE OR) 17,907
Clearance rate of industrial and commercial complaints (%)
ITHERFERE%) 100
Percentage of total products sold or shipped that are subject to recall for safety and health reasons (%)
EESCEXERAHTRZ2ERZEEMMAR KN E DL (%) 0
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Customer Privacy and Information Security

The company protects the legitimate rights and interests of customers
in all areas and highly values customer privacy and information security.
In strict compliance with laws and regulations and departmental
regulations such as the Network Security Law of the People’s Republic
of China {(REARKEFBEIHELZZEIE)), the Personal Information
Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China {(FR & A R 15 {&
N2 BAREE)) and the Measures for Determining the lllegal Collection
and Use of Personal Information by Apps (App 3&5%3E R U EF A @
MNEBITARTE L)), the Company had formulated the Information
Security Management System, the Information Disclosure Management
System, the Information Security Training Manual and the Data Security
Management System and other documents and made some amendment
in 2022 by upgrading the User Privacy Agreement of Pop Mart, Member
Service Agreement of Pop Mart and the Minor Privacy Agreement of
Pop Mart to standardize the requirements related to the protection of
personal information. We clearly define the collection, transmission,
storage, use, sharing, deletion, transferring and disclosure of corporate
data and users’ personal data in the Data Security Management System,
and prohibit keeping users’ private information unless necessary or
displaying such information during transportation. Meanwhile, we
require core service providers with access to customer transaction
information to sign confidentiality agreements to strictly supervise the
behavior of relevant staff. We disclose the privacy policy in our Wechat
Mini Program and ask all departments within the Company as well as
all suppliers and partners to follow such policy, so as to promote the
information security management and improve the information security

management system.

In the User Privacy Agreement of Pop Mart, we undertake to adhere to
the principle of minimum collection to standardize the collection and
processing of customer personal information, and shall not provide, sell,
rent to or share personal information with any third party without the
consent of the user. We also authorize users to deregister and delete

their personal information for the security to the greatest extent.
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The Company has assigned a dedicated information technology and
R&D technology department, which is responsible for the management
and supervision of the Company's information and data security. We
had also established a dedicated Data Security Team and appointed
a data protection and security officer to oversee privacy and data
security related activities during the year. We effectively strengthened
information security and protection and reduced the risk of information
leakage with various high-tech means as encryption, anti-identification,
intranet control, installation of anti-virus software and firewall and so on.
We also conducted special audit of corporate information security for risk
assessment on the network security, information security, compliance
with network security law, personal information protection law and data
security law, as well as the availability and reliability during operations
of all mini programs for the main business lines. Thereby, we identified
risks of high, medium and low degree and made countermeasures and
plans timely. Besides, different degrees of encryption and authorization
are carried out for data of different categories and levels so that the
customer data under all transformation is strictly monitored to prevent
abuse of authority and effectively protect the security of information,
data, applications and terminals. The Company has completed the filing
of the third level of the protection for information system security of

user center.

In addition, we carry out regular trainings on information security
awareness for all staff, special training for key core personnel on personal
information protection law, induction training for data protection and
security officer, special training for customer service staff, training on
offline information synchronization, etc., to comprehensively improve
employees’ awareness of security and confidentiality. In 2022, we
conducted 28 training sessions on consumer information security for

customer service staff.
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Regarding the information or data leaks and other emergency events,
we have formulated special emergency response plan, and strengthened
our defense by applying active and passive technological means and
measures such as WAF website application level intrusion prevention
system and encrypted gateway to minimize losses caused therefrom. In
the event of information or data leakage, the Company will immediately
delegate security specialists to trace the sources causing information
leakage problems and fix them in a timely manner as well as make
relevant assessment. Besides, the event shall be reported to the security
management and regulatory authorities of Company immediately for
the analysis of underlying reason and remediation so as to eliminate the
potential recurrence of the similar. There was no significant information

security or customer privacy breach in 2022.

Intellectual Property and Brand Protection

In strict compliance with laws and regulations such as the Patent Law
of the People’s Republic of China KHE ARLMBEIEFE)), the
Copyright Law of the People’s Republic of China {(FZE AR IEFE
ZVERER)) and Measures for the Supervision over and Administration
of product anti-counterfeiting K E M BEBEIENE)), the
Company has formulated management systems and mechanisms such
as the Intellectual Property and Software Management Measures and
established an integrated platform covering the entire value chain of
intellectual property operation. We continually improve our intellectual
property management process, organize training on intellectual property
knowledge, carry out brand protection, and respect the intellectual

property achievements of others while maintaining our own intellectual

property.

To minimize the risk of intellectual property infringement, we promptly
register trademark, register copyrights and patents of works and
maintain them as necessary, discover clues of infringement in a timely
manner, and take necessary measures to deal with products or contents
involved in infringement by regularly conducting novelty searches,
searching for intellectual property information, so as to eliminate the
occurrence of infringement. In 2022, we fought against a number of
pirated copiers. In severe circumstances, we, among others, reported to
competent authorities and prosecuted for claim to deal with intellectual
property disputes, in a view to request related parties to stop and verify
the misconducts that damage the Company’s interests in timely manner,

thereby protecting the Company’s legal interests.
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We insist on respecting intellectual property rights, proactively obtaining
relevant licenses for fonts, libraries and other materials, and in the
cooperation on brand image design, we focus on intellectual property
rights or other elements protected by law, and enter into relevant
agreements with our partners to form a closed loop in terms of licensing
of copyright. For overseas intellectual property protection, we also apply
for intellectual property rights related to the Company worldwide in a
timely manner, and emphasize the ownership the Company's intellectual
property rights of through overseas official websites and global
e-commerce platforms. When collaborating with suppliers, we contract
them with the Confidentiality Agreement and the Annual Cooperation
Framework to clarify the ownership of the product’s intellectual property
rights, designing materials and modules, and require suppliers to pay
more attention to intellectual property management and not to infringe

the intellectual property rights and other legal rights of any third parties.

Innovation is a key component of our ability to remain competitive, and
we encourage technological innovation and invention and promote the
application of technological innovations. We introduced an intellectual
property platform in the front-end of the intellectual rights protection,
recorded the draft drawings in the creation in a timely manner, and
actively safeguarded our intellectual property rights. In 2022, we
promptly applied for registration of our series works to the Copyright
Protection Center for the vetting ownership. For the "MEGA Collection
Series”, we disassembled the basic works and registered the parts
individually for copyright. In addition, we supervise and communicate
with departments where risks may occur to raise their risk awareness

and reduce the likelihood of risk occurrence.

In March 2022, as a brand in the pop toys industry, we participated in
the second AACA Intellectual Property "POP-UP Museum” organized
by AACA (Alibaba Anti-counterfeiting Alliance) in Hangzhou to help
consumers identify genuine and fake products, enhance brand

recognition and implement brand protection through public education.
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AACA Intellectual Property “POP-UP Museum” Event
FEBEITREENNERREGEYWE ED

Advertisement and Trademark Management

The Company practices responsible marketing, in compliance with
laws and regulations such as the Advertising Law of the People’s
Republic of China K ZEARKEMBIESE)) and the Trademark Law
of the People’s Republic of China K ZEARZEMBFEZE)), and has
established relevant usage standards in advertising design, material
selection, and placement publicity to exercise control from the source
and strengthen the management of compliant publicity to avoid any
false publicity, false marketing or misleading advertising content and

product descriptions.
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We identified possible risks of advertising violations in business
operations and developed relevant countermeasures. The Company's
publicity and marketing content are based on the essence of our
products. We required any external promotional information to be
jointly reviewed by the business department, IP department, Marketing
and legal affairs departments, avoiding the use of extreme terminology
or illegal words, and published only after confirming that the content
is accurate and true and does not infringe on the legal rights of others.
We also regularly organize our staff to learn the laws and regulations
related to advertisement, share the highlight cases in the industry and
related points to note, and enhance their awareness of advertisement
compliance. For advertisements in overseas regions, we required our
overseas partners to comply with our promotion standards and local
laws and regulations in the promotion process to ensure the truthfulness
and compliance of promotional information. If the advertising or
promotional information does not conform to the actual situation and
violates the relevant laws and regulations, for online advertising, we will
immediately explain and promptly negotiate with customers about the
solutions through the official account; for offline advertising, we will
immediately start the withdrawal inappropriate content, stop the launch
and make corrections, investigate similar problems and modify errors to

prevent similar situations from happening again.

In terms of trademark management, to better manage our intangible
assets, we have set clear requirements on the area, form, ratio, location,
font and color of brand logos, and formulated a comprehensive
review process that all use of our products, LOGO and materials must
be approved by the Company at relevant levels. We registered the
trademarks of high-end products in a timely manner, unified brand logo
and strictly complied with the trademark use norms, so as to strengthen
the compliant use of the brand logo and prevent the risk of the brand

logo being sued for infringement as far as possible.
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VIII. ANTI-CORRUPTION MANAGEMENT

The Company committed to business ethics in its corporate
development, and dedicated to creating an integrity, openness and
honesty working environment. We comply with relevant laws and
regulations, such as the Company Law of the People’s Republic of China
(hzEARKMEIARE)), the Anti-Money Laundering Law of the
People’s Republic of China KH2E AR FEMER%EEEIE)) and the Anti-
Unfair Competition Law of the People’s Republic of China % AR
HMBERNEE#HFE)), and have established relevant management
systems including the Anti-Fraud Management Regulations, the Anti-
Money Laundering Management System, the Compliance Management
System, the Gift Acceptance Management Regulations, the Conflict of
Interest Management System, the Exit Audit Management System, the
Information Confidentiality Management System and the Employee
Code of Conduct Management System to consolidate anti-corruption

management.

In 2022, we have formulated the /nternal Audit Management
System with the aim of regulating operations, preventing fraud and
avoiding losses, standardizing the Company’s integrity management
requirements, and specifying the bottom lines of non-compliance and
the approach to deal with. We disclose the Anti-Embezzlement and
Internal Audit System on the page of "PROBITY AND COMPLIANCE"
of the Company's official website, including specific policies such as
antibribery and anti-corruption. Meanwhile, we also disclose the 2022
Anti-Embezzlement Summary of the Company on this page to illustrate
the anti-embezzlement and business ethics reviews that we conduct
on a regular basis. We also sign the Sunshine Cooperation Agreement
with our suppliers and partners to strengthen the management of the
procurement operation process, create a transparent procurement
environment. We maintain a zero-tolerance attitude towards any form of
business violations such as embezzlement, corruption, bribery, extortion,

fraud and money laundering, and adhere our compliance operation.
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Promoting the Integrity Culture

The Company attaches great importance to promoting the awareness
of integrity among all employees. We further promoted our compliance
culture through morning meeting training, induction training, sharing
cases of corporate violations, displaying integrity publicity posters,
publishing subscription articles, conducting questionnaires on the
awareness of Sunshine integrity and other forms. We required directors
and all employees to adhere to an ethical code of integrity, regulated
supplier behaviour and prohibited any illegal or unethical financial

practices.

In 2022, we conducted an one-hour anti-fraud training session for all
employees and an one-hour training session for senior and middle
management, including directors; for new employees, we publicised
the Company's integrity requirements by playing promotional videos;
in addition to publicity targeting all staff, a number of special anti-fraud
training sessions were conducted individually for key departments and
personnel in key positions. The above training covered all employees
of the Company, including the Directors and part-time employees. In
addition, we distributed integrity reminder greeting cards on holidays
and an integrity cooperation survey to our suppliers to investigate
the integrity during employees’ communication with suppliers and
their perceptions of the Company’s non-compliance investigation
and integrity culture, so as to figure out the direction for future work
accordingly. We also created a script based on a non-compliance case
for our first promotional video themed “Integrity and Compliance” to

promote the value of integrity and honesty.
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Improving Compliant and Reporting Mechanism

The Company encourages its employees to actively report the actual
or suspected corruption, bribery and other improper acts that violate
professional ethics. We designated the Audit Department as the official
reporting department in charge of providing internal and external
pesonnel with various online and offline reporting channels, including
reporting hotlines, reporting mailboxes, official online reporting platform
and letters. In 2022, we added a new “Sunshine Bubble” reporting
portal to our internal communications platform, which allows internal
personnel to report at any time via the reporting link, while the external
personnel can also report violations by scanning the reporting QR code
through Feishu (FRZ). At the same time, the newly launched “Bubble
Phonograph” platform also provides a reporting channel for employees.
Besides, we developed a mechanism namely “Direct Channel for our
Friends (/NEEEBE)" to ensure smooth business feedback and

disciplinary report.

We continue to improve our corruption reporting mechanism and have
formulated whistleblower protection policy to ensure that information
relating to whistleblowers is kept strictly confidential and the scope
of information reported is effectively controlled, and ensure that
whistleblowers are provided with adequate protection. Our Internal
Audit Management System clearly stipulates that any form of retaliation
against whistleblowers, such as obstruction, harassment, insult,
defamation, threat, intimidation and assault, is prohibited and in case of
any of such behaviors identified, relevant responsible individuals shall
be punished severely, and we reserve the right to pursue legal liability
against them. We have designated specific individuals to follow up and
investigate relevant reports, and the Company will, upon the verification
of relevant situations, will give employees disciplinary punishment
depending on the severity, including dismissal or reporting and sending

to the judicial authority.
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As a member of the Corporate Anti-Fraud Alliance and the Trust and
Integrity Alliance, we actively participate in training and exchange
activities organized by the industry. In November 2022, we participated
in the 5%(2022) Enterprise Integrity and Compliance Summit organized
by the Trust and Integrity Alliance. Through exchanges and discussions
with alliance members on anti-fraud risks, hot spots and difficulties,
we have learned about excellent anti-fraud strategies and innovative
practices in the industry, further enriched our experience in compliance

management and strengthened internal corporate governance.

During the Reporting Period, we did not have any major non-compliance

or any case of corruption and fraud.

Anti-corruption Training

RESFZFINRRER
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Indicators Data for 2022
R 2022 FHiE
Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices (cases)

ERFEETHRARMGEE (B) 0
Number of Directors participating in anti-corruption training (persons)

SHERESEIESHAR(A) 4
Number of employees participating in anti-corruption training (persons)

SHEREFEIETHAB(A) 4,100
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IX. COMMUNITY INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT WHEREER

Bearing in mind the brand concept of “creating trends and delivering ANBARSBE AR BEETIH
fineness”, the Company has been practicing its corporate social mEES  BIUoEHEgaFE  BEME
responsibility and is committed to building a brand with warmth mE BEENmE c BMRBEESE
and commitment. Leveraging our industrial strengths, we invest B HHEHgEER  REERIRE
resources in green transformation, ecological environmental protection, SREBNEREEYA KLBEHFXEE
aesthetic education in rural schools and traditional culture. We also EHBEAER  BAZEBEEALEMHEAR
participate in community welfare-related activities in various forms and wAEREE  HEASMHERFER KE
maintain communication and friendly relations with the surrounding E - BEEE  TENMEREREE
communities, thereby creating value for consumers, the industry and =R

society on an ongoing basis.

Total community investment in 2022: 2022$?~:|:EE§§5\§§E .
Approximately RMB3.2726 million #327.26E T A RER

2022FEFEEEHER -

Time devoted to volunteer activities in12022: 'é;{\J 1 ,500 /J\ E%

Approximately 1,500 hours

{7 POP MART§  POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED & a5 Epk =B A R A A
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Case: Leading the industry’s green and low-carbon
transformation by fulfilling our “Carbon Peaking and Carbon
Neutrality” responsibility

The Company actively responds to the call for green and low-carbon
environmental protection and undertakes its responsibility for green
transformation. In 2022, we launched “Green Parcels” during the 618"
campaign, which replaced offset laminated colour printing boxes with
ink-printed zippered cartons, effectively reducing the use of ink and
tape. During the campaign, 321,960 “Green Parcels” were sent out,
reducing the use of plastic tapes by approximately 160,000 metres. It has
become the consensus of the express delivery industry to “make parcels
greener”. We will continue to explore “Green Parcels” to take more green

unpacking experience to consumers.

2022 FRE - HEREAHRSE

=B BT & |EE - 5IHEITE
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Pop Mart launched “Green Parcels”

BEBREH ERIZEEE]

Case: Protecting biodiversity and promoting harmonious
coexistence between human and nature

The Company is deeply aware that protecting biodiversity is one of
the key factors in maintaining ecological balance and promoting the
harmonious development of human and nature. On 4 August 2022,
the inauguration ceremony of the “Pop Mart Charity Forest for Beaver
Protection” was held in Karaburgan Township, Fuyun County, Xinjiang
Uygur Autonomous Region, and the Mengxin Beaver Protection Project
was implemented smoothly with a total of 26,000 poplar seedlings and
shrub willows planted. The project not only addressed food scarcity in
the beaver habitat in Mengxin, but also improved the ecosystem of the

Ulungu River Basin.
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“Pop Mart Charity Forest for Beaver Protection” successfully completed

[ 35 4 A 4 4R o8 1N S5 4K | IERITE AL

Case: Innovating charity model to assist the development
of aesthetic education

The Company actively carried out innovation on the charity model
to develop aesthetic education in rural schools. In 2022, we jointly
launched the exclusive charity image of “MOLLY Little Scarlet Flower” for
the first time with Tencent Charity during the campaign of “99 Charity
Day". Under the new model of “IP+ product + charity project”, members
are encouraged to donate points and love to support the charity project
of “Rural Children’s Aesthetic Education Dream House". Nearly 20,000
users donated 4,134,940 points during the campaign. We also donated
RMB750,000 to the China Foundation for Rural Development to build five
aesthetic education centers in Li County, Longnan City, Gansu Province
through the brand charity project of "POP MART Charity Aesthetic
Education Center”, which supported rural children in terms of aesthetic
education hardware, curriculum and activities, thereby supporting the
development of aesthetic education in rural schools, and practicing the

corporate social responsibility.

Molly D mman Rewit oonua ) s

IR S
-*mﬂi,

© POP MART. All rights reserved.

Pop Mart’s charity image of “MOLLY Little Scarlet Flower
EBHIMOLLY M I ARFER
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2022 Pop Mart aesthetic education center completed
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Case: Cooperating with social charity projects to enhance
social influence of IP

The Company continued to carry out charity projects with other
organizations to provide care, education or living resources for
individuals or groups in need of help. On 22 November 2022, we jointly
launched the “Blue Sunflower Guardian Program” with Waterdrop Charity
and China Charity Federation. MOLLY and hacipupu, the IPs of Pop Mart,

sent gifts and warm companionship to hospitalized children all over the

AT S

country.

All FOR
wCHILDREN’S DREAM

RO BBESARIER - BIIPH
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Pop Mart’s “Blue Sunflower Protection Program”
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On 5 December 2022, Pop Mart IP DIMOO acted as a plugger of rural
revitalisation during the activities for International Volunteers Day, calling
on the public to be benevolence volunteers and support community
projects in their hometowns through advocating charity online and
offline. During the year, we donated a total of RMB1.4354 million for
rural revitalisation to support the development of rural communities.

2
44/ /
{35l

,\, ‘J&u

T a1

Pop Mart's

Case: Launching new China-Chic products to carry forward
excellent traditional culture

The Company has always made excellent Chinese traditional culture
transmission and promotion as one of our duties and missions.
We, finding the insight on consumption patterns of today’s young
consumers, launched the "Music of Peace and Joy" (EREEAEE ) series with
Palace Banquet in Tang Dynasty (=& E) and sell the “LABUBU Gold-
faced Bronze Figures” (LABUBU €T A) garage kits by cooperating
with Sanxingdui Museum in 2022 through continuous integration and
innovation in collaboration with trendy and novel play, new creative
designs and disseminating traditional cultural ideas to interpret
traditional culture from the perspective of tide play and reconstruct the

interpretation of “China-Chic”.

MNM'N&' ;

2022912 A58 - EEIREREE B)E8H
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2022 Fresh Water Program for Rural Revitalisation”
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Pop Mart’s

LABUBU Gold-faced Bronze Figures” and “Music of Peace and Joy” series garage kits
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Case: Paying tribute to the spirit of Chinese spaceflight,
driving promotion of space science education

On 31 October 2022, as China’s space station lab module Mengtian was
successful launched, the Company joined hands with Shanghai ASES
Spaceflight Technology Co., Ltd. to introduce the public welfare image
of "MEGA Collection Series SPACE MOLLY Lunar Rock”, and donated
RMB500,000 to China Space Foundation for supporting the development
of youth space science popularization projects and realising the
continuous integration of space culture and tide culture.

2022 FIRIE - HERERRE

=B HHPEMKREE - BAORRK
MEHEB
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EsEnL

Pop Mart donated RMB500,000 to China Space Foundation
BEBHATEMAESERESETARY

On 21 November, Pop Mart's “SPACE MOLLY Lunar Rock” and “SPACE
MOLLY Sky Tower” were exhibited in the form of cultural and creative
products at the China Aerospace Achievement Exhibition, expressing
Chinese people’s yearning for space and their sincere love for China's
aerospace industry, and paying tribute to the Chinese aerospace spirit.

1MA218 - BBI5%[SPACE MOLLY A&
FSPACE MOLLYRBA | A BIE R =
BIARARPEE | PREMAKTE - &
EREABRKENRAEMEREMXEE
HBHOHE - BPEMKRIE o
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Pop Mart’s “SPACE MOLLY Lunar Rock” and “SPACE MOLLY Sky Tower” exhibited at the China Aerospace Achievement Exhibition
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The Company obtained several awards and honors due to its
outstanding performance in social welfare during the year. In May
2022, the Company won the award of “Charity Enterprise of the Year”
(FEREZME) in the 19th China Charity Ranking initiated by China
Philanthropy Times. In June 2022, due to its outstanding contributions
in the field of rural aesthetic education, the Company was awarded
a certificate of honor issued by the China Foundation for Rural
Development. In September 2022, the Beijing Federation of Industry and
Commerce held a press conference in Beijing, officially releasing the list
of “Beijing Top 100 Private Enterprises in Social Responsibilities” (1t X
BOEMEEMHR) in 2022, and the Company won the 12th place
due to its outstanding performance in the field of social responsibility
such as environmental protection. In December 2022, at the 29th China
International Advertising Festival, the Company’s “MOLLY Public Welfare
Little Red Flower” (MOLLY ‘Azx/NAIFE) project won the gold medal in
the “2022 Yellow River Award — Create for Good Digital Public Welfare
Creative Competition” (2022 EA] 8% — B2 BIm AB T AmAIEXE).

BRAFEELE NS FEMRERIE
BAVES T Z[AEEIEMEBKRE - 2022958 -
RABEER(ATHR) A ELAINE
THEREZRSE[FEARS M| 8IE -
202266 7 - BEEBNERHREAEMNE
MER  AARREAPESNERES
SHEMAREFEE - 202608 dbEHT
PEE R R EmY - ERXEM20225F 4
RRECEHEEAAR]IEBE KAFR
RERRENSECEENEERTER
8124 2 202212 7 - EFE29/EF EIE R
BEE £ ARRI[MOLLYAZ/NITE 118
BEE2022FNH - BRAGEASET AR
BIERE |2

Pop Mart was awarded “Charity Enterprise of the Year” in the 19th China Charity List
BEBRREETNETHEZEE FERELE | R1E

Looking forward to the future, the Company will adhere to the brand
concept of “creating trends and delivering fineness’, give full play to the
positive role of tide play culture in condensing social forces, carrying
forward excellent traditional culture, supporting rural revitalisation,
etc., giving back to the society with actual deeds. The Company shall
shoulder the responsibility of leading brands of China’s pop toys
industry, and continue to create value for consumers, industry and

society.
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ESG INDICATOR INDEX ESGIEFRE 5

Content
RE

Section

B

Mandatory Disclosure Requirements
BERERE

Governance Structure:

rq A\m %

A statement from the board containing the following elements:

HESFRHNER  EPHEFTINARR

(i) adisclosure of the board's oversight of ESG issues;

() BRESFFYRE HENERFENEE

(i) the board’s ESG management approach and strategy, including the process used to evaluate, prioritise and
manage material ESG-related issues (including risks to the issuer’s businesses); and

(i BFRENRE HEREGEBTHEEKR  BETE  BRAHIREREZNRE - G REGHE
BEE (BREEETAEBNERR) B2 &

(iii) how the board reviews progress made against ESG-related goals and targets with an explanation of how
they relate to the issuer's businesses.

(i) BEFSWARERE 4 REREREERREE - WHRETMNEERET ARG ARE

A description of, or an explanation on, the application of the Reporting Principles (Materiality, Quantitative and

Consistency) in the preparation of the ESG Report.

M EEREBERE L2 NEARSRHNAERERRY (EEE - S(M—2E) -

A narrative explaining the reporting boundaries of the ESG report and describing the process used to identify

which entities or operations are included in the ESG report. If there is a change in the scope, the issuer should

explain the difference and reason for the change.

FREEIRIN - ?i@&%ﬂéi&iﬂ’alii&%ﬁl - R R Y

e BB XISMARE - B NEAMENIBIE -
FERBEAMNE  BTARRETRZERESHREA -

Board Statement

ExgEH

About this Report
BN A S

About this Report
BN A
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Content
AT

Section

B

“Comply or explain” Provisions

[ TEFRER R

A.Environmental

ARSI

A1 Emissions

ATEERD

General Disclosure

— MR EE

Information on:

BHERSORERBEN - MKEIHOEDS  EEREEEEVNEEFD

(a) the policies; and

@ EE: &k

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to air
and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste.

(o) BTFHBETAREAZENBBEZLADINER

KPI' A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data.

RASRAE IR IR A1 PR IS AR R IR B -

KPI'A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).

RRERIEEA 2B (HE—) kepREE (FE ) AZEREHNE (UEstE) & (WEA) BmE (15
BESEN  BERBIE) -

KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).
BREMIEREAIIMESASEEDES (UEAE) k (WER) BE (MASES B - 8IARMEE) -

KPI'A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).
BREVIERAMAMELBEREEYEE CAERTE) k (Ef) BE (WASEEEN - 8ERETHE) -

)}

KPI'A1.5 Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.

BIBHERUE R A SR PRRT LAV R B IR R miE BE & B IZPT IR P88 -

KPI'A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled, and a description of reduction
target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.

BRERUERA 6 RIE B EREEERYN L - RIERATET L HREE B iR R RERE L B R AT EE
B -

POP MART
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Content
AR

HERERBRS
Section
=8

A2 Use of Resources

A2 ERER

General Disclosure

— MR R

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and other raw materials.

BRERER (BEER - KEEMEMR) MK -
Note: Resources may be used in production, in storage, transportation, in buildings, electronic equipment, etc.

i BRATAREE - W - RE BT EFREF -

KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in '000s) and
intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
BRERIEFA2VREN S SN EE R SEZER (WE -
(WA BES B - FERMEE)

KPI' A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
BRERUERAL2EFKERTE (MASES SN - BERBTE) °

REom) BREE CATETREFE) REE

KPI'A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.

RS AR DR IR A2 3R AL PR S MY BER(E et B IR M A i 215 4k B AR FTIREREV P B

KPI' A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water efficiency
target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.

RSB SRR A2 4 ISKEGE AR ERI B - ARFTET I8 Ak e B IR R R IEDE L B IRPTER
28 o

KPI' A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and, if applicable, with reference to per
unit produced.

RIRAE NI RA2S B mATA B EM M EE (AN E) X (NER) SEEEUGE -

Environment
Management

RIREE

Environment

Key Performance
Indicators
RIEARANIER
Environment

Key Performance
Indicators
RIBMRERIER
Environment
Management
RIBER
Environment
Management
RIBER

Environment
Key Performance

Indicators
IRIB AR ERUEE
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Content

AES

Section

B

A3 The Environment and Natural Resources

ASRIERRARER

General Disclosure

— MR R

Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impacts on the environment and natural resources.

BE LT AR RE N RAERERERZENBR

KPI' A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment and natural resources and the
actions taken to manage them.

BSE SRR ANV EBEHHRBERRABRNEATZEREEKNEREHELENTE -

A4 Climate Change

AARIRE

General Disclosure

— MR

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related issues which have impacted, and those
which may impact, the issuer.

BRINMEHCER ARG BETAELEFENERRIZHEEENRE

KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have impacted, and those which may impact,

the issuer, and the actions taken to manage them.

BREVESMIBREERAITRESHETAELTENERRGHEEEE - REHTH -

B.Social

B. it EEHE

B1 Employment

B1{E(E

General Disclosure

— AR EE

Information on:

BRAZ M e - BB RETT - TIERE
(a) the policies; and

@ BE: &

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to

B FERE - Zolt - RERAREMAEREN

compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity,
diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.
(o) BTFHETAREATENBREZNADINER
KPI'B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full- or part-time), age group and
geographical region.
BARERUEEBVRIE R - EIRAE (M2 BEERR) - FREn tEE S
KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region.

BRERIEER 211 - FRARNMILREDHEERKLE -

MlE B4R -

POP MART
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Environment
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Management
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Management
RIFERE

Environment
Management
RIBEE

Employment and
Labor Standards
e M K 85 T#ER

Employment and
Labor Standards
1EfR K85 TR
Employment and
Labor Standards
1R K85 TR



2022 ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
2022 FRIE - HBERERBE

Content
AR

Section

B

B2 Health and Safety

B2l Z 2

General Disclosure

— MR R

Information on:

BRRHZE TERRRREREEBEBELREEN -

(a) the policies; and

@ BE: M

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to
providing a safe working environment and protecting employees from occupational hazards.

(b) EFHBETABERYENEREERRIINER -

KPI'B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the past three years including the

reporting year.

BRENIEFERLIBE=F (BRERFE) BFRTITHHOABRKL X

KPI'B2.2 Lost days due to work injury.

s EBIRIER 2 A TEBATER S -

KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

RS AE IR IR A AT IR MM B R I R 2 2556 - DA RMERR AT REEZRTT0% o
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Content
AR

Section

B

B3 Development and Training

B3E /& K&

General Disclosure

—ARIKEE

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging duties at work. Description of training
activities.

BRRTHE B BT TR E M A R B B BUR - FFINES) -

Note: Training refers to vocational training. It may include internal and external courses paid by the employer.

it - AR RIS - Al B E LT BRI EBARIE -

KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee category (e.g. senior management,
middle management).

RARERUEIEB3 N RIE R LEE R (MERERE PRAETEE) BAO0NXIEETL -

KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by gender and employee category.

MRERIEER 2R MR R BREENE Y - BREETKZ N FIIRE -

B4 Labor Standards

B4%5 T#A|

General Disclosure

— AR

Information on:

BRADT IEE Taa 55 TH

(@) the policies; and

@ BE: &

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to
preventing child and forced labor.

(o) BFHBETARGEAZENBBEZLADINER -

KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child and forced labor.

FASEAE IR IR B4 HE AR R RIS B I B HE AR R E T MR85 T -

KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when discovered.

RS A IR R4 2 i FE IR B RIS BIR B BB R AT EREH) 5K
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Content Section
AR =8

B5 Supply Chain Management

B5LIEREE

General Disclosure Supply Chain

—MRARER Management

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain. HEEER

EIR R HRE Mg BBREBUR o

KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Supply Chain

RASRAERIEIEBS R E B D ML ER 2L E - Management
g E IR

KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of suppliers where the practices are Supply Chain

being implemented, and how they are implemented and monitored. Management

RS RURIERS 2 B IS MBIV E S - MERTEREMNNHEMEE - MM TRERNR HERERE
A e

KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental and social risks along the supply chain, and how Supply Chain

they are implemented and monitored. Management
BIBHERUERBS 3t AL B B B B ERSHRIB LA G EBES - AREERITRERTE - HrEgEeEe
KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable products and services when Supply Chain
selecting suppliers, and how they are implemented and monitored. Management
B BEAE BUBIRBS 4 H AL TE BROE (LB R I (2 62 2 FIRIREE i R RTE VB B - A RABRIEIT B RTTE » HrEgEER
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Content Section

RE =1

B6 Product Responsibility

BeEmEI(E

General Disclosure Responsible

—R = Operations

Information on: &S

ERMREERMRBNERELZ Y  ES  SHEILBEEURSERT AL

(a) the policies; and

(@ BE: R

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to

health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to products and services provided and
methods of redress.

(o) BFHBETARGEAZENRBERZLADINER -

KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety and health reasons. Responsible

FRENUEER DS ERAERBYTRLT2HEFEAMARLBKNEDL - Operations
BERE

KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints received and how they are dealt with. Responsible

RARAR WUE R B6. 2 B RN o MR TS VIR AR BB A R T o Operations
BIERE

KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting intellectual property rights. Responsible

RASRAR R ZB6. 3 i B ik o I RIE A E A BB D - Operations
BEKE

KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures. Responsible

PR ENUE SR AR E 2 T B REMBIKER - Operations
BEKE

KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, and how they are implemented and Responsible

monitored. Operations

RARAE DR TR fUE B E ERHRE RALBEE - URBEARITRERAE - BEKE
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Content
AR

Section

B

B7 Anti-corruption

B7TRES

General Disclosure

—ARIKEE

Information on:

BRAGTIEERRE - R - BEEROERER

(a) the policies; and

@ BE: M

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to
bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.

(b) EFHBETABERYENEREERRIINER -

KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought against the issuer or its

employees during the reporting period and the outcomes of the cases.

BIRAANIE R  RERAAH BT AR ESREICERENESHFRRTHNBE RFAER -

KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures, and how they are implemented

and monitored.

BABERUREB7 2 [ # e S B IRAR T - A BB AT R BRI ©

KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff.

BRAENIER7 I MESR R B TRRHHREISE -

B8 Community Investment

B8 ERE

General Disclosure

—ARIREE

Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the communities where the issuer operates
and to ensure its activities take into consideration the communities’ interests.

BRNTRSERTREEMELRTEMNRREXFEHEEBLRENRZABR

KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental concerns, labor needs, health, culture, sport).

MRERIEERs I BT ERE (KA REEE STIHFR  #F k- #85) -

KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area.

RRENIEER2E BT BB ABAER (NS FKERE)
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
RVR R IR

e
pwec

To the Shareholders of POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP
LIMITED (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which are set out
on pages 178 to 308, comprise:

the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2022;

the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive

income for the year then ended,;

the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then
ended;

the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include

significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2022,
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRSs”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the

disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

POP MARTJ POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED j&ai5 5Bl = mA R A 5
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on
Auditing (“ISAs"). Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated

Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence
Standards) issued by the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants
("IESBA Code"), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the IESBA Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our

opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B A% B R

RENER

BAEREBECEBRFRER)ETER - RAE
ZEEATHAENEICEAREZEUENE
AHEARMBHRRAENEES SR IEE— S8

it o

HFIEGE - RAMESHESEEET R LE
B RRANESF B REHER -

By %

RIBER ST AR X B EAIRE RS RAOCE
RERTEIERER TR (B2 BRRELEERE))
(AT EEsa ) RABLRERE
YEETERTRPHEMBRXBEET -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B A% B R

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

The key audit matter identified in our audit is related to impairment provision

for inventories.

EEEEE (%)

BPEEFTENNBRETSEEANTE
ELEE -

Key Audit Matter
FARETER

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EANENIEERRENER

Impairment provision for inventories

FEREER

Refer to notes 2.12, 4(a) and 21 to the consolidated financial
statements.
2R E P IEIMERMTE2.12 ~ 4@} 21 ©

As at 31 December 2022, the Group's balance of gross
inventories was RMB876 million, against which a provision of
RMB9 million was made.

R2022% 1274310 - EEENETERBRRARKE/6HE
T WEHRFERELEBARKIBEET

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.
FEREAMA ST FEMEPBRIEEDH® - IR FER
BELERKLBIETOMETEEREMETH T TRAMER
B EHE PIFR AR o

The estimation of impairment provision for inventories involves
significant management judgment based on the consideration
of key factors such as aging profile, future sales projection,
estimated future selling prices and selling expenses of the
respective inventories.
FENREEFEGTIREEEEANE  ZSHEFER
FEERAERE - RARHETER  FEAARREBUARBEERN I EM
BREE -

We considered this is a key audit matter because the
impairment assessment involved significant management’s
judgement.
ENREM LI REBESAAE  RMRRE
EAtEE -

= E R B

We have performed the following procedures to address this
key audit matter:

BRRERE —RRETFENMT TATERF

«  We assessed the inherent risk of material misstatement by
considering the degree of estimation uncertainty and level
of other inherent risk factors;
HIEE T (EEH RO HEE A E B A A b
% RHEE AR R E A E

2 [ 25 Y 7K

«  We understood and evaluated management’s internal
control and assessment process of impairment provision for
inventories and tested the key controls over management’s
estimation of impairment provision for inventories;

B TERAFE T ERESFEREE RN A
AHE@IR - AR T EREH T EREEBGTT BT
il

«  We discussed with management and evaluated the
appropriateness of the method and assumptions used in
impairment provision for inventories;
BMEEEE M AT T FEREEEERNTE
MERFREOEE M

«  We evaluated the outcome of prior period assessment
of impairment provision for inventories to assess the
effectiveness of management’s estimation process;

BT E DA BT B T R (B 2 B0 RT ik 45 RAETT T R1ME -
NG EEREEhHREN AL

POP MART

POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED &B3545EI AR A 5




KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B A% B R

EEEEE (%)

Key Audit Matter
FARETER

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EANENNEERRENER

«  We tested the aging profile of inventories items on a
sample basis by checking to relevant documents including
goods receipt notes;

EREMRER (BREEE) ZE - BAEmENER

FHEERNEREBET TR ;

«  We compared the carrying amount of the inventories, on a
sample basis, to their net realisable value through review of
sales subsequent to the year end;
HPBEHERANENEEBENETES  ERENE
MR EEMREEERER] BRI EET TR

« We assessed the reasonableness of methods and
assumptions applied to the provisions by challenging
management’s future sales projection, estimated future
selling prices and selling expenses, with reference to
industry trend, approved budget developed based on
historical data and actual sales subsequent to the year end;
HMBAERERENARRHEETRD - RRHEBEA
HEBRMME (2BTEBD) - REBELEHHIER
KEHBRERFERRNEREE  TEEBETENRE
REVEEM

«  We checked the mathematical accuracy of the calculation

of the provision for inventories;

BfeE T FEREEET E R BRI

+  We observed the physical condition of inventories during
stocktake to identify if any inventories were damaged,
or obsolete and inquired management if appropriate
inventories provision has been made.
BMEFERIHEEE T FEOYERR - UBERF
HReAHREERHRE  TAREEERECFLEER
F B E LR -

We found the assumptions adopted and judgment applied by
management in the determination of impairment provision for
inventories were supported by the evidence we gathered.
HMRA BEEEEHREFEREEERRANBRRMNER
B HIETS B IR AT K ©
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B A% B R

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all of the information included in 2022 annual
report of POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED (the “Annual Report”)
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor's report
thereon. We have obtained some of the other information including the
Management Discussion and Analysis prior to the date of this auditor’s report.
The remaining other information, including the Financial Summary, Report of
Directors, Chairman’s Statement, Corporate Governance Report, Biographies
of Directors and Senior Management, Environmental, Social and Governance

Report, is expected to be made available to us after that date.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not and will not express any form of assurance

conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information identified above and, in doing
so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or

otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we
obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report

that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

When we read the remaining other information to be included in the
Annual Report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein,
we are required to communicate the matter to Audit Committee and take

appropriate action considering our legal rights and obligations.

POP MART
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with IFRSs and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but

to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group's financial

reporting process.

AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken

on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B A% B R
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B A% B R

AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We

also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of

internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of

the Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by

the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as
a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to

cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying

transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

AW POP MART |  POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED B354 BB e BA R A A
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AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued)

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group

audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify

during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,

actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of

such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s

report is Yuen Kwok Sun.

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 29 March 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

meEaREMAEEKER

Year ended 31 December

BZ12AALEE

2022 2021
20224 20214
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
HaE AR¥T ARBFT
Revenue & 5 4,617,324 4,490,651
Cost of sales SHE AR 6 (1,962,781) (1,732,027)
Gross profit EF 2,654,543 2,758,624
Distribution and selling expenses IH R IHER X (1,470,753) (1,106,078)
General and administrative expenses — M EITHFAY (686,280) (557,509)
Provision for impairment loss TREEREBERE
on financial assets (4,500) (1,435)
Other income HAbUA 7 45,572 54,425
Other gains — net H e — 5 8 44,798 1,785
Operating profit R A 583,380 1,149,812
Finance income MIEUA 9 67,682 28,609
Finance expenses MEHE 9 (38,579) (21,246)
Finance income - net BB — 558 9 29,103 7,363
Share of profit of investments accounted SIEFEAEREARNRE R
for using the equity method 17 27,046 14,016
Profit before income tax R P 8 8L AT E T 639,529 1,171,191
Income tax expense Frig it X 10 (163,728) (316,624)
Profit for the year FREF 475,801 854,567
Profit is attributable to: AT &R
- Owners of the Company A VYNGIE =N 475,660 854,339
- Non-controlling interests — FEERR R 141 228
475,801 854,567
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
mERERkAMEERER

Year ended 31 December

BZ12AALEE

2022 2021
2022F 20214F
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
Hist ARBT AEBTT
Other comprehensive income/(loss) Hib 2wk (EE)
ltems that may be reclassified to profit or loss AIEEF DA EIBZEHEB
- Currency translation differences — e s 31,397 (12,629)
ltems that will not be reclassified to BrEgEFHEEER
profit or loss mIEH
- Currency translation differences —E¥nEEE 379,648 (102,926)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) FREMEEKE
for the year, net of tax (BR) BBk 411,045 (115,555)
Total comprehensive income for the year FRZ2MHEWKFZHETE 886,846 739,012
Total comprehensive income for the year U TEMFERZEUEEE :
attributable to:
- Owners of the Company — RRRHE A 886,633 738,816
- Non-controlling interests — FEPERR R 213 196
886,846 739,012
Earnings per share for profit attributable 4~ T # A A BAGEFRI A
to owners of the Company SREF
— Basic (expressed in RMB per share) —EX(UAFRARETERT) 12 0.35 0.62
- Diluted (expressed in RMB per share) — B8 (UABRARBITERR) 12 0.35 0.62

The above consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive

income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

PAE#R B B R H b 2 [ Y as 3K 7 B A PR Y R
—BFRIE -
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

REBEERER

As at 31 December

R12A31H
2022 2021
2022 20214F
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
Hiat ARBT ARBTT
Assets BE
Non-current assets FREEE
Property, plant and equipment Y E Y R 13 448,884 366,281
Intangible assets mEE 14 146,507 134,032
Right-of-use assets EREEE 15 701,627 609,517
Investments accounted for using FREREARNEE
the equity method 17 83,333 61,539
Financial assets at fair value through RATEFABENEREE
profit or loss 23 459,034 328,688
Prepayments and other non-current assets B FRIB R EMIEREEE 22 44,165 30,727
Deferred income tax assets BIEFSTEE 18 80,977 35,553
Total non-current assets BIERBEE 1,964,527 1,566,337
Current assets REBEE
Trade receivables E Z WA 19 194,369 171,334
Other receivables H iU k8 20 187,831 154,939
Inventories FE 21 866,985 788,829
Prepayments and other current assets TERTRIE R E B & 22 298,722 353,580
Financial assets at fair value through BEAFEFABRNEHEE
profit or loss 23 12,829 20,544
Restricted cash EREIE S 24 13,265 3,353
Term deposits with initial term over M EH=EANER
three months and within one year —FAARRE TR 24 4,356,220 -
Cash and cash equivalents ReRRSEEY 24 685,314 5,264,710
Total current assets BREBEE 6,615,535 6,757,289
Total assets BREE 8,580,062 8,323,626
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
mERERMEX

As at 31 December

M®12A31H
2022 2021
20224 20214
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
MtaE AR¥T T ARBETTT
Equity fEm
Share capital [N 25 908 923
Shares held for share award scheme BLRR D SR EDET £ A MR (D 26 (14) (15)
Other reserves HEib i 27 4,693,043 5,023,583
Retained earnings REBAF 2,269,351 1,793,691
Equity attributable to owners of AAREE AELER
the Company 6,963,288 6,818,182
Non-controlling interests in equity IR R 2,037 1,824
Total equity BRER 6,965,325 6,820,006
Liabilities afE
Non-current liabilities FRBEME
License fees payables [EfTRIEE 30 21,306 46,371
Lease liabilities HEAE 15 447,564 364,543
Deferred income tax liabilities BEEAMSTHAE 18 15,120 -
Total non-current liabilities HWERBER 483,990 410,914
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade payables B S ENFKIA 29 259,006 266,098
License fees payables JEf S 30 133,517 86,004
Other payables H A S 5RIA 37 308,791 266,902
Contract liabilities BRAE 32 88,797 119,624
Lease liabilities HEAE 15 293,567 256,909
Current income tax liabilities BIERFTISTR B E 47,069 97,169
Total current liabilities BREBEE 1,130,747 1,092,706
Total liabilities HmeE 1,614,737 1,503,620
Total equity and liabilities BEZREE 8,580,062 8,323,626
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
mERERMEX

The above consolidated balance sheet should be read in conjunction with

the accompanying notes.

The financial statements on pages 178 to 308 were approved by the Board of

Directors on 29 March 2023 and were signed on its behalf.

A bR BER BREEBEMNE—H5E -

F178E R F308 B MU HRFT N 2023F3 F29H
EEEe A WAHTINESREEE

Executive Director & Chairman

HITEERER

POP MARTJ POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED j&iai5 5Bl = mA R A 5

Executive Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN EQUITY
eSS ER

Attributable to owners of the Company

KARHEE AL
Shares held
for Share Non-
Share Award Other Retained controlling
capital Scheme reserves earnings Subtotal interests Total
ARGRE
SEEEN
e Ry  HfbRE  REEF Mt FERER At
(Note 25) (Note 26) (Note 27)
(Wig2s)  (HiE2e)  (W27)
Note RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
fii# | AR¥Tn ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR AR¥TR ARET:R
Balance at 1 January 2022 #2025 1 A1 BIVEER 923 (15 5023583 1793691 6,818,182 1824 6,820,006
Comprehensive income 2EKE
Profit for the year FRET - - = 475,660 475,660 141 475,801
Other comprehensive income Hit2EkE
Currency translation difference EWAEER - - 410,973 - 410,973 72 411,045
Total comprehensive income 2ERELE - - 410973 475,660 886,633 213 886,846
Transaction with owners BEBANR S
Repurchase of own shares BB F KM (15) - (634295) - (634,310) - (6342310)
Dividends declared ERRE - - (209,490) - (209,490) - (209,490)
Share vested under the Share RERD REEHEEE
Award Scheme R 28 - 1 (1) = S = =
Share-based compensation expenses  JARR{A BERRIHRBF 28 - - 102,273 - 102,273 = 102,273
Total transaction with owners BREANR AL (15) 1 (741,513) - (741,527) - (181,527)
Balance at 31 December 2022 B2022F12 831 BHE S 908 (14) 4,693,043 2,269,351 6,963,288 2,037 6,965,325
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

CHANGES IN EQUITY
REEREHR
Attributable to owners of the Company
b YNSiE Z PN
Shares held
for Share Non-
Share Award Other Retained controlling
capital Scheme reserves earnings Subtotal interests Total
AR £
Bistal A
jig Ry EtEE  REEN NGE SEERER At
(Note 25) (Note 26) (Note 27)
(Fsras)  (Bigke)  (WEE27)
Note RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
M#  ARETR ARETr ARBTT ARETR ARGTR AREBTT ARETR
Balance at 1 January 2021 B0 11BN ER 93 (16) 5189115 939352 6,129,374 1628 6,131,002
Comprehensive income 2EKE
Profit for the year FRET - - - 854,339 854339 28 854,567
Other comprehensive income Hit2EkE
Currency translation difference EHBEETE - - (115,523) - (115,523) (32 (115559)
Total comprehensive income 2ENHLE - - (115,523) 854339 738816 19% 739,012
Transaction with owners BEBANRS
Dividends declared and paid ERREAHRE - - (205,833) - (205,833) - (205,833)
Share vested under the Share RERNERHGE
Award Scheme pd ) 28 - 1 (1) - - - -
Share-based compensation expenses  BARR{D BEREHIRIF % 28 - - 155,825 - 155,825 - 155,825
Total transaction with owners BREEANRSAE - 1 (50,009) - (50,008) - (50,008)
Balance at 31 December 2021 R021E12 831 BHES 923 (15) 5,023,583 1,793,691 6,818,182 1,824 6,820,006
The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in LA b f 6 E 7 S B 3% P ERLEE R B 5 — 01 BOGE o

conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

n _\éfﬁﬁ‘;ﬁéi

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2022 2021
2022%F 20214F
Note RMB’'000 RMB'000
Wizt ARBT T AERBTTT
Cash flows from operating activities RETHELENRERE
Cash generated from operations KEMERE 34(a) 1,133,500 1,042,075
Interest received A 1,656 28,609
Income tax paid BEARATSH (244,134) (291,587)
Net cash generated from RETHABRSTFHE
operating activities 891,022 779,097
Cash flows from investing activities RETHELENESRE
Increase in financial assets at fair value BRATFER ABRN
through profit or loss B RLE AN (1,515,016) (1,272,757)
Purchases of property, plant and equipment BEWE  BELERE (266,132) (287,502)
Purchases of intangible assets BEERFEEE (81,491) (46,246)
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets BEZRATFESTAEEN
at fair value through profit or loss SREEMSIE 1,443,524 950,988
Investment income from financial assets RN ER AEZD
at fair value through profit or loss TRIEERERA - 4,832
Dividends received from an associate U B — FE B 2 N BIRR B 8,538 2,074
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and HEYE - HE&EE
equipment, intangible assets B EEFTSRUA 2,363 609
Increase in term deposits with initial terms MERBA=(EA ER—F
over three months and within one year LA TR 89 7E BRAF SR8 (4,290,194) -
Net cash used in investing activities RETEFARESTE (4,698,408) (648,002)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

MERERER

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2022 2021
2022F 20214
Note RMB’'000 RMB'000
Hist AR®T T AEBTT
Cash flows from financing activities MELTBHELNESRE
Payment of lease liabilities HEBENR 15 (323,041) (220,126)
Dividends paid ERRE (220,086) (208,834)
Payment for listing expenses iR - (6,867)
Payments for shares repurchase %1 [0 B8 1< 5% (634,310) -
Net cash used in financing activities RETB AR FRE (1,177,437) (435,827)
Net decrease in cash and cash REeRREEEMRDFE
equivalents (4,984,823) (304,732)
Cash and cash equivalents at FUNRERBESEEY
beginning of the year 5,264,710 5,680,235
Exchange losses on cash and ReRREFBYHEREE
cash equivalents 405,427 (110,793)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of FRNESRBESEEY
the year 685,314 5,264,710
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GENERAL INFORMATION

POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 9 May 2019 as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law (Cap. 22, Law 3
of 1961 as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The address
of the Company's registered office is P.O. Box 309, Ugland House, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company and its subsidiaries are
principally engaged in the product design and development and sale
of pop toys in the People’s Republic of China (the "PRC") and certain
overseas countries and regions. The ultimate holding company of the
Company is GWF Holding Limited (formerly known as Grant Wang
Holding Limited), which is controlled by Mr. Wang Ning and his spouse,
Ms. Yang Tao.

On 11 December 2020, the Company has successfully listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock

Exchange”).

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME
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Al EE AL AP.O. Box 309, Ugland
House, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman
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RABRBREERLAR - EWBLAREE
poEARAME ([HE]) RETEN
B 5K K2 b 8 4 S5 R T BB E SR T B R
BERHEE - ARTHRBERR R BGWE
Holding Limited (A ##&Grant Wang Holding
Limited) - BEERERHREBESL LT
&l o

R2020F12 8118 » RRARKNER B
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

2.1

POP MART

GENERAL INFORMATION (continued)

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi

(“RMB"), unless otherwise stated.

These consolidated financial statements have been approved for issue
by the Board of Directors on 29 March 2023.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

This note provides a list of the significant accounting policies adopted
in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements. These
policies have been consistently applied to all the year presented, unless
otherwise stated. The financial statements are for the Group consisting

of the Company and its subsidiaries.

Basis of preparation

(i) Compliance with IFRS and HKCO

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRS") issued by International Accounting
Standards Board ("IASB") and the disclosure requirements of the

Hong Kong Companies Ordinance ("HKCO") Cap. 622.

(ii) Historical cost convention

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under
the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss which are carried

at fair value.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(iii)

New and amended standards adopted by the Group

The Group has applied the following amendments or annual
improvements for the first time for their annual reporting period
commencing 1 January 2022:
Amendments to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment:
Proceeds before Intended Use
Amendments to IAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract
Annual Improvements to
IFRS Standards 2018-2020
Amendments to IFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual

Framework

The Group did not change its accounting policies or make
retrospective adjustments as a result of adopting the

abovementioned amended standards or annual improvements.

New standards and interpretations not yet adopted

Certain new accounting standards, amendments to accounting
standards and interpretations have been published but are not
mandatory for 31 December 2022 reporting period and have not
been early adopted by the Group. These standards, amendments or
interpretations are not expected to have a material impact on the
Group in the current or future reporting periods and on foreseeable

future transactions.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Principles of consolidation
(i) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over
which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when
the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from
its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power to direct the activities of the entity.
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control
is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date

that control ceases.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on
transactions between group companies are eliminated. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence
of an impairment of the transferred asset. Accounting policies
of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure

consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of subsidiaries are
shown separately in the consolidated statement of profit of loss and
other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes

in equity and consolidated balance sheet respectively.

Subsidiary controlled through Contractual Arrangements

There is an entity controlled by the Group under Contractual
Arrangements. The Group does not have legal ownership in
equity of the structured entity. Nevertheless, under Contractual
Arrangement entered into with the Registered Shareholders of
the structured entity, the Company and its other legally owned
subsidiaries controlled the structured entity by way of controlling
the voting rights, governing its financial and operating policies,
appointing or removing the majority of members of its controlling
authorities, and casting the majority of votes at meetings of
such authorities. Accordingly, the Group has rights to exercise
power over the structured entity, receives variable returns from
involvement in the structured entity. As a result, it is presented as a

controlled structured entity of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EX

POLICIES (continued)

SEHBERME @)

2.2 Principles of consolidation (continued) 22 IREARERR (&)
(i) Joint arrangements (i) BERH

Under IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements investments in joint
arrangements are classified as either joint operations or joint
ventures. The classification depends on the contractual rights and
obligations of each investor, rather than the legal structure of the
joint arrangement. The Group has assessed the nature of its joint

arrangements and determined them to be joint ventures.

Joint ventures

Interests in joint ventures are accounted for using the equity

method (see (iv) below), after initially being recognised at cost in

*E%EWT\EMM&%EE'J
o AERHENRESBERBERD
&é**ﬁ% EEOBRNIBRIEER
BEMNAOENEEME (MERZERY
HERERE) ME - AEEDFEES
BREBMNE  UHZEARLHE
ERAERE-

PR ER

T

=)
REEERNERNBERARES
BEABRERR ERAEDEAR

the consolidated balance sheet. (RTFX(v)) °
(iii) Associates (iii) BEE N T

Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant
influence but not control or joint control. This is generally the
case where the Group holds between 20% and 50% of the voting

rights. Investments in associates are accounted for using the

5?5A7TH$E.¥TEE§7(?¢=

ﬂﬁﬁﬁﬂ%u%% tEESENAEE
B aEERNAEERFE20%E50%
EEH%% o PABSEE N B IR B IR IR K

equity method of accounting (see (iv) below), after initially being KHERE  FRAERSHHEAR(RET

recognised at cost. 3C(iv)) °

Investments in associates in the form of ordinary shares RIBE N a b U EBERERLW
KE

Investments in associates in the form of ordinary shares are REEARRERREANKEN S

accounted for using the equity method of accounting (see (iv) BRAERE  FRAEZSHEAK

below), after initially being recognised at cost. (RT3 (iv) °

Investments in associates in the form of ordinary shares with
preferential rights or redeemable preferred shares

RBEE NP UK EELENE
BR A ELETREA I RE

Investments in associates in the form of ordinary shares with REE AR ARG ELEEN L BR
preferential rights or convertible redeemable preferred shares are A EEELAREANKRERATE
accounted as financial assets measured at fair value through profit AERBHEZEFAEHEENESRE

or loss (Note 2.10).

EARR (FFFE2.10) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Principles of consolidation (continued)
(iv) Equity method

Under the equity method of accounting, the investments are
initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the
Group's share of the post-acquisition profits or losses of the investee
in profit or loss, and the Group's share of movements in other
comprehensive income of the investee in other comprehensive
income. Dividends received or receivable from joint ventures are

recognised as a reduction in the carrying amount of the investment.

Where the Group's share of losses in an equity-accounted
investment equals or exceeds its interest in the entity, including
any other unsecured long-term receivables, the Group does not
recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made

payments on behalf of the other entity.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its joint
ventures are eliminated to the extent of the Group's interest in
these entities. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of equity-accounted investees have
been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the

policies adopted by the Group.

The carrying amount of equity-accounted investments is tested for

impairment in accordance with the policy described in Note 2.10.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EASHHBEMHME &)

POLICIES (continued)
2.2 HEANRER (&)

2.2 Principles of consolidation (continued)

(v) Changes in ownership interests

The group treats transactions with non-controlling interests
that do not result in a loss of control as transactions with equity
owners of the group. A change in ownership interest results in an
adjustment between the carrying amounts of the controlling and
non-controlling interests to reflect their relative interests in the
subsidiary. Any difference between the amount of the adjustment
to non-controlling interests and any consideration paid or received
is recognised in a separate reserve within equity attributable to

owners of the Company.

When the group ceases to consolidate or equity account for an
investment because of a loss of control, joint control or significant
influence, any retained interest in the entity is remeasured to its
fair value with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit
or loss. This fair value becomes the initial carrying amount for the
purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained interest
as an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in
respect of that entity are accounted for as if the group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income are
reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category of

equity as specified/permitted by applicable IFRSs.
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a proportionate share of the amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss where

appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.3

POP MART

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business
combinations not under common control, regardless of whether equity
instruments or other assets are acquired. The consideration transferred

for the acquisition of a subsidiary comprises the:

fair values of the assets transferred

liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquired business

equity interests issued by the Group

fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent

consideration arrangement, and

fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the subsidiary

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities
assumed in a business combination are, with limited exceptions,
measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The Group
recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquired entity on an
acquisition-by-acquisition basis either at fair value or at the non -
controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquired entity's net

identifiable assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.
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2.3

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations (continued)

The excess of the:

consideration transferred,

amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquired entity, and

acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the

acquired entity

over the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired is recorded
as goodwill. If those amounts are less than the fair value of the net
identifiable assets of the business acquired, the difference is recognised

directly in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is deferred, the
amounts payable in the future are discounted to their present value
as at the date of exchange. The discount rate used is the entity's
incremental borrowing rate, being the rate at which a similar borrowing
could be obtained from an independent financier under comparable
terms and conditions. Contingent consideration is classified either as
equity or a financial liability. Amounts classified as a financial liability
are subsequently remeasured to fair value with changes in fair value

recognised in profit or loss.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date
carrying value of the acquirer's previously held equity interest in the
acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date. Any gains or

losses arising from such remeasurement are recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

2.4

2.5

POP MART

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment.
Cost includes direct attributable costs of investment. The results of
subsidiaries are accounted for by the Group on the basis of dividend

received and receivables.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required upon
receiving a dividend from these investments if the dividend exceeds the
total comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period the dividend
is declared or if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate
financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the financial

information of the investee's net assets including goodwill.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the
internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-makers
("CODM"). The CODM, who is responsible for allocating resources and
assessing performance of the operating segments, has been identified

as executive director of the Group.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.6 Foreign currency translation

(i)

(i)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group's
entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (“the functional
currency”). The functional currency of the Company is United
States Dollars (“USD") and the functional currency of the companies
outside of PRC is USD, Hong Kong Dollars ("HKD"), South Korea
Won (“KRW"), Singapore Dollar(“SGD"), Australian Dollar("AUD"),
Canada Dollar("CAD"), European Currency Unit("EUR"), Great
Britain Pound(“GBP"), New Zealand Dollar("NZD"), New Taiwan
Dollar("TWD") and Macau Pataca("MOP"). The consolidated
financial information is presented in Renminbi (“RMB"), which is the

Company's and Group's presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency using the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of
such transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at year end exchange
rates are generally recognised in profit or loss. They are deferred in
equity if they relate to qualifying cash flow hedges and qualifying
net investment hedges or are attributable to part of the net

investment in a foreign operation.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings are
presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income within “finance expenses - net”.
All other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive

income within “Other gains — net”.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when
the fair value was determined. Translation differences on assets and
liabilities carried at fair value are reported as part of the fair value gain
or loss. For example, translation differences on non-monetary assets
and liabilities such as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

are recognised in profit or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.6 Foreign currency translation (continued)
(iii) Group companies

The results and financial position of foreign operations (none of
which has the currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that have
a functional currency different from the presentation currency are

translated into the presentation currency as follows:

assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are

translated at the closing rate at the date of that balance sheet

income and expenses for each statement of comprehensive
income are translated at average exchange rates (unless this is
not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the
rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income
and expenses are translated at the dates of the transactions),

and

all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other

comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation
of any net investment in foreign entities, and of borrowings
and other financial instruments designated as hedges of such
investments, are recognised in other comprehensive income. When
a foreign operation is sold or any borrowings forming part of the
net investment are repaid, the associated exchange differences are

reclassified to profit or loss, as part of the gain or loss on sale.
Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a

foreign operation are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign

operation and translated at the closing rate.
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2.7

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress, are
stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment.
Historical cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the

acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable
that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the
Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income during the financial period in which

they are incurred.

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is calculated using the
straight-line method to allocate their cost, net of their residual values,

over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Roboshop machines 5 years
Moulds 1.5-3 years
Equipment and others 5 years

Leasehold improvement Shorter of remaining lease term or useful life

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if

appropriate, at each balance sheet date.

An asset's carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its

estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the
proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised within “Other
gains — net” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.7 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Construction-in-progress represents buildings, plant and or machinery

under construction or pending installation and is stated at cost less

accumulated impairment losses. Cost includes the costs of construction

of buildings, the costs of plant and machinery, installation, testing

and other direct costs. No provision for depreciation is made on

construction-in-progress until such time as the relevant assets are

completed and ready for intended use.

2.8 Intangible assets

(i)

POP MART

Goodwill

Goodwill is measured as described in Note 2.3. Goodwill on
acquisitions of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets.
Goodwill is not amortised but it is tested for impairment annually,
or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate
that it might be impaired and is carried at cost less accumulated
impairment losses. Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity

include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of
impairment testing. The allocation is made to those cash-generating
units or groups of cash-generating units that are expected to
benefit from the business combination in which the goodwill arose.
The units or groups of units are identified at the lowest level at
which goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes,

being the operating segments.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.8 Intangible assets (continued)

(ii)

(iii

=

Software

Acquired software are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred

to acquire and bring to use the specific software.

Intellectual property rights (“IP Rights”)

Acquired IP rights are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred
to acquire. They have a finite useful life and are subsequently
carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment
losses. Variable payments in relation to purchase of IP rights that
depend on sales are recognised in profit or loss in the period in

which the condition that triggers those payments occurs.

Licensed intellectual properties (“Licensed IPs”)

License rights are stated at historical cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. The historical
costs of license rights are measured at the present values of the
fixed minimum payments at the date of purchase of the respective
license rights. Variable payments in relation to license rights that
depend on sales are recognised in profit or loss in the period in

which the condition that triggers those payments occurs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.8 Intangible assets (continued)
(v) Research and development costs

Research cost is recognised in profit or loss in the period in which
it is incurred. Development cost is capitalised only if all of the

following conditions are satisfied:

it is technically feasible to complete the software so that it will

be available for use

management intends to complete the software and use or sell

it
there is an ability to use or sell the software

it can be demonstrated how the software will generate

probable future economic benefits
adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete
the development and to use or sell the software are available,

and

the expenditure attributable to the software during its

development can be reliably measured.

Other development costs that do not meet those criteria are

expensed as incurred.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

2.8 Intangible assets (continued)

(vi) Amortisation methods and periods

The Group amortises intangible assets with a limited useful life

using the straight-line method over the following periods:

Software 5 years
IP rights 10 years
Licensed IPs 2-10 years

The Group estimates the useful life of the IP rights and Licensed IPs
based on the estimated period during which such assets can bring
economic benefit to the Group. The Group estimates the expected
lifecycle of major IPs will be more than 10 years. Among the rights
relating to each of the acquired IP rights, trademark has a term of
validity of 10 years and is subject to renewal after its expiration,
and patents for each IP are valid for 10 years from the date of
application. For acquired IP rights, the useful lives are determined
based on the shorter of the expected lifecycle of the IPs, and 10
years, being the term of validity of the major rights of the IP rights.
For licensed IPs, the useful lives are determined based on shorter
of the expected lifecycle of the IPs, and contractual term of the

respective license agreements (Note 4(b)).

2.9 Impairment of non-financial assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to
amortisation and are tested annually for impairment, or more frequently
if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be
impaired. Other assets are tested for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not
be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by
which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment,
assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately
identifiable cash inflows which are largely independent of the cash
inflows from other assets or groups of assets (cash-generating units).
Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment
are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at the end of each

reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.10 Investments and other financial assets
(a) Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following

measurement categories:

those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either
through other comprehensive income (“OCI"), or through profit

or loss), and
those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the Group’s business model for
managing the financial assets and the contractual terms of the cash

flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either
be recorded in profit or loss or OCI. For investments in equity
instruments that are not held for trading, this will depend on
whether the Group has made an irrevocable election at the time of
initial recognition to account for the equity investment at fair value

through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI").

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when its

business model for managing those assets changes.

(b) Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised
on trade-date, the date on which the Group commits to purchase
or sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights
to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have
been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all the

risks and rewards of ownership.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EASHHBEMHME &)

POLICIES (continued)

2.10 Investments and other financial assets (continued) 210 RENHEMERMEE (&
(c) Measurement () 3=

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair
value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets
carried at fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL") are expensed in

profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their
entirety when determining whether their cash flows are solely

payment of principal and interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the
Group's business model for managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. There are two measurement categories

into which the Group classifies its debt instruments:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest are measured at amortised
cost. A gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently
measured at amortised cost and is not part of a hedging
relationship is recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit of loss and other comprehensive income when the
asset is derecognised or impaired. Interest income from
these financial assets is included in interest income using the
effective interest rate method. Impairment losses are presented
as separate line item in consolidated statement of profit or loss

and other comprehensive income.

FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or
financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
are measured at fair value through profit or loss. A gain or loss
on a debt investment that is subsequently measured at fair value
through profit or loss and is not part of a hedging relationship is
recognised in profit or loss and presented net in the consolidated
statement of profit of loss and other comprehensive income

within “Other gains — net”in the period in which it arises.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.10 Investments and other financial assets (continued)

(c)

POP MART

Measurement (continued)
Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity instruments at fair
value. Where the Group’s management has elected to present fair
value gains and losses on equity instruments in OCl, there is no
subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and losses to profit
or loss following the derecognition of the investment. Dividends
from such investments continue to be recognised in profit or loss
as other gains, net when the Group's right to receive payments is
established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL are recognised
in “Other gains — net” in consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income as applicable. Impairment losses (and
reversal of impairment losses) on equity investments measured at

FVOCI are not reported separately from other changes in fair value.

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the expected credit
losses associated with its debt instruments carried at amortised
cost. The impairment methodology applied depends on whether

there has been a significant increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified approach
permitted by IFRS 9, which requires expected lifetime losses to be
recognised from initial recognition of the receivables, see Note
3.1(b) for details.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

2.1

—_

POLICIES (continued)
Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in
the balance sheet when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis
or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The legally
enforceable right must not be contingent on future events and must be
enforceable in the normal course of business and in the event of default,

insolvency or bankruptcy of the Group or the counterparty.

2.12 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost
is determined using the weighted average method. Costs of purchased
inventory are determined after deducting rebates and discounts. It
excludes borrowing costs. Net realisable value is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of

completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

2.13 Trade receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods sold or
services performed in the ordinary course of business. If collection of
trade and other receivables is expected in one year or less (or in the
normal operating cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as

current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount of consideration
that is unconditional unless they contain significant financing
components, when they are recognised at fair value. The Group holds
the trade receivables with the objective to collect the contractual cash
flows and therefore measures them subsequently at amortised cost

using the effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.13 Trade receivables (continued)

Due to the short-term nature of the current receivables, their carrying

amount is considered to be the same as their fair value.

Details about the Group's impairment policies and the calculation of the

loss allowance are provided in Note 3.1(b).

2.14 Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents
includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks and other short-
term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months

or less.

2.15 Share capital and shares held for Share Award Scheme

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issuance of new shares are

shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Shares held for the Share Award Scheme are disclosed as “Shares held
for Share Award Scheme” and deducted from equity until the shares are

vested or cancelled.

2.16 Trade payables

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided
to the Group prior to the end of financial year which are unpaid. The
amounts are unsecured and are presented as current liabilities unless
payment is not due within 12 months after the reporting period. They
are recognised initially at their fair value and subsequently measured at

amortised cost using the effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EASHHBEMHME &)
POLICIES (continued)

217 License fees payable 217 BIIREE
License fees payable are initially recorded at the fair value, which ENREBRATEISANE  BNAES
represents the present value of the fixed minimum periodic payments to FEREKEERNR 2 BRE - HEEERKA
be made in subsequent years. They are subsequently stated at amortised BEBRM X IR IER AR R ES) o

cost using the effective interest method less payments made.

Interests incurred on license fees payable are charged to the ENEEBEEZ FEERNERXZ LA
consolidated income statement as interest expense. Changes in estimate ReElmk -  BHBESREMTHETR
of the expected cash flows are recognised as distribution costs in the REWmE TP ERABLHEKAN - LIEF]TE
consolidated income statement. The revised expected cash flows are HMBEeRENAREAMFELYRE - LG
discounted using the original effective rate to arrive at the carrying LB EREE -

amount of the liability.

2.18 Contract liabilities LI8ENERE
A contract liability is recognised when the Group has received 7N ER B A T o ) 2 1) A B A ol AR T JE 1R
considerations from the customers before the control of the goods HARWIBEFHRER  eERAEHE
transferred or the services rendered. i

2.19 Current and deferred income tax 219 BPER 2 IR AE 1S 45
The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax payable on HANFEHRAS B R IE A M ERB
the current period's taxable income, based on the applicable income tax WARER AR ERAGHREEND
rate for each jurisdiction, adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and BIE - WERMEERABSANEEE
liabilities attributable to temporary differences and to unused tax losses. EILREHIAEERBELBEL AR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.19 Current and deferred income tax (continued)
(@) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the
tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet
date in the countries where the Group and its subsidiaries operate
and generate taxable income. Management periodically evaluates
positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which
applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes
provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to

be paid to the tax authorities.

(b) Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method,
on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated
financial statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill.
Deferred income tax is also not accounted for if it arises from initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a
business combination that at the time of the transaction affects
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss and does not give rise
to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences. Deferred
income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period
and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax

asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EASHHBEMHME &)

POLICIES (continued)
219 BNEA R IEAE FT 1S H% (48)
(b) IEIEFTSHE (&)

2.19 Current and deferred income tax (continued)

(b) Deferred income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable that future
taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary

differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for temporary
differences between the carrying amount and tax bases of
investments in foreign operations where the Group is able to
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and
it is probable that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable

future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to offset current tax assets and liabilities and
when the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation
authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where the
entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends either to
settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability

simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to the
extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised

in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.
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220 EERF)
(a) JEHREE

2.20 Employee benefits

(@) Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries that are expected to be settled
wholly within 12 months after the end of the period in which the
employees render the related service are recognised in respect of
employees’ services up to the end of the reporting period and are
measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities
are settled. The liabilities are presented as current employee benefit

obligations in the balance sheet.

BT EEBREEERSNHRR2
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.20 Employee benefits (continued)
(b) Pension obligations

The Group contributes on a monthly basis to various defined
contribution retirement benefit plans organised by relevant
municipal and provincial governments in the PRC. The municipal
governments undertake to assume the retirement benefit
obligations of all existing and future retired employees under these
plans and the Group has no further obligation for post-retirement

benefits beyond the contributions made.

In Hong Kong, the Group makes contributions to the scheme under
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes (“MPF") Ordinance, the
assets of which are generally held in separate trustee-administrated
funds. The pension plans are generally funded by payments from
employees and by the Group. There is similar pension scheme in

South Korea to which the Group also makes contributions.

The Group's contributions to these defined contribution plans are
expensed as incurred and not reduced by contributions forfeited
by those employees who leave the plans prior to vesting fully
in the contributions. The Group has no other post-employment

obligations under the employment contracts.

The abolition of the use of the accrued benefits derived from
employers’ “mandatory” contributions to MPF and the Occupational
Retirement Schemes (“ORSQ") to offset the long service payment
("LSP") and severance payment (the "Amendment”) accrued
from the transition date (no later than 2025) was enacted on 17
June 2022. As the LSP is a defined benefit plan, the Amendment
changes the employer's legal obligation which is considered as
a plan amendment under IAS 19. As the Group only has very few
employees who are in the scope of the Amendment, the Group is
of the view that the Amendment will have immaterial impact to the

Group's financial position and performance.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

2.21 Share-based compensation

Share-based compensation benefits are provided to employees via Share
Award Scheme. Information relating to the schemes is set out in Note
28. The fair value of the services received in exchange for the grant of
the restricted shares is recognised as an expense. The total amount to be
expensed is determined by reference to the fair value of the restricted
shares granted as at grant date, excluding the impacts of any service
and non-market performance vesting conditions, when applicable. The
total amount expensed is recognised over the vesting period, which is
the period over which all of the specified vesting conditions are to be

satisfied.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimates
of the number of shares that are expected to vest based on the non-
market vesting conditions. It recognises the impact of the revision of
original estimates, if any, in the consolidated statement of profit or loss

and other comprehensive income with a corresponding adjustment to

equity.

The proceeds received net of any directly attributable transaction costs
are credited to share capital (nominal value) and share premium when

the shares are exercised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.22 Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or
receivable, and represents amounts receivables for goods supplied or
serviced provided, stated net of discounts and the relevant business

taxes or value added taxes.

(a) Sale Of goods — retail store sales and roboshop sales

The Group operates a chain of retail stores and roboshop machines
for selling pop toys. Revenue from sales of goods are recognised
when the control of the product has transferred to the customer.
There was no right of return for the sales to the end customer.
Retail sales are usually settled in cash, by credit/debit cards or

through online payment platforms.

Despite that a majority of roboshop machines are directly operated
by the Group, certain roboshop machines are operated by third
party roboshop partners where the Group grants roboshop partners
the right to operate roboshop machines for selling pop toys for
a period of two years. Roboshop partner acts as an agent of the
Group rather than the principal in the transaction since roboshop
partner is not primarily responsible for fulfilling the promise to
provide the pop toys to the customers, does not take inventory risk
and has no pricing latitude. Hence roboshop partners do not obtain
the control of goods before they are transferred to the customer.
Revenue is recognised when control of the products has transferred
to the customer, and the commissions to roboshop partners is

charged to “distribution and selling expenses”.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.22 Revenue recognition (continued)

(b) Sale Of goods — online sales

Pop toys are also sold through self-operated online platform or
other third-party e-commercial platform and revenue is recognised
when the control of the products has transferred to the customer,
which is the point of acceptance by the customers. Revenue from
these sales are recognised based on the price, net of the estimated
sales discounts at the time of sale. Transactions are settled in
cash, by credit/debit cards or through online payment platforms.
The commissions to the third party e-commercial platform is an
incremental cost to obtaining a contract. The Group apply the
practical expedient to expense the commissions as incurred as the

expected amortisation period is one year or less.

Sale of goods — customer loyalty programme

The Group operates a loyalty programme where retail and online
customers accumulate points for purchases made which entitle
them to discounts on future purchases. A contract liability for the
award points is recognised at the time of the sale. Revenue from
the award points is recognised when the points are redeemed or
when they expire. During the year ended 2022, the points expire at
the end of each six months from the date on which the initial sales

occurs.

A contract liability is recognised until the points are redeemed or

expired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.22 Revenue recognition (continued)

(d) Sales of goods — wholesale

POP MART

Revenue are recognised when control of the products has
transferred, being when products are delivered to the wholesaler,
the wholesaler has full discretion over the channel and price to sell
the products, and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect
the wholesaler's acceptance of the products. Delivery occurs when
the products have been shipped to the specified location, the risks
of obsolescence and loss have been transferred to the wholesaler,
and either the wholesaler has accepted the products in accordance
with the sales contract, the acceptance provisions have lapsed, or
the Group has objective evidence that all criteria for acceptance

have been satisfied.

As receivable is recognised when the goods are delivered as this is
the point in time that the consideration is unconditional because

only the passage of time is required before the payment is due.

License fees income

The Group licenses characters to third parties on relevant products
for a period. The income is recognised ratably in the contractual

period.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

2.23 Leases

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding
liability at the date at which the leased asset is available for use by the

Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease components. The
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to the lease and non-
lease components based on their relative stand-alone prices. However,
for leases of real estate for which the Group is a lessee, it has elected not
to separate lease and non-lease components and instead accounts for

these as a single lease component.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide
range of different terms and conditions. The lease agreements do not
impose any covenants other than the security interests in the leased
assets that are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as

security for borrowing purposes.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a
present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net present value of the

following lease payments:

fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any

lease incentives receivable

variable lease payment that are based on an index or a rate, initially

measured using the index or rate as at the commencement date

amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual value

guarantees

the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably

certain to exercise that option, and

payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term

reflects the Group exercising that option.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.23 Leases (continued)

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension options

are also included in the measurement of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in
the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined, which is generally
the case for leases in the Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate
is used, being the rate that the individual lessee would have to pay to
borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the
right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment with similar terms,

security and conditions.
To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free interest rate
adjusted for credit risk for leases held by the Group, which does not

have recent third-party financing, and

makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term, country, currency

and security.

If a readily observable amortising loan rate is available to the individual
lessee (through recent financing or market data) which has a similar
payment profile to the lease, then the group entities use that rate as a

starting point to determine the incremental borrowing rate.

The Group is exposed to potential future increases in variable lease
payments based on an index or rate, which are not included in the lease
liability until they take effect. When adjustments to lease payments
based on an index or rate take effect, the lease liability is reassessed and

adjusted against the right-of-use asset.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance cost. The
finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period so as to
produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of

the liability for each period.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.23 Leases (continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:

the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability

any lease payments made at or before the commencement date

less any lease incentives received

any initial direct costs, and

restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the
asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis. If the Group
is reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset

is depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life.

Payments associated with short-term leases of equipment and vehicles
and all leases of low-value assets are recognised on a straight-line basis
as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease

term of 12 months or less.

(@) Variable lease payments

Some property leases contain variable payment terms that are
linked to sales generated from a store. For certain stores including
fixed and variable rental payment terms, the lease payments are on
the basis of variable payment terms with percentages ranging from
9% to 18% of sales. Variable payment terms are used for a variety
of reasons, including minimising the fixed costs base for newly
established stores. Variable lease payments that depend on sales
are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which the condition

that triggers those payments occurs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.23 Leases (continued)
(b) Modification of lease

A lease liability is remeasured upon a change in the lease
term, changes in an index or rate used to determine the lease
payments or reassessment of exercise of a purchase option. The
corresponding adjustment is made to the related right-of-use

assets.

The Group has adopted Amendment to IFRS 16 - Covid-19-
Related Rent Concessions retrospectively from 1 January 2020. The
amendment provides an optional practical expedient allowing
lessees to elect not to assess whether a rent concession related
to COVID19 is a lease modification. Lessees adopting this election
may account for qualifying rent concessions in the same way as
they would if they were not lease modifications. The practical
expedient only applies to rent concessions occurring as a direct
consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic and only if all of the
following conditions are met: a. the change in lease payments
results in revised consideration for the lease that is substantially the
same as, or less than, the consideration for the lease immediately
preceding the change; b. any reduction in lease payments affects
only payments due on or before 30 June 2021; and c. there is no

substantive change to other terms and conditions of the lease.

The Group has early adopted Amendment to IFRS 16 — Covid-19-
Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021, which extended
the practical expedient to lease payments that were due on or
before 30 June 2022.

The Group has applied the practical expedient to all qualifying

COVID-19-related rent concessions.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

2.24 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value where
there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be received, and the

Group will comply with all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to expenses are deferred and recognised in
the profit or loss or deducted against related expenses over the period
necessary to match them with the expenses that they are intended to

compensate.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income over the period necessary to match them with the costs that

they are intended to compensate.

2.25 Interest income

Interest income from financial assets at FVPL is included in the "Other

gains — net".

Interest income is presented as finance income where it is earned from
financial assets that are held for cash management purposes, see Note 9

below. Any other interest income is included in other income.

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to
the gross carrying amount of a financial asset except for financial assets
that subsequently become credit-impaired. For credit-impaired financial
assets the effective interest rate is applied to the net carrying amount of

the financial asset (after deduction of the loss allowance).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.26 Dividends

Provision is made for the amount of any dividend declared, being
appropriately authorised and no longer at the discretion of the entity, on
or before the end of the reporting period but not distributed at the end
of the reporting period.

2.27 Earnings per share
(i) Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing:

the profit attributable to owners of the Company, excluding

any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares

by the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for bonus
elements in ordinary shares issued during the year and

excluding treasury shares.

(ii) Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the

determination of basic earnings per share to take into account:

the after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs

associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares, and

the weighted average number of additional ordinary shares

that would have been outstanding assuming the conversion of

all dilutive potential ordinary shares.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risks

(including foreign exchange risks and cash flow/fair value interest rate

risks), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's overall risk management

programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and

seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's financial

performance.

Risk
B

Exposure arising from

BRSO EER

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

3 HKEARER

3.1

BB EREE

REBHEEEE@ESEYER
% misER (BRERIMNERR MRS
B/ RTEFERRR) - FEERRRR
PETER AEENEERRERE
AEEER SRS ERNNE
NREGE RN EE I B EENEETH

FERERE -

Measurement

FFEAR

Market risk — foreign
exchange

misEE — SME

Credit risk

EERR

Liquidity risk

MENE & AR

(@) Market risk

Financial assets and liabilities denominated in foreign

currency different from its functional currency.

NEHIN g BT RMINEHENEREERAE -

Cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, financial assets

at FVPL, trade receivables and other receivables.

RehkR2EEY  XRHRE - RAFEFABZED
TREE - B 5 RUGRIE R E MR

Financial liabilities

THAE

(i) Foreign exchange risk

The Group's businesses are principally conducted in RMB,

which is exposed to foreign currency risk with respect to

transactions denominated in currencies other than RMB.

Foreign exchange risk arises from recognised assets and

liabilities and net investments in foreign operations. The Group

did not enter into any forward contract to hedge its exposure

to foreign currency risk for the year ended 31 December 2022

and 2021.

(a)

Cash flow forecasting
Sensitivity analysis
ReRETFAGRM DT

Aging analysis Credit
ratings

FREE D ITIE B AT

Rolling cash flow forecasts

BB RERM

™5 E K
(i) SMEE 2
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BmERMET
3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 BIBERERE @)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 BIEMEE (£)
(@) Market risk (continued) (a) TIBEE (&)
(i) Foreign exchange risk (continued) (i) SMEREE ()
Exposure [ fx g
The Group's exposure to foreign currency risk as 31 December AREEM2022F12 431 HAYHNEE
2022, expressed in RMB was as follows: RO (AARBTIR) 0T
31 December 2022 31 December 2021
2022%12A31H 20215124318
usbD HKD usD HKD
T BT E BT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTRT AR®BTR  ARBTT ARBTT
Cash and cash equivalents RekALEEY 51,161 3,234 311,810 444,479
Financial assets at fair value ZRTAER ABEA
through profit or loss TREE - 12,829 - 20,544
License fees payables JER RS (29,504) (87,887) (13,719) (21,986)
Sensitivity RS
As shown in the table above, the Group is primarily exposed to MERAAT  AEBEZEEET
changes in USD/RMB and HKD/RMB exchange rates. HARBEER B TH AREREX
E‘ °
Impact on post tax profit
HBRBHERFN
For the year ended 31 December
BZ12A3ALEE
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET ARBTT
USD/RMB exchange rate — increase 10% ETHAREEE — EF10% 1,624 22,357
USD/RMB exchange rate - decrease 10% 70 ARBER — TE10% (1,624) (22,357)
HKD/RMB exchange rate — increase 10% BITHAREER — EF10% (5,387) 33,228
HKD/RMB exchange rate — decrease 10% /&0 AREIER — TFE10% 5,387 (33,228)
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(a) Market risk (continued)
(ii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

Financial assets and liabilities at fixed rates expose the Group
to fair value interest-rate risk while financial assets and liabilities
at floating rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate

risk.

The Group's income and operating cash flows are substantially
independent of changes in market interest rates as the Group
has no material assets/liabilities bearing significant interest.
The Group currently does not hedge its exposure to interest

rate risk.

(b) Credit risk

Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalent, financial assets at
FVPL as well as credit exposures to wholesale and retail customers

including outstanding trade and other receivables.

(i) Risk management

Credit risk is managed on group basis, except for credit risk
relating to accounts receivable balances. Each local entity is
responsible for managing and analysing the credit risk for each
of their new clients before standard payment and delivery
terms and conditions are offered. The Group's credit sales
are only made to customers with appropriate credit history.
The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk. The
carrying amounts of cash and bank balances, financial assets
at FVPL, trade receivables and other receivables represent the
Group's maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to financial

assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

(i) Risk management (continued)

POP MART

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, all the bank deposits
are deposited in or managed by state-owned or reputable
commercial banks which are all high-credit-quality financial

institutions without significant credit risk.

For retail and online sales, trade receivables mainly include
credit card receivables and receivables from third-party
payment platform receivables. The management of the Group
believes the credit risk is limited because the deposits in transit
was held by high-credit-quality financial institutions or other
third parties. There has been no recent history of default in
relation to these financial institutions and third parties, the

credit risk inherent in such trade receivables is low.

For trade receivables due from wholesalers, the management
assesses the credit risk quality of the wholesalers based on
their financial positions, past experience, expected loss rates
based on the payment profiles of sales and other factors. The
Group has policies in place to ensure credit terms are granted
to reliable wholesalers. The Group’s historical experience in
collection of receivables falls within recorded allowances and
the directors are of the opinion that adequate provision for

uncollectible receivables has been made.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HKEBERE @)
3.1 MEREE (%)
(b) EERE (&)

(i) ZFEERE

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

(ii) Impairment of financial assets

The Group has two types of financial assets that are subject to

IFRS 9's new expected credit loss model.

trade receivables, and

other receivables

While cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash are
also subject to the impairment requirements of IFRS 9, the

identified impairment loss was immaterial.

Trade receivables

The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measure
expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss
allowance for all account receivables. To measure the expected
credit losses, account receivables have been grouped based on

shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due.

The expected loss rates are based on the payment profiles
of sales over a period and the corresponding historical credit
losses experienced within this period. The historical loss rates
are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking information
on macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the

customers to settle the receivables.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HKEBERE @)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 BiEREE (&)
(b) Credit risk (continued) (b) EERK (&)
(ii) Impairment of financial assets (continued) (i) EMEERE (&)
Trade receivables (continued) 25 rEWGRE (8)
On that basis, the loss allowance as at 31 December 2022 and FEMERE  ZUTHEEEE
2021 was determined as follows for trade receivables: JEU FRIB R 2022F 202112 A
3TBER BB EEE -
31 December 2022 2022412 HA31H
Over

Provision on collective basis 0-90 days 91-180 days 180 days Total
RERBEERE 0290k 91ZF180Kk 180KLLL et
Lifetime expected credit ZHIFEHEEEIEX

loss rate 0.46% 17.28% 100.00% 3.62%
Gross carrying amount RERE(E 181,339 16,759 3,562 201,660
Loss allowance R (833) (2,896) (3,562) (7,291)
31 December 2021 2021%12A31H

Over

Provision on collective basis 0-90 days ~ 91-180 days 180 days Total
REBEERE 0ZE90KX  91E180Kk 180K E HEET
Lifetime expected credit ZHITEHE E R IE R

loss rate 0.53% 5.11% 100.00% 1.83%
Gross carrying amount RERE(E 162,250 10,476 1,802 174,528
Loss allowance EtE R (857) (535) (1,802) (3,194)

Trade receivables are written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery include, amongst others, the failure of
a debtor to engage in a repayment plan with the Group, and
a failure to make contractual payments for a period of greater

than 180 days past due.

Impairment losses on trade receivables are presented as
net impairment losses within operating profit. Subsequent

recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited

against the same line item.

b2 3 POP MART |  POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED @i 4sEp: s EAR A &

B 5 W GIRN I A IR Y B FE A
gy - I Mm-S IR EFEEN TR
BE (AP EHE) B ARERR
SEZERENGE - ARREHE
i#B180 KA HAR AR BEIEH & M1

=
oo

5 R FOR R EEREL S5
MG R ER R - BER YT
B LRI E SR AR —IER °




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FREMBMRME
3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 BIBERERE @)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 BIEMEE (£)
(b) Credit risk (continued) (b) FERK (&)
(ii) Impairment of financial assets (continued) (i) EMEERE (&)
Other receivables o fth & YR 1E
Other receivables mainly include deposits for lease. The HtEWHEEZREHEERS -
management of the Group makes periodic collective AEFERETHRBERELEED
assessments as well as individual assessment on the 8 N2 1T A GRS H A FEUGRIB RO AT
recoverability of other receivables based on historical U o] 14 3 77 8 — &1 1 LA K2 {R 51 5F
settlement records and past experiences. The Group measures e AEEFREAOBE([EL
credit risk using Probability of Default (“PD"), Exposure at W] BAORR#H O ([ELHE
Default ("EAD") and Loss Given Default (“LGD”"). This is similar gk 0 ) RERBAE ([ENIE
to the approach used for the purposes of measuring Expected KEDT2EERR - EHBERE
Credit Loss (“ECL") under IFRS 9. B S R E oK IE N 5T =78 5

FEEEBER((RBREEEBER]D MA
TR -

Other receivables that are not credit-impaired on initial - UATERFREAEERED
recognition are classified in ‘Stage 1’ and have their credit HMEWRRIBE DA BER
risk continuously monitored by the Group. The expected VJEASESRHERZEE
credit loss is measured on a 12-month basis. ERk - HAMEEEER 2

FESS S

If a significant increase in credit risk (specifically, when - MR R fﬁ?‘fﬁﬂégﬁt
the debtor is more than 1 day past due on its contractual mABEMN(EENS - ER
payments) since initial recognition is identified, the BARE DR @HH AP
financial instrument is moved to ‘Stage 2’ but is not yet B eRMIEWBE[RE
deemed to be credit-impaired. The expected credit loss is 2] BMRWRAREEEREE
measured on lifetime basis. BE - HEEEEEREET

BHEETE o

If the financial instrument is credit-impaired (specifically, - MemMIAZAEEERE(A
when the debtor is more than 90 days past due on its BmE  2EBANEHMNK
contractual payments), the financial instrument is then BHEo0ORIA L) - Alem T A
moved to ‘Stage 3". The expected credit loss is measured WHRE[RE3] - BEEEE
on lifetime basis. BREEFEREENE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

(i) Impairment of financial assets (continued)

POP MART

Other receivables (continued)

In view of the history of cooperation with the debtors and

collection from them, the management of the Group believes
that all of the Group's other receivables are classified in Stage 1
as at 31 December 2022 and 2021, and the credit risk inherent

in the Group's outstanding other receivables is not significant.

2021 were 1.14% and 1.13% respectively.

The average loss rate applied as at the 31 December 2022 and

Net impairment losses on financial assets recognised in profit

or loss

BERER &)
3.0 BIREREE (2)
b) EERB ()

(i) EMEERE (&)

HAtb e R (48)

ERBTLEEBASERRER
AW AEBEBEERE A%
EFATAH A EUGRIER 2022F &
202112 31 AN AR -
AR ERERE 2 Kb B IER
BREERBILTERKX - 72022
FR2021F128318  FHEIE
RSB A1.14% K% 1.13% e

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2022 2021
2022%F 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AEBTTT
Impairment losses: RERE :

Impairment losses on trade receivables B 5 RUWGRIBREE 18 4,097 929
Impairment losses on other receivables At JE U R IB R (B B 18 403 506

Provision for impairment on SHMEEREBERE
financial assets 4,500 1,435
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 BEREE 2
3.0 BIREREE (2)
(c) RBELE

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(c) Liquidity risk

The Group aims to maintain sufficient cash and cash equivalents.
Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying business, the Group's
finance department maintains flexibility in funding by maintaining

adequate cash and cash equivalents.

Cash flow forecasting is performed by the finance department of
the Group. The finance department of the Group monitors rolling
forecasts of the Group's liquidity requirements to ensure it has
sufficient cash to meet operational needs as well as the liabilities to

other parties.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities into
relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the
balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts

disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

FREEGEHFBEANRERRES
By AR EEERBNSEEE - &
SENMBREEETREANET N
ReFEMRERESNTRNE -

ReRETRR AL EY B EBET -
REBUBHERAEERPESH
REPRB TN - ARREEEHHE
SR MBELERTKAREEMITH A

& o

TREBEEBZANIBEOR &
HIR  SAEENSRAERREH
B MEETON - RPBEENS
HRAWARBARERE -
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POP MART

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(c) Liquidity risk (continued)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

BERER &)
3.0 BIREREE (2)
© FREBELEAK (&)

Between Between Total
Less than 1and 2and  Morethan contractual Carrying
1 year 2 years 5 years 5years  cash flows amount
eNRE
SPR-& -ZWE WERIE  EFENE  REAE BEE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARMTRE AR%TR AR¥TR AR®TrR AR%®TR AR%Tx
As at 31 December 2022 2022612 4318
Trade payables B ERNFE 259,006 - - - 259,006 259,006
License fees payables ERRES 133,517 18,391 5,698 1,457 159,063 154,823
Other payables (excluding ~ HAEMFUA
wages, salaries and (TBEIE 2R
other employee benefit HitEERFIAR
and tax payables) [ERTE) 201,871 - - - 201,871 201,871
Lease liabilities HEERE 332,603 219,372 180,698 75,344 808,017 741,131
Total st 926,997 237,763 186,396 76,801 1,427,957 1,356,831
As at 31 December 2021 20214124318
Trade payables B HENTIE 266,098 - - - 266,098 266,098
License fees payables ERES 86,004 28,909 18,806 4935 138,654 132,375
Other payables (excluding ~ HAfEMFUA
wages, salaries and (TBHEIE H2 R
other employee benefit HitEERFIAR
and tax payables) EfIHEIE) 161,939 - - - 161,939 161,939
Lease liabilities HEERE 290,090 213,760 194,131 - 697,981 621,452
Total st 804,131 242,669 212,937 4,935 1,264,672 1,181,864
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3
3.2

3.3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
Capital management

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to safeqguard the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide
returns for owners of the Group and to maintain an optimal capital

structure to enhance owners’ value in the long term.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio
is calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net debt is calculated
as total borrowings less cash and cash equivalents. Total capital is
calculated as ‘equity’ as shown in the balance sheet plus net debt. As at
31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021, the Group has no net debt.

Fair value estimation

This section explains the judgements and estimates made in
determining the fair values of the financial instruments that are
recognised and measured at fair value in the financial statements.
To provide an indication about the reliability of the inputs used in
determining fair value, the Group has classified its financial instruments
into the three levels prescribed under the accounting standards. An

explanation of each level follows underneath the table.

(@) Financial assets and liabilities
(i) Fair value hierarchy

This section explains the judgements and estimates made in
determining the fair values of the financial instruments that
are recognised and measured at fair value in the financial
statements. To provide an indication about the reliability of the
inputs used in determining fair value, the Group has classified
its financial instruments into the three levels prescribed under
the accounting standards. An explanation of each level follows

underneath the table.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)
(a) Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

(i) Fair value hierarchy (continued)

3 BEREE 2

3.3 A EMREE (&)
a) TREEREE (E)

(i) 2FEERE

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
B B2 &3 st
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT AR®TR AR%®Tr AR%Tx
As at 31 December 2022 72022512 431
Financial assets at fair value Tﬁﬂ$ﬁuf7@§ﬁnﬁ'}i|ﬂ§§
through profit or loss
~ Investment in associates —BRATEFABRN
measured at FVPL BERRRE - - 231,808 231,808
- Private equity fund investments ~ — FAERIEESIRE - = 181,871 181,871
- Other unlisted investments —HthIELETRE - - 45,355 45,355
- Listed equity securities-stock — FIRARES - RE 12,829 = = 12,829
Total ey 12,829 - 459,034 471,863
As at 31 December 2021 720215 12A31H
Financial assets at fair value BATESABRNSRERE
through profit or loss
~ Investment in an associate — RO ERABRS
measured at FVPL BenRRE - - 207,763 207,763
- Private equity fund investments ~ — AAEREESIRE - - 95,636 95,636
- Other unlisted investments —HthIELETRE - - 25,289 25,289
— Listed equity securities-stock — FTRAES - RE 20,544 - - 20,544
Total ey 20,544 - 328,688 349,232
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
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e MBRRME

BRRER &)
3.3 A EMREE (&)
) TREERARE (&)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3
3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

(a) Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

(i) Fair value hierarchy (continued)

The Group analyses the financial instruments carried at fair
value by valuation method. The different levels have been

defined as follow:

Level 1: The fair value of financial instruments traded in active
markets (such as publicly traded derivatives, and equity
securities) is based on quoted market prices at the end of the
reporting period. The quoted market price used for financial
assets held by the Group is the current bid price. These

instruments are included in level 1.

Level 2: The fair value of financial instruments that are not
traded in an active market (for example, over-the-counter
derivatives) is determined using valuation techniques which
maximise the use of observable market data and rely as
little as possible on entity-specific estimates. If all significant
inputs required to fair value an instrument are observable, the

instrument is included in level 2.

Level 3: If one or more of the significant inputs is not based
on observable market data, the instrument is included in level
3. This is the case for private equity fund investment, other
unlisted investments and investment in associates measured at
fair value through profit or loss. Further details of the Group’s
financial assets and financial liabilities that are measure at fair

value using level 3 inputs are given in Note 3.3(a)(ii) below.

=T == F 55 ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

(a) Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

(i) Fair value measurements using significant unobservable

POP MART

inputs (Level 3)

There were no transfers between the levels of fair value

hierarchy during this year.

The following table presents the changes in level 3 items for
the periods ended 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021:

3 MBEREE®)
3.3 AFEME (&)
() ERMEERERE (4)
(i) EAEA T A BRI B 1%

ETRFENE (BR3)
FRNATEBRZ ML EES -

TRINFEHRIEE REE2022F
128318 &2021%12 831 H L8
BESE-EE

Invesment in
[nvestment in Wealth
associates Other Private Management
measured unlisted equity fund Products
at FVPL investments investments ("WMPs") Total
BROFEA BHER
B EN Bt L nERE  [BMER))
BENTRE k& E¢RE R& szt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARBTT
Opening balance at 1 January 2022 RA2E1B1BNENRE 207,763 25,289 95,636 = 328,688
Acquisitions Wig 26,250 19,530 31,500 1,437,736 1,515,016
Disposals g - - (1,166) (1,442,358) (1,443,524)
Change in far value LFEEY (2,205) 536 55,901 4622 58,854
Closing balance at 31 December 2022 R0nE12831 ANERES 231,808 45,355 181,871 - 459,034
*includes unrealised gains recognised in profitor * ELERNE AT RERARE HF
loss attributable to balances held at the end of the & EHREIERERUE
reporting period (2,205) 536 55,901 - 54,232

POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED 2554 EIF e BA R A R




3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)
(a) Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

(i) Fair value measurements using significant unobservable
inputs (Level 3) (continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

3 MKARERE®)
3.3 A EMREE (&)
) TREERARE (&)

(i) EHEXT B A B 15
BT FERZ (BAR3) (8)

Invesmentin
Investment in Wealth
associates Other Private Management
measured at unlisted equity fund Products
FVPL investments investments ("WMPs") Total
BRATEHA BHER
BREN  EfFELW nERE [EHER])
NGt RE £ERE ®E &5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR  ARBTT  ARETT  ARETRT  AR%ETR
Opening balance at 1 January 2021 ’2021E1 1 RNEDNBE 16900 - - - 16,900
Acquisitions e 187,176 23,574 95,000 896,795 1,002,545
Disposals L& - - - (912,594) (912,594)
Change in fair value AFEES 3,687 1,715 636 15,799 21837
Closing balance at 31 December 2021 1202112 A31HH
ERGS 207,763 25,289 95,636 - 328,688
*includes unrealised gains recognised in -~ * BIER B R RE 5
profit or loss attributable to balances held K357 &8 ME(E R ERUEH
at the end of the reporting period 3,687 1,715 636 - 6,038
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

(a) Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

3

BRRER &)

3.3 A EMREE (&)

(i) Valuation techniques, inputs and relationships to fair

value

The valuation of the level 3 instruments mainly included

investments in associates measured at fair value through profit

or loss,other unlisted investments, and private equity fund

investments. As these instruments are not traded in an active

market, their fair values have been determined by using various

applicable valuation techniques, including discounted cash

flows and market approach etc..

The following table summarises the quantitative information

about the significant unobservable inputs used in level 3 fair

value measurements:

a) TRMEEREE (&)
(iii) 1B

BAHERELR
FIEAIEFE

B3z HEIAEZZBERAT
B ARG ENBERRRE
Hip3F LB RALEREESR
B o RS LAWENERTIS
EITEE  HATEEBRAZRE
ERGERMN (BRMRESR
BERMGEF)EE °

TREEABARTAT @
S EATTRERARE Y 8
EH

Fair value Range of inputs
AYE BAHEEE
As at 31 December As at 31 December
#12A31H 128318
2022 2021 2022 2021
002F | 00F  Valuation Significant unobservable 202F | 021 Relationship of unobservable
Description RMB'000 | RMBO0O  Techniques inputs inputs to fair value
i ARBTR ARBTT HERE Eﬂ?&%)\% TUREG\UBRATENBR
Private equity fund 181,871 95636 Netasset value (1) N/A N/A NA - NA
investments BESA() R TER | TER  TER
IEREEERE
Investments in associates 17,512 18540 Income approach () | Weighted average cost 18.00% 1800%  Increased or decreased WACC by 10% would
measured at FYPL W0 of capital (WACC') approximately decrease or increase
TTZ@;@ SRR ES METHERHRAR the fair value by RMB687,000
REERAMRE (31 December 201: RMB774000)
MEVEERKAEMG D 10% AT
[ER A SEMDARKe870007
(001 % 128318 - ARE7740007)
Terminal growth rate 2.30% 250%  Increased or decreased terminal growth
BRERE rate by 10% would approximately increase
or decrease the fair value by RMB77,000
(31 December 2021: RMB138,000)
BREBERE AT TRI0% ATE
BEMSESOARE T 0007
(0128318 : AR®1380007)
Revenue growth rate 7.7%- 560%  Increased or decreased revenue growth
WALRE 105.0% | 10380% rate by 10% would approximately increase
or decrease the fair value by RMB693,000
(31 December 2021: RMB138,000)
WABRELASTRI0% AFES
SEMEE D ARB693,0007 (2021 %
128318 - ARB1380007T)

POP MART
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 BEREE 2
3.3 AF{EEFT (&)

a) TREENREE(B)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

(a) Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

(iii) Valuation techniques, inputs and relationships to fair (iii) 1EEF A - By A BU#E R B 43
value (continued) FEEE (&)

Fair value Range of inputs
AYE BAHEEE
As at 31 December As at 31 December
M12A318 #12A318
2022 2021 2022 2021
W0F | 001F  Valuation Significant unobservable 202F | 2021%  Relationship of unobservable
Description RMB'000 | RMBOO0  Techniques inputs inputs to fair value
i ARBTR ARBTT  HERE Eﬂ TERBARE TUREBABBEATENER
214,29 - Market Approach (3) Price to sales('PS') » PS:0.63- NA  Increased or decreased PS by 10% would
RER) Enterprise value tosales | .29 EV/S: oyilid approximately increase or decrease the
(EV/S)~ Discount forlack | 0.30-4.29 fair value by RMBT,645,000
of marketability('DLOM') DLOM: (31 December 2021: N/A)
e pEEEE 20.0%- Increased or decreased EV/S by 10%
HEBHE BY 320% would approximately increase or decrease
R (il £ the fair value by RMB4,759,000
0.63-2.29 (31 December 2021: N/A)
TEE Increased or decreased DLOM by
BEHER 10% would approximately decrease or
% increase the fair value by RMB3,124,000
0.30- 4 29 (31 December 2021: N/A)
A EAS T 0% - ATERENS
@ﬁﬁﬂ’.} WOBARE 6450007 (20215128
fR%: 38 MER) AR EEEREEN X
200%- FAATRI0% - DFEREMLHS
32.0% BAREATS90007T (2021512831
B AER) BT EEtnEx
ERETRI0% AEERRS
SUEMAARE 1240007 (2015
128318 : FER)

- | 189223 Back-solve from recent | Conversion/redemption/ N/A N/A~ The higher probability of conversion with
transaction price hquwdatlon probability TER NER correspondingly lower probability of
market multiple 8l /BE /FRN it liquidation and redemption, the lower
method (4) the fair value

AR S BRAR mmmn FEREDRAE
TEREEY HE - ATEAE -
Subtotal 231,808 207,763
It
Other unlisted investment 45,355 25289 Market Approach(3) PS* DLOM Ps:0.91- PS:23 Increased or decreased PS by 10% would
EthELTRE MREG) MHE - §Z EE 190 | DLOM:  approximately increase or decrease the
JiEES DLOM: % fairvalue by RMB6,404000 (31 December
0%26% | THEE:  2021:RVB1,107,000) Increased or
m#%: 23 decreased DLOM by 10% would
0.91-1.90 i approximately decrease or increase
BT | EHES  the fairvalue by RMB3124000
BOUA (FEEM% (31 December 201:RMB308000)
gk R A TRI0% - ATERENS
20%-26% AOOARE6 4040007 (0015125
318 : ARE,10700070) B2 it
OISR A TR 0% - ATELE
DFIEMAARES 1240007 (20215
AN AR¥3080007T)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

(a) Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

(i) Valuation techniques, inputs and relationships to fair

value (continued)

(1) The Group determines the fair valuation of its private equity fund
investments as at the 31 December 2022 and 2021 based on the
net asset values of the private equity funds with underlying assets
and liabilities measured at fair value as reported by the general
partners of the funds.

(2) The fair value of certain investment in an associate measured
at fair value through profit or loss is determined by using the
discounted cash flow method and unobservable inputs mainly
include assumptions of expected future cash flows and discount
rate.

(3) The fair values of certain investments in associates measured at
fair value through profit or loss and other unlisted investment are
determined by using the market approach and the combination
of observable and unobservable inputs include market multiples
and discount for lack of marketability.

(4) The fair values of certain investments in associates measured at
fair value through profit or loss and other unlisted investment
are determined by using the Back-solve from recent transaction
price market multiple method, in which method the fair value is
determined by the implied equity value derived from a recent
transaction in the respective unlisted company’s equity.

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on

historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future

events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.

The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal

the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a

significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts

of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed

below.

POP MART
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS (continued)

Impairment provision for inventories

The estimation of impairment provision for inventories involves
significant management judgment based on the consideration of
key factors such as aging profile, future sales projection, estimated
future selling prices and selling expenses of the respective inventories.
Management reassesses these estimations of impairment provision for

inventories at each balance sheet date.

Useful lives of Licensed IPs and IP rights

The Group has Licensed IPs and IP rights that are primarily used to
design and sell pop toys. The Group estimates the useful life of these
Licensed IPs and IP rights to be 2-10 years based on the contract and
expected economic benefit. However, the actual useful life may be
shorter or longer than management’s estimate, depending on the
market competition. Periodic review could result in a change in useful

lives and therefore amortisation expense in future periods.

Current and deferred income taxes

There are certain transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The
Group recognises liabilities based on estimates of whether additional
taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is
different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences
will be reflected in the income tax expense and deferred tax provisions
in the period in which such determination is made. In addition, the
realisation of future income tax assets is dependent on the Group's
ability to generate sufficient taxable income in future years to utilise
income tax benefits and tax loss carry-forwards. Deviations of future
profitability from estimates or in the income tax rate would result in
adjustments to the value of future income tax assets and liabilities that

could have a significant effect on the income tax expenses.

Dividends derived from the Company's subsidiaries in mainland China
to foreign investors are subject to withholding tax at the rate of 10%.
The Group regularly assesses its needs to make distributions out of its
subsidiaries in mainland China. In this regard, withholding tax will be
provided in the period in which dividends are distributed or on the
undistributed profits to the extent they are expected to be distributed in

future.

4
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

Management determines the operating segments based on the reports

reviewed by the CODM that are used to make strategic decisions. The

Group's revenue, expenses, assets, liabilities and capital expenditure

are primarily attributable to the sales of pop toys to external customers,

which are considered as one segment. The Group's principal market is

the PRC and its sales to overseas customers contributed to less than

10% of the total revenue. Accordingly, no geographical information is

presented.

Breakdown of revenue by business lines is as follows:

Wz K o3 BB E #

EEEREEIZEZRREFHNNARN
EBRBORROBEREELEN - A%
@E’UH&/\_’\ X BEBBEREAXH
TEHREARAIINSEFHERRIA - &

%&ﬁﬁ 1’\* AEEHNEEMHEF
B EABINEFMEEER TR Ak
B10% ° Bt » WARZ 7| E xR -

REBRE DM RPANT

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T AREFT

Revenue from the Mainland China B A b U 2R
Revenue from retail store sales TEEHEE ke 1,691,112 1,670,174
Revenue from online sales 2 FEE R 1,829,809 1,861,483
Revenue from roboshop sales M2 AT IS SHE WS 378,830 467,815
Revenue from wholesales Ho 2 U 7 263,635 307,464
Subtotal e 4,163,386 4,306,936

Revenue from Hong Kong, Macao, Taiwan BRAE K
and overseas N R

Revenue from retail store sales TEEHESEWE 135,559 3,212
Revenue from online sales iR EHE 90,224 41,162
Revenue from roboshop sales B AR S S E W 15,209 1,988
Revenue from wholesales PrEEU E 212,946 137,353
Subtotal (5 453,938 183,715
Total HBET 4,617,324 4,490,651
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5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT

(continued)

INFORMATION

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

5 WERTHER &

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2022 2021
2022%F 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T AREFT
Revenue 25
Point-in-time AR AR 2 4,617,324 4,490,651
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLEE
2022 2021
20224 20214F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T AREBFT
Revenue Wz
Revenue recognised on a gross basis LR ERE R W = 4,617,324 4,490,651

For the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, no revenue derived

from transactions with a single customer represent 10% or more of the

Group's total revenue.

As at 31 December 2022, the total non-current assets other than financial

assets and deferred tax assets broken down by location is shown in the

table below.

HE2022F K2021F12A31HIEFE - I
ERE—REPHNRPGEENRAEAEE
U ZE10% A E o

R2022F 128318 BREagBEMELR
HEEINBIERBEEZUEMO T
RATR ©

As at 31 December

M12A31H
2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥T T AREETTT
The Mainland China R B K e 1,256,874 1,128,944
Hong Kong, Macao, Taiwan and overseas BRE &EI 84,309 11,613
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POP MART

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

6 EXPENSES BY NATURE

6 EMEITHNAEX

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2022 2021

2022F 20214F

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET ARBTT

Cost of inventories included in cost of sales SEABERANFER AR 1,693,530 1,445,001

Employee benefit expenses (Note 33) EE TR (MisE33) 853,595 669,725

Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 330,124 221,698
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment  #1% - BE &&HEITE (FizE13)

(Note 13) 193,922 161,834
Advertising and marketing expenses BE R EiER s 233,421 157,552
Transportation and logistics expenses g RYImFAE 182,703 141,259
Commissions and E-commerce platform service A& MEEF & RGE

charges 137,070 123,895
Design and license fees Rt REEE 84,026 104,674
Expenses relating to short-term leases and Rt ABEEENHEHEE &

variable leases not included in lease liabilities RIS RN 79,207 86,318
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 14) | EEEE (MiE14) 80,771 51,470
Taxes and surcharges e kM neE 28,027 30,680
Cost of moulds with useful lives within one year AR A —FRAE AR A 18,135 17,155
Commissions to roboshop partners TN THBABEAIERENRS 1,301 6,674
Auditor's remuneration % LA B & 5,893 6,250

- Audit services — BETRTE 4,500 4,500

- Non-audit services — FEEG RIS 1,393 1,750
Impairment of inventory FERE 3,692 1,318
Others HAh 194,397 170,111
Total #BE 4,119,814 3,395,614
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7 OTHER INCOME

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

7 EHA

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2022 2021

2022 20214

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T ARBETTT

License fees income BEBIA 32,498 37,656
Government grants (i) BT 466 8 (0) 11,601 15,353
Promotion Service Fees HERBE 658 740
Others EHfth 815 676
Total HET 45,572 54,425
() The amounts represent government grants related to income which are () FEASERBTHLE  EEEMCELRE

received from the local government for the contribution to the local
economic growth. These grants are recognised in consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income upon the receipt. There are
no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these grants.

8 OTHER GAINS - NET

HERM A ZEFREOBAGRE - %%
SRR SISO RSy BN el G
MR o MBS A A BARER R
HAEIH

8 Hfttz —

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2022 2021
2022 20214F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT ARBTT

Changes in fair value of financial instruments at BRATEFABRNERMIA
FVPL (Note 23) N EZE) (H5E23) 49,479 15,262
Donation BR (3,273) (10,896)
Exchange loss i 55 (556) (3,302)

Impairment loss recognised in respect of property, ~ FL¥IZE BB R RE KX

plant and equipment and right-of-use assets fEREEERRANREEBRE (1,012) -
Others Hith 160 721
Total Bt 44,798 1,785
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

9 FINANCE INCOME - NET

9 MBWA - FHE

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2022 2021

20224 20214F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥T T AREFTT
Finance income B A

- Interest income — FBUA 67,682 28,609
Finance expenses g dcha

~ Interest expenses on lease liabilities —HEBENEMX (34,057) (21,186)

- Interest expenses on license fees payables —EANEEEFNBAX (4,522) (60)

Finance income -net BB — FEE 29,103 7,363

10 INCOME TAX EXPENSE 10 BB X
Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLEE
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T R ARBET T
Current income tax BVERFFS L 194,032 329,090
- Hong Kong profits tax — BEBNEH 438 73
— The Mainland China corporate income tax — B KR ZEMSH 193,594 329,017
Deferred income tax (Note 18) EIEFTSH (F7E18) (30,304) (12,466)
Income tax expense FTiS i 2 163,728 316,624

Cayman Island and BVI Income Tax

(a) HEREREBERESHER

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands and is not subject to the Cayman Island income tax pursuant to
the current laws of the Cayman Islands. The group entity incorporated or
registered under the Business Companies Act of BVI are exempted from

BVI income tax pursuant to the current laws of the BVI.

POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED 2554 EIF e BA R A R
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10 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

(b)

Hong Kong Profits Tax

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million of
profits of the qualifying group entities will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits
above HKS$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of the group
entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will
continue to be taxed at a flat rate 16.5%. Hong Kong profits tax has been
provided at the rate of 16.5% on the Group’s estimated assessable profit
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: 16.5%).

Mainland China Corporated Income Tax (“CIT")

The income tax provision of the Group in respect of operations in
the mainland China has been calculated at the tax rate of 25% on the
estimated assessable profit for the years ended 31 December 2022 (the
year ended 31 December 2021: 25%), based on the existing legislation,

interpretations and practices in respect thereof.

A group entity has been granted certain tax concessions to small
scale entities by tax authorities in the mainland China whereby the
subsidiaries operating in the respective jurisdictions are entitled to tax

concessions.

Mainland China Withholding Tax (“WHT")

According to the applicable mainland China tax regulations, dividends
distributed by a company established in the mainland China to a foreign
investor with respect to profit derived after 1 January 2008 are generally
subject to a 10% WHT. If a foreign investor incorporated in Hong Kong
meets the conditions and requirements under the double taxation treaty
arrangement entered into between the mainland China and Hong Kong,

the relevant withholding tax rate will be 5%.

As at 31 December 2022, the aggregate undistributed earnings of
the Group's subsidiaries incorporated in the mainland China are
RMB2,040,482,000 (as at 31 December 2021: RMB1,715,409,000). In the
opinion of the directors, it is not probable that these subsidiaries will
distribute such earnings in the foreseeable future, and that the Company
has the ability to control the timing of the distribution from these
subsidiaries. Accordingly, despite an assessable temporary difference on
such retained earnings exists, no deferred income tax liability has been

recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

10 R8I (&)

(b)

HBNEH

REMAGFERTESNE  aEREE
ERONE2H BB T M i4iks. 250 X
B M2E S8BT EREFIBIZ16.5%
B R o TREMBH RIS EH
ENEEERNRNGEERR —HX
16.5%HH - BZE2022F 12831 B IEFE
AREE D R AFHERT R AR 16.5%H B X
STRE BT ETIRME (20214 1 16.5%) °

B RRE RS ([REREH )

REE P B KR E R FTIS TR BB IRE
HE2022%12 A31 B IEFEOEFTERM
A 25% (By 2 2021F 12 A3 1A LLEFE ¢
25%) TR RETE - WERPBEKENIRT
E - REREOITE

SERBEAERBEEAR T/ R
BamERNE THKRES  BIEtESS
.

B RBETEINEL ([ BHHE D)

REBEROPBIARERBCENR - EHREX
FERC S M)A RIBERR 20081 A1 B ZRELE
B A RSNE 3R B E 9 IR IR BB B A
M10%EITEHIEL o MR BB AL H SN
BEERRPRREREE MM
ERBGRN L HIETOGRG RFE - 8148
A0 TE TR 2 1 5% o

HZE2022F12A8318 » REBEEFEARE
I EB ARIMAR SRR FIBES
AR #2,040,482,0007T (B E 202112 A 31
H: AR¥1,715409,0007T) - EERA
ZEMBRRATKAIBER A BREA GRS
SR WARQREENEHZE
WEARDEZEFMANEERE - Bitt - @EF
EZERBBNNERTEREEZSE - B
WARREGE B RERBEREAEEEH
B -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)
(d) Mainland China Withholding Tax ("WHT") (continued)

The reconciliation between the Group's actual tax charges and the

amount which is calculated based on the statutory income tax rate of

10 R8I (&)

(d) FREIARREFENS ([FEHB D) (&)

AEENBERVE B ERESBEAREE
TE TS BEAR R 2591 5 & & B8 2 ] &9 S i 4D

25% in the mainland China is as follows: N
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31HLEE
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T R AREET T
Profit before income tax % BT 1S EL A T 639,529 1,171,191
Tax calculated at applicable tax rates of 25% AR R 5% E IR 159,882 292,798
Tax loss for which no deferred income tax asset  RIERIELEFTISHEENTIBER
is recognised 334 440
Share of profit of investments accounted for AEEREZREARMIZEE R
using equity method (6,762) (3,504)
Expenses not deductible for taxation purposes(i) TA[FIFE B 32 () 24,897 35,868
Impact of different tax rate TRBENTE (14,623) (8,978)
Taxation charge HwEA 163,728 316,624

(i)  During the year ended 31 December 2022, expenses not deductible for
taxation purposes mainly include the Share-based compensation expenses
of RMB97,739,000 (2021: RMB147,068,000) (Note 33).

POP MARTJ POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED j&ai5 5Bl = mA R A 5
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11 DIVIDENDS

Pursuant to a resolution passed on 1 June 2022, the shareholders of
the Company approved a final dividend of RMB15.24 cents per ordinary
share of the Company, amounting to RMB209,490,000 (which are net
of the dividend of RMB3,500,000 attributable to the shares held for the
share award scheme) for the year ended 31 December 2021. As at 31

December 2022, all dividends have been paid.

The Board recommended the payment of a final dividend of RMB8.70
cents per ordinary share of the Company issued for the year ended 31
December 2022, representing an aggregate amount of RMB118,980,000
based on the total issued share capital of the Company as of the date
of approval of this consolidated financial statements. In the event of
change in the total issued share capital of the Company before the
record date for dividend payment, dividends will be distributed per

share and the total distribution amount will be adjusted accordingly.

The proposed dividend payment is subject to the approval by the
shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) at the forthcoming
annual general meeting (the "AGM") to be held on 17 May 2023 and is
payable in Hong Kong Dollars based on the official exchange rate of
Renminbi against Hong Kong Dollars as quoted by the People’s Bank of
China on 17 May 2023. Upon Shareholders’ approval, such dividend will
be paid on 8 June 2023 to the Shareholders whose names shall appear

on the register of members of the Company on 29 May 2023.

The proposed dividend is not reflected as a dividend payable in
the consolidated financial statements, but will be reflected as an
appropriation of distributable reserves for the year ending 31 December
2023.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

11 IRE

BIER2022F6 A1 BBBRREE - AR
AR EALERSEZ2021F12A31BIESF
ERPBREERANRLBBARE 1524
D AHEARE209,490,0007C (FIBR LA
MEBMTEFEOROGEEREARKE
3,500,0007T) * 20229128318 FiBR
BEIRE -

EEeEBREAZ202F12ABLEEE
K RERESRAAFTEBITEBRA
R¥8705 « RIBEIZEARIRE VB MEAE
HBRAQAFRBBEITRABEHEHRBAR
#118,980,0007T © AR 2 508% B BART AR
RIBBITRAEHEMES - AIRE KR
BRDIRT DIk A2FEAS B EFHE o

BRRMKREBERAARRE ([BRR])E
120235 A7 ARTHEERRBF
Re ((REBFRE]) LHER - HAlE
T MREERIEFRBIARRITR20234F
SAI7EFMBMARBREBTE HEEN
B o FREHER - AR SERN
202356 A8H AN 202355 A29B A5 AR
AR & A AR BR AT ©

BEKBEBETRRGAEVBEEETRRAE
RS - MR AEZE2023F12831H
IEFERBAN]DIRGERE

—Z =53 ANNUAL REPORT 2022 J POP MART

249



250

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

12 EARNINGS PER SHARE
(a) Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable
to owners of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue less shares held for Share Award Scheme and shares

repurchased during the year ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

12 BIRER

(a)

BREXRER

FRERBAIZEZ2022F &2021F12A8
NEEFE - AEEHEE ARG EFBRNU
B 81T 3 AR Nk T 39 OB s AR 10 SR B AT

EFEnkn 2 EHE -

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2022 2021
20224 20214F
Profit attributable to owners of the Company RAEERAER R (ARETT)
(RMB'000) 475,660 854,339
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in B 1T & @R M F SR D
issue less shares held for Share Award Scheme RENET B A M ARG R E R D
and shares repurchased (in thousands) 2= (F’) 1,365,984 1,377,954
Basic earnings per share BRERERN (ABRARBERT)
(expressed in RMB per share) 0.35 0.62
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

12 8RER (&)
(b) BR#BERF

HZE2022%F12A318K2021F 1283181k
FESREFERANOTEHINNOT

12 EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued)
(b) Dilute earnings per share

The calculation of diluted earnings per share for the years ended 31

December 2022 and ended 31 December 2021 is set out below:

Year ended 31 December

BZ12AALEE

2022 2021
20225 20214F
Profit attributable to owners of NARER ANEEET
the Company (RMB'000) (AREETT) 475,660 854,339
Profit used to determine diluted earnings AR ETE SRS & T 895 H)
per share (RMB'000) (AR%TF7T) 475,660 854,339
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in B 2377 % @ A% hn#E F 9 BURAL (9
issue less shares held for Share Award Scheme BT BIFT R AR K BB B AR 19
and shares repurchased (in thousands) 2 %= (TR 1,365,984 1,377,954
Adjustment for T
— Restricted Shares granted and assumed vested ~— BRI MEBERCEBERES
(in thousands) i (FR) 557 873
Weighted average number of shares for diluted NG EEEZ FIRL 5 INAE T 58
earnings per shares (in thousands) (FhR) 1,366,541 1,378,827
Dilute earnings per share FREE RN
(expressed in RMB per share) (AERAREITERR) 0.35 0.62

For the year ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, diluted earnings
per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number
of ordinary shares outstanding to assume conversion of all dilutive
potential ordinary shares. The Company's potentially dilutive ordinary
shares comprised shares which may be granted and assumed vested
under the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme. A calculation is done to
determine the number of shares that could have been acquired at fair
value (determined as the average annual market price of the Company’s
shares) based on the monetary value of the subscription rights attached
to the outstanding shares granted under the Post-IPO Share Award
Scheme (defined as the “Restricted Shares”). The number of shares
calculated as above is compared with the number of shares that would

have been issued assuming the exercise of the Restricted Shares.

HE202F R2021F12A31BILEFE -
BEEERADABREMEESELENE

TEREERE ARETEN LT BRD
MEFHEAE - ARFABEHEZE
VERRBESREEAAMESERGDSE
BB EETRBREEBHRN - A
RAFRBERBRODEBTEMS  ;TER
TIRBERAFABEEERG ZEFEET
BTOEATEINRG ([ZBR IR 1) BT
RFBRENEBEE  ETIRATE (RN
RARHHFENTITEERE) BERORSD
HE - RIE LA AT SRREERERT
15 ZBR I AR FT 3 1T AR B L 3R -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13 9% - BMERKE
Roboshop Equipment Leasehold Construction-
machines Moulds  and others improvement in-progress Total
BB AR
EEH BE  RERHM HERE rEREIE #ct

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT AR®TR ARMTR ARETR ARBTR ARKT:R

As at 31 December 2021  HA2021%12831H

Cost B 86,988 151,963 33,046 305,207 7,388 584,592
Accumulated R E

depreciation (27,936) (69,633) (8,900) (111,842) - (218,311)
Net book amount REFE 59,052 82,330 24,146 193,365 7,388 366,281
Year ended HZE20202F

31 December 2022 12A31ALEE
Opening net book FHHREFE

amount 59,052 82,330 24,146 193,365 7,388 366,281
Additions NE 12,021 85,200 10,560 112,007 59,564 279,352
Depreciation charge heEgHA (17,263) (60,600) (8,129) (107,930) - (193,922)
Impairment for B EERE

fixed assets - - - (467) - (467)
Disposal & - (1,730) (242) (588) - (2,560)
Currency Translation ErBEEE

Difference - - 20 180 - 200
Closing net book FREEMFE

amount 53,810 105,200 26,355 196,567 66,952 448,884
As at 31 December 20225

2022 12A31H
Cost DN 99,009 196,705 43,071 414,416 66,952 820,153
Accumulated REE

depreciation (45,199) (91,505) (16,716) (217,382) = (370,802)
Impairment for B EERE

fixed assets - - - (467) - (467)
Net book amount BREEE 53,810 105,200 26,355 196,567 66,952 448,884
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13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

13 %  BERSRE®)

Roboshop Equipment Leasehold Construction-
machines Moulds and others improvement in-progress Total
HEABE
ERH BE ek EM HEEE HEIR st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR#®TFT ARBTT ARBTIT ARBTIT ARBTT ARET:R
As at 31 December 720204
2020 12A31ALEE
Cost (BN 66,110 95,187 20,494 146,944 - 328,735
Accumulated REE
depreciation (14,467) (20,312) (5,161) (50,470) - (90,410)
Net book amount REFE 51,643 74,875 15,333 96,474 - 238,325
Year ended HE200F
31 December 2021 NANBLEEE
Opening net book FHEEFE
amount 51,643 74,875 15,333 96,474 - 238,325
Additions =Y 20,878 82,225 13,355 166,556 7,388 290,402
Depreciation charge NEER (13,469) (74,770) (4,424) (69,171) - (161,834)
Disposal HE - - (118) (494) - (612)
Closing net book FREEFE
amount 59,052 82,330 24,146 193,365 7,388 366,281
As at 31 December 2021 R2021412A31H
Cost B 86,988 151,963 33,046 305,207 7,388 584,592
Accumulated ZEHE
depreciation (27,936) (69,633) (8,900) (111,842) - (218,311)
Net book amount REFE 59,052 82,330 24,146 193,365 7,388 366,281
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

(@) Depreciation on property, plant and equipment has been
charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income as follows:

13 %  BERSRE®)

@ ME BEARBHECEFAER
REMZEWRERME - TR

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2022 2021

2022 20214

RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARBT ARBETTT

Cost of sales THERA 60,600 74,770
Distribution and selling expenses LI RIEERE 126,993 82,640
General and administrative expenses —MRITE R X 6,329 4,424
193,922 161,834
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HREMBRERM T
14 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 14 B EE
Licensed IPs
(Note a) IP rights Software Goodwill Total
REP

(KizEa) IPERE B aE st
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTRT ARBTR AR®TR AR®TR AR%T:R

At 31 December 2021 #A2021%12831H
Cost BN 205,841 19,663 11,010 101 236,615
Accumulated amortisation R (87,496) (11,714) (3,086) - (102,296)
Impairment A (287) - - - (287)
Closing net book amount FRE@TEE 118,058 7,949 7,924 101 134,032

Year ended BZE2022F

31 December 2022 12A31BLEE
Opening net book amount FYREFE 118,058 7,949 7,924 101 134,032
Additions RE 77,545 4,777 11,008 = 93,330
Amortisation charge BiHER (73,425) (2,267) (5,079) = (80,771)
Currency translation difference & ##E =55 (87) - - 3 (84)
Closing net book amount FREEFE 122,091 10,459 13,853 104 146,507

At 31 December 2022 A2022%12831H
Cost AR 283,411 24,440 22,018 104 329,973
Accumulated amortisation RETE (161,033) (13,981) (8,165) - (183,179)
Impairment BB (287) - - - (287)
Closing net book amount FRREFE 122,091 10,459 13,853 104 146,507
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

POP MART

14 BEEE (&)

Licensed IPs
(Note a) IP rights Software Goodwill Total
REP
(KizEa) IPER g HE #at
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRE AR®BTR AR%¥TR AR®TR AR%Txn
At 31 December 2020 7A2020%12831H
Cost AR 120,481 19,425 3,616 112 143,634
Accumulated amortisation ERT#H (40,699) (8,335) (1,582) - (50,616)
Impairment A (287) - - - (287)
Closing net book amount FREEFE 79,495 11,090 2,034 12 92,731
Year ended 3 BZE2021F
1 December 2021 128318 LEE
Opening net book amount FYREFE 79,495 11,090 2,034 112 92,731
Additions NE 85,360 238 7,394 - 92,992
Amortisation charge BiEER (46,587) (3,379) (1,504) - (51,470)
Currency translation difference  E#HE =5 (210) - - () (221)
Closing net book amount FREEFE 118,058 7,949 7,924 101 134,032
At 31 December 2021 #A2021%12831H
Cost AN 205,841 19,663 11,010 101 236,615
Accumulated amortisation Rt (87,496) (11,714) (3,086) - (102,296)
Impairment A (287) - - - (287)
Closing net book amount FERIREFE 118,058 7,949 7,924 101 134,032
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14 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Notes:

(@) The amounts represent the exclusive and non-exclusive license rights
obtained by the Group in accordance with the respective license
agreements. Upon initial recognition, the Licensed IPs are recognised at
the present values of the fixed minimum payments with the corresponding
amounts recognised as license fees payables (Note 30).

(b)  Amortisation of intangible assets has been charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STAT
e MR

14 BEEE (&)
st -

EMENTS
R

@ EHSEEAKEREBEEBREDZNEH

BREIFBRERE - RYIEHERIL - REP
ZEFESEMRNRERR  HESEER

RIEMEEE (HFE30) -

b) BREERHCEFABEELEMEZERE

FHB - ITAUR

E\

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLLEE

2022 2021

2022F 20214

RMB’000 RMB'000

ART AREFT

Cost of sales HEKAK 75,692 49,966
General and administrative expenses —RRITHAY 5,079 1,504
80,771 51,470

15 LEASES
(@) Amounts recognised in the balance sheet

The balance sheet shows the following amounts relating to leases:

158
(a) BEEBRABER ZEE

BEBBRITATEEEGHNDE

As at December

MA12H31H
2022 2021
2022%F 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREET T
Right-of-use assets EAEEE
Offices and warehouses WAENEE 213,830 111,814
Retail stores TEE 487,797 497,703
701,627 609,517
Lease liabilities HEAE
Current ED 293,567 256,909
Non-current JERED 447,564 364,543
741,131 621,452
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

15 LEASES (continued)
(@) Amounts recognised in the balance sheet (continued)

Movements on the Group's right-of-use assets are as follow:

15 & (&)

(a) EEEBERABRI 2 (B)

AEBEREEENESIOT

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2022 2021
2022F 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T AEBTTT
At 1 January B1A1H
Cost DN 742,777 452,745
Accumulated depreciation REth & (133,260) (164,946)
Opening net book amount FOREFE 609,517 287,799
Year ended 31 December HZE12A31BLLEE
Opening net book amount FYIREFE 609,517 287,799
Additions nNE 431,235 550,196
Depreciation charge TEER (335,630) (221,698)
Impairment RE (545) -
Lease termination HEZIE (2,950) (6,780)
Closing net book amount FREEFE 701,627 609,517
At 31 December M12831H
Cost D 1,146,056 742,777
Accumulated depreciation 2T E (443,884) (133,260)
Impairment RE (545) -
Closing net book amount FREREFE 701,627 609,517
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

15 LEASES (continued) 15 & (&)

(b) Amounts recognised in the statement of profit or loss and (b) BEkHEMEHKGERER ZESLE
other comprehensive income

The consolidated financial statements show the following amounts FEVBRERIAATEEEEENEE

relating to leases:

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2022 2021
2022 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT ARBEFT
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets FREEENEER
Offices and warehouses MAERERE 66,352 34,149
Retail stores ZEE 269,278 187,549
335,630 221,698
Interest expenses FBEFHZ 34,057 21,186
Expense relating to short-term leases MEHE 2 BRERX
(included in distribution and selling expenses (G A R ERT AR
and administrative expenses) THAY) 38,095 42341
Expense relating to variable lease payments not Kt ATHEBEMNAEEE
included in lease liabilities (included in NRzBERS (GrALHER
distribution and selling expenses) HEMRY) 41,112 43977
The cash outflow for leases as operating activities FEFAKLLFE 2R &R 72,512 88,126
The cash outflow for leases as financing activities MHEFARE TS 2R ERE 323,041 220,126
A 10% increase in sales across all stores in the Group with such variable HZE2022F12A31BLEFE » NEBH
lease contracts would increase total lease payments by approximately BREAEREEHN 2 MEPIERNHEES
RMB10,946,000 for the year ended 31 December 2022 (for the year R10% - BEHEMNREFEMOARE
ended 31 December 2021: RMB14,314,000). 10,946,000 T (B E2021%F12A31BIEF

g AR¥14314,00070) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES

(a) Subsidiaries

16 RITBARNERE

(a) MIEAF

Ownership interest held - held by non-controlling

Ownership interest

by the Group interests
AEEREN FEREREEL
FEERE FrRRER
Issted share/ At 31 December At 31 December
Company name Country/place and date of paid up capital r12A3A m2A3ng Principal activities/
establishment/incorporation Kind of legal entity BRARR/ 2022 01 2022 2000 place of operation
NF4H Ri/#RAYER/ wERAE EEEHEY HRBA | 0nF | wF | wnf | wF  EEER/SEwE
Directly held
E#RAR
Pop Mart (V) Holding Limited The British Virgin Islands (BVI), Limited liabilty company USD 50,000 100% 100% - - Investment holding/BVI
Pop Mart (8V) Holding Limited 10 May 2019 BRAFAH SO000%TC RERE/KBERES
ARERHEE ([ 2BERES))
WI9ESAI0A
Indirectly held
BiEE
Pop Mart (Hong Kong) Holding Limited Hong Kong, 27 May 2019 Limited liabllity company HKD 1 100% 100% - - Investment holding/
Pop Mart (Hong Kong) Holding Limited E% 019F5A27A BREMFLR 17 Hong Kong
REER/ 5%
Beijing Pop Mart Cultural & Creative Corp, — The PRC, 20 October 2010 Limited liabllity company RMB 115,456,278 100% 100% - - Design and sales of
Ltd. (‘Bejing Pop Mart) wE 201010708 EREALR AR 15456,2787 pop toys/The PRC
FROER BB RRAT RRHERRRE/ HE
(R
Beijing Paqu Technology Co, Ltd. The PRC, 21 April 2016 Limited liability company ANIB 1,000,000 100% 100% - - Technology development/
FRERNRARAT RE - 01654A21B RRREAT AR 10000007 The PRC
RiiR% /48
Tianjin Pop Mart Cuttural Communication ~ The PRC, 29 November 2016 Limited liabllity company RMB 5,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
(o, Ltd R 2016%11 A28 BRERDA ARES 0000007 BEWIIA/vE
REDER T BRERAT
Shanghai Paqu Commerce Co, Ltd. The PRC, 21 September 2017 Limited liability company RNB 2,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
HEBBESERAT o8 017%9F21R BREALA ARE10000007 BEMRRA/ 18
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

16 RHIBATIMNIKRE (&)
@) MBAT (4)

16 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
(a) Subsidiaries (continued)

Ownership interest

Ownership interest held - held by non-controlling

by the Group interests
AEEREN FERERERL
FEERE FARER
Issted share/ At 31 December At 31 December
Company name Country/place and date of paid up capital GEHE RLERE Principal activities/
establishment/incorporation Kind of legal entity BRARR/ 2022 01 2022 200 place of operation
NF4H Ri/#RAYER/ wERAE HERHEY HRBA | 0nF | wiF | wnE | wF  EEEE/SEwE
Indirectly held
BiER
Beijing Pop Mart Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 11 October 2017 Limited liabllity company AB 5,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
KREABREERRAT RE - 2017F10A118 HREELT NRHS 0000007 BERRnA/hE
Pop Mart Hong Kong Limited Hong Kong, 27 January 2017 Limited liabilty company HKD 1,000,000 100% 100% - - Overseas operations and
LABREAERAT 5 07E15778 BRAFAF 100000077 sales o pop toys/
Hong Kong
BNEER
HEMRNA /R
Beijing Silai Art Design Co, Ltd(formerly The PRC, 26 April 2019 Limited liabllity company RMB 1,000,000 100% 100% - - Overseas operations and
known as Befjing Pop Mart International R + 2019%4 3267 BREALT ARE10000007C sales of pop toys/
Trading Co, Ltd) The PRC
FREREGRERAA (HRALR BIEER
BEBRERERERAA) HERIRE/HE
Beijing Paquhuyu Technology Co, Ltd The PRC, 8 March 2016 Limited liability company RB 10,000,000 - - - - Intermet technology
KREBEENRERAT - 20165388 RREEAT ARH#100000007T senices/The PRC
B U YA
Shenzhen Pop Mart Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 31 October 2017 Limited liability company RMB 1,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
MIBEEESERAT 8 017104318 BRERRA ARE1 0000007 BEWRnA/HE
Chengdu Pop Mart Trading Co, Ltd The PRC, 22 November 2017 Limited liability company RMB 1,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
RBnAERERRRAT RE 017511 A28 BRELLE ARH 10000007 BEWRRA/HE
Chongging Paqu Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 23 November 2017 Limited liability company RNIB 1,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
ERHAESERAT oE - 017511 3R FREALA ARE10000007 BERRRA/ 18
Beijing Paqu Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 29 December 2017 Limited liability company RMB 1,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
FREBEFERLA E - 017%1A 198 EREMAA ARE10000007T BERRRA/ 18
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POP MART

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(a) Subsidiaries (continued)

16 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

16 RHIBATIMNIKRE (&)
@) MBAT (4)

Ownership interest

Ownership interest held - held by non-controlling

by the Group interests
AEEREN FERERERL
FEERE FARER
Issted share/ At 31 December At 31 December
Company name Country/place and date of paid up capital GEHE RLERE Principal activities/
establishment/incorporation Kind of legal entity BRARR/ 2022 01 2022 200 place of operation
NF4H Ri/#RAYER/ wERAE HERHEY HRBA | 0nF | wiF | wnE | wF  EEEE/SEwE
Indirectly held
BiEE
Shenyang Pagu Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 1 March 2018 Limited liabilty company ANB 1,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
EREAEEARLA PR 2018F3A18 BREEAT ARH 10000007 BERRnA/HE
Zhengzhou Pop Mart Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 4 April 2018 Limited liability company AVB 1,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
HRnERESERAT hE - 01854848 BREEAT AR 10000007 HERIRE/HE
Qingdao Pop Mart Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 17 April 2018 Limited liability company AVIB 1,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
EBNABRARRLT RE - 01854 A17R RREEAT ARE1,0000007 HERRA/1E
Jiangyi Paqu Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, T May 2020 Limited liabllity company RMB 2,000,00 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
IEEAZHERLT E 20055 1R BREfAR ARE20000007C BEWRnA/hE
Changchun Pop Mart Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 15 April 2020 Limited liabllity company RNIB 1,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
RELAERESERLA RE - 00F4A 158 FREAAT ARH 10000007 BEWRRA/HE
Fuzhou Paqu Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 25 March 2020 Limited liability company RNB 1,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
EIEAE55RAT RE - 00F3A5A FREMAA ARE10000007 BERRRE /08
Haerbin Paqu Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 10 April 2020 Limited liability company RIB 1,000,000 100% 100% - - Salesof pop toys/The PRC
REEREBEERAT R 200F4 108 BRELLE AR 0000007 BEMRAE /hE
Tianjin Paqu Cultural Media Co, Ltd. The PRC, 27 March 2020 Limited liability company RMB 5,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
REEBTLERERAT RE - 00F3A 7R ERERAT ARES 0000007 BEBRAE /0
Xiamen Paqu Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 14 April 2020 Limited liability company RB 1,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
EMERESERAT RE - 00F4A14R FRRHEAT AR 10000007 HEBRAE/hE
Wuhan Pop Mart Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 17 December 2019 Limited liability company RMB 1,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
RENIEEERERAT e 019 12A178 BRREAT AREI10000007 HEHRAE/hE

POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED &B3545EI AR A 5




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

16 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 16 RHIBATIMNIKRE (&)

() MEBRTE (&)

(a) Subsidiaries (continued)

Ownership interest

Ownership interest held - held by non-controlling

by the Group interests
AEEREN FERERERL
FEERE FARER
Issted share/ At 31 December At 31 December
Company name Country/place and date of paid up capital GEHE RLERE Principal activities/
establishment/incorporation Kind of legal entity BRARR/ 2022 01 2022 200 place of operation

NF4H Ri/#RAYER/ wERAE HERHEY HRBA | 0nF | wiF | wnE | wF  EEEE/SEwE
Indirectly held
BiER
Guangzhou Pop Mart Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 06 May 2020 Limited liabilty company ANB 1,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
EMBaBRERERAT R - 0055 A6R BREEAT ARH 10000007 BERRnA/hE
Dalian Pop Mart Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 13 April 2020 Limited liabllity company AVB 1,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
REUHERESARAT RE - 00544138 EREALA ARE10000007T HEWRnA/HE
Shandong Paqu Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 24 October 2019 Limited liability company ANIB 1,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
REEE AR RE - 0195104 4A BRELLR AR 0000007 HEWRE/TE
Guiyang Pop Mart Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 10 January 2020 Limited liabllity company RMB 1,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
BB ARRERESRRAT RE - 0051 108 EREAAT ARE1 0000007 BEWRnA/HE
Xian Pop Mart Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 25 December 2019 Limited liability company RMB 1,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
ERDABRERRRAT E - 0195128258 FREAAT ARH 10000007 BEWRRA /A
Changsha Paqu Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 02 January 2020 Limited liability company RIB 1,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
ROEHERRAT 8 2001 A28 FREALA ARE10000007 BEWInA /A
Taiyuan Pop Mart Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 23 March 2020 Limited liability company RNIB 1,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
AREEERESERAT RE - 003 AR ERERAT AR 10000007 HEWRIE /b
Pop Mart Korea Co, Ltd. (Pop Mart Korea) South Korea, 11 July 2019 Limited liability company KRW 1,500,000,000 80% 80% 20% 0% Sales of pop toys/
Pop Mart Korea Co, Ltd. (Pop Mart Koree) &1+ 019878118 EREALT 15000000008 South Korea

HEBRAA /2H
Foshan Pop Mart Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 7 December 2020 Limited liability company RMB 1,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
BLEREEERERAT RE - 00F12A78 FRRHAT ARE10000007 HEBRE/ hE
Yunnan Paqu Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 4 September 2020 Limited liability company RNB 1,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
EHEBEAARAT R - 00E9A4R BRERAT ARHE10000007 BERRRA/ 18
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

POP MART

(a) Subsidiaries (continued)

16 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

() MEBRTE (&)

Ownership interest held - held by non-controlling

Ownership interest

16 RTBRATINIKRE (#)

by the Group interests
AEEREN FERREREL
FEERE FARER
Issted share/ At 31 December At 31 December
Company name Country/place and date of paid up capital GEHE RLERE Principal activities/
establishment/incorporation Kind of legal entity BRARR/ 2022 01 2022 200 place of operation

NF4H Ri/#RAYER/ wERAE HERHEY HRBA | 0nF | wiF | wnE | wF  EEEE/SEwE
Indirectly held
BiEE
Anhui Pop Mart Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC,15 June 2021 Limited liabllity company RMB5,000,000 100% 100% - - Salesof pop toys/The PRC
RHRAERERAERAR R 2001 %6 A 158 EREALT ARES 0000007 BERRnA/hE
Bejing Pop Mart Technology Co, Ltd. The PRC12 February 2021 Limited liabllity company RMB2,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC

(formerly known as Beijing hE - 00F2A1A BREFLR ARE20000007C HEWTRE/$E

Longtengjiamao Trading Co, Ltd)
FREERR R ERAT

(BRIt RERERRARRAT)
Beijing Pop Mart Paradise Management The PRC,18 August 2021 Limited liabllity company RMB10,000,000 100% 100% - - Playground/The PRC

Coltd 8 10158A 188 ERERRA ARE100000007 B85 /18
PR REREERRAA
Dongguan Pop Mart Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC.26 January 2021 Limited liabllity company RMB1,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
REINERERERAT 48 1011 A6 BBERLT AR 000007 ELE A
Gansu Paqu Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC,17 May 2021 Limited liabllity company RMB1,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
TERAZHERLT CERPIEY: M ERERRA ARE1 0000007 BEWRnA/HE
Guangxi Nanning Paqu Tradling Co,Ltd. The PRC, 11 August 2021 Limited liabllity company RMB1,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
ERRZEAERARAT R 2001 F8A 11 BREELT ARE1 000007 BEWRnA/HE
Hangzhou Pop Mart Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 29 April 2021 Limited liabllity company RMB1,000,000 100% 100% - - Salesof pop toys/The PRC
MEAEEEAERAT R 2001 F4A 298 BREELT ARE1 000007 BEWRnA/HE
Ningbo Wanxinhuigui Investment Co, Ltd. The PRC, 13 September 2021 Limited liability company RMB100,000,000 100% 100% - - Investment/The PRC
ERmLEBRERRAR 8 01F9A138 BRERLA ARH1000000007 #8/98
Pop Investment Holding Limited The BV, 9 March 2021 Limited liabllity company USD50,000 100% 100% - - Investment/The BVl
BAREERERAT £BEREE 00E3R9H LGN SO000ET K&/ ABERES
Pop Mart (Canada) Co, Ltd. Canada, 11 January 2021 Limited liabllity company CADT 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/Canada
Pop Mart (Canada) Co, Lid. Mex 0% A1H EREALF 1 HERRTA/ MeX

POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED &B3545EI AR A 5




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

16 RHIBATIMNIKRE (&)
@) MBAT (4)

16 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(a) Subsidiaries (continued)

Ownership interest

Ownership interest held - held by non-controlling

by the Group interests

AEEREN FERERERL

FEERE FARER

Issted share/ At 31 December At 31 December
Company name Country/place and date of paid up capital GEHE RLERE Principal activities/
establishment/incorporation Kind of legal entity BRARR/ 2022 01 2022 200 place of operation
NF4H AL/EMALER/ HERES  iREREY HRRA | WnE | F | w0nE | 00F  EBEE/HE4%
Indirectly held
BiEE
POP MART MACAU LIMITED MACAU, 22 November 2021 Limited liability company MOP 25,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/MACAU
POP MART MACAU LIMITED #0011 AR BREEAT B00EFT BEMRnA /9
POP MART NEW ZEALAND LIMITED New Zealand, 3 November 2021 Limited liabllity company NZD1 100% 100% - - Salesof pop toys/
POP MART NEW ZEALAND LIMITED FiEE N A3R ERERLT IRERT NEW ZEALAND
HERINE /HER

POP MART UK LIMITED UK31 August 2021 Limited liabllity company GBP10 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/UK
POP MART LK LIMITED BRI EREAAT 1085 BEWRnA /%8
Pop Mart USA Inc. The USA27 August 2021 Limited liabllity company UsD20 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/USA
Pop Mart USA Inc £8 01E3R7R BREALA WET Hemna /%8
POP MART OCEANIA PTY LIMITED Australia,17 August 2021 Limited liabilty company AUDT,260,000 100% 60% - 40%  Sales of pop toys/Australia
POP MART OCEANIA PTY LIMITED BAHE  0nF8A17R BRERLT 126000057 HEMIRE/ BAHE
Pop Mart (Singapore) Holding PTE. Ltd Singapore, 14 December 2021 Limited liability company 501,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/Singapore
Pop Mart (Singapore) Holding PTE. Ltd Fing - 0n%1A14A ERERLR 100000087 1085 70 HEWRTE /i
Qinghai Paqu Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC23 July 2021 Limited liability company RIB1,000,000 100% 100% - - Salesof pop toys/The PRC
BaRBESARLT AR 201 57A 238 BREFLR ARE1 0000007 HEWRIE /0
Shanghai Paqu Cultural & Creative Corp, Ltd. ~ The PRC21 May 2021 Limited liability company AMB10,000000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
BB ERERAT RE 001557218 FRRAEAT ARE 100000007 HERRA/E
Shanghai Paqu Technology Co,Ltd. The PRC4 November 2021 Limited liability company RB10,000000 100% 100% - - Exhibition Business/The PRC
DEEBHERLT AR 201511 B4R BRELL ARE 100000007 RELH /18
Shijiszhuang Paqu Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC,1T June 2021 Limited liability company RMB,000000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
RRIEBESERAD RE - 01568118 BRERLA ARE10000007 HEBRE/ hE
Wulumugi Pop Mart Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC,14 October 2021 Limited liability company RMB1,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
BRAENNERESERAT RE - 015104148 ERERAT ARE1 0000007 BEBRAE /1
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(a) Subsidiaries (continued)

POP MART

16 RTBRATINIKRE (#)

() MEBRTE (&)

Ownership interest

Ownership interest held - held by non-controlling

by the Group interests
AEEREN FERERERL
FEERE FARER
Issted share/ At 31 December At 31 December
Company name Country/place and date of paid up capital GEHE RLERE Principal activities/
establishment/incorporation Kind of legal entity BRARR/ 2022 01 2022 200 place of operation
NF4H Ri/#RAYER/ wERAE HERHEY HRRA | WnE | F | w0nE | 00F  EBEE/HE4%
Indirectly held
BiEE
Beijing Yifu Trading Co, Ltd The PRC19 January 2022 Limited liability company RMB1,000,000 100% - - - Salesof pop toys/The PRC
Befjing ¥ifu Trading Co, Lid - 0141 B19F EREMAT NRE 0000007 HEBEIA /P
Shanghai Lingzuo Cultural & The PRC,18 April 2022 Limited liabllity company RMB1,000,000 100% - - - Salesof pop toys/The PRC
Creative Corp, Lt - 002548 18E GO NRE 0000007 HEBETA /P

HAREX AR RRAT

POP MART SINGAPORE PTELTD.
POP MART SINGAPORE PTELTD.

POP MART Americas Inc.
POP MART Americas Inc.

POP MART KOREA Holdings CO, LTD.
POP MART KOREA Holdings CO, LTD.
Hainan Pop Mart Trading Co, LTD
BRRAEREEERAA

POP MART TAIWAN Co, LTD
POP MART TAIWAN Co, LTD

Nanjing Paqu Cultural & Creative Corp, Ltd.

HREERERAT

POP MART FRANCE SASU
POP MART FRANCE SASU

Hangzhou Resonance Magic
Technology Co, Ltd.

Hangzhou Resonance Magic
Technology Co, Ltd.

Singapore, 6 January 2022
iR 001 FoR

Americas, 27 January 2022
X8 00F1A0A

South Korea, 24 February 2022
&8 00F2A4A
The PRC21 April 2022

hE - 00548218

TAWANS May 2022
SE 00FS A6

The PRC4 January 2022
RE 2001 A48

FRANCE 6 September 2022
8 00F9A6A

The PRC17 August 2022
8 00F8A 178

Limited liability company
RRERLT

Limited liability company
RRERLT

Limited liability company
RRERLT
Limited liabllity company

RRREAT

Limited liabllity company
LGN

Limited liabllity company

LGN

Limited liabllity company
LGN

Limited liabilty company
BREEAT

SGDI00000 | 100% . B, B
10000003 MR T

- 100% - - -

KRW900000000 | 100% . . B
90000000028

RMBTO00000 | 100% . . B
AR 100000070

TWD6,000,000 60% - 40% -
60000005 4%

RMBTO00000 | 100% - - -
AEE 10000007

Euros 500,000 100% - - _
50000081

RMBTO00000 | 100% - - -
ABE10000007

Sales of pop toys/Singapore

BEWRRA/ Fing

Sales of pop toys/Americas

BERRnA /28

Sales of pop toys/
South Korea

BEMRnA /48

Sales of pop toys/The PRC
HEHRTA /P8

Sales of pop toys/TAWAN
HEMRTA/ 4

Customer service/The PRC

EFRE /08

Sales of pop toys/FRANCE
HERIRE/ 8

Sales of pop toys/The PRC
HEWRE /8

POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED 2554 EIF e BA R A R



16 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(a) Subsidiaries (continued)
None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of the
year.

(b) Non-controlling interests

The total non-controlling interests as at 31 December 2022 amounted
to RMB2,037,000 (As at 31 December 2021: RMB1,824,000). No subsidiary

has non-controlling interests that are material to the Group.

(c) The English name of the subsidiaries are direct translation or translation
of their Chinese name.

17 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

16 RHIBATIMNIKRE (&)

@) MBAT (4)
45 A T B 2 R A A R BT (Al (B R B
\5‘3-; o

(b) FEIEPRIER

M2022F 124318 » SEIERERAARKE
2,037,000 (FA2021F 128318 + ARME
1,824,0007T) ° BB A RHEH AEE
BE AR IR R o

(0 MBARHEXEARETXANEEEE
%E03E -

17 EHAEREARPOKRE

2022 2021
20225 20214F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TT ARETT

Opening balance as at 1 January R ATBRF VIR 61,539 50,380
Elimination of profit i 8 5 ) (2,815) (5,043)
Share of profit for the year DG FE R F 29,861 19,059
Dividends from an associate e SR RHRE (8,538) (2,073)
Currency translation difference BmE 3,286 (784)
Ending balance as at 31 December R12B31 B ERSE 83,333 61,539
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

17 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD (conTINUED)

Details of the Group's joint ventures and associate as at 31 December
2022 and 2021 are as follows:

17 FAERZEZARNKRE @)

R2022F %2021 12 A31H » REEHES
BHENEBENRFBIO TR

Carrying amounts of the
% of ownership interest investment
Place of business) AR E A REREE
country of As at 31 December Nature of the  Measurement As at 31 December
Company name incorporation 28318 Principal activities relationship method 28318
EEn% HME 202 2021 2022 2021
R VAR 002F | 20215 TEEE BAME STEAE 2022F 20215
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARMTR | AR®TR
Nanjing Golden Eagle Pop Mart Co,  The PRC 52% 52%  Sales of pop toys Joint Venture  Equity method 32,571 28313
Ltd. (‘Nanjing Pop Mart") H HERRTE RERE ERE
HREERRERERAA
(MRS
POP MART SOUTH ASIA PTE.LTD.  Singapore 50% 50%  Sales of pop toys Joint Venture  Equity method 12,832 2623
(‘Singapore Pop’) Hns HEBRIA BahE ERE
POP MART SOUTH ASIA PTE. LTD.
(ISingapore Pop )
Pop Mart Japan, Inc. (Japan Pop") ~ Japan 60% 60%  Sales of pop toys Joint Venture Equity Method - 1355
Pop Mart Japan, Inc. ([ Japan Pop]) ~ BZ HERRTE RERE ERE
How2work Limited Hong Kong 25% 25%  Design and sales Associate Equity method 27,363 29,048
How2work Limited B of pop toys BEAT ERE
et REE MR A
DANNITOYS(LONGCHUAN) CO, LTD  The PRC 10% NA  Manufacture of toys Associate Equity method 10,567 -
ARTA (&) BRARF HhE TER REMA /NGl EaE

POP MARTJ POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED j&ai5 5Bl = mA R A 5




17 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD (continued)

(i) Summarised balance sheets of a material investment
accounted for using the equity method

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

17 FAERZEZARNKRE @)

() EREDREARNEARENEESR

BEREE

Nanjing Pop Mart

[EEESiaha kT
As at 31 December
M12A31H
2022 2021
2022%F 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARBETTT
Current assets REEE
Cash and cash equivalents RERREEEY 46,391 31,121
Other current assets Efme&E 17,196 30,017
Total current assets BWREEE 63,587 61,138
Non-current assets EREBEE 45,035 76,049
Current liabilities REBEE
Financial liabilities (excluding trade and THEE(TEREEIHR
other payables) H At 5RI8) 17,946 20,055
Other current liabilities Efnsas 4,461 18,403
Total current liabilities wWREBAE 22,407 38,458
Non-current liabilities ERBERS 23,631 45,240
Net assets EEFE 62,584 53,489
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

17 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD (continued)

(i) Summarised balance sheets of a material investment
accounted for using the equity method (continued)

Reconciliation of above summarized financial information presented
to carrying amounts of the Group's share of interests in a material

investment accounted for using the equity method:

17 FAERZEZARNKRE @)

(i)

EREREARNEARENEER
BEREE (&)

FEXE2IMHBENSERREER S HE
RiEmREAZAENEXIRENREEY RN
T~

Nanjing Pop Mart
[FEEgiah kT
Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2022 2021

2022 F 20214F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥T T AEBTTT

Opening net assets FUEEFE 53,489 32,569
Profit for the year F A A 9,095 20,920
Closing net assets FREEFE 62,584 53,489
Group's share in % REBIEE L 52% 52%
Group's share in amounts REEFEE5E 32,544 27,814
Goodwill e 4,049 4,049
Elimination of unrealised profit S AR 3R s R (4,022) (3,550)
Carrying amount BRE{E 32,571 28,313

POP MARTJ POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED j&ai5 5Bl = mA R A 5




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

17 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE 17 ERREREARNWKRE (&)
EQUITY METHOD (continued)

(i) Summarised statements of profit or loss and other (i) EFRAEZEAENERRENERZRK
comprehensive income of a material investment accounted Hit 2 HE SR PE
for using the equity method

Nanjing Pop Mart
[EapRaba kT
Year ended 31 December

BZ12AALEE

2022 2021
20225 20214F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTT ARETE

Revenue W 259,809 281,488
Depreciation and amortisation PreEe K B8y (15,305) (15,305)
Other cost and expenses HAbR A RS (232,202) (238,436)
Income tax expense PSR (3,207) (6,827)
Profit and total comprehensive income FRBANREZEWSHEEE

for the year 9,095 20,920

Dividends received from a material accounted BEWFREREARENEENRE
for using the equity method
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

17 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE 17 ERREREARNWKRE (&)

EQUITY METHOD (continued)

(iii) Individually immaterial investments accounted for using (iii) FEAEFZEARNENFAERKRE

the equity method

The information below reflects the amounts presented in the financial LA & b} S B B 7RSS (B ) @ 5T IR PR —
statements of the investments accounted for using the equity method BEFEAEDZEARNKRERIBEREF

after alignment with accounting policies of the Group.

FIRHIEHE ©

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTT ARETT

Aggregate carrying amount of individually immaterial

investments accounted for using the equity method

fF AR EARNERNTEKXR
BEMRMEEE 50,762 33,226

Aggregate amounts of the Group's share of profit

for the year

AEBDEFRENEER

Profit for the year F R ) 25,132 8,181
Other comprehensive gains/(losses) for the year FRNEMEERE (EE) 3,286 (784)
Total Comprehensive income for the year FRE2EWEERE 28,418 7,397

POP MARTJ POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED j&ai5 5Bl = mA R A 5




18 DEFERRED INCOME TAX

(a) Deferred tax assets

The balance of deferred tax assets comprises temporary differences

attributable to:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

18 IEIEFTBH
(a) EEEMIEEE
FEREAELROETRMEEZE  HE

)N

As at 31 December

M12A31H
2022 2021
2022%F 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T AREFTT
Lease liabilities HEGE 185,283 155,363
Tax losses HIEEE 63,066 23,942
Accrued expenses FERTFISE 4,275 6,328
Impairment loss BEBE 4,617 2,573
Total deferred tax assets EEREEERE 257,241 188,206
Set-off of deferred tax liabilities in relation TERREEERIERELEHIERE®D)
to right-of-use assets (b) (176,264) (152,653)
Net deferred tax assets EEHEEETFE 80,977 35,553
As at 31 December
M12A31H
2022 2021
2022%F 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T AREFTT
Deferred income tax assets: EEFREHREE !
— to be recovered within 12 months — #1218 A Ak (= 36,422 20,081
— to be recovered after more than 12 months — BREBIE 1218 AU 44,555 15,472
80,977 35,553

—Z =53 ANNUAL REPORT 2022 J POP MART
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

18 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued)
(a) Deferred tax assets (continued)

The movement is deferred income tax assets during the period, without
taking into consideration the offsetting of the balances within the same

tax jurisdiction, is as following:

18 IEIEFAEH (&)
(a) IEIERHIBEE (&)

REF AR — B B R R & 4 a7 0F 35 1R
HINBEMSHEENZEIT -

POP MART

Impairment Lease Accrued

loss  Taxlosses liabilities expenses Total

REBE BIEER HEAE FEEHB st

RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTRT AR¥TR ARBTR AR®ETR AR¥TxR

As at 1 January 2022 72022F181H 2,573 23,942 155,363 6,328 188,206
Credited to the consolidated REEERREMD
statement of profit or loss and ZERERTA

other comprehensive income 2,044 39,124 29,920 (2,053) 69,035

As at 31 December 2022 720228128318 4,617 63,066 185,283 4,275 257,241

As at 1 January 2021 $202151818 1,967 12,088 72,802 8,180 95,037
Credited to the consolidated R BERREMD
statement of profit or loss and FEBERETA

other comprehensive income 606 11,854 82,561 (1,852) 93,169

As at 31 December 2021 20215128318 2,573 23,942 155,363 6,328 188,206

The Group only recognises deferred income tax assets for cumulative

tax losses if it is probable that future taxable amounts will be available

to utilize those tax losses. Management will continue to assess the

recognition of deferred income tax assets in future reporting periods.

As of 31 December 2022, the Group did not recognise deferred income
tax assets of RMB774,000 (2021: RMB440,000) in respect of cumulative
tax losses amounting to RMB3,096,000 (2021: RMB1,760,000). These tax

losses will expire from 2023 to 2027.

POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED 2554 EIF e BA R A R

REEERRAIEEERKERT A F)
ABIEEER 2T IEBERRETEHR
BREE EEERBETHRRRS
HHENELHEREERRBRL - &#ZE
2022F12A318 - AEBEWEZETIE
BB ARY3,096,0007T (20214F + AR
1,760,00070 ) RIELEFMGREE ARE
774,0007T (20214F : AR#440,0007T) ° #Z
EHIEE RN 2023 FE £ 2027 F 2 H -




18 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued)

(b) Deferred tax liabilities

The balance of deferred tax liabilities comprises temporary differences

attributable to:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

18 IEIEFAEH (&)
(b) ELEFIEEE

BEERBREAREREREER  HB
)N

As at 31 December

M12A31H
2022 2021
2022%F 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T AREFTT
Right-of-use assets fEREEE 176,264 152,653
Fair value changes of investments in CREERENTEEZY
financial assets 15,120 -
Set off of deferred tax liabilities in relation TEREEERIEEENIESE
to right of use assets (176,264) (152,653)
Net deferred tax liabilities EERIEEEFE 15,120 -
As at 31 December
M®12A31H
2022 2021
2022%F 20214F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARBT T
Deferred income tax liabilities: EEFfEREARE
— to be settled within 12 months —BR12ERARNEE (804) -
- to be settled after more than 12 months — R 12ERRESE (14,316) -
(15,120) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

18 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued)
(b) Deferred tax liabilities (continued)

The movement in deferred income tax liabilities during the year ended

18 IEFEFRBH (&)
(b) IEERIBEEE (&)
HZE2022F12 831 BIEFEHME - EEAT

31 December 2022 is as follows: SHaEnEEHT
Fair value
changes of
Right-of- investments in
use assets financial assets Total
SREE
ERREEE REQNTFEERD st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TR ARBT R ARBT R
As at 1 January 2022 20221818 152,653 - 152,653
Debited to the consolidated statement of profitor ~ R4RABZ M HA
loss and other comprehensive income 2EMERNR 23,611 15,120 38,731
As at 31 December 2022 R®2022%F12A831H 176,264 15,120 191,384
As at 1 January 2021 7A2021%F181H 71,950 - 71,950
Debited to the consolidated statement of profitor ~ F4RA B R E b
loss and other comprehensive income 2ERERNG 80,703 = 80,703
As at 31 December 2021 ®2021%12831A 152,653 - 152,653

POP MARTJ POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED j&ai5 5Bl = mA R A 5




19 TRADE RECEIVABLES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

19 EZ WA

As at 31 December

R12A831H
2022 2021
2022 F 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET ARBTT
Trade receivables (a) E 5 FEWGRIA ()
— Third parties —§= 110,310 120,273
— Related parties (Note 36(e)) — BT (FisE36(e)) 91,350 54,255
Subtotal NEE 201,660 174,528
Less: provision for impairment allowance (b) B RERE () (7,291) (3,194)
Total trade receivables E S EWRIERE 194,369 171,334

(@) For trade receivables from retail store sales, roboshop sales and
online sales, the amounts are usually settled in cash, by credit/
debit cards or through online payment platforms. For wholesale
transactions, trade receivables are settled within the credit terms as
agreed in sales contracts. The majority of these wholesalers are with
credit terms of 30 to 90 days. Certain customers with good history
and long-term relationship are extended preferential credit terms of

up to 180 days.

RAKETEEHE HBSABEHE
M EHENESREEGEMS @ %
EFEBAFURE - EARERLR
FREBRLEXNFEBEE - g EX
ZME  BREYREREES D%
ENEEHRNGE - KBoRFHE
HHEER30E0KR - HERFE
LREMBERNE TEFPERKZZ180
ANERBEEEY -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

19 TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

(@) (continued)
An aging analysis of the trade receivables based on invoice date is

as follows:

19 EZREWARIE (&)

(a)

(&

REZAHNE ZERZTENER S
M :

As at 31 December

M12H31H
2022 2021
20225 20214F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T AREET T
Within 3 months 3@ A AA 181,339 162,250
3 months to 6 months 3ME A E6(EA 16,759 10,476
Over 6 months 618 A A £ 3,562 1,802
Total et 201,660 174,528

(b) The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measure
expected credit losses which use a lifetime expected loss allowance
for all trade receivables. Note 3.1 provides for details about the

calculation of the allowance.

Information about the impairment of trade receivables and the
Group exposure to credit risk, foreign currency risk and interest rate

risk can be found in Note 3.1.

Movements in allowance for impairment of trade receivables is as

follows:

(b)

REBR AR HREERFRE
e At ERHEEEER %758
FEESRYEAERZHBEREE
B o M3 R AR BREET E N

I& o

BB S BUGRAEBEARASEER

EREV (= B R R - S0 EE LB K N 2 R B

MWER - FRRMTE3 -

I REFIRNREREBEZESNT

Year ended 31 December

BZ12AALEE

2022 2021

20224 20214

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBT ARBEFT

As at 1 January R1A1H 3,194 2,265
Provision for impairment allowance AR 4,097 929
As at 31 December M12A31H 7,291 3,194

POP MART
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

19 TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 19 EZREWARIE (&)

(c) Trade receivables are denominated in the following currencies: (0 EHEWFIENATYEEE

As at 31 December

M12A31H
2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®ET T AREEF T
RMB AR #E 116,558 148,088
HKD BT 59,727 23,246
TWD Ma 13,202 -
NZD EALil: 3,164 -
Others HAith 1,718 -
194,369 171334

(d) All trade receivables’ carrying amounts approximate fair values.

(d)

B E 5 YA REES B A

BERE -

20 H At FEWKRIA

As at 31 December

20 OTHER RECEIVABLES

M12A31H
2022 2021
2022 F 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET ARBTT
Deposits for lease HERke 165,342 139,163
Recoverable value-added tax and other taxes AT E R N2 A B 18 4,992 4,886
Staff advances and other payments for employees & B a7 & HAth 8 8 7Kk 10,323 3,816
Others HAth 9,342 8,839
Less: allowance for impairment of other W HALFEWEIR 2 R E RS
receivables (2,168) (1,765)
Total et 187,831 154,939
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

20 OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

20 HEMEWEE (#)

Movements in allowance for impairment of other receivables is as HAb EWRIB R ERENZ T
follows:
Year ended 31 December
BZ12AALEE
2022 2021
2022%F 20214F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARBETTT
As at 1 January ®1A1H 1,765 1,259
Provision for impairment allowance BERE 403 506
As at 31 December R12A31H 2,168 1,765

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the fair values of other receivables

approximated their carrying amounts.

MR2022F K2021F12 8318 » b EUWER
HHAFEEERABERS °

A
21 INVENTORIES 21 8
As at 31 December
M®12A31H
2022 2021
2022%F 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AR®ET T
Merchandise (a) 4 an(a) 876,057 794,209
Less: provision for impairment (b) W BB (b) (9,072) (5,380)
Total HET 866,985 788,829
(@) The cost of goods recognised as cost of sales amounted to approximately (@) EZE2022F K2021F12A31HILFE @ &

RMB1,693,530,000 and RMB1,445,001,000, for the years ended 31 December
2022 and 2021, respectively.

(b) Provision for impairment was recognised for the amount by which the
carrying amount of inventories exceeds its net realisable value and was
recorded in “cost of sales”in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income. The provision for impairment of inventory
amount to RMB3,692,000 and RMB1,318,000, for the years ended 31
December 2022 and 2021, respectively.

b2 0N POP MART |  POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED @i 4sEpr S EAR A &

REHER AN REKAD RN ABEARE
1,693,530,0007T & A R #1,445,001,0007T °

MEEZERAESRLEATEIFENS TR
ROBEEE Wit AFABEEREMEEK
W THEMAR] - BIE2022F 20214
NRANBLFE  FEREBEIHIAAR
#3,692,0007T 2 A K% 1,318,0007T ©



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

22 PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER ASSETS 2 ANFEREMEE

As at 31 December

R12A31H
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET ARBTT
Prepayments for inventories T ERIE 142,125 194,468
Prepayments for design fees AR BRIA 101,266 100,001
Prepayment for property, plant and equipment A% - BRE REEHFIE 24,556 30,727
Prepayments for advertising and marketing expense JBffEE M5 E 15,066 16,980
Prepayments for short-term leases and ENEHESERERMEERE
property management fees 15,643 12,148
Deductible value-added input tax ARG B TE A 9,535 3,191
Others Hth 34,696 26,792
342,887 384,307
Less: non-current portion B IEmENER Y (44,165) (30,727)
Prepayments and other current assets — ENREREMREHEE -
current portion REET D 298,722 353,580
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

23 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

PROFIT OR LOSS

23 BAVEFABEENEREE

As at 31 December

M12A318
2022 2021
2022 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥ETR ARETF T
Current assets REEE
- Listed equity securities-stock (a) — LmkAES - REE) 12,829 20,544
Non-current assets FRBEE
~ Investment in associates measured at FVPL (b) —BAFEFABSONEZ A BHIRE D) 231,808 207,763
- Private equity fund investments - EREESRE 181,871 95,636
- Other unlisted investments (c) —HibIEETIRE () 45,355 25,289
Subtotal Nt 459,034 328,688
Total @st 471,863 349,232
(@) The fair values of the listed securities are determined based on the closing (@ LEWmEBFATFEDREBERTSMBREHE

POP MART

prices quoted in active markets. They are accounted for using their fair values
based on quoted market prices (level 1: quoted price (unadjusted) in active
markets) without any deduction for transaction costs.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group has invested in certain (b)
unlisted companies. The Group exercises significant influence over these

associated companies by virtue of its right to appoint director to the board

of directors of these investees. In addition, the Group has the right to require

and demand investees to redeem all of the shares held by the Group at

guaranteed predetermined amount upon redemption events which are out

of control of the investees. Hence these investments are accounted for as

debt instruments and are recognised as financial assets measured at FVPL.

The Group do not have significant influence of these investees and these (o)
investments are recognised as financial assets measured at FVPL.

Amounts recognised in profit or loss

EE - LTEFRRENTSRE (B :F
BTISHE CREHE)) HAFEAR - K
HRERZ SR -

HE2022F12A3HIEFE  AEERER
ETELETAR - AEBREBREZE%S
WIRBHEEENESE  HREHENTE
BERTEN - W
BEFEERGOER E M - BERWIRE
FTUEAETHNRESAELNANEEZEN
2EBRG - Bt - ZSREAREEH A

AEERRERER

AEEHZERRETLBENTZEN » &
EREMRBRBEATFEFABENERE

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLLEE

2022 2021

20224 20214

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥ TR ARKETTT

Fair value change on listed equity securities-stock TTRAES - RENRFEES (9,375) (6,575)
Fair value change in associates measured at FVPL BATEF AB=EE QA

NTHEES) (2,205) 3,687

Fair value change on other unlisted investments HEMIEEMRENATEES 536 1,715

Fair value change on private equity fund investments FLERREESIREN A FEEE) 55,901 636

Fair value change on WMPs A E MM A FEE 4,622 15,799

Total aet 49,479 15,262
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24 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

24 BERREEEY

As at 31 December

128318
2022 2021
20225 20214F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TT ARETT

Cash at banks and cash in hand RITHEeLFRERE
Denominated in FHEE
- UsD — X7 4,425,505 4,284,584
- RMB — AR¥ 506,479 491,504
- HKD — BT 52,062 485,238
- Others — Hfth 70,753 6,737
Less: bEE
Restricted cash ZIREIR®
- pledged for letter of credits — BHEAEERR (13,265) (3,353)
Term deposits with initial terms over TIRHIRBR=EAER—FR
three months and within one year()) B HATE 3R 0) (4,356,220) -
Cash and cash equivalents REeERBEZEEY 685,314 5,264,710

(i)  As at 31 December 2022, the balance includes the accrued interests for
term deposits with initial terms over three months and within one years
amounting to RMB66,026,000(as at 31 December 2021:nil). The effective
interest rate of the term deposits with initial terms over three months and
within one years of the Group ranges 2.03%-3.43% from per annum for the

year ended 31 December 2022(2021:nil).

The conversion of RMB denominated balances into foreign currencies

and the remittance of such foreign currencies denominated bank

balances and cash out of the PRC are subject to relevant rules and

regulations of foreign exchange control promulgated by the PRC

government.

(i)  F2022F12A318  £HBEVRHREA
=EAER—FANTEHRFRNESFEA
R#66,026,0007C (2021812 4318 : #) o
HZE202F12A31HIEFE - AEBE YIS E
RiEA=EAER—FRNTEHTANER
FERNRAE2.03%E3.43% (20214F « ) o

BARBSHENGBRLIBRINEG - AR
ZENEHENRTERRBRESER D
 WAZE ST R B BT 2R A 9 S BE R Y
BRARAI R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
25 SHARE CAPITAL 25 A
Authorised: ERE
Nominal value
Number of of ordinary
ordinary shares shares
ZEREAE EEREE
usD’000
FEr
Ordinary shares of US$0.0001 each BiREi#AR0.00013ETT
On 1 January 2021, 31 December 2021 and 31 R2021F1 A1H ~ 20214F
December 2022 12318 X2022%12 A31H 5,000,000,000 500
Nominal Nominal
Number of Nominal value Nominal value ~ Number of value of value of

ordinary  of ordinary  of ordinary preferred preferred preferred

shares shares shares shares shares shares
EERYE EEREE SEREE BLR¥E EBiREE EiREE
USD'000 RMB'000 UsD'000 RMB'000
T ARETR TEn ARETR
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2021, R2022F1518 - 20215

1 January 2021 12A31AR%202161818 1401937,550 141 923 - - -

Shares repurchased and cancelled () EAmNN )] (21,397,000) Q) (15)
At 31 December 2022 #20225128318 1,380,540,550 139 908 - - -
() During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company repurchased a total () BEHZE2022F12A31BLEFERN - XQF
of 34,347,400 its own ordinary shares on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong REBBERIMERAREEAH B H
Limited at an aggregate consideration of approximately RMB634,310,000. As 34,347,400k E@EAR - AREHNARARE
at 31 December 2022, the Company cancelled a total of 21,397,000 shares 634,310,0007T ° B ZE2022F 12 A318 * AR
amount of approximately RMB447,915,000. AID RE 842 $£21,397,000 8810 © ©FEHA

R#447,915,0007T °
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26 SHARES HELD FOR SHARE AWARD SCHEME

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

26 B RMRBFEFEHRSD

As at As at As at As at
December December December December
2022 2021 2022 2021
R2022F R 20214 H2022F 20214
12A31H 12A318 128318 12A31H
Shares Shares RMB RMB
) A in AR AR
Shares held for Share Award Scheme SR 10 S EDET BT
of US$0.0001 each FR0.0001 ETTHIRD 20,663,762 23,265,959 13,524 15,334

These shares are held by the Group’s Share Award Trust for the purpose

of issuing shares under the Group’s Share Award Scheme (see Note 28

for further information).

15 R HIEE28) °

AEENOBEDEBEERENZERNENS
RIBAEE W R AT 81T GE— &

Number of

shares RMB

Details H1E REoOEHE AR

Balance at 1 January 2021 202141 A1 HEIA R 24,428,730 16,087
Shares vested under the share award scheme RIS B ET 2 53 B MR 1D

(Note 28) (FffzE28) (1,162,771) (753)

Balance at 31 December 2021 PR20214 12 A31 HR &k 23,265,959 15,334
Shares vested under the share award scheme R B2 B 5T 257 8 AR (D

(Note 28) (FfF3E28) (2,602,197) (1,810)

Balance at 31 December 2022 2022912 A31 HEV A 8% 20,663,762 13,524
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

27 OTHER RESERVES 27 HitnfE e
(a) Other reserves movement of the Group (a) NEEMEMFHEES
Share-based
Share Capital Statutory ~ Translation ~compensation Treasury

premium reserves reserves reserves reserves shares Total

DY

REBN
Bi&E ERGE LR EX R BESE EER &zt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR  ARMTR ARETR AE%Tn ARETR AR¥TR  ARETR
Asat 1 January 2022 R2022%1818 12,417,263 (7,382,159) 57,721 (153,521) 84,273 - 5,023,583
Currency translation difference EMHEEE - - - 410973 - - 410,973
Dividends declared ERRE (209,490) - - - - - (209,490)
Repurchase of own shares (Note 25)  EIEE B SRR 13 (FFE25) (447,900) - - - - (186,395) (634,295)

Share vested under the BERNRE:EEE
Share Award Scheme Ealle 85,036 - - - (85,037) - (1)
Share-based compensation expenses JAIRID BEREHHE % - - - - 102,273 - 102,273
Balance at 31 December 2022 R2022%£12A31 A £ 11,844,909 (7,382,159) 57,727 257,452 101,509 (186,395) 4,693,043
Asat 1 January 2021 R20211%1518 12,551,545 (7382,159) 57,727 (37,998) - - 5,189,115
Currency translation difference ERAEEE - - - (115523) - - (115523)
Dividends declared ERRE (205,833) - - - - - (205833)
Share vested under the BERNRE:EIFE

Share Award Scheme ol 71551 - - - (71552) - (1)
Share-based compensation expenses bR {3 AERARBE S - - - - 155,825 - 155,825
Balance at 31 December 2021 W2021%12331 B4 AT (1382159) 5777 (153521) 84273 - 50358

POP MART
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27 OTHER RESERVES (continued)

(@) Other reserves movement of the Group (continued)

(i) Statutory reserves

In accordance with the relevant laws and regulations of the PRC,
when distributing the net profit of each year, the Group shall set
aside 10% of its profit after income tax (based on the PRC statutory
financial statements and after offsetting accumulated losses from
prior years) for the statutory surplus reserve fund (except where the

reserve balance has reached 50% of the paid-in capital).

Statutory reserve can be used to make up for the loss or increase

the paid-in capital after approval from the appropriate authorities.

28 SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

The Company adopted the restricted share unit (the “RSU") long term
incentive plan (the "Post-IPO Share Award Scheme”) on 24 July 2020
with a duration of 10 years commencing from the adoption date. The
objective of the Scheme is to align the interests of selected participants
with those of the Group and to encourage and retain selected
participants to make contributions to the long-term growth and profits

of the Group.

Under the scheme, Pop Mart Partner Limited (the “Share Award Trust”)
was established in British Virgin Islands on 7 May 2020. As the financial
and operational policies of the Share Award Trust are governed by the
Group, and the Group benefits from the Share Award Trust's activities,
the Share Award Trust is consolidated in the Group's financial statements

as a special purpose entity.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

27 HiufEeE &)
() AEBEWEMEEES (&)

() EERE
RBEFEBREEIERNRE - 2
FERFEAMNE  REDBXENS
BRAPBEFHRAEERER  AK
B e R EUEL R TS BRI R A 10%1E /B
FERBRES ERBBEHRDEIE
BEARBS0%AIBRSIN) o

BEGIEEREMR ZEERETH
RBAEERIEMEHER -

28 LARR 17 5 E 1 59 2R A

AR 202047 B 24 BERINSZBR $IAL D B
iz ([ ZBRHIDEL ) REEEE (T8
RAREERRMDEETE])  8RMA
HIR A 0F - Bl BEMDEEES
EEM e B A EE R RE -5 2@
BB EFT2HEANEERBER KA
FIEL BB -

RIEFZETE] © Pop Mart Partner Limited ([ A%
DEEENEFE]) 202065 A7 A RBHER
BHEK - ARG LB s RiE
EREZAEBEERE BEASKEERG
BIEEmEBR Za RO REREETIN
REBERBREREGEARRERENER -

=253 ANNUALREPORT 2022 | POP MART

287



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

28 SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION (continued) 28 IR BERWEM =)

The aggregate number of RSU will not exceed 10% shares without
shareholders’ approval subject to an annual limited of 5% of the total

number of issued shares as at the date of adoption.

On 24 July 2020, the board of directors of the Company approved to
issue 2,442,873 ordinary shares of the Company to the Share Award Trust
for nil consideration in related to Post-IPO Share Award Scheme. The
above issuance of shares was completed on 28 July 2020, and the RSU
held by the Share Award Trust was recorded as “Shares held for Share
Award Scheme” and deducted from equity until the RSU are vested
or cancelled. The number of shares under the Post-IPO Share Award
Scheme have been changed to 24,428,730 after the capitalisation issue
on 11 December 2020.

Pursuant to the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme, the Group has granted
RSUs to selected participants which include employees of the Group
and third-party vendors with various vesting schedules and conditions
as described below. Once the vesting conditions of the respective RSUs
are met, the RSU are considered duly and validly issued to the selected

participants at nil consideration, and free of restrictions on transfer.

The above granted RSUs have various vesting schedules including:

Certain RSUs shall be fully vested immediately on the grant date;

Certain RSUs shall vest in a single tranche on the 78th day following

the grant date;

Certain RSUs shall vest in a single tranche on the 90th day following

the grant date;

Certain RSUs have vesting schedules of approximately 300 days,
with 50% of granted RSUs vested on the 90th day following the
grant date, and the remaining 50% of granted RSUs vested upon

the maturity of the entire vesting period;

POP MARTJ POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED &B5545EI S EAR 2 5
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28 SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION (cONTINUED)

Certain RSUs have vesting schedules of 4 years, with 50% of granted
RSUs vested on the second anniversary of the grant date, 25% of
granted RSUs vested on the third anniversary of the grant date,
and the remaining 25% of granted RSUs vested on the fourth

anniversary of the grant date.

Certain RSUs have vesting schedules of approximately 45 months,
with 25% of granted RSUs vested by the end of the 9th month
following the grant date, and the remaining 75% of granted RSUs
vested in 3 equal installments over the remaining vesting period of
36 months.and

Certain RSUs have vesting schedules of 4 years, with 25% of granted
RSUs vested on every anniversary of the grant date over the vesting

period.

Certain RSUs have vesting schedules of approximately 47 months,
with 50% of granted RSUs vested by the end of the 23th month
following the grant date, and the remaining 50% of granted RSUs

vested in 2 equal installments over the remaining vesting period of

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

28 IR HERAERM )

ETERIBROEMNBBRFEARLY
B4F - EFRS0%EREZREIRGE
MRABREBESHE—ERATEEE - 25%
EREERFIBROEMNELBEBAE
—ARFEHBB MR T2B5%ERERE
PR 151 A% 19 B8 o R RO 4% 1 ) HA 28 P A
FEEES

ETRESROEMNEERERLY
RASER - B 256 R EZREIRG
BURRLBAMERFOEARRTE - M
BR T 75% B 3% H R IR Il 17 B2 AR R
T36MEARBHADIMERRL - &

ETXRBVROBELNEBRRERR4
F o EH25%0 B RGN B
FEHFERLANNESRAFARE -

ETERIBROEMNBEBRHFHERLY
B47EA - B 50%E % HZRHIR 5
BURRLAREBEREAREES -
i8R T 50% B 4% H 52 PR 1 A% 15 B iz Al

24 months; BT 24 A BB MRS 2HERERE
Evaluations are made as of each reporting period to assess the likelihood R ENEBGRENAEN  BESTHE
of vesting conditions being met. Share-based compensation expenses WE B EETIE o IR AERA R
are then adjusted to reflect the revision of original estimates. A HEETUARE  URBERAE G

MIER] °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

28 SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION (continued)

Movements in the number of RSUs granted and related fair value are as

follow:

28 IR HERAERM )

""""" BT -

Years ended at 31 December

BZ12A3ALEE

E&ﬁxfﬁ%ﬂﬁﬂ\“u%( BREEXFE

2022 2021
20225 20214F
Average Average
fair value Number of fair value Number of
per share shares per share shares
SBFHY IRF
DNEE RDEE NFE e tn BB
(RMB) (Thousands) (RMB)  (Thousands)
(AR¥T) (F®) | (AR¥T) (TR
Opening balance as at 1 January K1 ATVEBRFEH 60.04 3,825 - -
Granted & 22.44 3,877 60.43 5,135
Vested B 32.82 (2,602) 61.51 (1,163)
Forfeited K 58.13 (757) 61.97 (147)
Ending balance as at 31 December 12831 BWERLE &R 43.12 4,343 60.04 3,825

POP MART

There were no RSUs expired during the year ended 31 December 2022
and 2021.

The fair value of the granted RSUs was calculated based on the market

price of the Company’s shares at the respective grant date.

As the Group will receive employment or service of these employees in
exchange for the grant of RSUs, share-based compensation expenses
in respect of the employee services received is to be recognized as
expenses over the vesting period. The total amount to be expensed is
determined by the fair value of the RSUs and taking into account the
number of RSUs that are expected to be vested. The total expenses
charged the profit and loss for RSUs granted to the Group's employees
under the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme are RMB97,739,000 during the
year ended 31 December 2022 (31 December 2021: RMB147,068,000).

POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED 2554 EIF e BA R A R

HZE202FE K201 128318 ILEE - &S
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28 SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION (continued)

The Group granted some RSUs via the RSU Trust to certain third-party
vendors as part of consideration of purchased assets, which have been
fully vested immediately on the respective grant date. The above
transactions are accounted for as share-based payment transactions,
under which the fair value of the RSUs are recognized as part of the
original cost of purchased assets. As of 31 December 2022, total amounts
recognized as assets for RSUs granted to the Group's third-party
vendors under the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme are RMB13,325,000 (31
December 2021: RMB8,791,000).

29 TRADE PAYABLES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

28 IR HERAERM )

AEEBRBIRHBRMDBELETRETE
=HHERELES ZREIRG EAC - F
RUNBEENT>RE  EREEREA
HBEAI R GE - LR HARAURNG
REWVONRRZS - Bt - ZRGIKRG E
A TFEBERANEZEENTHKAR
- #ZE2022F12A8318  ABREELA
FMEErknZEERMAEEE=71H
EEREOZRERNERREENE S
A ANR#13,325,0007T (2021412 A 31
H: AR¥8,791,0007T) °

29 ESE(SFUE

As at 31 December

M12A31H
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥®TT ARETT

Merchandise payables 72 o FE ST SR8

259,006 266,098

The credit terms of merchandise payables granted by the suppliers are
usually current to 180 days. At 31 December 2022 and 2021, the aging

analysis of the merchandise payables based on invoice date is as follows:

HEFETFTHNERENRENEZEDRBRE AR
BZE 180K ° M2022F 202112 A31H » ER
FEHHNEREMNFEENERRSTOT

As at 31 December

M12831H
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREFT
Within 30 days 30 KA 100,317 99,606
30 to 90 days 30E 90K 75,632 122,444
90 to 180 days 90ZE 180K 46,039 19,447
Over 180 days 180 KM £ 37,018 24,601
Total et 259,006 266,098
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

30 LICENSE FEES PAYABLES

30 EHREE

As at 31 December

M12A31H
2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥TR ARETT

License fees payables EREEE 154,823 132,375
Less: non-current portion B JERNERER Y (21,306) (46,371)
Current portion BIEAE8 133,517 86,004

As disclosed in Note 14(a), the Group entered into various license
agreements with artists to obtain exclusive and non-exclusive Licensed
IPs. Pursuant to the license agreements, fixed minimum payments are
payable in tranches during the contracted term while variable payments
that depend on sales are payable in the period in which the condition

that triggers those payments occurs.

AN TE14(a) PRIV EE - ANEBEEMKATLE
TRERZ - ABSBERMIFERIREP - RIE
R BERENRERGORAD X
< 1 0 5 2 9 AT S AN SRR A BB B % S N R
M AR BRI A

As at 31 December

M12H31H
2022 2021
20225 20214F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T T ARBET T

Analysis of license fees payables: JERTEE DT
Non-current JERNES

— the first to second year —FEFE=F
- the second to fifth year —BZEERF
— more than five years —RAFLALE
Current BN EA

21,306 46,371
16,614 26,674
3,342 16,346
1,350 3,351
133,517 86,004

The license fees payables are mainly denominated in RMB, USD and HKD.

The maturity profile of the Group's license fees based on contractual

undiscounted cash flows is disclosed in Note 3.1(c).

POP MARTJ POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED j&ai5 5Bl = mA R A 5
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31 OTHER PAYABLES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

31 HAiE(SFUIE

As at 31 December

R12A318
2022 2021
20225 20214F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET ARBTT
Wages, salaries and other employee benefits I& #FeKkEMESRN 91,174 77,423
Accrued sales and marketing expenses JEEHIHE REHMAX 57,648 14,655
Logistics fees MnER 49,906 41,786
Payable for leasehold improvement ERHEERENRIE 56,116 54,573
Other tax payables JE ELAD B IR 15,746 27,540
Payables to merchants on conventions ENREEmPHIE 899 11,094
Dividend payable FERTAR S - 10,596
Payables for short-term and variable rental expense  JEfHEEAN AJ & & 4,279 7,479
Deposits payable JEfRHRE 4,711 4,198
Others Ht 28,312 17,558
Total #Et 308,791 266,902

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the carrying amounts of other

payables are considered to approximate their fair values, due to their

short-term nature.

A
4

o

MR2022F %2021 12 8318 - AR HMER K
AR HERmERKRAEEAFER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

32 CONTRACT LIABILITIES 2 EHNEE
As at 31 December
M12A318

2022 2021
20225 20214F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®ET T AREET T
Online sales R EHE 39,731 76,082
Customer loyalty programme KPP AHMEE 22,077 31,240
Wholesales 2% 18,518 8,295
License income WA 8,471 4,007
88,797 119,624

(i)  During the year ended 2022 and 2021, the points expire at the end

of each six months from the date on which the initial sales occur.

Revenue recognised in relation to contract liabilities balance at the

beginning of the year:

() HE202FR2021FILFEE - BEOR
ROEEREE BRATNEATLE
BEEIHS -

MENE OB BEAERER NI -

Year ended 31 December

BZ12AALEE

2022 2021
20225 20214F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARETTT
Credited to the consolidated statement of FPAfREER MEMEE
profit or loss and other comprehensive T
income 113,234 82,839

POP MARTJ POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED j&ai5 5Bl = mA R A 5




33 WAGES, SALARIES AND OTHER EMPLOYEE

BENEFITS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

IBTE  HFEhHMEEER

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2022 2021

20224 20214

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET ARBTT

Salaries,bonuses and allowances TE - 75@&5?55 686,432 479,356
Contributions to pension plans (a) RIREETEIHR G 69,424 43,301
Share-based compensation expenses (Note 28) LAHXT%Z%%%E’U#WNEﬁi (Pf5E28) 97,739 147,068
853,595 669,725

Contributions to pension plans

Employees of the Group companies in the PRC are required to
participate in a defined contribution retirement scheme administered
and operated by the local municipal government. The Group contributes
funds which are calculated on fixed percentage of the employees’ salary

(subject to a floor and cap) as set by local municipal governments to

RS EHR

each scheme locally to fund the retirement benefits of the employees.

The Group has no other obligations for the payment of retirement and
other post-retirement benefits of employees or retirees other than the

defined contribution payments as disclosed above.

AEETERARMNEER
fi5E 3R ME R E R
SEME X
MEEFSHEETED L
R)ETE)

Bl

B b SR I BR 1R S R
EHMAEBIRARA TR

fRRR B R AE

S o
JHZ%
ﬁ:

SRR

(% B

e TR
R EHE - A

TR E

®E TR E
KEFREES -

P AREA
ReRE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

33 WAGES, SALARIES AND OTHER EMPLOYEE

(b)

POP MART

BENEFITS (continued)
Five highest paid individuals

33

(b)

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group

for the years ended 31 December 2022 including no director whose

emoluments are reflected in the analysis shown in Note 38 (2021: 1). The

emoluments payables to the remaining 5 (2021: 4) individuals during the

year ended 31 December 2022 are as follows:

TE 2R HEMWEERH

(&)
hEHEEMEAL

HZE202F12A318IEFE - AEEME
el AGATHIEBEESE (20214 ¢
—%&) A& RMRIEMTTI8ARDITH -
HZE2022F12A31BIEFEHB - EHT
Hep B4 (20215 : [ME) Ao
T

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2022 2021
2022%F 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T R AREET T
Salaries and allowances T& K28 5,893 5,888
Bonuses TE4L 2,177 1,905
Contributions to pension plans RIS ETEIHER 298 249
Share-based compensation expenses PARS A7 & L HiE 9 SR BN A 2 19,854 3,052
28,222 11,994

The emoluments fell within the following bands: e BRIATEE :

Year ended 31 December
BZ12B31HLEEE
2022 2021
20224 20214
Emolument bands (in HKD) B < &6 & (LB TR

HKD2,000,001 to HKD2,500,000 2,000,001 % 7L £ 2,500,000 /& 7T - 2
HKD3,000,001 to HKD3,500,000 3,000,001 78 7T & 3,500,000 /& JT - 1
HKD4,000,001 to HKD4,500,000 4,000,001 78 70 24,500,000 7 7T 2 -
HKD5,000,001 to HKD5,500,000 5,000,001 7T & 5,500,000 77T - 1
HKD5,500,001 to HKD6,000,000 5,500,001 78 7T £ 6,000,000 /& 7T 1 -
HKD6,000,001 to HKD6,500,000 6,000,001 7T £ 6,500,000 /& 7T 1 -
HKD11,000,001 to HKD11,500,000 11,000,001 7 & 11,500,000 77T 1 -

POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED 2554 EIF e BA R A R



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

34 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 34 Z8BHERERKE

OF CASH FLOWS
F?Fﬁ %REU"‘*'JEEE,“‘“‘EEJFEE’JIE

(@) Reconciliation of profit before income tax to net cash flows
generated from operations:

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A3ALEE

2022 2021
20225 20214F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET ARBTTT
Profit before income tax BR P57 A A 639,529 1,171,191
Adjustments for: AT IEEL T
Fair value gains from financial assets at FVPL EAFEFABRNEREEN
(Note 23) DN EYE (MEE23) (49,479) (15,262)
Impairment losses on Property, plant and Y - WE kR BEERE
equipment (Note 13) (FF&E13) 467 -
Impairment losses on right-of-use assets (Note 15) FREEEBERE (FFE15) 545 -
Share-based compensation expenses ARG A7 /& L HiE 6 SR B A 52 97,739 147,068
Share of results of joint ventures and associates DMEEEREREEATEE
(Note 17) (FEE17) (27,046) (14,016)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment YE - B REREBITE
(Note 13) (FEE13) 193,922 161,834
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 14) mEERE (MEE14) 80,771 51,470
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment, BEME  BENLEEM
intangible assets mIELEEMNEIR 197 3
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 330,124 221,698
Provision for impairment on financial assets TREERERE 4,500 1,435
Impairment losses on inventory (Note 21) FEREEE (FFE21) 3,692 1318
Finance income, net (Note 9) IS U A F 58 (M7E9) (29,103) (7,363)
Foreign exchange gains or loss HNEIE R 556 2,613
Changes in working capital: HEESEY
Inventories rE (81,848) (564,778)
Trade receivables H Y RIE (27,132) (93,928)
Other receivables E b U sk E (49,550) (64,756)
Prepayments and other current assets B RIEREMREEE (20,124) (190,447)
Trade payables B S RENRIA 45,624 157,806
Other payables H R 5RIR 50,943 40,506
Contract liabilities A4aE (30,827) 35,683
Cash generated from operations RETBHEENRS 1,133,500 1,042,075
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

34 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT

OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(b) Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment:

4 GERERERMET &)

b) BEY% - MENRRBAENRER

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥ET T AREFT
Net book amount (Note 13) BRELFE (H:E13) 2,560 612
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment REYE  BERIERNERE (197) (3)
2,363 609
(c) Net debt reconciliation ) BREFREEER
As at 31 December
M®12A31H
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARBET T
Cash and cash equivalents ReERREEED 685,314 5,264,710
Lease liabilities — due within 1 year HEAE - —FUREIH (293,567) (256,909)
Lease liabilities — due after 1 year HEBE - —F&IH (447,564) (364,543)
Net cash REFE (55,817) 4,643,258

POP MART
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HREMBRERM T
34 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 34 &R E&REBRMT ()
OF CASH FLOWS (continued)
(c) Net debt reconciliation (continued) (c) B FEEYER (&)
Cash and cash Lease

equivalents liabilities Net cash

REeRBRLEEY HEEE BEFE

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T AR%T ARETR

Net cash as at 1 January 2022 M2022F1A1ANESFE 5,264,710 (621,452) 4,643,258
Cash flows RERE (4,984,823) 323,041 (4,661,782)
Addition - leases liabilities #win-HEAE - (408,663) (408,663)
Interests accrued for leases liabilities HEABZEAFE - (34,057) (34,057)
Foreign exchange adjustments SNGE 58 B 405,427 - 405,427
Net cash as at 31 December 2022 7A2022F12A31BWEREFE 685,314 (741,131) (55,817)
Net cash as at 1 January 2021 M2021FE1 A1 BB S EE 5,680,235 (291,774) 5,388,461
Cash flows RERE (304,732) 220,126 (84,606)
Addition - leases liabilities #win-HEEAE - (528,618) (528,618)
Interests accrued for leases liabilities HEABZEFFE - (21,186) (21,186)
Foreign exchange adjustments 4SNP 7 B (110,793) - (110,793)
Net cash as at 31 December 2021 A2021F12831BWERESFHE 5,264,710 (621,452) 4,643,258
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POP MART

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

35 COMMITMENTS

(@) Capital commitments

35 H&
) B

As at 31 December

R12A318
2022 2021
2022 20214F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT ARBTTT
Contractual but not provided for EETHB RS
— Property, plant and equipment — % - BB KRB 506,975 -
- Acquiring investments measured at fair value — R ATEAEEEEE)
through profit or loss FFABZEEE 73,500 78,750
580,475 78,750

36 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly

or indirectly, control the other party or exercise significant influence

over the other party in making financial and operation decisions. Parties

are also considered to be related if they are subject to common control.

Members of key management and their close family member of Popmart

are also considered as related parties.

The following transactions were carried out in the ordinary course of

Popmart's business and were determined based on mutually agreed

terms during the Relevant Periods.

POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED 2554 EIF e BA R A R
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36 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Names of the major related parties

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

36 B ARB (&)

Nature of relationship

TERBLTEE BERNMTE
Mr. Wang Ning Executive director of the Group
TEELE REBHITES
Nanjing Pop Mart Joint venture
[Eapaviabas i ss BELE
Pop Mart Japan Joint venture
B AR 5 R BELE
POP MART SOUTH ASIA PTE.LTD Joint venture
POP MART SOUTH ASIA PTE.LTD BRELE
Singapore Pop Joint venture
Singapore Pop BEE
How2work Limited Associate
How2work Limited B b2
Hainan Souteji Trading Co., Ltd. Associate
BEREEEERRAR Mg
Shenzhen Maoyu Xinghe Cultural Creativity Co., Ltd. Associate
YT EN BB BR AR B s 2
Shanghai Qixing Network Technology Co., Ltd. Associate
LERTAREHAR AR B (b5
DANNI TOYS(LONGCHUAN) CO., LTD. Associate
A (B AR AR B bz
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

36 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)
Significant transactions with related parties:

(a) Sales of goods to

36 B ARB (&)

BB SETHNEARS ¢

(a) SHEEmMT

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2022 2021

2022 % 20214

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®ET T AREETTT

Joint ventures B 213,107 210,040
An associate Bt 3 18,868 -
Total et 231,975 210,040

(b) Purchase of goods from

(b) BEBEMB

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31HILEE

2022 2021

2022%F 20214

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥T T ARBET T

Associates B (b2 170,291 13,452

(c) Receive Service from

() BERBE

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2022 2021

20224 20214

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥ET T AREFT

Associates B 12,349 5,458
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FREMBRRMET
36 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 36 BEEARRB (&)
Significant transactions with related parties: (continued) EEHLETHNERRS @ (&)
(d) Key management compensation (d) EASEEIE A EH N

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2022 2021
20224 20214F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T T ARBET T

Salaries and other benefits e R E AR 6,895 6,213

Contributions relating to social insurance, R EEAEESR
housing fund and retirement scheme RUREHEIAERA X 414 372
Bonus TE4L 2,333 1,084
Share-based compensation expenses VAR 15 A B R B0 SR BN B 2 14,765 11,803
24,407 19,472
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)
Significant transactions with related parties: (continued)

(e) Significant year-end balances with related parties:

36 B ARB (&)
HREHAETHNEARS © (&)
(e) HEAMAWEAEL AL

As at 31 December

Assets &=

Trade receivables B 5 EWRIE
Joint ventures EaE

An associate —XREtE AT
Other receivables HibEWFRIE
A Joint venture —REEDE
Prepayments FENRE

An associate — K E N A
Trade payables B RNRIE
Associates i Rl/N]|
License fees payables EREER
Associates iG]

M12A31H
2022 2021
20225 20214F
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AR®ET T AREETTT
82,959 54,255
8,391 -
5,256 3,115
41,388 16,714
26,417 1,555
21,306 9,966
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

37 BALANCE SHEET AND OTHER RESERVE 37 A RQFAINEEEBEXREEMEE

MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY wEH
Balance sheet of the Company KAREEAER
As at As at
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
20225 720214
12A31H 12A31H
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARBET T
Assets EE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investment accounted for using the equity method  {# A ZABRRIRE 27,127 29,248
Investments in subsidiaries KRB RARMIRE 7,644,435 6,898,576
Total non-current assets HWERBEE 7,671,562 6,927,824
Current assets RBEE
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss BAFEFAEBZNEREE 12,829 20,544
Other receivables E b W sk IE 33,299 231,718
Term deposits with initial term over three months and FZ A=A A EF—FURA
within one year #)5E BRTF 3K 4,356,220 -
Cash and cash equivalents ReRReEEY 4,480 4,414,861
Total current assets BREEE 4,406,828 4,667,123
Total assets BmEE 12,078,390 11,594,947
Equity R
Share capital N 908 923
Shares held for Share Award Scheme TR (D SRENETEIIF A AR D (14) (15)
Other reserves (a) E b () 11,898,319 11,592,422
Retained earnings/(accumulated deficit) RBAF (REEB4A) 44,790 (8,978)
Total equity mER 11,944,003 11,584,352
Liabilities afE
Current liabilities REBAE
Other payables H b3R8 134,387 10,595
Total current liabilities BREBEE 134,387 10,595
Total liabilities wmaE 134,387 10,595
Total equity and liabilities HBERREE 12,078,390 11,594,947

The balance sheet of the Company was approved by the Board of ANTEEBBERCEZESEEMN2023F3A29H

Directors on 29 March 2023 and was signed on its behalf: HESTHTIEERRESSHRE -
TEEE Ak A
Mr. Wang Ning Mr. Si De
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

37 BALANCE SHEET AND OTHER RESERVE

37 ANFNEEEERRE M

MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY (continued) w28 @)
Note (a) Other reserve movement of the Company MIEE (a) 2 B Y B fh {52 8
Share-based
Treasury Share Translation  compensation
shares premium reserves reserves Total
URGBHER
ERR ROEE E SR Ry @t
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARETR ARBT T ARBT T ARBT T
As at 1 January 2022 ®2022%51A1A8 = 12,418,742 (910,593) 84,273 11,592,422
Currency translation difference EHHhEZSE - - 1,050,910 - 1,050,910
Dividends declared BERRE - (212,990) = - (212,990)
Repurchase of own shares ElEE HRH (186,395) (447,900) - - (634,295)
Share vested under the Share RN R@:+ 2158 2 K
Award Scheme - 85,036 - (85,037) (1)
Share-based compensation AR AR R R BB 7
expenses - - - 102,273 102,273
Balance at 31 December 2022 RW2022%F12 31 B8 (186,395) 11,842,888 140,317 101,509 11,898,319
As at 1 January 2021 20211810 - 12,556,653 (634,012) - 11,922,641
Currency translation difference ERBEER - - (276,581) - (276,581)
Dividends declared BIRRE - (209,462) - - (209,462)
Share vested under the Share RERG KB ERE 2R
Award Scheme - 71,551 - (71,552) m
Share-based compensation WARR D AR R R %
expenses - - - 155,825 155,825
Balance at 31 December 2021  #2021512 831 BH&R - 12418742 (910,593) 84,273 11,592,422

POP MART
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
EA SRR
38 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 38 EEEFRESR
(a) Directors’ remuneration (a) ESES
Employer's

contribution to

a retirement Share-based

Director's Salaries and benefit  compensation
fee allowances Bonus scheme expenses Total
EEHER Y3
BAGHE RERH
ok IERER A it 2 3% B X @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFT ARBTR ARBTT ARBTR ARBTR ARBF T
Directors' remuneration during HE0NF12A318
the year ended 31 December LFENESHE
2022 is as follows: JulN
Directors Bz
Mr. Wang Ning (i) FERE() - 998 369 58 - 1,425
Mr. Si De (i) Al - 1,459 329 58 - 1,846
Ms. Liu Ran (i) Bl L() - 998 219 58 - 1,275
Ms. Yang Tao (i) Bt - 817 215 63 = 1,095
Mr. Tu Zheng (i) BFREN) - - - - - -
Mr. He Yu () fIBEEN) - - - - - -
Mr. Wu Liansheng (i) REAE F 5 i) 130 - - - - 130
Mr. Zhang Jianjun (iii) RER F A i) 130 - - - - 130
Mr. Yan Jinliang (iii) BYR F A i) 130 - - - - 130
Directors' remuneration during BZ021%12A8318
the year ended 31 December FENESHE
2021 is as follows: JUNNE
Directors Bz
Mr. Wang Ning (i) FERE() - 948 77 53 - 1,078
Mr. Si De (i) AR - 1,295 173 53 - 1521
Ms. Liu Ran (i) 2Bt - 914 77 53 - 1,044
Ms. Yang Tao (i) BRI - 764 62 57 - 883
Mr. Tu Zheng (i) BEEA) - - - - - -
Mr. He Yu () BN - - - - - -
Mr. Wu Liansheng (i) RE A S A (i) 125 - - - - 125
Mr. Zhang Jianjun (iii) R (i) 125 - - - - 125
Mr. Yan Jinliang (i) FSIR F A i) 123 - - - - 123
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

38 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(continued)
(a) Directors’ remuneration (continued)

(i)  Mr. Wang Ning, Ms. Yang Tao, Ms. Liu Ran, Mr. Tu Zheng and Mr. He
Yu were appointed as directors of the Company in May 2019.

(i) Mr. Si De was appointed as director of the Company in June 2019.

(i) Mr. Wu Liansheng, Mr. Zhang Jianjun and Mr. Yan lJinliang was
appointed as director of the Company in December 2020.

(b) No director of the waived any emoluments and no emoluments were
paid by the Group to any of the directors of the as an inducement to
join or upon joining the Group or as a compensation for loss of office as
director.

(c) Directors’ retirement benefits

No retirement benefits were paid to or receivable by any directors in
respect of their other services in connection with the management of
the affairs of the or its subsidiaries undertaken.

(d) Directors’ termination benefits

No payment was made to directors as compensation for the early
termination of the appointment during the year.

(e) Consideration provided to third parties for making
available directors’ services

No payment was made to the former employer of directors for making
available the services of them as a director of the Company.

(f) Information about loans, quasi-loans and other dealings
in favour of directors, controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors

There are no loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favour of directors,
controlled bodies corporate by and connected entities with such
directors during the Track Record Period.

(g) Directors’ material interests in transactions, arrangements
or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to the
Group's business to which the Group was a party and in which a director
of the Group had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

POP MARTJ POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED j&ai5 5Bl = mA R A 5
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